

Blair, L. (2022) *The fairy tale therapist*. PhD thesis, Bath Spa University.

ResearchSPAce

https://researchspace.bathspa.ac.uk/

Your access and use of this document is based on your acceptance of the ResearchSPAce Metadata and Data Policies, as well as applicable law:-<u>https://researchspace.bathspa.ac.uk/policies.html</u>

Unless you accept the terms of these Policies in full, you do not have permission to download this document.

This cover sheet may not be removed from the document.

Please scroll down to view the document.

The Fairy Tale Therapist

Linda Blair

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment for the degree of PhD in Creative Writing

Awarded by Bath Spa University

School of Writing, Publishing and the Humanities

September 2022

Abstract

Creative Work: The Fairy Tale Therapist

My original intention was to create a new form of self-help book using fairy tale characters to address psychological problems. The book I wrote does use fairy tale characters to address psychological problems, but it isn't written as a typical self-help book.

Instead, it's the story of Helen, a therapist whose personal life suddenly and dramatically falls apart. Her solution? Not one she would suggest to her clients. She leaves everyone she knows and sets up a new practice in a small village in Wales, where her troubles start to fade. Until, that is, the fairy tale characters start coming in through her office window.

Contextualising Research: The Fragility of Equilibrium in Therapy and Writing

In this part of the thesis, I explore the methodologies, underpinning literature and the personal journey of discovery that led to the final book. I examine bibliotherapy, the self-help genre and case studies after selecting a canon of well-known self-help books. I then review classical fairy tales and I try using fairy tale characters rather than case studies as examples in a self-help book. I present these attempts and argue why this straight substitution doesn't work well. Instead, therefore, I decided to use fairy tale characters' dilemmas to illustrate the process of psychotherapy, so readers can better understand the aims and processes in therapy, and see inside a therapist's mind.

The resulting book (*The Fairy Tale Therapist,* the creative part of my thesis), raised two further questions which I answer and explore in the critical component.

Is there a concept that is central both to writing fiction and to carrying out/undergoing psychotherapy, and if so how does it achieve this? Story is the bridge that links these disciplines, and I found the key within story is the concept of equilibrium, the desire to return to a stable state an organism is disrupted by a challenge. Equilibrium is, however, elusive: once achieved, disequilibrium begins again.

ii

How might changing perspective help to better understand characters in fiction and clients in therapy/self-help? I found that by adhering to the plot but looking at what happens from a different perspective, as an author I gained a deeper understanding of characters other than the central character. I can also apply this technique to help my patients. Instead of trying to change what's going on outside of themselves, I can challenge them to try changing the way they consider what's going on, and in so doing help them to learn to accept—perhaps even celebrate—their circumstances.

Copyright Statement

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement. I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that my thesis is original, and does not to the best of my knowledge break any UK law or infringe any third party's copyright or other intellectual property right.

iii

The Fairy Tale Therapist and Contextualising Research

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The Fairy Tale Therapist

| Preface | 6 |
|--|-----|
| Introduction | 7 |
| Rumpelstiltskin | 12 |
| Little Snow White | 29 |
| The Fisherman and his Wife | 39 |
| The Companionship of the Cat and Mouse | 54 |
| Cinderella | 64 |
| Rapunzel | 77 |
| The Ugly Duckling | 86 |
| The Emperor's New Clothes | 96 |
| Beauty and the Beast | 106 |
| The Frog Prince | 118 |
| The Story of the Three Bears | 126 |
| The Nightingale | 135 |
| Little Red Cap | 144 |
| The Story of the Three Little Pigs | 153 |
| Snow White and Rose Red | 162 |
| The Wolf and the Seven Kids | 171 |
| The Valiant Little Tailor | 179 |
| The Golden Goose | 191 |
| The Elves and the Shoemaker | 201 |
| The Last Chapter | 211 |
| Afterword | 214 |

The Fragility of Equilibrium in Therapy and Writing

| Introduction and Research Questions | 216 |
|---|------------|
| PART ONE: Background Research | |
| CHAPTER ONE: Story, with equilibrium at its heart, and its role in fiction and psychotherapy CHAPTER TWO: Bibliotherapy, self-help and the role of case | 219 |
| studies CHAPTER THREE: Fairy tales: their role in stories, in | 225 |
| bibliotherapy, and in literature elsewhere | 232 |
| CHAPTER FOUR: Summary of findings from literature review | 239 |
| PART TWO: Writing The Fairy Tale Therapist | |
| CHAPTER FIVE: Initial attempts to write the book | 240 |
| CHAPTER SIX: Plot | 248 |
| CHAPTER SEVEN: A shift in methodology | 249 |
| CHAPTER EIGHT: Genre and Readership | 252 |
| CHAPTER NINE: Setting CHAPTER TEN: Characters | 254 256 |
| CHAPTER ELEVEN: Revisiting the plot | 250 269 |
| 5 | |
| PART THREE: Conclusions | |
| CHAPTER TWELVE: Addressing the research questions CHAPTER THIRTEEN: How this thesis has changed me as | 270 |
| a therapist and as a writer | 272 |
| CHAPTER FOURTEEN: Ways ahead | 273 |
| | 074 |
| APPENDIX ONE APPENDIX TWO | 274 289 |
| APPENDIX TWO APPENDIX THREE | 209 297 |
| APPENDIX FOUR | 303 |
| APPENDIX FIVE | 305 |
| APPENDIX SIX | 309 |
| | |
| | |

SOURCES AND REFERENCES

315

The Fairy Tale Therapist

Preface

Have you ever had psychotherapy?

It depends on where you look of course, but it's estimated that somewhere between 6% and 30% of adults in the UK have had some form of psychotherapy, and many more have expressed an interest.

Why?

Because modern life is stressful. And because unless you pay for it, it's hard to find anyone who will listen to you when you go on and on about your problems; anyone, that is, who will listen fully and sincerely try to help.

I'll agree that therapists are united in their sincere desire to help—I've never met a colleague who's not interested in helping other people feel happier and more optimistic. But listen fully? During the entire session, without even one moment of mind wandering, not a second of trying to remember if we let the cat out before we left home? That's asking a lot. After all, we're only human.

I'll bet I'm making you wonder now how therapists deal with their own thoughts, and how they deal with their own problems. Because of course therapists have problems, too, just like everyone else.

Whenever therapists have a problem—I mean a big problem—they're advised to take time off work and seek out their own therapist to help them sort things out. But what happens if they don't?

That's why I decided to write this book. I thought you might like to listen in on some therapy sessions. You'll get to hear not only what both therapist and client are saying, but also what the therapist is thinking. And this therapist—totally fictional I hasten to add—is grappling with a really big problem.

It's time to introduce you to the therapist.

First, however, I better warn you that you'll be meeting some pretty unusual clients.

Introduction

I've just gone back over what you're about to read, and I'm still not sure whether it happened. Really happened, I mean. Not just happened in my mind.

That's why there's so much detail. Any therapist would wonder why on earth a colleague would take such extensive clinical notes, and why they would include all those personal asides. I had a good reason: I really couldn't believe what was happening, and I thought that if I wrote it all down I could go back later and...well, verify it?

Because even now, I'm not sure. I checked for the straw, and it's still there in my top desk drawer, exactly where I put it after the queen vanished. So surely the visits did happen?

Anyway, before you read my notes about those fairy tale visits, maybe I should tell you a bit about myself.

My name is Helen Fisher. I'm a clinical psychologist. I used to be a mother, and I used to be married as well. But all that's over now.

I grew up in the North of England, the middle of three. I have a sister who's four years older than I am. She's a consultant pediatrician with two perfect daughters and a surgeon husband. I never liked her much, because I could never measure up to her, never do as well as she did.

My brother is 14 months younger than I am. He read philosophy at Uni, but really he just wants to be an actor. To be fair, he does get occasional acting gigs. But most of the time he just hangs out with his thespian friends at my parents' expense. They don't seem to mind. They're convinced he's going to be the next Olivier.

My mum trained as a GP, but as soon as she gave birth to Nell she stopped working and she hasn't worked since. She's the eldest of six, and she used to say that all she ever wanted was to have children, like her own mum. But after Nell was born she was told she wouldn't be able to have any more children—something about her diabetes. So she stopped trying. She told me she didn't even know she was pregnant with me until she was 20 weeks on. I don't know why she told me that. Doesn't make me feel very important or wanted.

Mom probably got pregnant again so fast after I was born because she thought she was on a winning streak. Looking back, I realise that having a boy had always been her dream—she'd absolutely worshipped her older brother. So as soon as Will was born I felt forgotten. No one seemed to care how well I did at school. No one made me play the piano or excel at sport. I suppose I should be grateful no one pushed me, but I didn't feel like that. It was more like I didn't much matter.

I've saved telling you about my father for last, because I guess I don't know what to say. I never really got to know him, because he spent almost all of his time at the hospital. He was a surgeon, just like the man my sister married. Work was everything for him. I remember when I was in primary school, I used to wake up really early in the mornings, just so I could be with him before he left for the hospital. He and mom got on OK as far as I could tell, but other than making the three of us I have no idea what they did together. They each had their own friends, and while mom had lots of interests when she wasn't taking care of us, dad just had work.

We were all expected to go to Uni. Not negotiating on that. In true drifter mode (at the start of my training we all took a personality test. I'm a 'drifter', apparently), I decided to read chemistry because it was my best A-level result. Besides, chemistry seemed like cooking, which was what I really wanted to do. But mom said cooking wasn't a proper career. So I read chemistry.

When I got to Uni I found most of the other students on my course wanted to become doctors or scientists. I had no idea what I wanted to do, so my tutor suggested I switch to something 'broader' and 'less demanding'. I asked her what she meant by that, and she just said there are lots of opportunities for psychologists, so perhaps I should read psychology.

So I did. I switched straight away, and found I was pretty good at it, especially the clinical bits. It felt like detective work, trying to figure out what was wrong with a person and what was really going on in their mind. Clinical psychology was the obvious career choice, and I even got a nod from mom and dad when I was accepted everywhere I applied—although mom said she really wished I'd chosen a 'proper' medical career.

I met Theo during my clinical training. I'd mostly dated other psychologists before Theo, and although the sex was great, our conversations always felt very in-house, a little claustrophobic. Theo was someone different. He fascinated me. He owned a small art gallery and just loved every sort of art, especially water colours. He was sharing a flat with my closest friend in my year, and she was the one who introduced us, said she thought Theo was just what I needed. We got on fine, and on graduation night he asked me to marry him. It was really romantic, and the timing was good, so I thought, why not? In true drifter fashion. It's really easy to get a job if you're a clinical psychologist. Everyone has problems, and there aren't enough of us. So I always had a steady job, which meant I was the reliable one financially. Theo's income depended on art sales, so it was really variable.

I suppose things started to go wrong between us about three years after we married, when I started asking Theo when he'd like to start a family. I don't know why we never talked about this before we got married, but we never did. Like my mother, I wanted lots of kids, and I guess I just assumed Theo would want the same thing. I was 30 when I started raising the subject—old enough, I thought. I didn't want to wait forever. But Theo wasn't so sure. He liked our easy life—well, especially his own easy life, with no obligation to earn or to care for anyone else. He was surprised, I think, to find that for once I was insistent. That's when we started arguing.

Then I didn't get pregnant. Month after month, wait after agonising wait. Nothing, not even a miscarriage to suggest at least fertilisation was possible. Our sex life was effectively ruined, dictated by ovulation charts and my temperature. I must have been a nightmare to live with. I felt frustrated and continually anxious. I was so desperate to see that blue line.

After a year, Theo agreed we could try IVF. That made our sex life even more of a nightmare. But on the third attempt I got pregnant, and we had Alex.

To me, Alex was perfect. Beautiful, sweet-natured, and, well, just...perfect. He had the longest eyelashes I'd ever seen on a boy, and his creamy complexion and strawberry blonde curls were just like Theo's. He was an easy baby, then a carefree and daring child. He always had so much fun, and he was oh so self-confident, almost bullish. I adored him. I know Theo did, too, although I think he didn't feel like he could admit it after his ambivalence about having kids.

I can safely say Alex's birth marked the beginning of the best time in my life. I cut my work back to three days a week as soon as he was born so I could spend as much time as possible with him—while still making enough to cover the bills of course. Once he started school I worked my three days as five short ones so I could always be at the school gates to meet him.

Even though I didn't get pregnant again, to my surprise I didn't seem to mind. Alex was enough for me. Alex was my everything.

When I think about it now, I can imagine how left out Theo must have felt. But at the time, I didn't let myself notice. Everything was just too perfect.

But then, the day after Alex's tenth birthday, my world went black.

9

Alex was cycling home from his best friend's house when it happened. Jack lived only a block away, so all four parents agreed to let the boys bike between our homes—they were thick as thieves, constantly in and out of each other's houses. We all agreed it was sensible, because it encouraged their independence.

Alex was coming home when the car hit him. It was a direct hit at an intersection, I was told. The driver said he hadn't seen him. I can't remember the rest. The driver wasn't charged apparently. They told me Alex died instantly.

The police came to the house. Theo was still at the gallery—well, looking back, maybe he was with Freya. He said he was at the gallery, but probably the affair was going on even then. Anyway, it meant I had to go to the police station alone. I had to identify Alex on my own. My perfect little boy.

Afterwards, I tried everything, I really did. I took antidepressants. I tried sleeping tablets. I saw a therapist. The one thing I refused to do was give up work, even though both my therapist and my supervisor suggested I take a break. I think I was afraid to lose the structure work provided, not to mention the feeling that people still needed me. After all, I was totally alone: Theo had left by then.

I really don't know what triggered the move—my escape, as my therapist called it. He tried to stop me; said I hadn't even begun to grieve. But I thought, if I go somewhere where I don't know anyone, not a soul, then I can start over and somehow everything will be ok.

It didn't take long to find a job—I already told you psychology jobs are easy to find. It was a sole practitioner post in a remote village in Wales. Ideal. No one would know my past. I could start over, just see what happened.

For the first month, things went well. I enjoyed my aloneness, my little cottage with my cat. My receptionist—the only person I saw every day—just got on with her job, never asked questions or tried to be pally. I was sure I would defy everyone who'd warned me this wouldn't work.

But that's when the fairy tale characters started coming through my office window, as you'll find out in the pages that follow. I've kept the content of my notes just as I wrote them—detailed 'objective' clinical notes—so I apologise if the narrative sounds a little cold and formal at times. It's because I wrote not as a storyteller, but as the clinician I believed those magical characters had come to see.

Most of the time it wasn't hard to guess who they were. But therapists are trained not to speculate, instead to regard each client as someone they've never heard of, never met. So I pushed those thoughts away.

10

I also had to accept an odd way of working. I knew I couldn't suggest actions that would change these characters' stories, because their stories were already written, already well known.

Anyway, here are my clinical notes about those sessions. I'm happy share them with you, because someday I might ask you whether you think the visits really happened.

I'm still sure they did.

Rumpelstiltskin

Tuesday, end of clinic.

Thank heavens.

I sink back wearily into my worn leather chair, take off my glasses and close my eyes. So much suffering here! Identity crises, depression, phobias, sleep disorders. The same as in my London clinics.

When I chose to move to this quiet Welsh village, I was convinced I'd leave behind all those 'city problems', as I'd thought of them. I couldn't have been more mistaken. Mental illness, I was beginning to realise, has no respect for setting.

But enough. I just need to summon the strength to sit up straight and write my notes so I can go home, too, and leave this all behind. Eyes still closed, I lean forward, steeling myself for the last task of the day.

What was that? A scraping of chair legs across my consulting room floor? A rustle of some heavy material, silk perhaps? Not possible. There could be no one in this office now except me. Even my secretary has gone. I heard her close and latch the outer door only a few minutes ago.

I open my eyes in alarm and shove my glasses back on clumsily—rather askew now-—and look anxiously around the room.

Sitting quietly across from me is a young woman. Long tight blond curls fall to her shoulders. Perfect pale skin. Her wide mouth is closed and drawn. Her eyes are downcast, but I can see the long blond lashes even from where I'm sitting. She is wearing a dress made from satin I would guess, a soft grey. A long tight bodice draws in her delicate frame and is met at the waist by volumes of grey silk, a long skirt under which I detect an equally voluminous silk petticoat. The sleeves of her dress are full and loose, ending just beneath the elbows. Her hands rest in her lap, and in her left hand she's clutching a large linen handkerchief. Long pearl eardrops and a matching pearl necklace complete her ensemble, the latter plain to see above the low neckline of her dress. Clearly, a very rich woman. And equally clearly, not of our time. I wait, trying not to stare open-mouthed. Without looking up, she began to speak.

'You have to help me. I've been told you can help people. I don't want to lose my baby! You have to help me keep my baby!'

And with that, she began to sob uncontrollably.

I had no idea what to do or say, so I simply waited quietly—the therapist's safe fall back. Gradually, her sobs subsided. She wiped her eyes delicately with her handkerchief, and for the first time, looked up at me.

She was absolutely stunning. Perfect, delicate features. But oh, such fear, desperation and sadness in those pale blue eyes!

'You will help me, won't you?'

To my astonishment, I found myself smiling my professional 'I hear you and I care' smile and replying as I ordinarily would. I could only suppose that assuming my professional façade was more for me than for the 'patient' sitting across from me. Of course—it was my own attempt to cope, to regain a sense of normality. Because this certainly wasn't normal.

'I am glad to try to help you, but in order to do so I need to know more about you, and what's gone wrong in your life. Perhaps you could start by explaining why you're afraid of losing your baby. Is this a baby you already have? Or one you are...expecting?'

She didn't look pregnant, but I needed to know if the baby was real, or whether this was a phantom pregnancy. At the same time, I was struck by the absurdity of the question. After all, was *she* real?

'Wilhelm is three months and a day. He is my life.' More sobs.

'And where is Wilhelm now?'

'He's safe in the castle with my servant girl.'

'In the castle? Are you, then ...?'

She smiled through her tears now, a bitterly sad smile.

'I am the queen. Yes, I am the queen.'

She was silent again. I took off my glasses and wiped them with one of the tissues from the box I always keep in the top drawer of my desk. I put them back on, carefully this time. She was still there.

'Perhaps it would be best if you start by going back to the time when life was good for you...before you had...worries?'

'Good? Life is never good for a poor girl...I *was* a poor girl, and I don't remember ever being happy. Until Wilhelm was born.'

She trailed off, gazing past me, far away. I didn't want to lose her attention.

'OK. Since we've not met and I don't know anything about you, perhaps it's best if you start at the very beginning, the first things you can remember.'

I opened the notebook I kept for case notes, and picked up the biro beside it. 'May I take some notes?' 'Notes?'

'Is it OK if I write down what you tell me? So I can remember everything. The notes are only for us. I won't show them to anyone else.'

Definitely not, I thought. No GP to write to here.

'Yes, yes, of course. You write.'

She drew herself up a little taller and dropped her hands to her lap, still clutching the handkerchief. She took a deep breath, fighting the corset.

'I was born a poor miller's daughter. Mother was always sad. I never remembered her smiling, not once. She wanted children, many children. But after I was born, she couldn't have any more children. She never got over that. I had to keep house, cook the meals, do everything, because mother was always too tired. My father...'

Those pale blue eyes narrowed as she held her breath and pursed her lips. For a moment I saw the possibility of an ugly temper tantrum. Mercifully, she took a slow breath instead, then continued.

'My father was so restless. So greedy. He always said he deserved a better life. Fate had dealt him a bad hand, he said. Except for me. He said my beauty would bring him riches.'

More silence.

'And, did it? Did your beauty bring him riches?'

Her eyes narrowed again. I noticed she was now clenching the handkerchief tightly. Ugly streaks of red began to show on her slender neck as she leaned hard towards me and raised her voice.

'He lied about me. He made promises about me. Promises I could never fulfil. He didn't care what would happen to me!'

I could see she was fast warming to an outburst of unbridled fury, something that would definitely impede any chance I might have to figure out how to help.

'Can you slow down a bit here, please, for me? I need to understand, you see. I need to know what your father promised, and whom he promised. You have to explain these things to me, so I can understand. Otherwise, I don't think I can help you.'

Her shoulders dropped. She leaned back slightly and tried to breathe more slowly. The red streaks began to recede.

'I was 15. I was working hard. Every day, I worked so hard! Up before daylight. Sifting the grain, grinding it, putting the flour into bags, helping father deliver it. But when I took the flour out with father, when I delivered it in the village...men would stare.'

She blushed.

'I know I was a pretty sight, even in my plain linens.'

She paused again, glancing down at her expensive silks.

'Tom was the worst. Tom would always watch me. Follow me everywhere. Every time I went out. Like a hungry dog, he would follow me.'

'Tom? Who is Tom?'

'Tom was older. No one knew for sure where he lived. People said he'd lost his wife in childbirth. The baby too. People said he was in love with me.'

'And your father disapproved?'

She tightened her grip on her handkerchief. 'Tom was poor. Father said he wasn't good enough for me. I deserved better, he said.'

Another pause. She stared ahead, the anger returning.

'The truth is father wanted better for himself, not better for me. I don't think he cared much about me. Except for what I could get for him.

'One day—this is what I was starting to tell you about, the day before I turned 16—father sat down to our evening meal all excited and happy. He said the king had asked for some of his flour. The king! Father was so happy. He said he had a plan. Now was our chance, he said. He told me he and I would take the flour to the king together.

'So the next morning very early, we loaded the bags onto our cart and set out for the castle.'

'Is this the castle you live in now, as queen?'

She nodded. I saw a flash of something—Wistfulness? Sadness? Regret? pass across her face before she fixed her gaze back on me.

'When we arrived at the castle, father told the guard we had to deliver the flour to the king ourselves. He said the king had commanded it. That was a lie. But the guard believed him. He took us into the king's day chamber.'

She looked away again, better to recall the scene.

'The king, when he saw me...I felt how he stared at me. But then he turned to father, angry. "How dare you enter my private chambers!" But all the time he kept turning back to stare at me. That's when father knew his chance. He wanted to make the king think I could be more than one night of pleasure.'

She paused, anger welling up again.

'Father set down the bag of flour he was carrying, and he nodded to me to do the same. Then he took off his cap and bowed low, all humble and pious.

"Your Majesty, I bring my daughter here not just to help me carry the flour to you, but to tell you of her amazing power, a power she offers to Your Most Royal Highness."

'He stopped talking then and looked up at the king. The king looked at me, for a long time. So long I had to turn away, for fear he would see me tremble. What is father saying, I thought. I have no amazing power!

"Well, go on, man!" The king nearly shouted at my father, never taking his eyes off me. "Tell me of this power!"

She paused again and closed her eyes, as if the memory was too vivid for her to bear. She went on, eyes still closed tight.

'Then my father said, "My daughter knows how to spin straw into gold."

With this, her eyes flew open, glittering, fierce, tinged with helpless fury.

'The king looked away from me then, and stared hard at father. Was he lying? How could this be true? But even as I tried to understand father's intent, the king must have been thinking of the consequences of such a power. If this poor girl can spin straw into gold, then she is not a poor girl. In truth, she might be so rich she could be a wife fit for a king. He began to smile. And then he laughed out loud and clapped his hands in delight, just like a little boy. He liked this story.

"Well, then, miller," he said. "If what you say is true, this is fortunate indeed, for I as it happens I am seeking a wife."

'He looked at me again, I suppose. I can't be sure, because I could only stare at the floor, trying my best not to tremble or faint. Then he went on.

"Miller, you may leave now. Your daughter will stay with me. Go!"

'And father left. I did not see him again until my wedding day.'

At this point I was leaning so far forward towards her, so engrossed in what she was telling me, that I knocked my water glass over. The water flowed freely onto my desk and notepaper. I dared not wipe it up, dared not break her narrative or look away from her. I wasn't taking notes anyway, and she seemed oblivious to the accident. I dropped my biro into the puddle on the desk and leaned back. The water dripped slowly off the table.

'The king came over to me. He took my hand and commanded me to look at him. His face...' She stopped speaking, shaking her head.

'What about his face?'

'There was desire. But for me? Or for the gold? I am still unsure, even now.'

She closed her eyes again, taking herself back to my room so she might continue her tale.

'The king led me to a small room at the back of the castle. There was only one window, high at the back. The room was bare.

"Here, lass," he says to me. "I will call for a spinning wheel to be brought to this room, and my servants will fill the room with straw."

She paused, reflecting.

'I am glad to say he is not a cruel man. He ordered his servants to bring me a plate of food and some water as well. Then he turned back to me. "Tonight," he said, "you must spin all the straw into gold. I will come back to this chamber at daybreak. If the gold is not here, and the straw not gone, then you must fear for your life." And with that he turned and left the room.'

I wanted to say something encouraging to this poor girl, try to show some sort of empathy. But every phrase that came to mind sounded trite or shallow. So instead I decided for once simply to say what I really felt, while at the same time trying not to reflect the eagerness I felt.

'Please, go on, but only if you can bear to. This must be so painful to recall.'

She looked up at me gratefully.

'I never knew what alone meant until that night. I just knelt down on the floor and cried and cried. All the while the servants brought the straw, the spinning wheel, the food and water. I just cried. They never said a word. Then they left.

'I drank the water, but even to look at the food made me feel sick. I fingered the straw, wishing so much for its gold to be more than a colour. I even pushed a bit into the spinning wheel. The needle spewed it out. It was still straw.'

A tear ran down her cheek. She wiped it away absently.

'After a time, I must have fallen asleep. But then something startled me. There was a tapping at the window. I peered into the darkness. Tom! It was Tom's face at the window! He looked all broken up in the little pieces of glass. He was making signs that I should pull the glass towards me, so I could let him in.'

She looked directly at me once more, smiling, relief flooding through her at this memory. I smiled back and nodded, encouraging her.

'He was that nimble, he hopped straight in. I was never so glad to see anyone.'

"Now, what's the trouble, lass? You've been crying. What's the trouble here, lass?"

'I realised then I'd never heard him speak. I only knew him to stare. He had a coarse voice. But his words, they were kind.'

'So I told him. Told him all.'

She looked to me for approval. Unsure why, I simply nodded and smiled again. 'And what did he say when you told him...all?'

'First, he looked at the straw, sort of measuring it like. Then the wheel. He tested it to see if it turned well. Then he took a big breath and turned to me, smiling and looking kind of...well, greedy? But still kind.'

"I can spin this straw into gold for you."

'That's what he said. I thought he had gone wrong in his mind. No one can spin straw into gold. But I could see he meant what he said.

"But lass, if I spin this straw into gold, what would you give me in return?" he asked.

'I knew I'd owe him my life. But what could I give? I had only what I was wearing. But then I remembered my necklace. "I will give you my necklace if you will spin this straw for me."

'I was surprised that my small offer seemed to satisfy him. Boldly, he stroked my curls. I had to let him, didn't I?'

She paused and raised her eyes to meet mine. Again, that desperate need for approval. Why, I wondered, did she seek approval at this particular moment? But she did so, clearly. I nodded and smiled.

'Do, please, go on.'

'Then, he piled up all the straw beside the wheel, sat down, and began to spin. Big heaps of straw he pushed into the spinning wheel. And while I watched...mark my words! There was gold coming out the other side! Threads of pure gold!

'Tom never stopped, never looked up, until all the straw was gone. The gold was so beautiful! Then he stood up, held out his hand to me.

"Your necklace, my love." I had to let him call me "my love", didn't I?"

I nodded again. My only desire was to hear more, but I knew she needed my approval rather than my eagerness to hear the rest of her story. 'Of course you had to let him. Do, please go on!'

'Tom hopped right up to the window and jumped out, clutching my necklace. He was gone in a moment. I tried to see where he went, but it was still too dark outside. Then I pushed the window back shut. I must have fallen into a deep sleep at once, because next I knew, I heard the servants talking all excited. They had come into the room I think, but upon seeing the gold, they'd run quickly out to fetch the king.

'I know him well now...' Here she dropped her gaze bashfully.

'But never have I seen him so delighted as when he came into the chamber that morning. He clapped his hands again, and punched the air.

"So it's true! You can do it!"

'Best to say nothing, I thought. I just bent my head all respectful and nodded yes.

'He danced—yes, he did dance round the gold, picking up strands of it and tossing them in the air. Then he kissed the gold in his hand, kissed the spinning wheel...and kissed me.'

Shy again. Demure, her eyes downcast. I was beginning to wonder now if she was telling me all that had taken place between her and the king that morning—and for that matter, all that had taken place between her and Tom earlier. If there had been intimacy, it would explain her desire for my approval. After all, if I'm placing her correctly, this took place long ago when sexual promiscuity was more frowned upon, and she hadn't been promised to either of them at that point. But, then, did it matter? I wasn't sure. But I did wonder.

She resumed her narrative.

'The king went away, but first he ordered me to enjoy a bath, and that I be given the finest clothing. I was already being treated like a queen. I was so happy.

'That evening the king came to the bedchamber he had allowed for me. Though he looked at me with smiles, and though I knew he was pleased with what he saw before him, I feared my ordeal was not yet over. And I was right.

"Miller's daughter," he began, putting me in my place, "You did well. But it might have been a trick. Tonight I will ask you to repeat your magic, but in a larger room. If you fail, things will go badly for you."

'With that, he left me to his servants who took me to another room, larger than the one where I'd spent my first night. It was already filled with straw—so much straw!—and already the spinning wheel was in the room. Without asking, the servants fetched me a plate of food and a jug of water, and without a word, they left.

'I knelt down again on the floor. I had no idea how Tom had spun the straw. What was I to do? I looked out of the window hopefully, but there was no one there. I began to weep.

'After what seemed an eternity, I heard a tap at the window. I flew to it, and...yes! There was Tom's face! With haste I pulled the glass towards me. Tom hopped inside and looked at me kindly. I saw he was wearing my necklace beneath his old linen shirt.

"My lass, was he not satisfied?"

19

'I shook my head.'

He looked around the room, thinking.

"It seems he has set you yet another task."

'I nodded.

"So, shall old Tom help you out once again?"

'This time I cried out for joy. "Oh yes! Please, Tom, please help me!"

'But he did not sit at the wheel. He turned to me first. Very close he was.'

She was pleading wordlessly for my approval again, her eyes searching mine, her hands clenching the handkerchief in her lap. I could feel that need plainly, and now I understood. Of course there was more to the story than she was telling, more that passed between her and Tom. But that could wait. For now, I was eager only for her to tell me more, so I didn't question her.

'I understand. You must have felt so grateful to Tom, happy to do anything for him. Please, do go on.'

Her hands relaxed in her lap and she let go of the crumpled handkerchief, shoulders dropping. A slow deep breath—more a sigh of relief.

"If I help you again, what will you give me this time?" he asked.

'Well, I had a fine dress now, but I couldn't give him that, could I?'

For a moment she looked merry, child-like. She was actually teasing me! It was so good to see her happy, if even just for that moment.

'I had but one thing left of my own. My ring, the one my mother's mother gave me. So I told him he could have the ring.

'He must have thought it a fair bargain, for he sat down to spin at once. He spun it all, every piece of that straw. All of it he spun into gold. And so quickly! The room was filled with gold just as the moon had begun to fade in the night sky.

"Now, give me your ring, and I shall be gone."

'And he was. Gone. Vanished into the night. I pushed the glass back into place, and threw myself down—right there, on the gold—and fell asleep. I slept until I heard the king himself opening the chamber door.

"She's done it!" he cried to his servants, though of course they could see with their own eyes. "We are rich indeed!"

'He kissed me again, several times.'

She paused, blushed again.

'Then he ordered the servants to give me whatever I wanted that day. I enjoyed another bath and a wondrous meal, and then I was taken for a ride in the King's carriage!'

Her face was alight with that memory—she looked so young and carefree, and so happy. But only in that moment. I recalled her desperate plea earlier. Much as I might wish it so, this tale was not to end happily, and I knew it even before her joy fell away.

'That evening, just as I was about to prepare myself for sleep, the king called me into his day chamber, the place where we first met. He had that look again, that greedy look. All my happiness vanished. I felt afraid again.

"Miller's daughter, it is true that you have pleased me well. But still, you are not the richest of the women I may marry. Thus I set you one final task. Tonight you will stay in my largest chamber. It is filled already with straw. If you spin all that straw into gold, then it is certain you will be my wife."

'I was led away by the servants once again, this time to a chamber nearly as large as the king's day chamber. It was, as he had said, filled with straw. In the middle of the room sat the spinning wheel, and beside it a plate of food and a jug of water. Without a word, the servants left, closing the great door behind them.

'At once I located the window, ran over to it and sat down beside it. Tom was my only hope. But what could I give him? I had nothing left to give now.

'Time passed. How much I cannot say, but I think not much. If Tom could spin this straw, he would need most of the night to do it, I knew. Then soon enough, to my heart's joy, there was a tapping at the window. This window was large, the hinges heavy and stiff to open. But had it been the size of a mountain, I think I would have pulled it open, so great was my desire to let Tom in.

"Aha!" he cried as he hopped into the huge room. "I see the King has grown greedier!"

"Indeed he has. But he has promised. This is the last test."

I looked beseechingly at Tom.

"You can do this?"

He laughed.

"Of course I can, my love!"

'But now he looked at me as the king had. With greed, with a hunger in his eyes.

"And what will you give me if I do this task for you?"

"You know I have nothing left to give you, Tom. Please, please help me anyway!"

'He stared at me hard and long. It seemed he was thinking what to say. But now...well, now when I think of that moment, I believe he had a plan prepared all along.

"Well, then, my love", he began. "Well then. When your first child is born, you shall give him to me."

'Of course I knew Tom had lost his own dear son in childbirth, and his wife as well. Of course he would grieve the baby and wish for another. But of course, I knew also that I could never give up my child, especially to such an old and greedy man. But who was to say I would ever have a child? And what would become of me if I did not promise what he wished?'

She was looking at me hard, as if presenting me with a fresh dilemma. But I sensed the truth. She was only rehearsing an argument she'd had with herself countless times before.

'Of course you had to promise,' I said. 'You had no choice. No other choice at all.'

Encouraged and relieved, she hurried on.

'After I made my promise to him, Tom hurried to the spinning wheel and began to spin. There was so much straw that on this night he needed my help. I had to fetch handfuls of it and carry it to him, so he never had to stop his spinning. He worked so hard. So fast.'

She looked away. Far away. Remembering.

'It was near daybreak when I handed him the last pieces of straw. He was so weary. He looked so old. Except his eyes were dancing with delight.

"Your first born child. Mine now! You will not forget, will you?"

'I nodded to him, not believing myself.

"I will away then. Until we meet again, my love, my queen!"

'And with that he crossed over to the window and hopped through. I saw him heading into the woods. It was that light by then.

'I pushed the glass shut with the last of my strength, and sat down hard on the floor. There would be no time for sleeping that night, I knew.

'Only minutes later, I heard the king coming down the hall, talking loudly with his servants. He did not even knock, but burst in through the door.

"In God's name, she has done it! The gold! All this gold!"

'And he danced again, throwing handfuls of the beautiful strands of gold high into the air and catching it as it fell.

'After a time, he remembered himself and stopped dancing. He turned to me. He held my shoulders tightly and kissed me hard. Then he released me. At least he could see that I was exhausted.

"Prepare the queen!" he cried, and left the chamber.'

She paused. She'd stopped staring past me, and looked directly into my eyes once more.

'That was one year, one day past. I was married next day, and nine months later, came my child Wilhelm.'

Oh boy, I thought. This was getting complicated. If my calculations were right, Wilhelm could easily be the son of either Tom or the King. Who was his real father?

I stopped musing, brought back to the present moment with a start. I was feeling the full force of my patient's angry penetrating stare. Clearly, I had underestimated this young woman. She knew my thoughts as if I had spoken them aloud.

'What does it matter who is his true father?!' she accused me angrily.

'Did I have any choices in what happened? Do you imagine an old and poor widower could offer Wilhelm the life that a King could give him?'

Now it was my turn to blush.

'I am truly sorry. You will forgive my speculation. It's my job to make guesses from what has not been said.'

Stony silence.

'Please. I apologise. You are right. Wilhelm is a prince, whatever happened last year.'

This seemed to satisfy her, because she let out a sigh and relaxed. She paused for a moment, as if to let the air settle between us. A welcome pause.

'And now, here is where I beg your help.'

Another sincere, anguished look. By now I was hoping, far more than professional remit required—or for that matter, encouraged—that I would be able to give the help she craved.

'Two nights past, when I was resting in my chamber, Wilhelm in my arms and sleeping so beautifully, my window was pushed hard open, and to my great dismay, in hopped Tom. The very same! He looked older than ever, but smiling ear to ear. At the sight of him, I felt no gratitude. Only fear and loathing in equal measures.

"Hello, my love!"

'He stared at Wilhelm a long moment, as if transfixed.

"I see my son is a fine strong boy."

'I clutched Wilhelm all the tighter. He woke and began to cry.

'Tom smiled at Wilhelm, then at me, then back at Wilhelm, with a look all greedy and cruel.

"I made you a queen, my love! Now I have come to claim the debt you owe me!"

'And he reached out to take Wilhelm, who cried all the harder.

"No, please!" I begged. "Anything but my baby! I will give you gold! Jewels! Land! Whatever you desire!"

"We made a bargain. I desire only my son!"

'At that moment, I felt as if my life would end. My tears fell so hard and fast, and I begged Tom so. He began to soften. I could see—even through my tears—that he remembered how fond he was of me. He stepped back a pace and dropped his arms. I could see he was feeling torn in half.'

She stepped briefly out of her narrative to address me.

'Tom is not a cruel man. Not truly. He was still grieving his baby.'

I wasn't sure which baby she was referring to, but it didn't matter. I agreed with her. 'No, it doesn't sound as if he is a cruel man.'

We were both quiet again for a time. Then she continued.

'He was fighting with himself. I could see it. Like he was greedy and kind, both things, and they were fighting inside him. After a time he spoke again.

"My love, I will offer you a chance. Only this one chance, but I will offer it." He went on.

"My true name is not Tom. It is something else, something no one knows. The bargain I offer you is this. I will come back each of the three nights following, and on each occasion you may guess freely what is my real name. If by the third night, you have not guessed rightly, you will hand my son to me. If you do guess my name, you may keep him. Either way, I will leave and never trouble you again. Do you accept my bargain?"

'I knew he was sore pressed to offer me any chance at all, and had it been for any other reason, I would have loved him for his generosity. But I could not bear the thought of parting with my son. And of course I had no choice really, so I told Tom I agreed to his bargain. Then he left.

'Next day early, I ordered the servants to nail up the window, which they did, so that with luck he could not return. But I had to prepare for the possibility that he would return, to do everything to keep my dear Wilhelm. So I commanded all the servants to go out and search the neighbourhood and gather all the male names they could discover, and bring them back to me before nightfall, which they did faithfully.

'That night I sat in my chamber with Wilhelm. Too soon I heard the tap, tap on the window I so feared. I pretended not to notice. But then, in a twinkling, there was Tom, standing beside me. The window was still nailed shut.

"I've played fair with you, my love," he said, true enough. "You should not try tricks with old Tom."

'I bowed my head in shame.

"And now, my love, what is my true name?"

'And he sat down before me and Wilhelm, staring all the while at the baby. I drew out the list the servants had gathered for me.

"Could it be that you are called Caspar?" I began.

'He smiled a gleeful smile.'

"No, that is not my name. Pray, you may try again."

"Are you called Melchior, or Balthazar?"

"No, those are not my names."

'And so it went, until I had read out all the names on my list. To say fair, he let me read them all.'

She trailed off, torn again between repugnance and pity for this man.

'When I had finished reading my list, he rose. He reached out and touched Wilhelm gently on his little arm before I could draw my baby to my bosom. Then he bowed—a mocking bow, I'll warrant—and said he'd be back tomorrow.'

She paused, obviously still in wonder at what she was about to say.

'Then he...vanished. He just...vanished.

'Yesterday, I did not order the window sealed or nailed shut. Instead, first thing, I called all the servants in my command to my chamber. I bid them search the kingdom far and wide, wider than before, and gather names of every male in the kingdom, and bring the names back to me before nightfall. They dispersed, and I was left alone with my son.'

She looked up at me, looking suddenly much older.

'It seemed such a long day, yesterday. Yet every moment with Wilhelm flew by too quickly.'

Large tears coursed down her cheeks, but then she drew herself up tall to steady herself so she could go on.

'My servants returned as instructed before nightfall. They gave me pages of names to offer, and I was hopeful.

'At exactly the same hour as the previous night, Tom appeared before me once more. I felt the cool breeze from the open window. I knew he would think better of me for not nailing it shut.

"Thank you for not making my entry a complicated task," he began jovially.

'I felt only disgust that he had tried to make a joke. He sensed this at once, and took on a serious expression. Then he sat down before me and Wilhelm.

"And what names are you to suggest this night, my love?"

'I drew out the list and began reading from it. "Perhaps your name is Shortribs? Or Sheepshanks? Or Laceleg?" But always, he answered simply, "No, that is not my name."

'When at last, after I had read every name from my list, he rose. He did not try to stroke Wilhelm, though he looked longingly at my baby, now fast asleep in my arms.

"I leave you now, my love. Tomorrow I shall return, and I believe I will leave then with my son."

'All night I lay awake, hearing his words: "Tomorrow I shall return, and I believe I will leave then with my son."

'This morning, when at last everyone was waking, I got up from my bed but did not know what to do. I had tried every name in my kingdom. Where now, I thought, could I seek an answer?'

Now she turned the full force of her gaze on me. Begging, beseeching, pleading with me.

'I had been told of you, that you help people. I have ventured far from my kingdom and my times to seek your help. Please, I beg of you! Tell me how to discover Tom's real name so I may keep my baby!'

Silence. She continued to search my face, although thankfully she respected my need for a chance to gather my thoughts.

If indeed there was to be magic, I thought, I knew it must come from her world, not from me or mine, for by now I could no longer prevent myself knowing she had come out of a fairy tale. Anyway, I was only an ordinary human being from a different time than hers. I had no magic to offer. But even if I had an answer, was it my place to give it to her? I remembered one of my professors reprimanding me early on in training. "Your job is not to sort out your patients. Your job is to make it possible for them to sort themselves out." With that in mind I felt ready to speak.

'When you seek the answer to a problem,' I began, 'You have to find it yourself. And you may well be surprised what helps you most to find that answer. So

please, open your mind to every possibility, every source. Listen, and trust yourself. If you do that, then answer will come to you, and you will know it when you hear it.'

I wasn't sure I could believe myself, but no sooner had I finished speaking than we heard a harsh sound, a scraping or beating against the glass behind us. The queen turned to stare at the window. I followed her gaze. The scraping sounds came from the only window in my office that faced the ancient woods at the end of the lane. I was astonished to see it was unlatched-—I could have sworn it had been closed and locked all day. It was, however, unlatched now.

Listening more closely, it sounded like the beating of wings against the windowpane. A few more thrusts from those wings—if that's what they were—and the window flew wide open. In swept a little bird. It landed on the edge of the desk between us and perched there, flicking its tail and turning its bright gaze to each of us in turn.

It was a small bird, about the size and shape of a robin. The plumage was of soft silver grey with gold sprinkled on the underparts. It had a golden bill and a whitish throat. The colouring was unlike anything I had ever seen, but the eyes were what fascinated me most. They were large and black, encircled by pale silver eye rings, and although they looked not human, they seemed to exude a human intelligence. I felt as though this little bird was sizing us up, trying to make some sort of decision. We both stared at it, fascinated, as it appeared to make up its mind. Ignoring me, it turned towards the queen and began to sing.

The song was most remarkable. The bird's register was far lower than I'd expected, a register nearer to that of human range than of a bird. It uttered four distinct notes, accenting the third. It flicked its tail, cocked its head at the queen, and repeated the little song, sweet but to my ears meaningless. Then it rose abruptly and flew back out the window. I watched it as it headed towards the dark and ancient woods, a silver streak disappearing into the twilight.

When I turned to face the queen, I found the change in her appearance astonishing. Tears were coursing down her cheeks once more, but these were tears of joy. She dabbed absently at her face, tucked the handkerchief into her bodice, clapped her hands and laughed out loud in sheer delight.

'Thank you! Oh thank you!'

'Whatever for?'

'You told me to listen, to listen to what matters to me, rather than to seek answers from others. That little bird comes from my world, and he has told me Tom's name! Now I know what I will tell him tonight!' She clapped her hands happily once more, and then turned and regarded me. As if something had reminded her, she drew a small bag from the voluptuous folds of her skirt. She kissed it tenderly and held it out to me.

'Please. Take this. In gratitude for what you have explained to me.'

'Oh no, I couldn't...' I began.

'But you must. The coins are made of gold that was spun from the straw.' She held it out determinedly, confident now in herself. It would be rude to refuse.

I thanked her, and set the bag down carefully on my desk, then lifted the flap of material that was folded over the top. A handful of the most beautiful, most delicate coins I had ever seen lay within the bag. They were made of pure gold I was certain, but that gold was the richest, deepest colour I had ever seen. There were delicate inscriptions on each coin, clearly marks of a language that no longer existed.

I looked up to thank her.

She was gone. Vanished.

I searched everywhere in the room. There was no sign of her, no sign of any change or disturbance, no clue. No evidence, in fact, that she'd ever been in the room at all. Nothing, except that the window behind me was now wide open.

Had this last hour really happened? Or in my exhaustion, had I fallen asleep and dreamt the most extraordinarily vivid dream?

Then I remembered the bag of coins. I hurried over to my desk to see if it was still there. It was, exactly where I had put it down. The events of the last hour really had happened. I picked up the bag carefully and enclosed it tightly in my left hand.

I glanced at my watch. It was now precisely one hour after my clinic had been scheduled to finish. High time to go home.

I rose, placed the bag of coins reverently in the left pocket of my jacket, dropped my wet biro and (blank) case notes into my briefcase, snapped the case shut, and headed for the door.

Then I remembered the window.

I hurried back to close and latch it. Immediately as I did so, I felt a distinct tingling down my left side. Anxiously, I reached into my pocket to check for the bag of coins.

Instead of a bag, I felt something rough and dry. I drew it out. It was a handful of straw.

Little Snow White

Did a fairy tale queen from an age long gone really appear in my consulting room last week? Did she really sit down across from me and ask for my help? I'm beginning to doubt it. And yet...and yet...I open my desk drawer to check whether the handful of straw she gave me is still there, hidden at the back underneath some papers.

lt is.

Time to go home. More than time, because it's been such a depressing day. Two patients didn't show up and one cancelled without offering any explanation. Am I no good? Do I hit too close to home too fast or speak too directly, causing these very private people to back away? Do my own concerns show through in my approach? Or has everyone just decided I'm an outsider here, someone who can't possibly understand or help them?

The five-mile cycle ride back to my cottage, especially on this wild Welsh night, feels like fitting punishment for my incompetence. I zip up my anorak, gather the day's notes into my backpack and strap it on as I head for the door.

A gust of wind nearly knocks me over as I reach over to switch off the lights. I was sure I shut and latched the window facing the forest...I feel a delicious anticipation as I turn slowly around.

Someone is there.

A young man, in his twenties I would guess. Dark eyes set deep in olive skin, dark hair curling out from under his cap. His leather jerkin is well weathered, as are the loose trousers. A rough black tunic—wool is it?—encases him beneath the outerwear. Thick leather boots, scoffed and damp, finish the ensemble. The smell of damp earth fills the room. I wait.

He regards me intently, silently. Then, as if remembering his manners, he doffs his cap and gestures towards the chair across from my desk.

'May I beg your pardon to sit down?'

'Of course.' I drop my backpack, hastily unzip my anorak and drop it as well, retrieve a notebook and pen from the discarded backpack and sit down in my usual chair, never daring take my eyes off him. What if he disappears? Again I wait, hoping I look relaxed, calm and together. I don't feel it. He studies his cap for some minutes, turning it round and round in his powerful hands, then slowly lifts his head to meet my gaze. 'I can no longer do my work.'

'Your...work?' I had no idea what his work might be, why it mattered.

'Oh, you cannot know my work, can you? For I am not wearing my knife.'

I had to suppress relief for that.

'I am a huntsman. One of the queen's huntsmen.' He uttered Her Majesty's title as if it were poisonous on his tongue, then hurried on. 'My skills were once so fine. I could slit a throat as easily as...' his voice trailed off, right hand absently searching the tunic at belt level, presumably for the knife. Still unsure about his motive, I dearly hoped the knife would not materialise.

'I...I have lost my skills. And I can no longer sleep. I need your help.'

Familiar ground at last. Glad to divert him from throat slitting, I interrupted. 'You can't sleep? Not at all? Or do you sleep only in snatches?'

'I long for sleep, but I dare not allow it. If I sleep the dreams will come again, and I fear I may act on them.'

My unease revived as I remember I'm totally alone in this office. I need a safer topic of conversation to allow time to steady my racing pulse. He did say he wants my help, after all. Hardly likely to use me to hone his knife skills...yet.

'Perhaps if you tell me a bit about yourself it will be easier for me to understand your situation and help you.'

'Yes of course. Of course. We do not know one another.

'I am the fourth son of my father. My mother died when I was but three years. I am told of her, but I do not remember her.'

I wonder if this means he idealises women. Children who lose a parent at an early age may idealise not only the deceased parent, but sometimes everyone else of that gender as well.

'We all grew up together under father's care. We were lucky—we had a patch of land we could tend, to grow food and where we kept sheep and fowl. We had to work very hard, but we were never hungry, and for that I give thanks.' He paused to reflect on his blessings.

'One day when selling our goods at market, a member of the royal household approached my father. I saw him regarding me, and I remember his words exactly.'

"Your youngest son is tall and strong. How old is he?"

"He is 17 years and indeed tall and strong, Sir," my father answered proudly but with respect. "Then he will do. The queen is looking for more huntsmen. You will bring him to the castle gates tomorrow at sunrise and leave him in our care. If he is an able apprentice he will gain the privilege of serving our queen."

'This sounded like an honour, but I did not wish for it. I only knew my home and had no desire to leave it, and I told father so. But he insisted that we must do the queen's bidding.'

That same bitterness when he uttered her name. He certainly doesn't idealise all women.

'Next morning when it was still dark we set out, father and I. We arrived at the castle gates just as the sun appeared on the horizon. It was then I knew how little father wished for this as well. He refused my gaze, merely shook my hand, then turned and walked away at once. He seemed older and more bent. I have not seen him since, a full seven years.'

The young man paused his narrative, lost in quiet sadness. I dared not disturb him, waiting as the minutes passed.

At last he roused himself and looked across at me once more. 'Five others soon joined me in the courtyard that morning. The guards watched us suspiciously. No one dared speak. After some time a trumpet sounded, and at once the guards turned to the great door. As it opened, they knelt and motioned for us to do likewise. The doors opened slowly, and from within walked the queen, flanked by more guards.' Another pause—I could feel him fighting his emotions. 'I will warrant, she was...she is...the most beautiful woman I have ever seen.'

He definitely regretted that admission, shaking his head and twisting his cap all the tighter. Perhaps he polarises women? Does he categorise women as either all good or all bad? If so, he clearly doesn't know where to place the queen. I'm not sure why this is so important, but I feel it is.

'She regarded us coldly; I felt as if we were not human under her gaze. I will admit I was struck by her beauty, her raven hair and her milky skin. Even so, I saw something not beautiful in her dark eyes. After regarding us thus, she turned back to her guards.

"Well chosen. Take them away and begin their apprenticeship at once." Her voice, like her eyes, was harsh, calculating.

'Having given her command she turned and re-entered the castle, her guards closing rank behind her.'

Silence again. He was studying the cap, turning it nervously in his lap. Waiting for a prompt from me? But still unsure of his reasons for being here, I simply tried not

to appear eager for more, and merely waited for him to speak again. Still he remained silent. If I was to say anything it must be neutral, non-judgmental, so he would feel free to carry on in his own way. I still didn't have any real feel for his dilemma.

'And this was seven years ago? That's a long time. I suppose a great deal has happened since then?' I hoped that wasn't too directive.

But I might as well have not spoken. He seemed oblivious to anything but his own thoughts, and remained silent for several long minutes more. At last he spoke again.

'The training was difficult, but I am used to hard work. The six of us had to work together, but friendship was discouraged so we rarely spoke, neither when we hunted nor when we returned to our separate chambers each evening. I was never the best among the six of us, nor the worst.'

Of course not. He's the youngest child, never likely to lead, never likely to consider himself a leader or an expert. And he's used to team work not power games—no doubt as a child he and his brothers had to work together with their father on equal terms. Based on what I knew about the effects of birth order position, I also figured that as the youngest, his self-esteem would be easily threatened—hence the guarded self-assessment. I waited, hesitant to interrupt his thoughts. Better to wait until he felt ready to carry on.

'The days and weeks passed, the seasons and years. I no longer thought of any other future.

'But one evening, 40 days past now, there came a knock on my chamber door. I opened the door to a guard I did not recognise, but I knew from his fine dress he must be of the highest rank.

"The queen bids you come to her chamber at once." He turned and walked out and into the corridor. I had of course no choice but to follow, down wide stone floors and through the dark echoing hall past rooms I'd never seen before, until we came to the queen's chamber. The guard stood before it, I behind him respectfully. He knocked once, and the queen bade us enter.'

Bitterly, now twisting his cap, 'I remember every moment of that encounter. The queen dismissed the guard at once, without so much as a thank you. I was left to kneel before her, not daring to look up. But I felt her cold regard.'

Intense dislike now, his dark features tightened with disgust. Another pause as he wrestled with his unpalatable emotions, then taking a deep breath resumed his narrative. His shoulders had stiffened slightly, hands now twisting that poor cap mercilessly. I could tell he was reliving every moment. He seemed...frightened? Angry?

'Again I recall her exact words: "Huntsman, you will not join your companions tomorrow morning. Instead you will wait in your chamber until they have all gone out to hunt. Then you will hasten to the courtyard, and there you will wait. A guard will come and escort you here to my chamber once more."

"I will be waiting...with my daughter. Tomorrow is her tenth birthday and I have told her that as a gift, she will be allowed to venture into the forest for a day of exploration. She has wished this for some time. I have told her she may have her wish as her birthday gift, although she must tell no one of it."

"You! You will take her with you, deep into the forest, on foot the both of you. When you are far from the castle...when no one can hear her scream..." I remember how she regarded me. Emotionless. "Then you will draw your knife and you will slay her."

He looked at me beseechingly. 'How could anyone be so cold? How could a mother...'

"Do you understand, huntsman?" Her voice had risen, ugly and sharp. I hear it still in my dreams. "You will slay her. Then you will cut out her heart and bring it to me, that I may know you have done as I have commanded you."

'Those were her words. I swear I shall never forget them. Never.'

He was pleading with me to soften the memory. But of course there was no way I could do that, though I wished I could. I knew I had to keep back, not open myself to his pain, or I'd never be able to help him. But it wasn't easy--he was so distraught. Poor man.

'I did not sleep that night, and I have hardly done so since. How I came to be back in her chamber the next morning I cannot recall.'

My mind was racing now. No wonder he was seeking help. He killed that poor child. He must have done! After all, he had to obey the queen. Surely he did? But to carry out an order to kill an innocent child...no command could be more terrible, no reason great enough. Who could command such a deed? But I must stop these thoughts. I have not been asked to explore the queen's psyche. I forced my mind back to the young man seated across the table, wretched in both grief and anger. I must stay with him. Wait as long as he needs to gather himself after reliving such a nightmare. At last he raised his head and met my gaze once more.

'Do you believe I killed her?'

Impossible to answer that safely. I need a therapeutic sleight. I'll ask a question, that's what I'll do. Always a good dodge. 'Did you believe you had a choice?'

He relaxed and shook his head. Glad I got that one right.

'Next morning when I saw the child, my heart went out to her at once. She was just as her mother, raven hair, milky skin, dark eyes. But her eyes were not cold. They were full of joy, of anticipation, of curiosity and wonder. So much wonder.'

Could there be a greater contrast in the pictures he painted of these two women, the only ones he'd known until then? It did seem he polarised women.

"May we go now, mother?" she begged. She was so charming, her voice so soft and sweet!

'The queen regarded me again, with a look such as I shall never forget. Black holes were her eyes. I swear she has no feelings. None.

"You will take her now, huntsman. You will do as I have commanded."

He paused once more. I had no idea now whether he'd killed the child.

'I remember our walk into the forest as a dream, only in fragments. The child...she was so happy, gathering flowers and berries, skipping more often than walking, a constant stream of chatter. So very, very happy.

'After some time we chanced by a clearing. I knew the moment had come.'

I suddenly realised I was leaning so far forward I was about to fall off my chair. As discretely as possible I edged back and loosened my grip on my biro. I'd completely forgotten I was holding it. I dropped it—no need to take notes. I was not going to forget one word of this story.

'She asked me why we had stopped, why were we here. I unsheathed my knife, though my hand was shaking. But the moment I raised the blade to strike the fatal blow, there came a great crashing and clatter from the trees behind us. A young boar tore through the undergrowth, running heedless of me and of the child he would surely trample. I acted...there was no thought. I plunged my blade deep into the creature's throat. I gripped tightly as it writhed and twisted, blood spurting from the wound. Eyes staring as it hit the ground, hooves flailing wildly, then slowing, the blood still letting, oozing now.

'I heard her screams but I dared not turn around.

"What have you done? Why did you kill him? What have you done? I hate you!"

'She was half sobbing, half shouting. I turned to face her, aware now of the gruesome scene before her. She recoiled, then turned and began to run, away from

me, away from the castle, deep into the forest, the brambles tearing at her lovely silk stockings, though I am sure she was heedless of any pain. She kept crying out over and over, "I hate you! I hate you!" I remained as if frozen as her cries became fainter, until...until...she was...gone.

'I remember then I sat down heavily beside the dead and stiffened creature. What now? Surely I should run after her, save her from certain death alone in the forest.

'But then I remembered the queen's words: "Cut out her heart and bring it to me, that I may know you have done as I command." Even if I could find the child, I could not bring her back alive to the castle. And where else could I take her? As for the queen....' Rage contorted his features at the mention of her. 'The queen would demand proof of her daughter's death. I must give her some proof, to stop her looking for the child, to do...I knew not what to the poor innocent soul...and to save myself. Suddenly I realised that here before me was my salvation.

'I wrenched my knife from the creature's throat and rolled it onto its back. A deep thrust of my blade, dragging it straight from throat to belly, exposed the heart and lungs. I cut out the heart with great care, rolled the animal back onto its side and dragged it into the underbrush. It deserved that much dignity.

'This heart will be her heart. The queen will not know the difference. I dared not think of the little princess. A fine feast she would make for the wolves no doubt. But at least I had been spared the deed that would have been unbearable. I felt such gratitude towards the dead creature.

'I cannot remember the journey back to the castle, only that my ears strained at every distant sound, hoping not to hear a young girl's cries, and yet at the same time longing for them, as proof the princess was still alive.

'Once in my chamber I wrapped the heart in a cloth, washed what I could of the blood that stained my hands, my tunic, my face, and tried—and failed—to sleep, still listening for the princess. As if I could hear deep into the forest. Still hoping that somehow, she had managed to survive.

'Next morning still in my bloodied clothes, I sat on my bed and waited for the others to leave. Then taking the heart in the stained cloth with me, I retraced the route to the queen's chamber and knocked on her door. I did not have to wait.

"Is that you, huntsman? Have you something to show me?" No greeting, only a horrible greedy eagerness. Without a word I held out the damp bundle. She grabbed it from me and tore off the cloth. Her joy....'

His voice trailed off, and I thought he was going to wretch. He needed support.
'You have done well to relive such a time. Many could not have recounted that tale.'

He looked up, back in the room with me now, grateful.

'Later I returned to the hunt—after a brief illness, or so the others had been told. Our usual silence and singularity was interrupted, for everyone was talking about the princess. It was said she had died suddenly and mysteriously, on the very day of her tenth birthday. A funeral was planned during the following week, and all of us were required to attend.

'It was a lavish but mournful affair. The queen....' Venom, pure venom when he uttered her name this time. He paused to recover himself. 'The queen was magnificent, dressed all in black. As the coffin was carried through the castle hall, I felt her eyes not on it but upon me. I thought I would faint, so strongly did I feel her silent warnings. My greatest fear was that she would somehow manage to discover what had really happened.'

He looked suddenly tired, as if he could not go on. I thought it best to wait once more, to sit with him in quiet companionship. After several silent minutes he sighed, looked up and brought himself out of his nightmare and into my room once more.

'Since then I have not killed. Oh, it appears that I kill. I join with the others when we track our quarry. But whenever I raise my knife or load my bow, I imagine it is so that I may slay the queen, to close those black eyes forever.'

His hand, curled into a fist, was searching his waist. Still no knife, thank heavens.

He was almost pleading with me now. 'At night, if I try to sleep I see her before me, I hear her voice. When I hunt, she is my quarry. My desire to kill one who ordered the death of her own child has pushed away all other thoughts, all desires. And I am so weary! Please, can you help me?'

Who could blame him for wanting to kill her? But such thoughts were not going to help him, I reminded myself severely. Killing would only lead to regret rather than release. I must try to find a way to help him discover some peace within himself.

'Let us suppose you did find an opportunity to slay the queen. What would happen then?'

'We could all rejoice. If she dies, then she would have paid the price for her cruelty.'

'Is that what everyone around you would think? No one but you knows what she asked of you.'

He reflected, shook his head regretfully. 'Of course. The crowds would simply turn on me. They would kill me, queen slayer.'

'Of course they would. And they would then beatify the queen, your victim, would they not? Do you really wish that to be her legacy?'

I could sense he was listening hard, rethinking, tasting hope. Time to press him. 'I wonder, do you think the queen is happy now?'

He seemed startled by my question. But as I watched him revisit his memories, what I had hoped for, what I'd risked by asking that question, began to take form. I watched him as he silently relived the past 40 days, remembering the time but realigning the memories, reframing the queen's behaviour.

'She was happy. At first, she seemed incredibly happy. Although she still wore black, she walked tall and proudly, looking grave while trying to hide a horrible satisfied smile.' Again his distaste stopped him.

'But not many days after the funeral, her demeanour began to change. Yes, she became different. Her skin lost its faint blush and...she began to appear drawn, anguished. Often we would catch sight of her in the window of her sitting room, pacing back and forth, back and forth, clutching a looking glass.' More clarity, new details emerging, things he'd overlooked or disregarded. He was thinking hard.

'She has three times disappeared for a full day since the funeral. This is most unusual for her. Each time she appeared elated upon her return. But then...then the pacing would resume. And she was never without her looking glass...'

'So she is not happy?'

'Something troubles her deeply.' He seemed astonished not to have noticed this before. It was time to reinforce his new understanding.

'There can be circumstances that make us feel terrible, so terrible we might even long for death, don't you think? The endless torture of regret, or perhaps guilt who knows what thoughts the queen harbours—may be making her life so repugnant that she could be longing for it to end.' I waited for his reaction. He didn't dare believe me, wanting more reassurance that killing her was not necessary, that justice had already been served.

'I suspect the queen is being punished already. If you killed her, you would only give her relief from the hell she has herself created.'

Good. I saw his sense of responsibility begin to lift. But I wanted him to look further, and I sensed he was now ready to do so.

'And think about the princess. What if by some miracle she is still alive? She could be, you know. And if she is not, would you bring her back by killing her mother?' He shook his head.

'So let us leave the queen to her own misery, and consider the princess. What proof have you that she is dead?'

'No child could survive alone in the forest.'

In my eagerness to lift his burden, I realised I was no longer thinking, or speaking, like a psychologist in the 21st century. Just as I had done with the queen last week, once again I'd abandoned logic and embraced magical thinking instead. I so wanted him free from the burden of responsibility for a situation that was no fault of his own. 'But why do you assume the princess is alone? Many creatures inhabit the forest. Who knows but that some of those benign forest dwellers—elves, fairies, perhaps even dwarves—may have befriended her, cared for her and even now are looking after her? She could well be alive, you know.'

That did it. I could see hope returning, glimmers of a renewed zest for life. I could sense the heavy responsibility he'd felt so keenly slipping away. In his joy he jumped up and punched the air. 'The queen suffers justly. And the princess...the princess may yet be alive!'

I smiled. His delight was infectious.

'I must go now, before my absence is noticed. I thank you. Oh I so sincerely thank you.'

He stood up with renewed energy, waved goodbye cheerfully and hastened to the open window. But before he stepped outside he paused and turned back. He regarded me reverently, doffed his now shapeless cap, and then to my astonishment, he bowed low. 'You are a true queen. I thank you, Your Majesty.'

I felt tears welling in response to this completely unexpected accolade. I looked down, opened the drawer where I kept tissues and pulled out one of them to dab my eyes.

I'd only looked away for a few seconds, but when I glanced up again the room was empty, the window closed and latched. I could hear only the wind outside, and what I could have sworn was a young girl's distant laughter.

The Fisherman and His Wife

Tuesday, the day fairy tale characters visit my surgery after hours. Or at least they have done twice now...well, I think they have. I'm still not sure what's happening, and I avoid the growing worry that I'm losing the line between reality and my fantasies.

I force my attention back to the road ahead. Although I've cycled the five miles to and from work every day for two months now, I'm still amazed every time I arrive safely. Compared to London these Welsh roads seem so narrow, twisting, vertiginous. Beautiful, yes—tall conifers rising up on either side of me instead of rows of tired terraced houses; birdsong instead of car horns and engines; the occasional battered jeep or motorbike ambling past instead of an endless stream of impatient cars and taxis. Clean air replacing car fumes.

I should be appreciating the beauty, but fairy tale characters wander into my thoughts instead. I feel a childish eagerness to know who might materialise through the window tonight, but at the same time...what's happening to me? Maybe my therapist was right. Maybe I haven't processed the trauma that triggered my escape to Wales as well as I'd thought. I still remember the look of astonishment on his face—before he could hide it—when I told him I'd decided to move to a small town in Wales. Other than instantly replacing that astonishment with the usual therapist's concerned and caring mask, he just sat there, silent. For what seemed like hours. Then carefully, 'Are you really sure you've given yourself enough time to work things through? To accept two such enormous personal losses in less than a year?' I never liked a direct challenge and he knew it: no sooner had he spoken those words than he backed down. 'What's your new job then? Tell me what you'll be doing, and why you chose that particular spot.' But I knew what he was really thinking...

A strident blast from a car horn jolted me out of this reverie and almost off my bike. I'd been cycling in the middle of the road. What an idiot! Apologetic wave; the driver passed me quickly, shaking his fist and head in annoyance.

Focus, Helen. You made your decision, now you have to make it work. This had recently become my mantra when the doubts crowded in and refused to go away. I redoubled my efforts up the last hill before turning left into the surgery car park.

Only one car in the small makeshift plot as I cycle in, still pedaling hard. No matter how early I arrive, Emma is always there ahead of me. I love her for it. Instead

of a cold empty entrance hall it means I'm greeted by the aroma of strong French coffee and the sound of the ancient heating system kicking into action. She nods and smiles as I shut the door on the autumn chill. Never one for conversation, she merely hands me the surgery list on my way to my office. Another thing I love here, handwritten client lists.

OK, layers off. Jacket out of my backpack, smoothed and shaken to give the air of a professional who knows what she's doing. Am I already madder than anyone I'll see today? I try to brush away the thought by reading through my list and putting a face and a dilemma to each name. Once clients start arriving it will be fine. There will be no time for the thoughts to creep in. Thank heavens I'll have other people's narratives to engage me. Emma brings me a mug of steaming black coffee—great coffee—and informs me my first client has arrived. Good.

The day flies by and there are no cancellations. Maybe, maybe I'm beginning to tune in appropriately to this new, more taciturn population? Are they beginning to accept me? I write more notes than I know I need to write, to fill time, hoping...

Emma must be leaving. The shaft of light from reception disappears from under my office door and I hear the front door close quietly. I keep writing, glancing around too often to the window behind me, the one that opens onto the old forest. And then...

I smelled him before I saw him. A gust of wind scattered my papers, carrying with it a powerful salty, fishy odour.

'Begging your pardon, may I come round and sit down?' Gruff voice, older male.

Without daring to turn around, 'Of course, do make yourself comfortable.' I try to sound like this happens to me all the time.

I can track him by the stench as he walks respectfully around my desk to the client's chair opposite. I would guess he's in his late 50's, greying heavy beard and moustache, weather beaten sun-darkened skin, hands rough, nails dirty. And boy is he smelly. He's wearing some sort of oilskin that he takes off and drops beside him. A heavy black woollen sweater, long woollen leggings under wide waterproof trousers, a vest of some rough hide, flat cap, and heavily weathered boots encrusted with salt complete the ensemble. He holds a smoking pipe in his left hand that he must have been toping recently, but once he's sitting down he tamps it out with his finger and tucks it into a trouser pocket. Next the cap, which he removes and drops on the oilskin. When he looks up at me and smiles nervously I'm reminded of a malodorous Father Christmas.

'You are the one who helps us?'

I suppose I am. I nod.

'Well then. Good then. How do we do this?'

I had to fight the urge to burst out laughing. Despite the rough appearance of someone very much my senior, he was charmingly childlike. I liked him instantly.

'Well, this is your time, so you can tell me whatever you think is important. Just remember that I don't know anything at all about you, so you'll need to fill me in before you describe your prob...before you tell me what's troubling you.' He still sat there expectantly, unsure. 'I mean, I need some background—where you live, who you live with, what you do...' (no guesses there). 'Then when you talk about...about...the reason you've come here, then it will be easier for me to figure out how to help.'

Apparently this suited him. He relaxed, leaning back gratefully into the soft leather chair.

'I am a fisherman, as was my father before me and his father before him. My father did well, and after some years he was able to purchase a boat of his own. Every day he left the house long before sunrise and returned with the setting sun. He seemed to have a way about him—everyone wanted his fish. He always sold all his catch, every day.

'It was as well he was so successful, for he had many mouths to feed. I am the sixth of nine, with five brothers and three sisters. All the boys joined our father at sea as soon as we were able. I was so young I cannot recall my first voyage. My sisters were all older. They stayed at home to help mother. But they were married off early, so I hardly knew them.

'We brothers, we loved the sea, and we worked well with our father. However, father always said only I and my eldest brother had the gift.'

This could be important. I interrupted his narrative. 'The gift? What do you mean, please, by the gift?'

'We have the gift of calling the fish. We can stand with our nets open, and father said the fish willingly jump in.' He said this without pride or arrogance. It was just a fact. Then he sighed.

'But my brother, being the elder...father gave him the boat when his old arms could no longer cast and retrieve the nets. The rest of us, we were told to find a wife and make our own way, to find a place to cast our nets from the shore, to claim a place that was to be our own.'

It was clear he would have preferred a life at sea rather than on the shore. Could this be the problem? Was he consumed by jealousy of his brother, because he was given the boat? He hadn't shown any strong indications of jealousy, at least not yet.

Silence. I looked up from my notepad to find him regarding me, as if he could read my thoughts. Clearly I had underestimated this 'simple' man. I was ashamed when I realised my prejudice: simple job, no formal education, the man must not be very clever. Wrong. It was clear he could read other people, just like he was able to read the sea and know where to cast his nets. He was doing a better job of guessing my thoughts than I was of understanding him. I needed to redress my mistake, rebalance our relationship.

'I'm sorry. I was racing ahead with my thoughts. Please forgive me. You were explaining that you needed to find a wife and a place...a place of your own to fish?'

He smiled sweetly, forgivingly. My respect for him was growing.

'A good place to fish, that was easy. I had walked the shores many times. I knew which promontories held promise and which did not.'

He smiled broadly as he imagined himself by the sea, but then the smile faded and he paused. Whatever was coming next was difficult, but at least I'd learned my lesson. This time I kept quiet and just waited.

'But how to find a wife? I did not know. I prefer the sea to talking to people, and I had no clever talk for women, like my brothers.

'Three years passed, and by that time all my brothers were married, even the youngest. My mother was displeased with me. She was often displeased.' He paused, reflecting. 'She was a strong woman and neither kind nor tolerant. One evening she called me to her and told me she had waited long enough to be free of us all, and that since I seemed unable to find a wife myself she had done so for me. And that I was to make do with her choice.'

Now we were getting somewhere. A relationship problem. I absolutely *must* stop trying to guess the problem before my client tells me—one of my faults. Patience, Helen. Listen and wait.

Another long sigh. 'There was a woman, some years older than I. An only child of older parents. She was not beautiful, and had never been...chosen, and now it was past her time of child-bearing. But mother said she would do. And so she became my wife.'

Resignation. Poor guy. I could tell we'd arrived. An unhappy marriage to an older woman, and no kids to take his mind off his unhappiness. Only his work to

distract him. I wondered if he'd known that from the day he married. This reminded me I'd neglected to ask a key question, *de rigour* during a first therapeutic interview. Why is the client seeking help *now*? I interjected gently into our shared silence.

'How long have you been married?'

'Just gone 15 years.' Another sigh.

'I see. But perhaps...am I right that you haven't found life too difficult...until now?'

I was rewarded by a gorgeous smile. 'You see to the heart of a problem, just as I know where to fish.'

High praise. I smiled back.

'Yes, it's true. When we first wed, she seemed happy enough—well, for the first few days. Then the complaints began. She had been so much happier, she told me, when she was living with her parents. They understood her. They doted on her, fulfilled her every desire, even before she had to ask.'

What a lousy way to raise a child, I thought. But I said nothing.

'But I...the mornings were not so bad. I rose before her, prepared my nets. But no matter how quietly I tried to be, she always managed to hear me, and would call out, "Bring back more fish today. We are too poor, and I never make enough money when I go to market with your catch. Try harder!"

'But despite the bad start every morning, my mood would always lift as I walked away from our cottage towards the sea. I would watch the sun rise, note the weather, smell the clean air. It is always so beautiful by the sea. Some say it's always the same, but I know differently. Each day the sea and the sky, even the path I walk, have their own new beauty. Each day holds new promise.'

This man will definitely never need instruction in Mindfulness. He knew how to live in the moment, how to appreciate his surroundings just as they present themselves to his observant eye, without wishing them to be more or different. What a contrast to his unfulfilled wife!

'Fishing alone by the sea—I tell myself every day what a lucky man I am. I knew, too, I had chosen my location well. The sea is always generous to me.'

A shadow crossed his face now. 'But then, as soon as I stepped inside our cottage...no matter how many fish I brought home to her, no matter if they were all large and fat, she was disappointed. "Is this all? How can we ever escape this hovel when all you bring home is this?" Often she would work herself into a proper rage, and every evening I would be told that her parents knew how to make her happy but that I did not.'

I wondered if Theo had seen me like that, carping, never satisfied. Is that why he left?

Helen! Stop it! This isn't about you. To regain my focus, I interrupted inappropriately with a question. 'Do you think perhaps there was another reason for your wife's dissatisfaction? After all, you did bring home fish every night, didn't you?' He nodded. 'You always provided her with something to take to market, did you not?'

He looked slightly hopeful, considering.

'Well, now you ask, I did think perhaps there might be something else...that if she had been able to bear a child...I, too, would dearly have loved to have a child. If we had been blessed with a child, perhaps she would have been fulfilled. I did often think of that.' Then after a pause, revisiting his memories. 'But she never spoke of a child...' He looked up, his thoughts clarifying. 'I think now a child would have made life worse for her. She wanted all the attention...'

'I think you're absolutely right. It was bad enough—to her way of thinking that she had to share you with the sea, and that she could see how satisfied and happy you were after a day's work. That was something she could not achieve. A child would have fulfilled you perhaps, but for her a child would only represent competition, someone else with needs of their own.'

I waited for that to sink in, to see if he agreed. After a few quiet moments I still wasn't sure, but I felt it time to press on. Going by the last two visitors, I had only one opportunity, one session, to do all the work I would normally do in five or six. 'You were not at fault for her unhappiness. Please don't blame yourself. Happiness is something we must seek within ourselves, by deciding how to think about what we have. I think you know that. It's lovely to share our happiness of course. But if you rely entirely on others to make you happy...'

'That's a happiness that doesn't last.' He was thinking hard, reworking his vision of his marriage, unloading some of the responsibility for his wife's state of mind off himself and onto her. Good. I allowed this silence happily. Then, when he looked up,

'It sounds like your wife's parents raised her to expect happiness to be provided by others—when she was younger, by them. If only they had encouraged her to find her own joy, her way.'

He was still trying to take in this new way of thinking, and to grant himself permission to be free of the responsibility for his wife's unhappiness. 'Do you think she may learn to find happiness? Is there any way I can help her do that?'

44

There he was again, taking responsibility. 'You can show kindness, and you can listen to her without judging. But you cannot help her discover where to find joy. She is not a child. This is something she must discover herself. You cannot make her know it. Even if you made suggestions, tried to come up with ways you think she might find happiness, it wouldn't work. She must discover it herself.'

He considered, and I could see he was conflicted.

'So I cannot change her unhappiness...or our unhappy marriage?'

'No. I'm sorry. You can't. But you can resolve to make the best of the situation. You can decide not to let her anger make you sad or destroy your own moments of happiness. For now, you must accept her as she is.'

I saw his disappointment, so I hurried on.

'You can hope she will learn to find happiness. But if you keep trying to please her she won't have any need to seek for sources of happiness herself, will she?'

This apparently made sense. With the realisation that he needn't be responsible for his wife's state of mind—in fact that trying to do so inhibited her chances of finding it herself—he began to cheer up. The years almost fell away, and I was rewarded with another melting smile.

'Then I may find my joy beside the sea each day, and...just wait?'

'And hope. Always hope. She may learn to find joy, in her way. It's always best to be hopeful.'

We sat for what seemed a long time in a companionable silence as he reflected, rearranging his thoughts and looking at things in this new more comfortable way. Then recalling the question I'd put to him earlier on, 'But I asked you why you have come to me now. For some years, it sounds to me that your life together was bearable...although I grant, not joyful. Something must have happened to change that.'

He stepped away regretfully from his thoughts and prepared to resume his story.

'You are right. Each day was the same, it began and ended unhappily. But for much of the day I was very happy. You are right. I had found contentment...until this midsummer's day, when I discovered the king in my nets.'

Good heavens! There were men living in the sea during his time? But I supposed if I could accept that a character from a story that's more than 200 years old is sitting across from me, I should find it easy to accept that men once lived beneath the sea. Even so, I needed some clarification.

'The KING?'

He smiled mildly, surprised at my ignorance. 'Yes. The king. The king of the fishes.'

I waited, still obviously lost, so he went on.

'For every creature there is a king of their kind. By terrible misfortune, I had captured the king of the fishes in my net. And when I saw him, I was afraid. How dare I rob the sea of its king?'

There he was, taking responsibility again for something unintended and not his fault. I was about to interrupt, but happily there was no need. He saw that for himself.

'But I did not mean to catch the king, did I? And before I began my apology, the wise one spoke. "Dear fisherman, I was asleep when your net entrapped me. Please, have mercy on me. Allow me to return to the sea." He did not see my actions as deliberate.'

My credulity was overstretched. 'This fish could TALK?!'

He smiled, pitying me. I really didn't know much, it seemed. 'Of course he can talk. He is the king. He is a magic fish, the cleverest fish. All kings command all tongues. It is part of their vast wisdom. No doubt they laugh at human 'wisdom', so small is our knowledge compared to theirs. That is why I could not imagine how I found him in my net.'

I nodded. I was still feeling a bit lost, but I wanted him to continue. It was inappropriate to interrupt yet again.

'So of course I picked up the king carefully, cradled him in my arms and placed him back in the water. He swam away at once, joyful, breaking the water in a curve to show his gratitude.

'When I returned with my catch that evening, my wife seemed angrier than ever. "Why so few fish? This is worse than even your usual catch! So few to take to market." And on and on she raged.'

I noted with quiet satisfaction that he had already become more detached from his wife's emotional turmoil. She was angry—but that was not his doing. Her anger, her distress, these were not his fault. Progress.

'Even at supper she would not stop. "You still have not explained to me why you brought home such a meagre catch. Did nothing else happen today?"

'That was when I made my error.'

I had to interrupt, even without knowing what was coming. Once again he'd taken responsibility. It would take a bit of time before he would automatically reframe,

change his self-talk, and avoid pointless self-recriminations. 'Might it be better to say, "that was when things changed"?'

He smiled, remembering. 'Of course. That was when I said something that made her angrier, although I did not intend to inflame her mood still further.

'I explained my small catch was because, among the ordinary fish in my net that day, I found I had caught the king of the fishes. Thinking it only right, I added at once that of course I set him free.

'But if I had thought she was angry before, it was but a mere shadow of what happened next. "You simply let him go? Just like that?!" She snapped her fingers. "Why did you not wish for something first? He owed you his life, and you just let him go?! Without obligation or recompense?!"

He looked directly at me now, his face reddening. 'She surprised me; perhaps that is why I replied without thinking. But instead of remaining quiet, I made another mistake. I told her I did not seek repayment for an act I considered only respectful. And besides, I ventured, what could I have wished for?'

He paused. A slow smile spread across his face. He didn't have anything to wish for. Only she did. Her dissatisfaction was not his fault. He was able to understand this now.

'I remember her very words: "Oh foolish, foolish man! Do you not think it terrible we live in this...this hovel? You should have wished for a proper house! Go back and call the fish. At once. Tell him we want a nice cottage with a proper garden. He owes you his life. He is sure to grant your wish and we are owed a wish. Go!"

I tried to ignore her, but she carried on and on, late into the night. She even woke me over and over again. No peace was possible, so at last I promised I would do as she demanded.

I rose early the next morning and returned to the sea with my nets. But before casting them I stood on the shore and called to the fish. Almost at once he appeared, rising up through the waters and asking simply, "And what does your wife wish?"

He stopped, reflecting. 'He knew why I had come. He knew it was my wife who had a wish, not myself. He is indeed wise.

'I told him what had passed between us, and no sooner had I finished speaking than he said, "Go back to your wife. Her wish has been granted."

'I did not stay a moment longer, but hurried home straight away to give her the news she wanted.

When I arrived at our house, my first thought was that I had lost my way. Where our home had stood only hours before there was now a fine cottage. Scarlet and pink roses twined up and round the door, and there was a lovely garden filled with vegetables and fruit trees where several fat brown hens scratched happily.

'Inside I found my wife chopping fresh salad in a gleaming kitchen. Fine furniture filled the house. There was even a soft bed for us, with new linen mind you. It was perfect. Who could ever wish for more, I thought, and I remember saying to my wife, "Now we can be truly happy."

He paused, no longer feeling guilty, just relating his tale. 'I recall that she was happy. For some days. But then I began to sense her restlessness. The criticisms crept back. She no longer smiled.

'One night, less than a fortnight after we had been given the cottage, she woke me to say she was finding the house too small. "I have decided. I want a castle, a large castle," she said. "This house no longer suits me. Go back to the fish. Tell him we must have a large stone castle."

'I did not wish to trouble the fish, nor did I wish to leave the wonderful cottage. But I knew there would be no peace at home if I did not go back. So the next morning I returned to the shore and called to the king, and once again he appeared immediately as I called to him. "And what does your wife wish for now?" I told him she wanted a large stone castle. He replied merely, "Go back to your wife. She has her wish." Then he dived deep into the water and swam away. I noticed the sea was no longer calm and inviting. The waters were disturbed and murky, and a cold wind had blown up.

'I hurried home, and instead of our lovely cottage,' He paused, wistful. 'Instead of our lovely cottage, in its place stood an enormous stone castle. My wife was at the entrance, waiting in a large courtyard. When I accompanied her inside I found the furniture was made of gold. Pure gold! I had not known it was possible. Everywhere I looked there were large murals adorning the walls. Bustling servants stepped respectfully around us keeping everything in order.

'I went back outside to see what else was different. There were stables round the back, and behind that a large deer park. It was beyond my imagination, this vast estate. I returned to my wife, lost in wonder. Surely, I said, we can be truly happy now!' He shook his head sadly. 'But this time she only replied, "We shall see."'

I could sense what was coming.

'It was but two days hence when my wife woke me early, pushing and prodding me until I had to sit up in bed. "Wake up!" she kept repeating. "Look outside! Look at all this! You should be king now!" 'I knew not how to reply, so I said nothing, hoping either she would allow me to sleep again, or that I would awaken from a bad dream. But she only took my silence as a sign of yet more weakness. "Fool! If you do not wish to be king, then I shall. Go! Go at once. Go to the fish and tell him I wish to be king of this land."

'This was indeed madness. But by then I was so weary, and I knew it would be pointless to resist. I dressed, gathered my nets, and left the castle. She called after me as if I might forget her demand, until at last, thankfully, I could hear her no longer.'

His self-confidence was growing. He looked at me and grinned. 'I was so glad when I could no longer hear those greedy demands.' I suspected that was the first time he'd ever criticised his wife at all, let alone out loud.

'This time when I approached the water, however, I had to stand some distance from the shore, for the sea was in turmoil. Waves bucked angrily, and the water was dirty, disturbed. I called for the fish, and of course he appeared at once.

"And what does your wife wish for this time?"

'Oh fish, king of fishes, I am so sorry, but my wife says she wishes to be king of the land.

'Again, a simple reply: "Go then. Go home. Your wife is now king." Then the waves appeared to swallow him up, the swells rising ever higher, the growing storm ever wilder. I hurried away.

'As I approached the castle, I noted rows and rows of soldiers at the outer gate. When they saw me they raised their trumpets and beat their drums to herald my arrival.' He reddened again. Clearly the memory was distasteful, all that fanfare and attention.

'The gates to the courtyard swung open and I walked across and into the castle. The entrance hall was made of marble and gold, with swathes of velvet draped across finely brocaded chairs. And there...there before me sat my wife, high up on a golden throne. She was wearing a great crown of gold encrusted with rubies, diamonds and I know not what other jewels. I bowed before her, and she smiled. She smiled! I felt hope rising. "Please, wife", I remember pleading, "let us now be content."

'But no. Of course not!' He was reconstructing this memory even as I watched. 'Of course she would not remain content. She did not even stop to consider or enjoy her new position I do not think. It was only hours before she commanded me to appear again before her, demanding I go back to the fish and ask him make her emperor.

49

'This time I did not even stop to plead with her or consider the arrogance of her demand. It was now late afternoon, but I walked straight back to the promontory.

'The water was by that time completely black, and a cruel wind was blowing across it. The waters curdled and roiled and leapt up in crashing waves. I had to shout, certain the fish would never hear me.

'Yet he did. At once he rose out of the angry waters, towering above me. I felt his anger and I was so afraid. "Oh fish, now she wants to be emperor!" I cried out as loudly as I could. His only reply, "Go then. She is emperor already." And with a mighty leap and a twist he dived deep into the blackened waters. I turned and fled towards home for fear the next wave might engulf me and carry me away.'

He paused for breath. This memory was clearly disturbing, even with his new powers of insight. 'Can you imagine the castle of an emperor? There was now a drawbridge into a towering edifice which was surrounded by a wide moat. Guards, richly adorned, were positioned everywhere. When I stepped inside my eyes were dazzled by a thousand tall candles that lit up the vast chamber. Richly embroidered cloths adorned gilded chairs. And high above, there sat my wife on a throne made entirely of gold. She was so high up I could barely recognise her. Her heavy golden crown, encrusted with jewels of every shape and hue, reflected the candlelight and dazzled my eyes.

'I stood there, unable to speak. But when she spied me she called out: "Husband, this is not enough. I must also be pope!"

'Of course I felt utter dismay, and on this occasion I did plead with her, heedless of all the servants and the soldiers who regarded me suspiciously as I called up to her, begging her to accept the extraordinary gifts she already enjoyed. But of course...' He realised he was staring at the ceiling of my office, as if his wife was seated there on her throne. He lowered his gaze, took a deep breath, and took himself back into our shared space. 'Of course you know what happened. And although I could not even approach the furiously raging seas or hear any noise but of the storm, I saw the fish rise out of the waves briefly when I shouted out my request. When I returned, my wife was pope.

'That was yesterday.' He reflected for a moment, shaking his head in disbelief. 'Only yesterday. But at last, at long last my wife seemed content.' He smiled conspiratorially at me, 'Not that I could imagine there was anything left for her to wish.

'That night we were able, for the first time in many days, to enjoy the fine meal we were offered. I hoped now I might resume my fishing life; that perhaps the sea would have calmed now; that I might return in the evenings to someone who would at last be content.

'However, when I woke this morning I found she had already risen. She was standing by the window watching the sunrise. Hearing me stir, she turned and addressed me thus: "There is something more, husband! Yes, there is something more I could have. Something more I demand. Yes, there is more waiting for me. I wish to command the sun and the moon and all the stars above.

"Go to the fish. Go at once. Tell him it is not enough for me to be pope. Tell him I wish also to command the sun and the moon, all that we see about us day and night. Tell him...tell him I wish to be like God!"

'This request was beyond arrogance. It was sheer madness. I could never ask this of the fish, nor of anyone else for that matter. I would not be able even to utter the words. But she never ceased demanding, ordering, wheedling, pleading, repeating herself over and over again. It never occurred to her, I think, that I wouldn't give in to her.' He paused, seeing her anew. 'And despite all she had, even despite the granting of each new demand...oh how desperately unhappy she was still!'

He looked at me again, understanding dawning on his face. 'With each wish, she only becomes more miserable, only greedier. I'm not helping her find contentment by returning endlessly to the fish to ask for yet more, am I?'

I shook my head but said nothing, not wanting to break into his narrative nor steal his insight. He'd figured this out himself. It was his to claim.

'Finally, late this morning, I could stand it no longer. I told her I would go and talk to the fish.

'I left the palace and fought my way towards the promontory, but it was not easy. A great storm had arisen. All the trees were bending deeply in the mighty wind, and the sky was almost entirely black. Towering waves rose higher than mountains. It took me twice as long as usual to reach the sea, fighting those winds. I stood as near to the shore as I dared and prepared myself to shout for the fish. But suddenly I knew...I saw the unending folly of my behaviour. Instead of calling out, I turned and ran away, far from the sea and into the woods, to...here.' He stopped, regarding me, waiting for a reaction.

'So you stopped trying to make your wife happy, did you? Because you realised you weren't helping her. Acceding to her demands seemed only to make her more miserable. Is that what you realised?'

He shook his head sadly. 'Yes. I failed. So badly.'

I realised I needed to slow down, to be more gentle—otherwise I would lose him again in a morass of over-responsibility and self-blame. I needed a new direction, at least temporarily, to steady him.

'Have you ever wondered why the weather became wilder each time you visited the fish?'

The change of tack surprised him—and it did the trick. Jolted out of self-pity, he thought back. 'The fish...perhaps he commands the weather as well? Perhaps the rising storms were a sign of his increasing displeasure with me?'

'No, not his displeasure with you. He was not displeased with you at all.' He regarded me doubtfully, but I pressed on. 'I believe he was displeased not with you but with your behaviour. He did not like to watch as you kept taking responsibility for your wife's happiness, rather than stepping back so she might look for fulfilment within herself. When at last you did cease trying to please her, then I suspect he was glad. And I think, if you go back now, you would find the weather clement and the sea calm.'

He liked this. 'And my wife? Is she now God?'

'What do you think?'

For the first time he laughed out loud. 'The fish would never allow it. No one can be like God. Anyway, he knows that granting her wishes doesn't make her happy. Or at least, it had never done so before.'

'And if you find—when you find—he didn't grant her that wish, you might wonder why. Do you think it might be because you...finally...realised you had to step back? Because at last he saw that you--her husband, the person with whom she shares her life—has realised that the only way to give her a chance to find peace and contentment was for you to stop trying to fix things for her?'

At this he jumped up from the chair, almost dancing with delight. 'Of course! I understand now. I can be happy whatever my wife decides! But she could be happy as well, as long as I stop taking responsibility for...' He saw my stern look, and corrected himself. '...as long as I give her the chance to find her own sort of happiness. And if she does find her way...we could enjoy so much, wherever we live, whatever the conditions.'

He picked up his cap and oilskin, putting both on hastily as he headed back towards the window. 'I must return now, return to my wife and to my home.' He threw me another grin—'whatever home it turns out to be.'

Then suddenly, apparently remembering a courtesy, he stopped and turned around. 'I wish to thank you. But how? I have only a fish to offer you.' With that he

drew from the large pocket of his oilskin an extremely odorous, very dead fish whose variety I could not begin to identify. He started to hand it to me, then stopped to sniff it. 'This is not fresh. I cannot give you this.'

I laughed. 'Don't worry. I'm in no need of fish. Honestly. Your gratitude is more than any material gift as far as I'm concerned.'

Just then the window flew open and a gust of wind rushed in, scattering my notes. I leaned down to pick them up.

When I sat up again the fisherman—and the stinky fish—had vanished.

The Companionship of the Cat and Mouse

'You're going straight home tonight, just as soon as your last client leaves.' So I kept reminding myself.

Truth was, I didn't want to go home right away. I wanted to stay, just a little while, just in case...

A gentle knock disrupts my thoughts. Emma, letting me know my last client of the day has arrived. Her steady calm demeanour helps me refocus. I get up, compose my caring mask and walk briskly to the waiting room to escort my client into my office.

Fortunately, the hour is not without interest...although all too soon, I'm reminding her we have only a few minutes left. Is there anything else she wants to discuss? No? We book another appointment, same time next Tuesday.

Alone again, the thoughts that have been haunting me all day flood back. No one came through the window last week. I'd waited over an hour, pretending to myself that I needed the time to write up my notes. As the minutes crawled by, nothing. No unusual sounds, no gusts of wind blowing the window open, no fairy tale character taking a seat opposite me to ask for help. Once or twice I thought I heard a sort of scratching at the window, but nothing came of it. My imagination, I expect. After another 20 minutes I'd packed up and cycled home, feeling totally dejected.

And then the dreams returned—well, perhaps not dreams so much as flashbacks—waking me throughout the night. I'd thought they were over, those flashbacks. But there I was, back at the mortuary. How I got there and how I got home afterwards I will probably never remember. The police officer, asking if I'm ready, carefully lifting the sheet that covered his face...'Is that your son?' His sweet, perfect face. The long lashes I'd always adored. The only difference was the pallor. And of course the mangled body that I knew lay beneath the sheet below that beloved face. Mercifully the officer simply stood quietly beside me, near enough for me to lean on him if I felt faint, a silent support. I nodded. It was Alex. The officer must have led me out. I don't remember...

I knew why the flashbacks had returned. The greatest loss of my life, my precious only child. My boy. And well before I'd fully faced my grief I'd run away, here to this town where I knew no one, where I'd never even visited, in the delusional belief that if I left it all behind I would be able to forget the pain.

The new job, new place kept me occupied during waking hours, and cycling to and from work left me so tired that even the flashbacks stopped after the first week. But the leaden feeling remained. It was such an effort to do anything...

Until last month, when the fairy tale characters started coming in through the window. Suddenly, once more I had something to look forward to, creatures who challenged me more than I'd ever been challenged.

Until last week, when no one came.

I told myself firmly that no one blew in last Tuesday, because no one had *ever* blown in through that window. It was my imagination in over-drive, my desperate wish for something magical to come back into my life. And now I'd lost that magic, just as suddenly as I'd lost the magic that was Alex.

And yet—how embarrassing, I think now—I'd found myself nosing around the back of my surgery last Friday, on the pretence I'd dropped a glove when closing the window before I cycled home the day before. Despite Emma's raised eyebrows—no comment of course; she's too tactful for that--I'd continued to nose around out there, checking the ground underneath the window meticulously.

There was nothing, apart from quite a lot of large mouse droppings.

The front door closed quietly, taking me out of my reverie. Emma leaving. Right. Time to cycle home. Anorak, scarf, gloves (never really lost), backpack...

There it was again, that scratching noise at the window, just like last week. Distinctly scratching. Then a thump, as if someone had thrown a clod of earth against the glass.

I turned round in time to see something—a dark shape--hit the window again. Frightened or not, I had to investigate.

No sooner had I lifted the sash than the dark shape, now discernible as brown fur with a tail following, launched itself through the open window and sailed underneath my left arm. Whatever it was hit the floor with a dull thud, seemingly dazed, although it quickly appeared to recover itself.

I could see it now. It was a mouse. And it was growing fast. It remained perfectly stationary while it...grew. And grew. Until it was about the size of a large dog. Then it let out a sigh and looked directly at me. And smiled.

It definitely smiled. Even more remarkably, it addressed me in perfect English.

'Could you please show me where I might sit down? I need your help.'

I tried but failed to say something in response, so I simply pointed to the client chair.

55

'I thank you.' He scampered over, climbed into the chair, turned to face me and adjusted his position. Little legs sticking straight out, front paws on the arm rests. Another smile.

Still dumb, I walked back to my desk and sat down opposite, not daring even to blink in case he disappeared. I waited.

The creature cleared his throat once or twice, flicked something off one arm, shrugged his shoulders several times, stared at me. He was clearly waiting for something. Maybe I need to kick off the conversation?

'Would you like to tell me what's...brought you here?'

'Of course, yes, very much. Thank you, so much I thank you. But wouldn't you be more comfortable if you took off...discarded some of your outer garments?'

How unprofessional I must have appeared! There I was, sitting in the therapist's chair still wearing my anorak, thick scarf and gloves, and leaning into my backpack. He'd tried so politely to give me hints, flicking at his arms, shrugging his shoulders, staring at the anorak zip. I'd missed them all. I quickly removed the unnecessary baggage and dropped everything on the floor beside me without even glancing down.

'Thank you for reminding me.' Weak smile. 'Now that we're both...comfortable, would you like to tell me a bit about...yourself?'

'I do thank you. I thank you so much for giving me your time. I count myself very lucky.'

I'd already learned some important facts about this creature. He was extremely sensitive to others. He was polite and had an excellent command of language. And he had a very strong desire to please. He was almost obsequious--or at least he needed to be seen as incredibly caring and concerned. On this occasion I could only rely on my patient's comments to gather that all-important first impression information therapists are trained to pick up. The body language of mice is not my strong suit, which was why I had to rely entirely on what he said.

'It's my roommate. I've come to speak to you about the companion I live with.'

A relationship issue. Good. I should be able to handle this, even if we are talking mice rather than people. I offered a concerned smile. 'Do go on.'

'Nobody approves of him.'

That was definitely unexpected. I was preparing for relationship counselling, not ostracism. I needed a moment to recalibrate. 'Nobody at all?'

He shook his head vehemently, whiskers twitching. 'Nobody. Not even my sister. Definitely not my mother. And since we moved in together none of my friends

will visit, nor will anyone in my family.' A large tear formed, and plopped unnoticed onto his lap. Another clue about him—easily emotional. But what could be wrong with this other mouse? Must be something pretty bad. I needed more information.

'What reason does everyone give for staying away? Or does everyone offer different reasons?'

He shook his head. 'No, same reason. Everyone says our relationship is unnatural. My sister even says it's definitely dangerous.'

Good grief! Unnatural? What could he mean? Was he in a gay relationship? I didn't know mice could be gay. But what a prejudiced community if that was the case!

'So you're cut off...from everyone?'

Another vigorous nod. 'Everyone.' He began tapping his paw on the arm rest, clearly agitated. Then, without warning he jumped down and started running wildly, round and round his chair. I held my breath, dared not move. Was he going to run back to the window, leap out and disappear?

But no, after about a dozen laps he hopped back into the chair, breathing heavily.

'I am so sorry. So very sorry. Excuse me.'

Must be his way of self-calming. Relieved to see he was still here, I made another mental note—be on the alert for the tapping—it's the sign that his anxiety is about to spiral out of control.

'No one likes him. They can't see how wonderful he is to me. They don't understand. They don't even try.' The tapping resumed.

Clearly this wasn't a good topic. We needed to go somewhere less distressing. 'In what ways is your...partner wonderful to you? Do tell me. I'd love to hear.'

Good question. The tapping stopped and he looked across at me eagerly. That lovely smile again.

'Felix loves the food I make, how I go out every day and find food for us both, and how I keep our cottage neat and tidy. It means he has plenty of time to relax and rest.'

I should think so, since it didn't sound like his partner lifts a finger...a paw...in the house. I wasn't sure I was going to like Felix very much... Still, this little creature clearly adored the lazy so-and-so, so I'd better show my approval. I would need that to gain his trust. And it wasn't my brief to pass judgment on Felix anyway.

'So Felix is really appreciative of your efforts?'

57

He beamed. 'He tells me every day how lucky he is.'

I wasn't sure where to go next. If the problem was everyone else's opinion of Felix, there wasn't much that could be done. I remembered one of my professors chiding us sternly. Never encourage a client to think other people will change for their sake, he used to warn us.

'Maybe...I suppose...do you think it might be possible for you just to try to accept that your friends and family can't see the wonderful qualities you see in Felix?'

I could see in his eager face (I was getting better at reading a mouse face already) that he so wanted to do what I suggested. But something was holding him back. Was there some doubt here? Does he really believe Felix is totally wonderful, or does he need to believe it, lest he's forced to accept he made a bad choice? I needed more information about their relationship.

'You know I've never been to...where you live. So I can't visualise how you and Felix organise your day. What's a typical day like for the two of you?'

That lovely smile again. Thank goodness.

'I get up first, to forage for food and make us a tasty breakfast. Then I clean the cottage and do the laundry while Felix relaxes.' He paused, considering. A bit less happy now. 'During the day I used to gather more food, to stock up. But now is not the season when I can do that.' He looked up at me, another big tear welling up. 'We're very short of food.'

Come to think of it, he did look rather thin...for a mouse. Poor thing. I needed some more context—he didn't seem the sort who would let stocks run out.

'Is that usually a problem at this time of year? The shortage of food, I mean.'

Uh oh. More tapping. 'I mean...you seem such a conscientious creature.'

But my attempt to soothe came too late. He was overwhelmed again. Down he went, more laps. I waited, less worried this time that he'd run away. This was obviously his release valve. I made a mental note to talk to him about some more adaptive ways to release anxiety...but not now. That was for later. I still hadn't clearly formulated the problem. I waited for him to finish letting off anxiety.

Panting, he finally dropped back into the chair. 'We shouldn't have run out of food. The jar should have been full to the top. But it was empty. Completely empty.'

'The jar? I don't remember you mentioning a jar. Could you perhaps explain a bit about this jar?' He was starting to cry again, so I carried on. 'Did you have some food stashed away in...this jar? But when you went to retrieve it, you found it was

empty? Is that right?' Floods of tears now. I handed him a tissue from the box sitting ever ready on my desk.

'I'll tell you what. Why don't you take a minute, catch your breath, and then go right back...back to the...beginning? To when things began to be...unclear?'

This suited him—a smile through the tears.

'Yes, yes...ok. Good. I am so sorry. Silly me.' Deep breath. 'Last season was harvesting time, when everything is so rich and luscious. It was the time to prepare stores for the leaner months, so I gathered all I could from the fields, dried and stored all of it. But best of all...' He looked up, smiling broadly. 'I prepared the jar of fat.'

'Fat?!' This sounded faintly disgusting.

'Yes, Felix loves fat best of all foods, especially the top skin.' He reflected fondly for a moment. 'I always make a big jar of fat, because if everything else runs out it lasts such a long time, while we wait for the Spring and all the new growth.

'When I'd finished filling and sealing the jar—lovely it looked—I asked Felix where we should store it, so it would be safe for when we really needed it.' I nodded encouragingly.

'Felix suggested we hide it in the church. He said no one dares steal anything from a church.' A wave of sadness, then determined brightness. 'So we did. Late that night we went to the church and hid the jar under the altar. You couldn't see it, no matter which angle you looked from.

'I was so proud of that jar. My best one ever.' Another tear.

'But you just said it was empty. Did you go back to get it, is that when you discovered it was empty?' He nodded. Lots more tears now. This time I handed him the entire box of tissues. 'When did you make that discovery?'

'A week ago.' He was sobbing now. Poor hungry creature. I dearly wished I had some cheese...

'Was Felix with you?' He nodded, the sobs abating now. 'Did he...did he have any ideas about who might be responsible...who might have stolen the fat?'

Vigorous head shake. 'No, we just had to go home...hungry.'

'So you must both be pretty hungry by now?'

More tears. 'We're hungry, yes...and I'm so lonely.'

My ears pricked up. 'Only you are lonely? Is Felix able to see his friends and family then?'

'Well, he's had some wonderful celebrations to attend.'

I felt we might be getting somewhere, although I wasn't sure yet where. 'Perhaps you'd like to tell me about these...celebrations?' Clearly he did. Another lovely smile through the tears.

'The first invitation came only a few days after we hid the jar. Felix was very excited that morning. When I came back from foraging he told me he'd heard from his cousin, and that this cousin had just brought a little son into the world. He said the child was brown with white spots, and that he was thrilled—he'd been asked to be his godfather. "You wouldn't object, would you, if I attend the christening tomorrow? I am sure to be allowed to hold the little creature." That's what he said.

'Of course I was delighted for Felix. It must have been a wonderful occasion, for he didn't return until late that evening. He said the christening feast was delicious.' A wistful sigh. 'I had hoped he might bring home a piece of christening cake for me. Just a small piece...But of course he was far too busy to think of that.'

Sounded pretty selfish to me, and thoughtless. It was getting harder and harder to find anything likeable about Felix. But I mustn't allow my attention to wander—he was still talking.

'When Felix arrived home, I asked him what everyone had to eat, and what they'd decided to call the child. The food sounded...so lovely...'

He started tapping. I better intervene. 'And what did they name the new arrival?'

'Oh, yes. The name. Felix said they named him Top Off.'

Top off?!! 'That's...a very unusual name, don't you think?'

'I tried to ask Felix about it, but he started twitching his tail, so I knew he was irritated. Perhaps it is a secret family name...'

Tail twitching? I'd never heard that mice twitch their tails. It wouldn't be sensible to chase that lead right now, however--I wanted him to continue with his narrative. He was clearly in flow, reliving the memory. I dared not risk side-tracking him at this point. 'So after that, everything returned to normal?'

'Well, yes and no. A week later Felix burst into the kitchen while I was trying to think of a way to make something interesting out of the few seeds and fruit peel we had left. He seemed very happy. He told me his cousin had given birth to another child, and that again he'd been given the great honour of becoming its godfather. He said the child had a white ring around its neck, and that was a special sign, so he couldn't refuse. Could I spare him again while he attended the christening the next day?' This was extraordinary. Surely mice don't give birth on a weekly basis?! But I reminded myself that it would not be wise to interrupt while he was in full flow. 'So of course you encouraged him to attend?'

'Yes. Yes of course I did. And when he returned...oh it must have been a rich feast, for his whiskers were shining with butter or oil...' A sad sigh once more. 'When he returned, I asked him what they'd named his new godchild.'

'And?'

'He said they'd called the child Half Gone.'

Top Off. Half Gone. My suspicions were alight. That's how you might describe what happens when you eat the contents in a container full of food. It seemed pretty obvious to me that Felix had been eating the fat in the hidden jar. But why did he feel the need to torment his partner like this?

'Did you ask Felix about the origins of that...unusual name?'

'I thought I had better not. Felix told me he was tired and that he needed a long sleep after...all the food...' A tear plopped loudly onto the table.

Oh how I felt for this poor gullible creature! Love can be so blind! Felix sounded not only dishonest, but mean and insensitive. How dare he go on about the food? But then I reminded myself I'd never actually met Felix. I could be misjudging him. Anyway, I was meant to be helping my client, not passing judgment on his partner.

'But then things got back to normal after that?'

Well, yes, for some ten days all was as usual. But then last Saturday, Felix bounced into the kitchen again. I was just sitting in my chair, for I'd found nothing edible that morning so there was nothing for me to prepare. I could tell what was coming by the look of excitement on Felix's face, but I didn't let on so he could enjoy passing on the good news. He said he'd been asked to be godfather yet again, and that this was the most special child ever born he was sure, for it had not one white hair on its entire body. Felix said that only happens once every few years. Surely, he begged, I would let him attend the christening next day?'

'And I'm sure you did.'

Nod. 'Of course. I only wish...well, if only...Felix had thought to bring me back a crust from one of the sandwiches...'

I thought I better divert him—the tapping had resumed. 'Was the child as wonderful as Felix thought it would be?'

That question seemed to do the trick. He stopped tapping and smiled. 'Oh yes, yes indeed. Felix told me they called this child All Gone. And it must have been

a wonderful christening party. Felix didn't even ask me whether there was any food in the house for two whole days.'

'But I thought you'd already run out of food?'

'Yes...but Felix forgets sometimes.' Then he looked at me directly—the first time in a while, I realised. I wasn't sure, but I thought he looked a bit frightened. 'But then, three days after he returned from that christening, Felix started asking me why I hadn't prepared him a meal. He seemed angry and upset, no matter how carefully I tried to explain we'd run out of ingredients. I became so desperate that yesterday I went out and tried to find something, anything, even though I know full well there's nothing growing right now. Nothing at all.' He looked straight at me again, eyes wide, nose twitching. I could sense his fear.

'And now Felix seems so different. His tail twitches almost all the time, and he keeps circling round me when I'm trying to do the cleaning. And the way he looks at me...it all seems so different....and that's why I've come to see you. I need to understand what I'm doing wrong...I know I must be making Felix angry. Please, please tell me what I can do to make things better, to stop Felix acting so...strangely!' He was pleading now, frightened and desperate.

I really wished I knew more about the habits of mice. I also needed a moment to put together everything he'd just told me, and to figure out why Felix posed such a threat.

'I hope you don't mind, but I'm a little surprised about the...tail twitching...and the...the circling. Is that something mice do often?'

He looked at me in total astonishment. Was I a complete idiot? 'Felix? Felix a mouse?' Then he laughed—a loud nervous laugh, but good to hear anyway. 'Surely you can see that Felix is a cat?'

Oh my God. The circling, the taunting, the deception. Of course Felix is a cat, and that means this poor mouse is in untold danger. I absolutely had to stop him returning to his home. Forget therapeutic interventions, I told myself. Just save his life.

I tried to sound calm, measured. 'No, I guess I missed that detail. Silly me. Of course Felix is a cat. How could I not have realised?'

He was tapping furiously now. I desperately needed to keep his attention before he launched into another set of chair laps. And I had to keep him from going back home. Without bothering to compose my words I dived in. 'You know what I think would help most? A break. I really think you two need a little break in your relationship. Don't you think that would be nice...' He was tapping with both hands now. Most unprofessionally, I could hear myself pleading with him, my voice sounding ever shriller and louder in my desperation.

'Wouldn't it be nice for...Felix...for FELIX!...Wouldn't it be lovely if you gave FELIX the chance to enjoy some time on his own?' I could hear myself shouting now as I tried desperately to regain his attention. 'How about if instead of going home, you go straight to your sister's house—NOW—and spend a few days with her? Wouldn't it be great for Felix to enjoy a little own time, so...'

But he wasn't listening. He was literally bouncing up and down in the chair. 'Of course! It's so obvious! I know now what I need to do! I just need to talk to Felix! We've always been able to talk. How could I have forgotten? All we need to do is talk about the fat...disappearing. About how I'm trying to help us both, trying to find food. He'll understand everything. Felix is really understanding. And he'll stop...he'll stop staring at me like that...'

'Please!! Please hold on! Just for a minute, so we can think this through together...'

But even as I pleaded, even as I begged him to stop and reconsider, he launched himself from the chair and began scampering towards the back wall, shrinking with every step. I paused for breath and watched helplessly. And then, just before he reached the window, he stopped, as if remembering something. He turned around and addressed me, smiling once more. 'Thank you. Thank you so much for listening to me. Now I just need to have a good talk with Felix. Of course. That's all I have to do, then everything will be fine. Thank you! You've helped so much!'

And with that he gathered himself, leapt into the darkness, and was gone, the window slamming shut behind him.

Off to become a cat's dinner.

Cinderella

I woke this morning with such energy! And optimism. I'd almost forgotten my old self—this is how I always used to feel. But of course. It's Tuesday.

I thought I managed to stay well focused today. But now at last my clinic is over, and I just heard Emma leave. It's magic time—at least I hope it is.

I'd unlatched the window facing the old forest earlier in the day. Absurd, I knew, because none of the fairy tale characters to date had encountered any problems entering my office through a closed window.

That's when I catch myself, when my sensible self speaks. Whatever am I thinking? I really, really must be having a breakdown. Believing that people—and a mouse—from 200 years ago have been visiting me, seeking my help?! I know what I'd think about someone who told me that...

A gust of wind blows the blank sheet of paper in front of me onto the floor, and I hear a cry of dismay. 'Oh no! I'm stuck!'

Whipping round, I see a mop of brown curls topped by a white linen day cap pointing directly at me and two arms flailing wildly, blue silk to the elbows ending with double flared cuffs. A young woman has tried to launch herself through the window, and apparently has indeed become 'stuck'. And she is not happy about it. 'Why does everything go wrong for me?' Then craning her neck up and catching sight of me, 'Well don't just stand there! Can't you see I need some help?!'

I knew four things about this young woman already. Judging by her dress she's rich. She's large. She's rather clumsy. And she's extremely demanding.

'Of course.' Standing in front of her upturned scowl, 'If you'll take hold of my hands perhaps I can pull you...?' Without waiting for an answer I take hold of the still flailing arms at the wrists, straighten and start to tug. Then pull. Then heave. She is clearly stuck fast. Maybe some part of her outside the window is the problem? I've never had much spatial sense.

'The panniers! Dratted panniers! Go out there and untie my panniers will you!'

She rode here on a bicycle? And she needed to bring things with her? They had bicycles in the 18th century? This is too strange. 'Sure thing!' As if I know what I'm doing.

The cold night air is sobering. What *am* I doing? But I keep walking, round to my window at the back.

It is half open, but...I feel a creeping cold on the back of my neck. There's nothing there. Nothing holding the window open. But the window is definitely open. The panel is suspended halfway up, trembling slightly.

I know the contours of the building so well that I'd not turned on the torch, but I do so now, shining it on the window frame. Empty space. Just a half-open window. I switch off the torch and feel a wave of dizziness, the beginnings of a panic attack, as the possibility that I'm experiencing hallucinations suggests itself. Will I be admitted as an in-patient?

But then I hear her howls of indignation. She's real! Well, at least half of her is real. Thank heavens! I rush eagerly back and into my office.

She's there all right.

'What is the matter with you? Why didn't you untie the dratted panniers?!'

'I...I couldn't see them in the dark. So sorry!' With that I took hold of the top frame and heaved it upwards with renewed energy. She fell unceremoniously onto the floor in a heap of linen and silk petticoats, her day cap now askew.

All of her. From the waist down as well as up. All there. Do they only materialise once they're inside my office?

The petticoats had hitched up and bunched around what looked like a roll of rubber tubing round her waist. That must be what she meant by panniers. She was trying desperately hard to look nonchalant as she re-adjusted the layers and layers of silk and linen. Beautiful gold ribbon garters tied over each knee holding ivory silk stockings in place.

But only one shoe, the left, black leather with a dull silver buckle. A thick wrapping of white muslin hid most of the right stocking from toes to calf—no shoe could fit over that. The muslin was stained in varying shades of dirty red. Must be a nasty wound on that foot or ankle—and recent, too, judging by the bright red blotches amid the deeper reds. She stood up a little unsteadily and regarded me, assessing me shrewdly, less angry now.

'I need your help. Is there somewhere I'm supposed to sit down?'

Recovering myself, 'Yes. Yes, there is. Just...there,' gesturing to the chair at the far side of my desk. I didn't dare offer to help this proud young creature as she hobbled over, carrying her head high. Once she'd adjusted the gown and petticoats to her satisfaction she looked up. I waited expectantly.

'It's mother. And Christine. Things have just gone too far.'

Mother and daughter problems, one of the two relationship hot-spots in my work, that and couples. I can do this. But, 'Who's Christine, please?'

'Christine is my big sister. And I hate her. And she hates me.'

I nodded. Not that surprising. The elder is usually jealous of the baby of the family, while the younger envies their older sibling's sophistication.

'So it's just...the three of you at home?'

'Oh no! There's my...step-father.' Look of distaste. 'And...And I suppose I have to mention Cynthia.'

'I see. So Cynthia is your...'

'She's my step-father's daughter. Cynthia! What a stupid name. Who would name someone like her after a goddess?! Really! Wishful thinking there!'

Although she spat out the words, it felt rather like an automatic habit, that dismissal. I sensed an ambivalence, wondered what she really thought of her stepsister. But maybe it wasn't wise to ask her just yet. I needed more general information right now.

'Is Cynthia younger than you?' Nod. 'And how long have you all been...been a family?'

Oops, hit a nerve there. She reddened, shook her head, curls bobbing furiously. 'Never! It's never worked! We're no family!'

Keep quiet, I tell myself, no leading questions, no directing. She stared hard at me, as if needing to bore her statement into my head. I waited, keeping eye contact but trying not to suggest confrontation. After a moment she lowered her eyes, shoulders sagged. Shook her head sadly.

'I wish mother had never, *ever*, remarried. We were happy enough as we were! But mother...mother never has enough. More, more! I see that now. Everything, everything is about how she can get hold of more wealth, more status...even...even...That's all I am to her. A chance for more.' She looked up, big tears welling in her hazel eyes. Poor unloved creature! This is a delicate moment, I tell myself. No standard responses, no nods, no handing out tissues. Let her recover herself, then stay quiet so she can decide where she wants to go next.

She remained bowed, crying a little but quietly. After a few more long moments she looked up, wiped her eyes with the back of her hand and took a deep breath. 'Do you have some way I could...rest my foot...'

I'd forgotten that poor bandaged limb. 'Of course. I should have offered.' A grateful look. I was beginning to like this overgrown child. I fetched one of the two other chairs and placed it to the right of her, seat forward.

66

'Thanks.' Slowly and carefully, wincing but clearly determined not to cry out, she lifted the bandaged leg up and placed the foot on the chair seat. Heaved a sigh of relief.

'My father died when I was six...' Reconsidering, 'No. My father disappeared when I was six. Mother told us he died fighting for the king, but recently I have come to doubt that story. I think he could no longer bear my mother's constant demands...and...' More tears. 'And the fact that she bore him only daughters.'

Poor child! This time I did hand her the box of tissues, with genuine compassion. Did no one love this girl?

As she dabbed her eyes, I found myself feeling that familiar stab of pain as I thought of my own ambitious, cold mother. Then sharply to myself, 'No, Helen! This is her story, not yours! You know the rules. Keep yourself well out.' Deep breath, refocus.

'We lived alone for nearly 12 years. It was a pleasant life. Father had left us well provided.'

Father had a heart then. Good. At least there was one parent who didn't always demand to have their own way. One decent role model in her life? Maybe.

'But mother was always looking...looking for a better position. When she heard Baroness Reinhardt died in childbirth, she was determined to marry the Baron.' She looked up, a wry smile. 'And my mother always gets what she wants.

'At first we were very excited, Christine and I. Our new home was so grand, and we had more servants, so many more. Mother ordered fine gowns for us all. And we had our own chambers...

'But now we had a new sister as well. Cynthia is three years younger than I am. Mother loathed her from the first moment she set eyes on her, and encouraged us to do so as well—rather, she demanded we do so. She would act kindly, oh so kindly towards Cynthia when her new husband was present. But I remember that first day after the wedding, when Baron Reinhardt went out hunting. We were finishing breakfast when mother suddenly turned to Christine and me. Pointing at Cynthia, "What's this terrible useless thing doing in our rooms?" Then addressing her, "Off with you to the kitchen! Whoever wants to eat bread in this house must first earn it. You will be our maid!"

'Then mother ordered the servants to take away Cynthia's fine gowns and burn them, and give her an old grey smock to wear instead. And Cynthia had to work with the servants, do all the same things they did—get up at dawn, carry water into the house, make up the fires, cook and wash. Mother would encourage us to pour peas and lentils into the ashes of the hearth, so Cynthia had to spend all day picking them out. Then at night, because she no longer had a bed of her own—I learned later Christine's chamber had once belonged to Cynthia—she had to lie down beside the hearth, in the ashes, to sleep. Mother told her husband Cynthia had chosen this new life, that after she lost her mother she wished to live the life of a servant, repentance for her mother...' Anger flooded her, stopping her narrative. My chance.

'How did you feel about...what was happening with Cynthia?'

She shook her head guiltily. 'That's the terrible thing.' Her eyes, pleading forgiveness. 'I just joined in with mother and Christine. I was just as cruel. They loved tormenting her, and I...I must admit, I was so glad no longer to be the object of their cruelty. So I pretended to love taunting her as well.' Long pause. 'That was wicked, I know that now.'

I was fast warming to this young woman. Of course she would be attracted to bullying. It's what she'd experienced, and I could hear my professor telling us that the bullied are highly likely to become bullies themselves, in an attempt to regain the sense of power they'd lost. Yet something had caused her to change—or at least to want to change—I wasn't sure which yet. But either way, it was pretty impressive. And it could have a lot to do with why she'd come to see me.

'Do you know, can you remember, what made you start to think differently? What was it, do you think, that made you realise bullying Cynthia was something you no longer wished to do?'

'Well, it didn't happen all at once. At first, just sometimes I would stop, realise I wasn't happy. In fact, I was even more unhappy than when mother and Christine used to tease me so badly. But the real change, the big change—why I left to come here—it happened after the prince's ball, I think.'

'The prince's ball? Can you tell me a bit about that?'

She beamed. How attractive she was when she smiled like that, free from worry and remorse.

'Oh, I would be so glad to tell you about the prince, and about the ball. Everyone says the prince is the most handsome man in our kingdom.

'Last month his father announced that the time had come for his son to choose a bride, so in the prince's honour he was going to organise the most magnificent ball ever. It would last three nights. Three nights! Can you imagine?' What a smile! 'The king said the purpose of the ball was to allow his son to find his bride, and that every young woman in the kingdom would be invited.

'It was all so wonderful, so exciting! The best thing ever! Mother ordered new ball gowns to be made for us specially, for Christine and me. And we had new silken dance slippers fashioned for us as well.

'Christine said it would be good fun to make Cynthia really jealous, because of course mother said she could not attend the ball. So we made her comb our hair, fasten our petticoats and brush our silk slippers, all the while saying how wonderful it would be when we had our turn to dance with the prince at the ball. We'd remind her she had to stay home, because, "if anyone saw her and knew her to be our sister, we'd be ashamed." That's what mother told us to say.' She paused, looked directly at me. 'We really were cruel to her.

'Then just before we left on the first night, Christine thrust a bowl full of lentils at poor Cynthia and told her that they all had to be sorted before we returned.' Big tears, shaking her curls sadly. 'However could I have been a part of that?'

It was hard to know whether to reply, to reassure. I decided against it. It would be better if I could help her find a way to forgive herself.

'The ball was like the best dream anyone could have. There must have been a thousand chandeliers! And the prince, so handsome, dancing with everyone, each in turn...though he smiled little, and he never spoke.' She was lost for a moment, transported back to that splendid evening.

'And when we returned, do you know? Cynthia had sorted all the lentils! I wanted to praise her, but mother said it would only make her lazy. Instead, the next afternoon after she had dressed us in our dancing gowns and put up our hair, mother gave her an even bigger bowl of peas and told she had to sort the good from the bad, every one, before we returned from the second night of the ball.'

She paused, reflecting on something—happy or sad? I couldn't tell, but she stayed silent so long I felt I had to ask, 'And the second night? Was the ball just as it was the first night?'

Her body language made it clear that it was not. 'It was so different! So very, very different. Oh, it all began in the same way, the silent prince dancing with each of us in turn. But then, late in the evening, a carriage pulled up in the courtyard. It was driven by six of the most magnificent black horses I had ever seen. Each one had feathers in their bridle, and there were servants dressed in blue silk with silver braiding. The carriage was so extraordinary that someone even ordered the music to stop as it arrived in the courtyard, and everyone left the dance floor and hurried outside to take a look. But then, when the servant opened the carriage door...oh my! Out stepped the most beautiful princess—she must be a princess-her silver gown

and slippers sparkling so brightly in the light of the chandeliers. When he saw her, the prince started smiling. And he kept on smiling. For the rest of the evening he would dance with no other partner.'

She looked up at me, her face alight with joy and generosity. 'She was more beautiful than anyone else, and her face so full of kindness. She deserved to dance with the prince.

'When we returned at last—it was nearly dawn—we found Cynthia asleep on the hearth, all the peas sorted. I felt so sorry for her, all alone that long evening and night.

'Watching her sleeping there, I realised for the first time that she was actually a very pretty child. Had she been allowed to clean herself up and wear a gown, I thought, no doubt she would have looked wonderful.' Tears flowing again. 'I wanted to stop tormenting her, I really did! But I was so afraid mother and Christine would turn on me again.

'The next night, the last night of the ball, mother gave Cynthia an entire sack of peas to sort. I didn't think she could possibly manage to sort them all. Then off we went, leaving her standing alone in the courtyard, the heavy sack of peas beside her.' Looking up at me again, she paused, reflecting. 'That's when I knew I would be happier if I could be kind to Cynthia, instead of treating her so badly. I don't know why it happened then, but that was the moment I knew. But I was still too afraid of mother and Christine...' Her thoughts were drifting, her thinking confused. I waited quietly.

'The last night of the ball was the most amazing of all. More chandeliers than anyone could count, and the most delicious food on silver platters, all manner of sweetmeats and delicacies. Everyone was wearing the most beautiful gowns, everyone looked so beautiful. It was truly magical.

'But the prince...the prince would not choose a dance partner. Whenever his father encouraged him, he replied simply that he was waiting. For what? For whom? We all knew.

'And at last, the carriage drew up, drawn this time by six white horses adorned with plumes of red and gold. And the servants who drove the carriage and opened the door for the princess wore red silk with gold braiding. And the princess...This time she was dressed all in gold. I think the threads must have been true gold. Her gown was studded with precious gems, so that she glistened—really, she glistened— as if she herself were the midday sun.' She looked up at me again, eager to share. 'If

70

only you could have seen her! It brought such joy to all of us—except Christine. She was white with envy.' She paused, dropped her eyes, ashamed of her sister.

'Once again the prince would dance with no other but the mysterious princess. But later, just before the stroke of midnight, I saw the princess glance up at the clock tower, and when she saw the time she turned suddenly and began running to her carriage, without a word and heedless of the prince's pleas for her to stay.

'She leapt inside and the servant closed the door at once and jumped into the driving seat, calling to the horses. As the carriage sped deep into the night, the prince simply stood in the courtyard looking heart-broken, unmoving, oblivious to everyone around him. Then, looking about as if in a dream, he espied something glistening brightly at the bottom of the stairs. He hurried over and picked it up, and as he did so his face brightened once more. It was a golden slipper—her golden slipper. In her haste it must have loosened from her little foot.'

She paused, looking down sadly at her bandaged leg, allowing another tear to fall. 'Her feet were so small and dainty.'

I knew it wasn't wise to interrupt, but I couldn't bear that she'd become aware of the pain in her leg again--in her eagerness to describe the ball, she'd momentarily forgotten. But now the pain must be raging...would she feel able to return to her story?

'Does that mean the prince has no bride to this day?'

'No...well, not yet.'

'Not yet? So another ball is planned?'

This, I was glad to see, made her laugh.

'Oh my goodness no! Not even our king could afford another such sumptuous occasion in the same season! No, no more balls. But the next day there was a proclamation that the prince would personally visit every household in the kingdom, and that every maiden in each household would be invited to try on the slipper he had found. The maiden whose foot fit the slipper, read the proclamation, would become his queen.

'Can you imagine the excitement?!' Her eyes shone. Everyone hoped they could fit the slipper!' Smile fading. 'Especially Christine, encouraged by our mother of course.' Fixing her attention back to me and trying to summon up kindness, 'You see, Christine has very small feet. She's always been so proud of her tiny feet. Mother said now was her chance.' What a generous soul!

'At last, five days later, it was our turn. Late in the morning we heard the prince approach our house with his entourage. Our chance had come, and Christine
was trembling with excitement.' She paused, sighed. 'Mother was trembling as well. But I soon realised she was not excited for Christine—or for me, if I would be given the chance to try on the slipper. No, mother wished this possible good fortune only for herself. She wished to become the mother of a queen.' She looked so hurt, so dejected. But I knew to keep quiet. She had more to tell.

'Mother greeted the prince with so much praise and bowing, it was not pleasant to watch. But the prince didn't seem to notice. He was in a hurry, he said. Were there any maidens in this household who had attended the ball, who wished to try on the slipper?

With more bowing and curtsies, mother assured him there was a very special maiden waiting to try on the slipper. The prince nodded impatiently. She called to Christine, who came out almost on tiptoe so as not to put weight on her feet, to keep them dainty.' She laughed, the memory amusing.

'When the prince handed her the slipper, I could feel mother's keen gaze, measuring up that slipper against Christine's foot. "Your esteemed majesty, my daughter is so delicate! She will need to be sitting down and alone to put back on the...*her*...slipper. May we take it inside the house?"

'Thinking about it now, the prince obviously knew Christine was not his bride, so he merely nodded. "But be quick with you!"

'The three of us hurried indoors, mother clutching the precious slipper. Once she closed the doors, she became rough in her greedy excitement, and thrust the slipper at Christine. "Well, put it on, daughter! Get on with it! I wish to be the mother of the queen!"

'Poor Christine pushed and struggled and wiggled, but try as she might the slipper was too small. And that's when I knew for sure mother loves no one but herself. She ran to the kitchen and fetched a sharp knife and handed it to Christine. "Cut off a piece of your heel. Then the slipper will fit. It will hurt, but what does that matter? The pain will pass. And it will be worth it, for then you will be queen!"

She paused, extremely angry but also clearly distressed. 'Can you imagine?! A mother who would encourage her own daughter to cut off part of her foot?!' She shook her head sadly now. 'So of course, Christine did as she was told—she, too, fears our mother. I hadn't been aware of that before. Her heel was bleeding badly—it was horrible—and Christine went quite pale. But mother shoved her foot in just the same, "That will stop the blood flowing. Mind you, don't let him see what you have done!" And she almost pushed Christine over in her eagerness to get her back to the waiting prince.

'When the prince saw that Christine was wearing the slipper, he sighed. I know he didn't believe she was the real owner, but he had to keep his public word. So he escorted her into the carriage and they drove off. Mother was mad with greedy joy. It was so...ugly.' New tears.

I waited. After another few moments she looked up, took a deep breath and repositioned herself. There was more to this story.

'But even before mother could settle herself in the house so she could begin planning our move to the castle, we heard the carriage returning. We both ran to the window—there was the prince, shaking his head sternly as he helped Christine out of the carriage. As she began hobbling towards the house, mother rushed out. "What did you forget, darling? You could have sent for anything!" But I could sense her foreboding. The prince addressed our mother coldly. "Your daughter is a false bride. She has cut her own foot to fit the slipper."

She stopped her narrative abruptly—reflecting on her mother's behaviour must have overwhelmed her and struck her temporarily dumb. But then, instead of carrying on with the tale, she appeared to lose self-control and throw what I can only describe as a mini tantrum, bashing her fists on the desktop in fury and kicking her good leg up and down. Then remembering me, she shook her head in embarrassment, drew a deep breath, relaxed in her chair, and resumed her narrative.

'And what did mother say? Did she welcome Christine? Did she thank her for her sacrifice, for trying to do her bidding? Did she offer to bathe her foot? No! She ignored her daughter completely. Instead she turned her full attention on the prince. "Your majesty, I beg your majesty's forgiveness for such a false daughter. She insisted to me she was the one. Such a liar!" I could see Christine turning ever paler, poor thing.' Again, I marvelled at her generosity. "Your most wonderful majesty", my mother carried on, "your true bride is my other daughter, standing here beside me. I wanted to tell you earlier, but she"—throwing a sharp glance towards Christine— "insisted she was your true bride, false daughter that she is!"

'I assure you, I was most astonished—and frightened upon hearing her lies. I knew I would now have try on the bloody slipper. And I knew my feet were larger than Christine's. I shuddered as I thought about what was to come.

'Again, mother insisted we go into the house to fit the slipper on, and again the prince granted permission. I followed mother in fear and trembling, knowing the slipper would never fit, while Christine hobbled behind in dreadful pain.

73

'And of course it didn't fit. I couldn't even push my toes inside. And as I feared, as I dreaded with all my being, I heard my mother, "Cut off your toes. Then the slipper will fit. Go on! You will have no need to walk once you are queen! Do as I say! Now! This minute!" And she handed me the knife, still stained with Christine's blood.

'So...so I did.' Regarding her bandages sadly. 'I cut off my poor, poor toes and shoved my bleeding foot into the slipper, and somehow I managed to walk back to the prince. Never have I known such pain. I was sure I would faint.' She afforded herself a rueful smile. 'But fear of mother pushed me on.

'We were only minutes down the road when I saw two pigeons—the two I know Cynthia is fond of feeding—flying along beside us. As we turned the first corner they swooped down and sat on the carriage roof. The prince leaned out at once, as if this had happened before.' She regarded me carefully. 'Of course, I realise now it had. They began to sing loudly,

"Looky, look, look at the shoe that she took. There's blood all over, and the shoe's too small. She's not the bride you met at the ball."

I marvelled at a world that contained talking birds. But then I remembered my recent visit from a talking mouse...

'When he heard their ditty, the prince looked down at once at my foot and saw the blood on my stockings, the blood streaming from the slipper. I was so afraid! But he seemed more relieved than angry—I knew then he was not a cruel man, not like my mother. He simply ordered the coachman to turn back to the house.

'Of course mother was as angry with me as she had been with Christine. "Wilhelmina! You bring shame upon our house! How dare you!" And as the prince drove off without a word, she pushed me towards the house. I wish I could not remember those moments. I stumbled and fell, again and again, as the pain and sickness overwhelmed me.' She paused, looking spent.

I had to comfort her, had to interrupt, whether it was 'correct' to do so or not. 'You poor, poor child! So that explains your...bandages. I am so very sorry!'

She looked up through sad tears. Simply, 'Thank you.'

We sat together quietly, until the spoke once more. 'Despite the pain—or perhaps the pain sharpened what I finally realised, who knows—I knew then that I could no longer live like this, in this household with this cruel selfish woman. I was so ashamed. I was ashamed of my mother's greed, but also of my own cowardice. I vowed to live no more like this, not one moment more. 'So when mother ran out to chase the carriage...' A wry smile as she remembered the absurdity of it, 'While mother was literally running after the departing carriage, I stood up, balancing as best I could, and I walked out, leaving poor Christine weeping in pain. I just walked away from that sorry existence, willing the pain to stop so I could make it to the woods, and then to come here. To you. Because I'd heard you can help. So please, help me find a new path. I cannot go back to...her, to that life, to such cruelty, ever again.'

Her courage and resolve, not to mention her tolerance for pain, were humbling. I had to help, though I wasn't at all sure how. I doubted women at that time had many options open to them. My first thought was a refuge of some sort, because surely everyone would agree she had been abused, and that she was no doubt still in danger. Did they have refuges, shelters, then? Probably not...but then I remembered.

They had convents.

Becoming a nun was seen as an honourable life for women at that time. And she would receive an education, an opportunity she'd no doubt seize. And she had such a generous nature, so much to give. To help others, to spend her life giving of herself...

But I knew not to suggest anything. If a client is told what to do rather than coming up with their own solution, they're less likely to own that path, to remain motivated if the going gets tough, or even to feel proud if things manage to work out.

But I was worrying needlessly.

'I hope you're not thinking that no one would choose me as a bride? That's what mother tells me, often, though I so wished someone would choose me. If I were to marry I could escape my mother's tongue. But of course, she always insisted, no one would ever choose me.'

She regarded me carefully, then to my astonishment, she burst out laughing. 'Mother isn't always right, though she thinks she is. But in this one case, I think perhaps she is right. Mother says I am only fit for life in a convent.'

I had no idea what to say. I felt as if she'd read my thoughts. 'I suppose...The important thing here is not what your mother thinks, is it? The important thing is what you would like to do.'

'I know exactly what I would like to do. I realise now that what mother suggests is right for me, although our reasoning differs. I would like to enter a convent, now that I feel free to choose for myself rather than forced to obey my mother. A life of service, a life of scriptures and learning. That would suit me perfectly.' A twinkly smile—how could she, given the pain she must be feeling? 'And I know they'll have me. The convent especially welcomes the...disabled.' Glancing down at her poor foot, 'And the bonus? Mother will think I agreed with her.'

Wow. How she could laugh at her predicament was beyond me, let alone be so generous towards her mother! I felt the catch in my voice, tried to overcome it, 'May I say one thing about your decision?'

'Of course!'

'The nuns in the convent you enter will be incredibly lucky and blessed that you have chosen to be with them.'

She beamed. 'I expect you may be right. I think I might even dare to say you are right! I *am* worthy, and I *can* live a useful life.' She rose carefully, that generous smile again. 'Thank you.'

'No, Wilhelmina. Thank YOU.'

I watched as she walked gingerly towards the window, stood before it with outstretched arms, nodded once, then vanished deep into the night.

Rapunzel

She must have flown in. There could be no other explanation.

I regarded the old woman sitting across from me nervously. Only a minute ago Emma had switched off the lights in reception and shut the door behind her, and only seconds ago that chair had been empty.

She adjusted her dirty lace shawl with long crooked fingers. Her straggly grey hair was still settling back around her shoulders. She was enveloped in a thick black dress of some coarse material. She smelled of rotting herbs.

I longed to reach down and gather the papers scattered by the sudden gust of wind that had marked her entry, but to look away felt somehow rude. Without a word she was demanding my full attention, and without a word I felt compelled to give it.

'You will tell me how to get my daughter back.'

It was not a question, not a polite request. It was a command. Not a good start--she clearly expected to take total charge of this encounter. I needed a few moments to figure out how to rebalance our relationship.

'Would you mind if I fetched myself a glass of water? I'm feeling quite thirsty.' That was true—I must have been staring at her open-mouthed.

'Or for Hecate's sake, get on with it! I haven't all night!'

'Thank you.' I bent down and picked up the papers with careful deliberation. Placed my pen on them, and as I did so I glanced back at the window that opens onto the old forest. It was firmly shut. More disquiet.

As I stood up, she picked up the gnarled staff she'd leaned against the chair, placed it across her lap, and began stroking it. Could she have flown in on that, or with its help at least?

I willed myself to walk slowly, to appear as nonchalant as I could manage as I crossed the room to my little basin. Slowly picked up the water glass perched on the side of the basin, filled it with cold water, returned to my chair. Swallowed a long refreshing mouthful. Better.

Still stroking the staff, 'You've had your time. Now tell me how to get my daughter back.'

That staff was making me nervous. Was it magic? If so, probably not the kind of magic I would welcome.

'My staff will indeed do my bidding. But I have not asked anything of it...yet.'

I was unable to suppress a cold shiver. How did she guess my thoughts? Must be a coincidence. Please let it be a coincidence.

She was regarding me intently now with her tiny pale blue eyes, almost more like bright pebbles than eyes. Little hole for a mouth. Long beaked nose. She has a daughter? I wondered uncharitably how she managed to find anyone willing to impregnate her.

She laughed harshly. 'All right. She is my adopted daughter. Is that better?' My jaw must have dropped in astonishment, evoking another cackle. 'You are surprised I can read your thoughts. Yet you seem unable to read mine. Haven't progressed much in 200 years, have we?' More harsh laughter.

I was really nervous now, but I also knew that if we were to work together, I absolutely had to rebalance this encounter. Therapy involves collaboration with mutual exploration, rather than one participant acceding to the demands of the other. Buck up, Helen.

Deep breath. 'You have sought my help. If you want it then you will respect me as I will...respect you.' Somehow I managed to hold her gaze as I waited while she summed me up anew.

Then she smiled. Nice smile, despite the teeth. 'I see you are a strong woman. Good. Then how shall we proceed?'

Keep your advantage, Helen. 'I need you to start...at the beginning. You can decide what marks the beginning.' Only fair—after all, she'd given quite a lot of ground just now.

Pause. Reflection. This was feeling better.

'I suppose...the beginning was the night when her father, clumsy old fool, climbed into my garden.'

How harshly she judges others! I filed that observation, but let it pass for the moment. 'Climbed?'

'Yes. I like to keep myself to myself, so I...' glancing fondly at her staff, 'I arranged for a high wall to surround my cottage and garden. No one had dared even to come near my garden, let alone enter it.' She smiled conspiratorially. 'I have a very bad reputation, you see.'

I ignored the invitation to allow her to embellish on that reputation. I needed the narrative. 'Go on. He climbed into your garden you say?'

'I knew what he wanted. I'd seen his wife pining, sensed her longing for my salad greens.'

'How could you see into a neighbouring cottage? I thought you said high walls surround your property?'

'Don't be deliberately obtuse! Of course I can see through walls if I wish!' Softening. 'But I am in a dell and their cottage is on the hill without.'

'Thank you. I understand now. Do go on.' Again I noted her first reaction, her quickness to dominate. I wondered if this extended to her role as a mother. Might need that later.

'She was pregnant, you see. After many years, she was pregnant.' She paused, the arrogance fading. 'I've heard you can crave odd things when you are pregnant.'

Suddenly she was real, and I felt for her. She would have loved to have become pregnant and given birth. It was obvious. I stared hard, willing myself to focus my full attention on the details of her face, to keep me from thinking about Alex and the four long years of fertility treatment I needed before I was able to conceive my only child. To distract myself further, 'You are so right. Women can suddenly desire the most surprising foods during pregnancy.'

'Yes, well...I decided on this occasion to let him steal the salad she so desired.' Looking at me sadly, 'I would have exchanged places with her.'

Wasn't sure what to say, but I could tell she wanted a response. 'I hope you felt richly rewarded for your...generosity.'

'I did NOT!' She spat out the words in her fury. 'My reward?! Some fine reward. He returned next evening...for MORE! Can you believe it?' I shook my head as if I shared her disbelief.

'I approached him as he bent over to cut the greens, just waited for him to stand up, his hands full of...his thievery.' Defiant. 'You can probably imagine his surprise! And his fear. And I was glad!

'Oh, he grovelled, and he begged. I enjoyed that. But when he used the excuse that it was because his wife was pregnant...' Bent her head. 'I suppose I rather lost control.'

No need to comment. We both knew why.

'I told him he could take all the salad he wished, but the condition—for that, and for me to spare his life—was that they would give me the child when his wife gave birth.' Her eyes, those bright pebbles, sparkled. 'Of course he agreed. What choice did he have?' She laughed long and loud at this. 'And I...at last I would have a child. And a daughter no less! I knew it was a girl.

'I watched him when he returned home, laden with *my* salad.' She looked at me in mock astonishment. 'He never told his wife of our encounter! I am sure he thought that if he did not speak of it, nothing untoward would happen. What an utter simpleton!'

Another wicked laugh. 'Oh, and I enchanted that salad, so his wife would be satisfied and crave it no more...and...' Huge smile. 'So the child would grow up to be the most beautiful creature the world had ever seen.

'And she is.' She sighed. 'But is that still true now? Even with my skills, I cannot know. That is why I have sought your help, to bring her back to me, back to where she belongs.' She must have noted my look of confusion—or else she was reading my thoughts yet again.

'Oh, but I am getting ahead of myself. You cannot yet know what happened.

'I watched that woman every day as she carried my child. I looked into the cottage and observed her as she grew rounder and rounder.

'On the very same day when at last she gave birth, I appeared before her and demanded the baby—as my right of course.' A very unpleasant chuckle. 'You cannot imagine her astonishment upon seeing me when I confronted her—remember, her husband had told her nothing of our encounter. She stared uncomprehending, frozen with shock. I simply removed the babe she cradled in her arms, plucked it right away. She didn't react, didn't move. Just stared at me.

'As I left with my precious bundle, I passed her dicky of a husband coming into their bedchamber. Hah! He had much to explain to his wife.' She grinned at me.

I did not find this at all amusing, but neither did I wish to appear critical. I didn't want her to start questioning whether I was really willing to help. And after all, I'd been asked to help her find her daughter, not to pass judgment on her or feel sorry for the child's birth parents. 'Do go on.'

'My magic had been strong. Cassandra grew to become the most beautiful child under the sun. Sapphire eyes, the tiniest blush in her cheek. And her hair! It was as fine as spun gold, and it grew so abundantly that soon it fell nearly to the floor. For twelve blissful years she delighted in my company each and every day. We had such wonderful times! I never knew such perfect joy.'

She fell silent, remembering, wistful. But then her expression hardened.

'But not long after Cassandra's twelfth birthday, she began to ask questions. Unnecessary questions. What was life like beyond the grounds of our cottage? Could she meet with others of her years? Why these questions? Why could she not simply continue to enjoy all that I offered? I could not understand.' I could. Sounded like she'd hit adolescence.

'It came to a point...I feared she might try to leave the cottage. So it became necessary to protect her. I had to!' She looked at me beseechingly, willing me to justify her actions. I nodded but said nothing.

'We created a high tower,' glancing at her staff. 'It had no doors or stairs, only a window at the top.'

She must have noted my astonishment, though I had tried hard to keep my concerned and caring mask in place, that well-practiced 'I understand you' look. But too late. She'd become defensive.

'Oh, but the tower was richly furnished within, and filled with all her favourite amusements. And the gowns we created!' Another caress of her staff. 'The gowns were exquisite. And I would bring with me the most delicious meals each evening when I came to see her. She wanted for nothing, I assure you.'

Nothing except a normal social life. I felt for the poor caged child, and thought how liberal most helicopter mothers today suddenly seemed in comparison. But once again I reminded myself that this woman hadn't asked me to sympathise with her child or to compare her to other mothers, but rather to restore her child to her. My opinions and comparisons wouldn't help, nor were they relevant to the task at hand. Leave it, Helen, and focus on what my client is asking. 'But how did you get into the tower to be with her each evening if there were no doors or stairs?'

Big grin. 'Ah, that was our secret! Each evening I would approach the tower and call out:

Cassandra, Cassandra! Let down your hair!

And she would unpin her plaits, wind them round a hook I had fashioned at the window—I would never want to hurt her by pulling—and she would drop those golden tresses from the window ledge. They were so long by that time, they reached my outstretched hands. That was how I ascended, climbing her golden tresses, laden with wonderful things for her.'

The image of Rapunzel admitting the witch came from a fairy tale that had affected me so powerfully as a child that, for the first time since the characters had begun visiting, the relevant story forced its way into my conscious thought. I'd managed always before to keep any recognition at bay, so I could focus my full attention on the client in front of me, without prejudgment. I buried the association immediately, although not without effort. 'I see. Most ingenious.' Neutral enough I hoped. But what to say next? 'And...did she enjoy your visits, and the...gifts you brought her?'

'Oh yes. Most especially her gowns. How she loved to dress up!' But now an ugly scowl, eyes glittering in a way I had already come to dislike. 'But the gowns were her downfall. The gowns betrayed her, showed her faithlessness.'

Betrayed her? Showed her faithlessness? Those were strong words. 'She lied to you?'

'Worse! Far, far worse. She withheld from me. She had her own secret.'

A secret. Gowns that revealed what she didn't tell. In her effort to find something in her life she could control but that she felt compelled to hide, had Cassandra become anorexic? Was that the problem?

'Did the gowns...no longer fit her?'

She regarded me with a glimmer of respect. 'Ah, you're perhaps not as untutored as I was beginning to think! You're right. They no longer fitted. Perhaps I would not have noticed for a while longer had Cassandra not given herself away.

'I was pinning the stomacher to her new gown—peacock blue with diamonds it was—when she remarked, "Tell me, Mother, why is it my skirts are becoming so tight, and no longer falling evenly to the floor but rising at the front?"

'Then I did regard her, and...how had I not seen this?! She was with child! *With child*!' She spat the words, disbelief mixed with anger—and, I suspect, envy. She was staring hard at me. I had to think of a way to distract her, to shield my thoughts, to stop her peering into my mind again.

'But this is astonishing! I thought you said there was no way a suitor—' I noted the look of warning—'an intruder could get into the tower, nor she escape from it?'

Relief as she responded to my words rather than my inner thoughts. 'Oh, you can be sure I made her tell me all. Oh yes.

'It seems a foreigner, a prince she called him,' venom in her speech, 'a beard splitter I warrant, had come riding by one day when Cassandra was standing at the window singing a favourite ditty. She said he told her—that lying lobcock—that he fell in love with her at once and could not stop staring at the window. There he remained, rooted to the spot—or so he told her—until he heard me approaching the tower, whereupon he hid himself and his horse a way off. He watched me call to her, and when I had departed he approached the tower and called out to her, using my words exactly. Jackanapes! Beard splitter!'

She was shouting now, standing up and sitting down repeatedly. A moment more of this, then she must have realised she was out of control. She stopped her chair dance abruptly. Deep breaths, hands unclenching, shoulders dropping.

'She said she was surprised to hear me, surprised I had returned to her so soon, but because they were our secret words she was sure it was I. She said she was afraid when she first saw him, when he climbed in the window. But...' She grimaced, finding it hard to go on, 'She said he was so *kind*, so merry and amusing...hah!' More deep breathing. 'She said that she began to be glad of his daily visits.'

Long pause, during which I fought to keep my mind clear, my focus steady, and not burst into a triumphant cheer for Cassandra.

'Well, I am sure I do not need to tell you what happened. DO I?!'

I reassured her that she did not have to explain. But now I had to wait. She was fidgeting with her staff, forcing herself to stay seated, and making every effort to adjust her position so as to look tall and proud. It was clear that whatever she was about to tell me was even more difficult for her than what I'd just heard.

'I am afraid that when she confessed this...betrayal...after all I had given her, all I had done for her...I am afraid I...I lost control.' Her head bowed, 'I cut off her lovely plaits and took them from her. Even as she wept I cast a spell upon her. I banished her to a desolate land, a land I know well, a place from which she could return only when she made a solemn vow to love with all her heart and soul.'

'I was certain she would come round, see her need for me...her *love* for me, particularly after she lost the child.'

I hated to ask, but had to. 'Then you cast a spell on the baby as well?'

'I knew there would be no need. Few can survive long in that land, let alone while carrying a child. Losing the child would bring her to her senses, I knew it would. Then she would have...only me. Then she would love *me*, and only me, once more.'

This was such a ludicrous definition of love! This was possession, not love. I hardly knew where to begin. Yet challenging her would only anger her. 'And the...intruder?'

That ugly, ugly laugh, eyes glittering in 'that way' again. 'Oh, I took care of him, I did! I tied Cassandra's tresses to the hook and I waited. Sure enough, just after I would normally have left, I heard the young bull calf ride up to the tower, bold as bold. When he called—hateful it was to hear—I dropped the tresses. Imagine his surprise upon seeing me!'

I hated to think. Poor guy.

'Such a jackanapes. Gollumpus! Fool!'

She had quite a vocabulary.

'I didn't even have to push him. He was so astonished he fell back and out the window, plunging to the foot of the tower where the briars grow. I heard him screaming, "I cannot see! My eyes, oh my eyes are pierced!"

She regarded me defiantly. I didn't even try to hide my horror-she'd spot it anyway.

'I didn't need to kill him, did I? Better the wild animals devoured him as he wandered sightless and bleeding through the undergrowth!'

Now I was the one who had to breathe back some sense of calm, as I felt a wave of nausea at this image. Playing for time, 'When did this all take place?'

She bowed her head, stroking her staff sadly. 'That is why I have come. It has been near four months. She must have...lost the child long ago. Why has she not chosen to love me? Why has she not returned?'

Was she actually crying?

After a moment or two, she looked up. Tear stains on wrinkled cheeks. 'She only needs to remember me, all that I can give her, and surely she will love me again.' Beseechingly, 'I chose you because I have seen so many mothers in your time who do as I have done. Who give their children everything, so they will love them and wish to stay with them always. I knew you would understand, because you see mothers like me around you! I knew you would understand and help me.'

I understood all right. Did I dare tell her that such behaviour is in large part why so many young adults are unhappy nowadays? That they crave independence? That they wish their parents would praise their efforts to forge a life for themselves instead of making their lives so easy—but so pointless—that they feel unable to break free? No. She needed to figure that one out herself.

But first, I'd thought of something that might help explain Cassandra's continued absence. It was a long shot—only a hunch--but I needed to try.

'Can we go back again to the spell you cast on your daughter? Did you say she could not return until...what exactly does she have to do?'

'She must love with all her heart and soul! Did you not hear me?'

Ignoring the insult, 'When you cast your spell, did you say *whom* she must love?'

She did not like to be challenged. 'There was no need! There is only me to love!'

But the fidgeting betrayed her. She might have made a mistake, and the thought terrified her. I better help. 'If she had been able, by some miracle, to give birth...or if the...intruder...somehow managed to find her...'

'No! No!' All too clearly she now saw the flaw in her spell. 'Those things cannot be! No!' Her voice had risen to a scream. I pressed on, regardless.

'But did you not tell me that the place where you sent her is too harsh to sustain her for long? You believe she is alive, I know you do, or you would not have sought my help. Therefore, she must have escaped. And you say there was only one way she could do that.'

We sat silently as she tried to reconcile these contradictions, and try to come to terms with the unpalatable idea that she'd cast a spell that left room for unintended consequences. After all this time, if her daughter was still alive as she clearly believed she was, she must have chosen to love someone. Someone *else*. Not herself. At last she looked up and met my waiting gaze. She was ready.

'Did your mother raise you?'

Surprise. 'No of course not! I was raised by the coven.'

'OK, the coven. Did they demand you stay with them forever?'

'Of course they did no such thing! They taught me...our arts. They shared with me all they knew. Then it was for me to find my own place and time to practice my craft.'

'Your own way?'

'My own way of course. To thrive on my own was proof that I was worthy.'

I knew I needed say no more. What she needed now was time for reflection. I was happy for her to have it.

At long last, tears glittering in those eyes, 'If...if...She knows of course where I am. Do you think she might ever....ever wish to see me again? Ever, ever forgive me?' She was pleading now, and I felt for her, despite what she'd done. 'I would be oh, so, different! I would welcome her freedom. I would be glad for her. Truly I would!'

'I am certain you would. And I wish so much I could answer your question. But I cannot. No one can answer that question. You can only wait. And hope.'

It was such a small crumb. 'And rejoice that she is alive, that you can sense she is alive.'

She looked up, resigned but accepting. 'I will keep hope alive then.' She rose as if to go, but paused and looked at me with a penetrating stare. 'Please, please tell other mothers, before it is too late for them.'

And with that she lifted her staff, and in a flash she was gone.

The Ugly Duckling

A sudden gust of wind, the momentary glimpse of a dark shape flying past me. Surely the witch hadn't come back for another session?

Thank heavens not. Sitting across from me—if sitting is something birds do was a large white bird. It was hard to know what kind of bird because he was so hunched up. Wings tucked hard into his body, head bowed, and beak almost touching his chest. Total misery, dejection, and despondency emanated from every feather. He lifted his head slightly, just enough to meet my gaze. Beautiful dark eyes, equally beautiful melodious voice.

'I need you to help me end it all. I can't go on any more.'

Good grief. I had not expected that opener. Then I remembered what we'd been taught about clients who seem utterly despondent. When they volunteer suicidal thoughts there's still a chance they're holding onto a modicum of hope. There's still some part of them somewhere that wants to believe it might be worth going on living after all. Sometimes—not always, but sometimes—they're making a last-ditch appeal for help to rediscover reasons for living. But I also remembered that the therapist must begin by accepting their request to talk about death, never, ever, disregarding it simply because the idea of suicide makes therapists just as uncomfortable as it does everyone else.

'Some really bad things must have happened to make you feel that way. I am so sorry.'

He sighed. 'Too many bad things. More than I can tolerate any longer—more than anyone could tolerate I expect. I've had enough.'

'Did you...make this decision recently?'

'Oh no. I've already tried to die, three times now. Failed every time. I even managed to fail at that.' A large tear gathered, dropping onto the desk. 'Just like everything else I try, I even failed at that.'

My heart sank as I remembered again: previous suicidal gestures increase the likelihood of future attempts. But still, he was here, and he did want to talk. I so hoped I could help. There was something so likeable about him.

'I'm really sorry. It sounds like you've been suffering for a very long time. Maybe if you tell me a bit about what's...what happened that has caused you to feel so...hopeless?' 'Hopeless *and* incompetent. Don't forget the incompetent part. It should be so easy to end it all, yet I've completely failed three times.

'First a wolf refused to finish me off because I was too hideous even to look at. Then I set myself up to freeze to death, and wouldn't you know it, someone rescued me.' I clocked that. Not everyone has been cruel to him. 'Then I lay down by the pond to try freezing again--and wouldn't you know, Spring came along and everything warmed up.' He looked at me steadily with those beautiful dark eyes. 'So I've come here. You must have worked with those who...were successful. How did they manage?'

Was that last comment intended as a compliment? It really didn't sound like one. But this wasn't about me, I reminded myself sternly. Stop looking for applause, and see if you can shift him away from the subject of death. Helen, you need to try to help him discover some reasons to embrace living—but without disabusing him of the idea that you are listening in acceptance, trying to see his point of view.

'Before we think about...endings...it would help me to understand you a bit better, to know why you've come to...think this way.' I saw he was beginning to doubt me. I needed to do some repair work quickly. 'What I mean is, if I can understand exactly what went wrong before, we can think of ways...to avoid those mistakes in future.'

That was pretty weak, but it seemed to restore his confidence. Thank heavens.

'Yes, you're right. That's important. Do you want...the whole story?'

'I really would. It would mean the suggestions I can come up with would be...more likely to work.' That was true. It was best he didn't know how differently we might interpret that statement.

'Very well. I shall start at the beginning.' He settled into the chair, looked comfortable for the first time. Clearly he was delighted to have an interested audience. Poor lonely thing.

'I have six siblings, four sisters and two brothers. Mother told me they hatched first, long before me. She told me she had to wait many more days before I finally hatched.' He paused, reflecting. 'I couldn't even get *that* right. Couldn't even hatch without causing my poor mother extra effort.' Another large tear forming as he huddled back down on himself miserably.

Oh dear. Back to his place of safety as a hopeless case. I decided to take a chance.

'Your mother told you how much trouble you were, then?'

It worked. 'Oh no! She told me I was well worth waiting for! She said I must have been last for a reason.' Then, as if suddenly remembering, 'She said...I was the most handsome.'

A long-buried memory, a positive one. I let it settle.

'The day after I hatched, mother said now we were all present, she'd like to take us to the duck pond, to make sure we could all swim well.'

'And did you—all swim well?'

His reply slipped out before he could stop himself. 'Yes, we all swam well, but mother said I swam the most beautifully! She said I was the best swimmer of all!'

Not everyone had denigrated him then. I let this realisation sink in. Remarking on it might feel pushy. After a moment, 'What did you all do once you...passed your swimming test?'

He laughed at that. Glorious to hear him laugh. What a beautiful voice!

'Mother said she'd like to introduce us to everyone in the duck yard, because she was so proud of her new brood.'

He was smiling now, and sitting up taller. He really was beautiful.

'And what happened in the duck yard?'

The smile faded abruptly. 'That's when things started to go...very badly for me.

'Mother introduced us to the oldest duck. When she saw me, she told mother she should hatch me over again because I'd turned out so badly.

'And then a young duck from another family came up and bit me on the back of my neck.'

What had they seen? What was so wrong with him? OK, he didn't look like a normal duck—but better in many respects. More elegant, more regal. 'That was completely unwarranted! You didn't deserve such treatment!'

'No! And mother knew it. She flew to my defence. She chased away the drake who bit me, and she told the old duck I'd be handsome when I grew up—and that I could swim better than anyone.' He was glowing with pride, and I hadn't even had to prompt these positive memories. There *was* hope. 'Sounds like your mother really loved you.'

'Oh she did. She did.'

Hold your tongue, Helen. Give him time.

He was sort of smiling now, lost in memories. But then his face darkened again. 'But even though the rest of that day was uneventful, things got worse over the next few days. It seemed like every time someone bit me or shoved me, it encouraged the others to do even more of it. Even my brothers and sisters turned against me. But...but...it was when my mother said she wished I was far away. That's when it was too awful to bear.'

I thought about his poor mother, how she must now regret that throw-away remark! She probably didn't even mean it. Probably it just came out when she was overwhelmed with the effort of trying to protect her son. But my job was not to help his mother, or to excuse her.

'I am just so sorry to hear this. What did you do when...when it became...when it started to feel like it was all too much?'

'I just ran away. I ran to the edge of the duck yard. Faced with a high hedge I took wing and flew over, away from the taunts. I kept going until nearly nightfall, when I reached a great marsh. There were so many reeds to hide in there! I fell asleep at once, not caring what would become of me.

'In the morning I woke to find there were a number of wild ducks living there. I feared they, too, would laugh at me and hurt me. But they did not.'

More friends then. But keep quiet, Helen. He's beginning to notice these moments himself, to adjust his picture of his past. Don't step in and rob him of the pleasure of noticing the positive moments himself.

As if to reinforce my observation, 'They were actually kind, accepting, those birds. And for two days no one challenged me at all. Not once. Two lovely days!

'Then some other birds flew in to visit the marsh. Judging from what I remembered in the duck yard, I think they were geese. Young males, like me. They began to tease me, but...'

Here he regarded me with dawning respect. 'Why? I didn't deserve it.' He was rethinking his history entirely by himself. I was only a listener. He was turning away from despair already. It was so heartening.

'Their teasing was gentle, not unkind. And they invited me to join them when they decided to go, for they were planning to meet some young lady geese. They said surely I would be a success with the ladies.

'How I wish that had happened! Perhaps one of the ladies would have...would have found me acceptable. But it was not to be. They told me they would lead, fly first up out of the marshes, and then signal for me to follow.

'But no sooner had they signalled, even before I could run far enough to lift into the air, I heard something I can only describe as a thunder clap. Loud and sharp. One, then another. And my new friends dropped at once out of the sky. Fell into the water. They didn't move, and their blood...it was everywhere in that water. 'I stayed where I was in the reeds, frozen with fear. That's when the wolves, or dogs, or whatever they were, arrived. Howling, they jumped into the water and picked up those poor dead creatures, their jaws slavering. It was just too horrible!

'Except one of them. One of those creatures must have smelled me, for he turned away from the water's edge and ran into the reeds. Found me, and stood directly in front of me, jaws dripping in his eagerness for raw meat, still alive.'

He was shivering with the memory, poor creature. I needed to try to soften that memory, take his mind off the slavering mouth. 'Did you say you thought they were wolves? What did they look like?'

'Brown and white. Long ears. Short hair. Fearsome teeth. Glittering eyes.'

These were hounds, not wolves. But it didn't matter for our purposes. I leaned forward. 'Then what happened?'

'I decided in that instant that I no longer cared to live. If life was this cruel, what reason could there be to exist for even one moment longer? So I simply bowed my head and waited for his teeth to crush my neck.

'But then...he turned suddenly and ran back to his companions.' Copious tears now. 'You see, surely you understand now! I am so hideous that even a hungry wolf does not see fit to eat me.'

I doubted that. I was sure now the creature sitting opposite wasn't a duck or a goose. The dog had recognised that as well, and knew he wasn't meant to bring this bird—whatever it was—back to his masters. What on earth is he? But he was continuing his sorry tale, and I needed to listen.

'I lay there all night, well into the morning, until I was sure the dogs and the thunder were gone. Then I began to run, run away, faster and faster, running and flying in turns, until I came upon an abandoned farm. The door was half open, the top hinge gone. I ran inside.

'I found I was wrong. It wasn't abandoned. Inside there were three very old creatures, a human, a hen and a cat. I recognised their sort from my time in the duck yard.'

'And were they...surprised to see you?'

'I am not sure. I do not think so. The old woman could not see well, I don't think. She was...she seemed delighted I was there.'

Another kindly encounter. 'What a stroke of good fortune! What happened next? I am so pleased to hear about this, after all you had endured.'

'Yes. Yes, you are right. I was lucky.' He wasn't sure whether to allow himself to admit to this. 'Yes. The woman said she was so glad to see me, because surely I would lay some lovely duck eggs. She could not see my gender to be sure!' For the second time, that lovely laugh. 'And the cat purred. And the hen...spoke, encouraging me to lay eggs for the old woman.

'But of course I did not. I could not. What an idea!'

We sat in silence for a few moments. I knew he needed time, both to let go of the bloody scene in the marsh, and to accept the idea that someone—several creatures in fact--had been kind to him.

'I stayed with them for some weeks. The old woman kept asking for eggs, but she fed me even though I gave her nothing in return.

'But then, slowly, but every day more so, I began to long for water, to swim again.' He'd been looking far into the distance, but now turned his gaze on me. 'Do you know how lovely, how perfect, is the feeling of gliding through the water? There is no feeling so wonderful, I can assure you.'

I found it easy to agree. I used to love swimming, and realised at that moment how much I missed it.

'I tried to explain how I needed to feel the water beneath me, but they—the cat especially—did not understand. Why was I not grateful for shelter and good food, they kept asking? Was that not enough?

'At last the longing became so strong that I had to leave.'

'Even though they were so kind.' I had to remind him gently about this, yet another instance of goodness in his life.

'Even despite their kindness. Yes, that is true. But I had to find water, I had to. So I left.

'I flew away from the cottage, but I did not wish to return to the marsh.' A shiver. 'I could never return there.'

'Of course not. No one would blame you for that!'

'At last I came upon a lake. Remote, beautiful.'

This was great. He was picking out the positives in his narrative much more often now.

'I decided to make it my home. For many days I swam and ate and slept as I liked.

'Then one day, as Autumn was coming to a close, a flock of the most beautiful birds I had ever seen came to share the water.' His eyes sparkled and he smiled. He was so, so beautiful. 'They were dazzling white, with long supple necks, and they uttered the most wondrous sounds. I felt I was dreaming, that I was enjoying the best dream I could ever have.' 'They didn't chase you away?'

'No, no, not at all. They invited me to join them, and we swam together as if...as if...we belonged together.' He snapped his attention back to me. 'But of course that would be impossible! They were so beautiful! And me? Well, just take a look.' Tears again as he continued.

'I was in a happy daze all that day, all that night. The happiest I have ever been.

'But the next morning, without a word, with but a nod of their beautiful heads, they rose as one and flew away. I was alone again.' Beseechingly. 'But more alone, oh so much more alone, than ever before! It was much worse then, to know the best and watch it disappear.

'And that was when I decided. Decided there was no point living any longer, not if I had to live without those...those perfectly formed creatures. It would be better to die. At least I would know I had seen perfection before I died.

'So I resolved to stay in the water as Winter overtook me. That way I would freeze. There in the water, where we had spent time together.

'It took such a long time. Each day as the ice grew and thickened across the lake, the circle where I could still swim became smaller. And I grew wearier. Until at long last, blessedly, I suppose I just fell asleep, the ice encircling my feet.'

Oh boy. He did mean it that time.

'But you survived.'

'Yes, but not by choice. One day, I can only think the farmer spotted my body in the lake and took me home with him, because I woke up in a warm cottage.

'This time there were no old creatures. Just the farmer, his wife, and two young children. His wife must have warmed me slowly, carefully, and offered me grain and milk, before I could remember, for when I woke I was feeling strong and restored.'

'What kind people!' I wanted to reinforce their goodness and his luck.

'Yes, to be sure. But then, as usual...I ruined everything.' I remained silent, so he continued.

'I suppose I was startled when first I woke. I can't remember now. But my instinct was to fly away. My wings were far bigger than I had remembered—how I must have grown.' I noted with delight that he did not call himself 'clumsy'--or anything else negative for that matter. Just more mature. Another small victory.

'As a result, I misjudged my flight. I knocked over their milk churn, upended the butter trough and the flour barrel. I made a thorough mess in their tidy cottage.

92

So ashamed, so horrified was I that I flew directly out of the cottage—by then I could gauge my wingspan— and determined to fly as far away as possible, so as to trouble them no more.

'I flew—it was so much easier to fly now. I was so much stronger somehow. I flew until I spied another lake, and slowly circled, then settled down beside it. I had determined to freeze, but this time I would remain undiscovered.

'But there was no ice. Spring had arrived. I was too late.'

'And so you came here?' But I had been too hasty.

'Oh no. There is one more event to tell you. One more...was it a failure? I'm not sure now.'

Excellent! He was questioning himself.

'I was thinking how to find another way to die when I heard...' he paused, transfixed by the memory. 'When I heard those wondrous calls once more, the sounds those perfect birds made when we met at the lake.

'I was sure I must be in a dream, that I had died already. But no. Three of those...perfect creatures such as I had seen last Autumn had come into the grounds, as if this place belonged to them. I realised then it must be their home, and that I was an intruder.

'I thought—I remember exactly—I so wanted them to kill me, for I had invaded their tranquil home. Oh, to be pecked to death by such glorious, royal creatures! It would be an end better than I deserved!'

I was leaning so far forward that once again I'd nearly fallen off my chair. Definitely not the cool, objective therapist I was supposed to be. I moved back as unobtrusively as I could. 'And then what happened?'

'They appeared to accept me! To welcome me! An ugly, worthless creature such as I! In their graciousness and majesty they chose to accept me!'

I was lost. 'But that sounds perfect! Did you not stay? They invited you, didn't they?'

'Stay?! I? An abomination such as I?! How dare I, all fuzz and no feathers, grey, with short stumpy wings...How could I accept their generosity? I would but detract from their...exquisite beauty! That's why I've come to you. Save them from me, please!'

My first reaction was utter astonishment. Grey? Fuzzy? Who was he talking about? I couldn't see much of him, but what I saw was definitely neither grey nor fuzzy. Had he never looked at himself?

93

'Please, could you excuse me for a moment? I need to get something from the other room.'

He nodded, no doubt assuming I was planning to gather the items that would help him end his life.

I hurried into the loo, and in my tremendous excitement I quite literally ripped the face mirror above the basin right off its hinges, leaving an ugly hole in the wall. Later I would marvel at this show of strength.

But just then I couldn't get back to him fast enough.

'Here!' Thrusting the mirror in front of him.

He glanced at me quizzically. How was this an instrument of death?

Impatiently, eagerly, not remotely professionally, 'This is a looking glass. You have looking glasses in...in your world, I know you do.' I was sure about that—I'd remembered the huntsman telling me how the queen had carried her looking glass with her wherever she went. But then I realised my absurdity. How ridiculous to think a bird would know about looking glasses!

'This, this is called a looking glass, because you can look into it and see...yourself. It's just like looking at the surface of the water on a sunny day, when everything is reflected and repeated in its surface.'

He regarded me sadly. 'That was something I never dared to do, not after that first time I looked in the water, when I saw how very hideous I am. I vowed then I would never again look at myself.'

'Oh but please! Please! Look now! Just one glance! Please!'

He sighed heavily. 'You are cruel. I thought you would be kind. You wish that, just before I die, I should reflect on my hideous visage?'

'Please just *look*!' This was so out of line. But I was too excited, too eager to watch him discover himself. Professional conduct had gone out through that magic window behind me.

Another tear slid down his beak as he regarded me sadly. A big sigh. Then he picked up the mirror and held it to his face.

Silence. For how long I don't know. Then tentatively he lifted one wing. How huge it was, how white the feathers! He moved it experimentally in the glass, watched the image faithfully repeat his actions. Beginning to believe.

Next, the other wing. Then slowly he lifted his head. How had I overlooked that long, oh so elegant neck?

He looked up, joy dawning. Standing, shaking his magnificent wings back and forth. 'I am...I am just like them!'

'You, too, are a swan. And you are ... incredible!'

He nodded agreement.

'I must go.'

'To join your friends.'

'My friends. Yes. I must go now, to join my friends. Farewell, and thank you.'

He rose up, and how he managed to fit through that window I'll never know.

But he did. Gone, without a whisper of a sound, gliding proudly into the night.

The Emperor's New Clothes

For once I forgot it was Tuesday. I was deeply engrossed in an article extolling a new treatment to help patients suffering from delusions when a shape sailed past, sending my papers flying. The creature, whatever it was, seemed to be entirely uniform in colour, a very pale brown. It landed—a man, I could see now— with a thump just short of the basin on the far wall. He stood up, gesturing or moving his arms about in the oddest way, rather as if adjusting a cape or loose jacket.

But he wore neither cape nor jacket. He wore, to be exact, absolutely nothing. He was entirely naked except for a crown sitting askew atop his curly brown locks. Was this some sort of deranged king? Or a deranged person who thinks he's a king?

After another moment of adjusting the air around him he raised his chin proudly, and asked with incongruous decorum where he might sit down. I pointed to the client chair opposite. 'Just there would be perfect.'

Oh boy was this going to be interesting. I reminded myself rather regretfully, however, that psychotherapy was futile when someone was fully psychotic. Medication was necessary first to tame the hallucinations and/or delusions—just as I'd been reading moments before. Watching him adjusting what I can only assume he—and he alone—believed were articles of clothing left me in no doubt. He had to be delusional.

'I've come to ask you how I can bring my son back to his senses.'

Ah, projection. He was placing the mantle of madness on his son. Interesting.

'He...he's seeing what is not. Oh, and it is so terrible!' And he began to sob. I handed him a tissue, my automatic reaction. He accepted it gratefully and wiped his streaming eyes and nose. I felt ashamed of myself for my cold and disinterested speculations. He was deeply distressed.

'It is indeed terrible. I am truly sorry for your son...is he a young child?' He had to be. The man couldn't be more than 30.

'He is soon to celebrate his sixth birthday.' More sobs. 'He is my only child, you see.'

Poor guy. If he was indeed a king—and I couldn't believe anything about this man yet—his son would be important in all sorts of ways, his only child, his only son, and therefore the heir to the throne.

I wanted him to ask him all sorts of questions to determine the nature and extent of his delusion. But I remembered my training: when seeing a new client, it's imperative to start with whatever they consider the problem to be. Never mind what you might think. If you don't, they may not engage fully with you, because they won't believe you're really prepared to listen to them nonjudgmentally, not willing to see the world from their point of view. So instead, I decided on a question that might allow me to offer him some reassurance.

'Did your son's problem come about...suddenly? Or did it start small and you only realised gradually that he has a real problem?' Given the child's age and his father's high anxiety, I figured the problem must have come on suddenly—and if so, the odds for recovery were in the child's favour, relying on the psychological truism that in most cases, the more dramatic and immediate the onset of a mental health problem, the greater is the chance of recovery. That is, if it was the child who had the problem.

'Oh suddenly. Most suddenly. Until this morning he has been perfectly well.' He paused, considering fondly. 'In fact, until this morning he has shown himself to be without doubt the cleverest child in my kingdom.' Touching fatherly pride.

'You and your queen must be so proud of him.'

Wrong comment. A fresh torrent of sobs wracked his naked chest. 'My wife died when giving birth.' Looked up, 'That is why he is my only child. I could never love another now.'

Was I dealing with an abnormal grief reaction here? Did the death of his wife catapult him into madness? I'd not heard of such a reaction. And besides, her death occurred over five years ago. Surely by now he would have begun to recover...Still, it was touching—and unusual, I guessed—that he had remained true to his wife. Surely, as king, he could so easily have remarried!

'You poor man! You have truly suffered. Has there been anyone you could turn to for comfort? Are your parents still alive?'

He shook his head vehemently, and issued forth another torrent of tears. Yet another blunder on my part, that question. I really was not doing very well tonight. After a few moments during which he gradually brought his sobs under control, 'My mother died when I was but 15 years old.'

'And your father?'

He screwed up his face unpleasantly. 'I do not wish to speak of my father. He went away not long after mother...died. He knew the rumours, and feared the repercussions.'

Good heavens this was complicated. Both important women in his life dead, an absconding father, a disturbed child—if the last was true; I still wasn't sure. In those circumstances, a mental breakdown wasn't so surprising. But I was getting lost in speculation, and such thinking was premature anyway. I needed some sort of timeline, a sense of order to this tale of woe.

'Perhaps, if you can bear it, perhaps you might tell me a bit about your mother, about...what happened to her.' I saw a look of doubt cross his face. He hadn't come here to talk about his mother. I hurried on. 'I mean, if I can understand a bit more about what you've had to endure...even before this...tragedy with your son...then it might help me when we think together about...about how to help him.'

Luckily that appeared to do the trick. He relaxed, began to lean back into the chair—but then as if reminding himself of something, sat back up abruptly, untied what he must have decided was his 'cloak' from around his shoulders and did something with it—I think he tried to drape it over the back of the chair. Satisfied, eyeing me surreptitiously—looking for approval I think—he settled back into the chair and began his tale.

'My mother loved me so much.' Pause, deep breath to push back fresh tears. 'She had given birth to five girls—five princesses—before I came along, much, much later. I am told my father and she were utterly delighted. At last, they had an heir to the throne.' He reflected for a moment. 'I was given everything. Everything I could ever wish for, and more.' Looking directly at me, 'Most important of all to my mother's way of thinking, I was clothed in the most magnificent apparel. Every day, sometimes twice in one day, a servant would come to me with a new garment to try on. He was always instructed to tell my mother what I thought of it, whether I thought it suited me—and if so, I was invited to show her. If not, she ordered the garment to be burned.' He was far away, remembering. 'I possessed such magnificent clothing. Mother did likewise, and whenever she was pleased with a garment, I was the first to be allowed to see her wearing it. Everyone said the royal household was without compare, that we were the best dressed family in all kingdoms. No one, everyone agreed, could rival our...perfect appearance.'

That must have touched a nerve. I waited as he quelled this new bout of tears. Poor, poor man!

'By the time I was 14, all my sisters were married, princesses and queens in other lands. I lived in the castle alone with my mother and father.

'At first, it was wonderful to enjoy their full attention, and to receive so many new outfits and other gifts. Something new and wonderful every day.

'But after a while I began to sense that things were not right between mother and my father. There was growing tension between them that I could not understand. But I could feel it, feel it whenever I was in their presence.' Thinking, choosing his words carefully, 'When I was with mother, I felt only joy. When both were together I felt like...running away.

'As the months passed, mother began to spend more time engaged in her toilette—sometimes she would spend the entire morning dressing. And she began more and more often to request my presence. I would watch as her maids dressed her in the most fabulous gowns of silk and satin. So many petticoats! And her stays, she demanded such tight lacings--sometimes she would grow faint and I would fear for her health. But beauty, she would remind me, was everything. One must appear perfect.'

Was this appropriate? I wondered. For a teenage boy to sit in attendance as his mother was dressed?

'And her paint took nearly an hour, the white, the rouge, reddening her lips with vinegar...and of course at least one mouche...'

Sounded like torture to me, but he clearly didn't think so. It was obvious by his dreamy expression these mornings were pure joy. Not for me to judge...at least not at this point.

'And finally, every morning, her hair. Glorious! The maid piled her hair high over the toque, added feathers, ribbons and pearls—mother demanded more and more jewels and ribbons with each passing day. And more paint, tighter stays...' Abruptly leaving his reverie to address me, 'But I began to see that despite all these...outer decorations, she was not happy. It became obvious that no amount of jewels or silks could satisfy her, that nothing could stop her doubting her appearance. Many times, so many times each morning, she would ask me if I thought she was beautiful. Did I detect even the tiniest flaw, even one hair misplaced? I must be truthful, she would say, and if I noticed anything that was not perfect, I was to tell her at once.'

It was easy now to conclude he had an obsession with appearance. But that only made his nudity more extraordinary.

'Then one day, after I was at last dressed to her satisfaction, and she was at last satisfied with her own appearance and had given me leave to amuse myself elsewhere, I decided to take a long walk to stretch my legs. On my return I wandered through the palace gardens, and as I passed beneath my father's chamber window I heard him laughing.' He glowered. 'It was not pleasant laughter, and for some reason I felt compelled to stop and listen. Then I heard mother. She was crying, even as he laughed. "You are old, my dear. Old! Your preparations are all in vain! Anyone can see the lines on your face. Paint cannot hide your age, nor your growing imperfections! And your figure! How sad you no longer have pleasing curves!" And he kept laughing. I hurried past, unable to bear anything more.'

I suddenly realised I had completely forgotten that the man sitting across from me was naked, nor did I any longer think him mad. Just desperately, desperately unhappy. I felt so sorry for him. I waited while he prepared himself to continue. Clearly, worse was to come.

'The next morning I knocked on mother's bedchamber door—she always requested that I wake her each morning. But no matter how loudly I knocked, she did not answer. When I could knock no louder, when even my greetings went unanswered, I...I pushed wide the door.'

How I felt for him! This was clearly a terrible memory. Why had I asked him to tell me this story?

'Mother was in her bed, lying on her back, her eyes wide open. Pale, oh so pale...' He looked up at me, as if pleading for me to erase this memory. How I wished I could!

'I found the vial of poison, on the floor where she must have dropped it. The glass on her table was empty. I'm afraid...I'm afraid I was overcome. I ran from the chamber, to my own quarters, to be alone. I had to be alone.'

There was nothing I could possibly say, so we sat in silence, for how long I'm not sure. At last he looked up again, 'The servant who found the vial reported it to the marshal at once because he, like everyone after him who heard the news, could not believe mother would have administered the poison herself. It must have been murder, everyone said.'

Again he appealed to me silently to reassure him. What could I say that could help? 'But I knew. I knew.' His face hardened again. 'Word was round before father heard it. And because it was well known, I learned later, that father had a new mistress, and that everyone knew he openly despised mother, well...father feared suspicion would be cast on him. He declared an urgent need to travel—a business affair, he said.'

I couldn't help myself. 'He never returned?'

He was relieved I had guessed what he was about to tell me, so he didn't have to say anything more about his father. Nod.

'After the funeral I was made regent, and after three months I was crowned king.'

'How old were you?'

'Seventeen years and two months.'

He was silent now. Waiting for me to direct him? I was hesitant to say anything more, because without intending to, I had caused him so much pain already. I didn't want to risk more suffering.

'You were incredibly strong, and brave, to answer my question about your mother so fully and so honestly. Thank you for your courage.'

He looked grateful. And definitely not deranged. Just weary.

'I think it is more than your turn to choose what to tell me next, what you think will help me understand best your...your son's problem. It is more than fitting you choose what we talk about next.'

He looked across the desk, still overwhelmed with sadness. 'You have drawn much that matters to me from my past.' He looked up, appealing to me to approve his reply. He really did rely on others for reassurance and direction. As if reading my thoughts, 'Surely now you understand me better? Why I value perfection, why I so wish to please others with my appearance? It's because of mother. Because I wish always to honour my mother.'

I nodded. I did understand that much. What really baffled me, more than ever now, was why he was sitting across from me stark naked.

'Jean's mother—my boy is called Jean--was a kind, quiet woman, the daughter of a nobleman. A fitting queen. She was with child soon after we married. But she was not strong.'

We shared the silence as he drew himself together. Then, 'She died on giving birth to Jean.' Tears as he remembered, but less of them. I sensed he felt this loss far less than that of his mother. 'Oh, but she did see her son before she died. And the nurse told me she smiled upon seeing him.

'But Jean...Jean never knew his mother.' Reflecting on his own childhood, 'I cannot imagine such a tragedy, not to know one's mother. But Jean has been well looked after, always given the best. He was nursed by a wet nurse, and the servant maids—all of them had loved my gentle queen—they all care for him well. I, too, spend time with my son every day.' He paused, reflecting. 'He has grown quickly and is strong and beautiful.' Again, that silent appeal for my approval. 'And he is all I have.

'When he was four I thought it time to commence his education. I found him the best governess in the kingdom. He loves his lessons. He is curious about everything. Everyone remarks how clever he is.' Shook his head, bowed it. 'That is why I cannot understand...cannot believe...what he said this morning.' 'Go on, please. What did he say?'

'He said...' He paused. Was he unsure whether to go on? Afraid to repeat his son's words? I couldn't guess what was holding him back, so I just waited.

'He said...when I showed him my new garments, that he couldn't see them!' He waved his hands around and picked at his arms and neck as if holding up something. 'He laughed. Actually *laughed* at me! At his own father! He told me he could not see these...these most magnificent garments!'

I don't think I've ever had to work harder to keep a straight face. Here we were at last. He *was* delusional after all.

But evidently I didn't manage to hide my reaction completely. I caught his look—horror? Relief? Suspicion? I couldn't tell.

'Surely you can appreciate these rich robes? Oh please! Do not tell me you cannot!' He was like a child himself now, begging for reassurance. I was beginning to wonder if I was right about the delusions. Could it be he didn't believe them himself?

Carefully, 'Each person sees things differently. Neither your son nor I will see...what you see...exactly as you do.'

'Oh but you *must!* You *must!* If you do not, I will know you are either unfit for your position, or inexcusably stupid!' He was bouncing in the chair in his desperate insistence. He really did look ridiculous. But because what he'd just said was so preposterous, I didn't even take offence. 'Whoever told you that?'

'Charles and Albert of course!'

'Whoa! Can you hold on just a minute, and please explain to me who are Charles and Albert?'

Astonished, 'You have not heard of Charles and Albert?!' He took a deep breath, then, 'Oh, of course! How could you know them? You do not dwell in our time. Let me explain.

'Charles and Albert are the finest weavers in my kingdom, probably the finest weavers who have ever lived. I am a most fortunate man, for they sought me out. They told me they had heard I have incomparably good taste. They offered to weave a magical garment, the most exquisite garment ever woven, just for me.' Pleading for reassurance again, 'They had heard of my reputation, you see, of my love of the most beautiful clothing, and they sought me out.'

I'll bet they did. They'd also probably heard of his gullibility. Sounded like a couple of swindlers to me. 'And when did they...find you?'

'Early this season. Seven weeks and two days past they arrived at my gates.' He was calmer now, thank heavens. 'And they offered...?'

'To weave the loveliest cloth imaginable for me. They informed me that if I paid them enough, not only would the colours and patterns be extraordinarily beautiful, but the garments would possess a magical quality. They said it would be invisible to any person who is unfit for his position, or inexcusably stupid.'

I couldn't help admiring these guys. This was brilliant. No one would dare admit they couldn't see the cloth--unless they really had nothing at all to lose, or only if they valued truth above everything else. Not many like that around.

'Of course I was delighted. Clothing that was not only beautiful, but that had magical properties as well! I paid them what they asked...it was a lot...and they set to work.' There was that appeal again, for me to approve of his decision. I nodded encouragingly.

'How fascinating! I've never heard of magical garments. Do go on.'

'I had hoped the garments would be ready for our great procession, a festival we hold every year. But as the days wore on I began to wonder if the garments would be ready on time. In my impatience, I sent my most trusted minister to observe their progress.'

'Very wise. And what did he report?'

'He said the cloth was most charming. And he described the patterns and colours to me in detail.' Plea for reassurance. 'He is a clever man indeed.

But Charles and Albert continued to demand more silk and gold for the weaving. I always paid, but the cost was becoming so high...and we were then only a week away from the great procession. So I sent another of my trusted officials to observe their progress, and ask if the garments would be ready for me to wear on this most important day. My official returned to tell me of their progress, extolling the wonders of the patterns and colours on the loom.'

He paused here, doubting something, unsure. But the need to justify his actions won out. He continued, 'He also told me Charles and Albert demanded yet more gold. I could not imagine how costly, how grand their garments must be. I gave my official the sum they had demanded, and in return I requested that they guarantee the garments would be ready for our procession.'

'And when is the great procession?'

'Tomorrow.'

'I see. And...do you think the garments will be ready in time?'

Cautiously, 'They are. I was awakened this morning by an official with the welcome news that the garments were ready for me, and that I was to come along at once for a fitting.'

He seemed surprisingly subdued now, not brimming with excitement as I would have imagined. 'So of course you went to them straight away?'

'Oh yes. Of course. Without even taking time for my breakfast. I asked that Jean be brought to the dressing rooms as well once I was...fully dressed.' I noticed he glanced down at himself nervously. He seemed confused, even a bit frightened.

'Charles and Albert informed me they had stayed up all night, to ensure every stitch was woven perfectly. They said they were more than pleased with the results, but that my opinion was more important to them than anything.

'They invited me into their workroom, and pointed to the...the garments...which they said were draped across the loom.'

'They said they were there? Did you not see them?'

Mistake. That was too strong.

'Of course I saw them! Do you consider me to be unfit for my position or inexcusably stupid?!'

'I am so sorry! Please, accept my apologies! Of course you are not stupid. It was just...an unusual way of telling me...what you found in the weaving room.'

He relaxed, but only slightly. 'After I had admired their...exquisite work, they asked me to take off my clothes, and to stand in front of their mirror. Then they handed me each piece of clothing, article by glorious article, allowing me time to put each one on and to admire it in front of the glass.

'They were delighted with how well everything fitted me. They assured me the colours suited my skin perfectly. They were especially proud of the weight of the garments—a special touch, they said they'd worked hard to perfect. The garments, they explained, were so light I would almost feel as though I was wearing nothing at all.'

Geniuses.

'Then my chief chamberlain reminded me, as was my custom, that the time had come to excuse everyone and call in Jean to inspect my new garments.'

How uneasy he looked! 'And that's when it happened. As Jean came in I bowed low—another little game we play—and asked if he thought the garments were suitable for the great procession tomorrow.

'And that's when the worst happened. He burst into merry laughter. "Father, you aren't wearing anything at all! Not a stitch! Surely you will not lead the procession tomorrow wearing nothing at all!" And he laughed and laughed.

'I did not know what to say, so I bowed again and asked that Jean return to his governess. Then I...oh it was so terrible!'

What was so terrible? What he'd realised about his son--or more likely, about himself? 'And that's when you came here, to see me?'

'Yes, I fled here immediately! What could I conclude from his reaction? This must mean my dear son is either unfit to be heir or inexcusably stupid—and that simply cannot be.' He was shaking his head in disbelief. 'he cannot be unfit...'

I couldn't help myself. 'He cannot be unfit to be what he is? A child?' Then more gently, 'Children tell the truth, do they not? Especially to those they love and wish to keep safe.'

He looked down again at his lap, then slowly stretched out his bare arms and observed them. For a long time. Then he sighed, shook his head, and smiled ruefully. 'Do you perhaps have a piece of cloth or an old garment with which I might...cover myself?'

'Of course. Just one moment.' I was so delighted to see the change in him that I literally ran to the little storage room behind our reception area. I knew Emma kept some spare towels back there, in case we needed them for the guests' toilet. Sure enough, there they were. I grabbed the largest one and hurried back to my office.

It was empty. He was gone.

I returned to my desk, not sure what to think. There on top of my notepad I found a hastily scribbled note:

'Thank you. I can dress once I reach the palace. It is most important that I return to my *clever* son. He has much to teach me.'

Beauty and the Beast

Bending over my notes, I felt the familiar gust of wind, sensed someone walking past me to take a seat in the client's chair opposite. I looked up in happy anticipation.

The sight was horrific. So horrific I felt a sudden wave of nausea. What sort of creature was seated across from me?

I swallowed hard, drew in a slow breath through my nose to control the nausea while staring back down at my notes. Writing nothing much, to make it look like I needed to finish what I was doing, to buy some time. Another slow breath, in through the nose, just like I teach it. Hold. Slow exhalation, then look up again.

It was definitely human. Male. He was strongly built, the hands folded on the desk were gnarled, the skin coarse. Tufts of thick hair sprouted about the knuckles. I raised my eyes to meet his, for I could sense he was staring at me intently. 'Take your time. I know my visage must shock and appal you.'

A kindly voice, unsuited to the body. Now that I felt able, I met his gaze.

His eyes were small, pale blue, emanating suffering and resignation, but also great wisdom. It wasn't easy to find his eyes—they were set deep into thick nobbly or was it scaly?—skin. His face was covered with some sort of growths I guessed were warts, with tufts of ungainly hair similar to those on his hands, scattered randomly across his cheeks and chin. His nose was huge. And he drooled, although he tried to control the mess by dabbing the corners of his mouth constantly with a large linen cloth. I had to look away, compose myself again before I dared look back.

On second observation I noted how clean and well-kempt he was. His hair, though coarse and of many dull shades of brown flecked with grey, was well combed and powdered, a black satin bow carefully tied around the wig tail. I could smell lavender. His fingernails, though mottled brown and yellow, were neatly trimmed.

His clothing spoke of great wealth. The outer coat, a dull gold silk with rich embroidery, fitted beautifully across his broad chest. He wore it open, revealing a waistcoat in the same colour and style, the top buttons undone to show off the ruffles around the neckline of his fine linen shirt. The generous shirt sleeves ended in ruffles as well.

'May I remove my coat?' Such a lovely voice.

'Of course. And if you like, you can hang it on one of the hooks on the wall just behind you.'

He nodded politely and stood up, removing the coat with care. As he adjusted it on the hook I noted the breeches matched the rest of his suit. A ditto suit. His black leather shoes were polished to glowing. He really must be wealthy. With his back to me, it was easier to admire this glorious ensemble and to notice—even admire--the strong well-built body it housed. He'd certainly done his best with...what he had been given. Poor guy. I must try to hold this version of him in my mind, although now as he turned round to return to his chair he kept his head bowed, as if sparing me the sight of his face.

'Thank you for...bearing to see me, for even just daring to look at me.'

'Of course.' I had no idea what else to say. The silence that followed was comfortable, companionable—as long as I didn't look at his face. I wasn't sure, but I guessed he was trying to work out how to frame what he was about to say. Not just intelligent—thoughtful and reflective as well. At last, 'I cannot make a decision about...something very important.'

I hoped this was not another contemplated suicide. The duck had really drained me. Try something neutral, Helen. 'It's often the case that the more important a decision, the harder it is to decide how to communicate it clearly.'

He nodded, approving. 'It's about...whether or not...to let her go.'

Was he planning to fire an employee? I didn't know they hired and fired people in those days. I thought you 'served'. 'Has she...done something that's offended you?'

'Oh no! Oh, not at all! That's why it's so difficult. If I let her go back home, as she wishes, I so fear she will never wish to return. And that would be...unbearable.'

I was having real difficulty trying to understand the situation. 'Has she...always lived with you? Or did she just come for a visit? And perhaps you might let me know who "she" is?'

At this he laughed, at first hesitantly, then when he saw I didn't seem to mind, with more abandon. It was a low, pleasant laugh, but unfortunately it caused him to spew slobber everywhere. He stopped abruptly and started mopping furiously. 'Oh I am so sorry!'

'Don't worry. But let me get you a...towel.' I crossed the room to my basin and handed him the towel on the ring beside it. He accepted it gratefully—his own cloth was fairly sodden.

"Bella came to my palace of her own free will. That was the condition I laid upon her father. But now she wishes to visit him.' He shook his head sorrowfully. 'If I let her go, why would she wish to come back to me?' Looking down, 'To this?' Then,
as if chastising himself silently for showing self-pity, 'They are, you see, the only two visitors I have had in over 100 years.'

'What?! In a hundred years?! How can...? But you don't look that old!' Now I really was lost.

Such sadness in his eyes. 'Ah, that is part of the curse. I was not granted the privilege of growing old so I might gain release by dying.'

'You know what? I think we need to back up. To back up quite a long way. It really would help me...help us work together, if I can be privy to the whole picture. You say you've been cursed.' That might explain his appearance. 'By whom? Why?' Then catching myself, quelling my eagerness. 'I mean, would the curse be a good place for us to start?'

He was thinking, considering possibilities, weighing up. Such a deliberate, thoughtful way of approaching things! His manner made him so likeable...if I could just block out the outer appearance. He started to look up to reply, but then thought better of it. Keeping his head bowed, 'I will start before the curse. You need to understand...why it came about.'

'Okay. I'm here, and I'm listening.' I settled back. Why did I feel so comfortable with this creature?

'My parents were the Count and Countess of Henneberg, Augustus and Sophia. I was their only child, Heinrich.

'We enjoyed great wealth. A beautiful castle. Generous grounds, immaculate gardens, stables. And...we were beautiful. We possessed...a terrible beauty.'

'That's an unusual way to describe beauty. Can you explain why you chose that particular word?' He was too careful. It couldn't have been an accident.

He forgot his appearance for a moment and looked up gratefully, acknowledging an equal. I felt absurdly flattered. Watch it, Helen. Stay objective and keep your own needs out of this.

'Terrible because we abused our...power, and our privilege. I've come to see that over these years of...living alone.

'Whatever we wanted we took, whether it be treasures, human freedom, or...' He lowered his head still further, 'human dignity.

'Father sent his armies to kill, to plunder. At home, I watched my parents beat the servants—or inflict even worse punishments—regularly, if they made even the slightest mistake.' Forgetting again, looking up with eyes so full of sorrow and regret, 'And I? I was perhaps the cruellest. When I wanted a wench, I took her. Watched her cower, submit...then enjoyed—actually enjoyed--casting her away, bleeding and bruised.' He had to stop for the tears and the slobber. Then reflecting again, 'I have thought back so often to those times. I regarded myself so highly. But now I see I wasn't happy, merely consumed...consumed by a desire to dominate, to inspire fear, a desire that only increased whenever I tried to satisfy it.'

So far I couldn't imagine what I was going to be able to offer. He'd figured out so many things already.

'So you will not be surprised when you hear about the peddler.'

Wrong. I was surprised. I waited.

'One day—a cloudless summer day it was—an old peddler entered our courtyard, just at the moment when mother, father and I were berating the lord chamberlain about some small failing.'

Looking up, gratified to see I was so engrossed in his tale I did not flinch, 'I think now it was a matter of no coincidence. The peddler wished to see our cruelty directly. He knew when to arrive.' What an odd remark.

'After father took his time to...kick the lord chamberlain to his knees, he turned to the peddler. Demanded he show us his wares...adding they had better please him or...and he nodded, sneering, towards the fallen servant.

'The peddler bowed low, opened his knapsack, and...oh such beautiful cloth Such lovely silver! We were dazzled!

'But father...' Shaking his head. 'Father snatched the skein of cloth the peddler held up and handed it to me. "I'll thank you for that!" he said haughtily. Then nodding towards the wretched lord chamberlain again, "Now go! Unless you wish to invite me to turn my anger on you."

He closed his eyes, took a deep breath. 'I remember so well the next moment. The peddler nodded and turned away, began to walk back towards the gate. But then, he stopped. Turned back.

'Even the birds stopped singing in that moment. When he turned round...he was no longer a peddler. A sorcerer in carmine robes, white hair and beard caught in the breeze, his staff now a wand full of light as if on fire.

"Ah, Count, such a mistake you have made!"

'That was all he said. I remember him raising his wand. Then...darkness.

'I awoke because the birds had begun to sing again. I saw the servants, crowded together, a frightened distance away, staring, staring. I tried to stand, but my legs...I could but limp, my legs, my arms, so misshapen, so twisted.'

But he didn't limp now. And his arms as well as his legs were powerful, strong. How he must have worked so hard to overcome any aspect of his deformity he could change.

'Mother and father. I would never had recognised them except for their clothing. They had become...monsters.' Tears, drool, lowering his eyes. 'And I knew then, as had I.

'I heard the sorcerer laughing, far away. "You shall appear now and forever as you truly are. Farewell, beasts!"

I couldn't help myself. 'I am so truly sorry.'

He ignored me, shaking his head. 'We well deserved that curse. I know that now.

'Mother and father? What became of them I would never know, for in my shameful condition I only wished escape. So I walked away—no, I crawled away. It took me many days to learn to walk again in my...new form. But I was determined to get away. I crept, steadily growing stronger, deep into the forest. I ate berries, roots. There were easy to find and gather, for all creatures fled before me as soon as they saw my face.

'Then one day, how long after the curse I cannot say, I chanced upon a clearing with a wide path leading down a gentle slope. I knew...somehow I knew...it was intended that I should follow that path. At its end I found an abandoned cottage, and I knew again—although I cannot say how—that this was to be my home.'

'You sound as if you were learning to listen...more deeply. To ignore greed and power...to listen from where perhaps your purpose lies?' It was a wild guess, but he was describing a most profound inner change.

Those eyes again, regarding me with humility and respect. Be grateful that you guessed well, but not flattered, Helen. You're here for him, not to score points.

'I thank you. But it was not by myself alone. I had help.' He watched me carefully. Did he dare go on? Would I abandon my high opinion and think him mad?

'Although I have not seen him in my waking life, the peddler—the sorcerer has visited often in my dreams. And each time he does so, I wake to...another change.' Still watching me warily, 'I believe he took...an interest in me when I left my parents. I have come to believe he helps me whenever he sees me trying...to make amends. To learn to live differently.'

'That makes sense to me. Wouldn't you do the same for someone else, if you could?'

He made an odd noise in response. A sob? A moan?

110

'Thank you. You believe me.'

We sat quietly, comfortably. Then, 'Tell me about the changes the sorcerer has made for you.'

A lovely smile. And I was getting used to the drool. It no longer bothered me now—well, not much. 'If I made a simple chair, I would wake to find it intricately carved, the seat and back covered in damask or clothed in silk. Everything I planted in the garden flourished. And...rare plants would appear alongside the ones I'd planted. New rooms were sometimes added to the cottage. Now, I live in the most wonderful manse, with gardens filled with rare and fragrant plants and trees, where birds sing and something new blossoms every day.

'I need no longer prepare meals, for they appear, most beautifully presented, elegant viands, every day as if by...by magic. With no need for cleaning or cooking, my time is my own. I spend it caring for my beloved plants—especially my roses, which I love above all—and feeding the many birds who have chosen my garden as their home.' He paused, scrutinised me. 'I should be happy, should I not?'

Stop. Think. What is he asking really?

'Of the many lessons you have learned in your...time alone...which speaks most loudly to you?'

No hesitation. 'That joy is found by looking to others first. That by encouraging others to flourish—be they plants, beasts or humans—by discovering what brings them health and the chance to thrive...that's what brings true happiness.'

'Well spoken. But how did you discover this if you were...alone?'

He was so animated now! 'The creatures in my garden taught me! No, the plants were my first teachers. Tending the plants, watching my roses bloom, unfurl, drink the rain and seek the light. And the birds. Especially the birds. Caring for the birds, who thanked me with their song. Sometimes...I forgot how lonely it was there.'

He was far away now, reliving the moment he was about to share.

'Then one cold winter night—one hundred years since I had stumbled upon that small abandoned cottage—I heard someone approaching along the path I had taken so long ago.' Clarifying for my sake, 'The path is now a wide road, lit by many lamps and lined with tall beech trees. I can see anyone who tries to approach, although no one ever does. Until this man came along. The first, in one hundred years he was the first.

'He was an old man, a merchant I guessed by the trunk he dragged behind him. Weary and oh so cold he was, plodding in the snow, his horse equally spent, trudging down the path, drawn as if in a trance to the lights of my home. Upon seeing the manor house he dismounted and fell to his knees in gratitude, for he was in sore need of shelter.' He smiled and regarded me. 'But he was afraid, unlike his sensible steed. As soon as he had dismounted, the horse turned and fled to my barn, where warm mash, water and soft straw awaited.

'But though I had opened the door, the merchant hesitated to enter. He waited the longest time—hoping I think to encounter the owner of the manse, or one of the servants. But of course no one came.' The reminder of his appearance brought him back to the room with me, self-conscious and ashamed. As I looked down at himself I decided I could not frighten him with my appearance.

'After some time, hunger and the cold overwhelmed him, and at last he stepped inside.

'I had imagined food and wine, a table laid for one, and of course as usual it had appeared. And a clean nightdress, and a soft bed. At first cautiously, then with increasing joy and vigour as the life flowed back to him, he ate, drank, then finally he slept.

'He did not awake until near midday. Laid out on the chair beside his bed he spied a handsome new suit of clothes. I cannot begin to convey my delight, watching him in his new raiment as he enjoyed the breakfast I had laid out! He was like a small child, peering through the window into my...beautiful garden.'

But now a dark look had come over him, bringing his ugliness back into focus. 'But did he repay my favours?' He was roaring now. No more the lovely voice. It was dreadful to see this side of him. 'No he did not! He chose instead to steal what is most precious to me! He plucked one of my roses. Broke its stem!' More of those moaning sounds, so very discordant, horrible to hear. I waited as he calmed himself, cleaned himself up again.

'He did not deserve my kindness! I did not care if my appearance might distress him. In fact, I welcomed the thought.' He was in full flow. I'd better step in.

'Sounds like you became your old self again then?'

Shocked. Then quiet, head bent, dabbing the spit with the sodden towel. 'Alas, I fear you are right. I called him terrible things, threatened to kill him at once.' Regarding me. 'Yes, you are right. And I was ashamed, for he fell to his knees and begged me to spare him. He said he was so grateful for all he had been given, that he had not meant to offend. That he had thought no one would mind if he took away with him just one rose. That one of his daughters had asked him to bring back a rose.

'When he told me he had daughters, I seized upon this as a chance to escape my loneliness.' As if apologising to me, 'And besides, I was still so very angry.' 'But you spared him?' I realised that once again I was leaning almost over my desk to drink in this tale. Eagerly, unprofessionally, 'You did spare him?'

He nodded, glad I had offered him the chance to show his merciful side. 'I did spare him. I told him he could return to his daughters, tell them all that had passed. That he could even take the rose with him. That he could stay for three full months, until Spring had truly arrived.

'But then...I told him he must return, and that he must then stay with me forever, and allow me to do with him as I wished. But I tried to be merciful—although truly I must add, in doing so I proffered a bargain that I could only have dreamed of before his arrival. I said that if one of his daughters would come with him, well and good. She must come willingly, however, willing to stay with me in his stead. I gave him leave to go, reminding him that at the end of three months, he, or he and one daughter, must return—or I would use my powers to come and fetch them.'

'A touch of the old you again, threatening force?' He bowed his head.

'Again you speak true. But I was so lonely! So very lonely! And here was a chance for companionship! Can you blame me? Truly, can you blame me?' He was pleading with me. Please forgive him, he begged wordlessly.

'My place is not to judge you.' How devastated he looked! I couldn't leave it there. Too uncaring. 'Perhaps when we face such...profoundly sad feelings, then...temporarily...we forget all we have learned.'

Relieved to think he could be forgiven, he continued. 'Those three months passed more slowly than had the hundred years before them. But true to his word, on the very day that closed the third month, I saw the old man riding slowly down my path.'

A tear, a happy tear this time, found its way down his deformed face. He still could not believe his good fortune. 'And he was not alone. Riding with him was...Bella. Bella. The most beautiful young woman ever to grace this earth. As beautiful as I am...hideous.

'I thought the old man must have tricked her, must have lied to her about what she would find. For no one would willingly come to...this.' Glancing down.

'I did not wish to frighten her, so I hid as I had done when her father first found his way to my home. I wished for them a delicious meal and a night's rest.' He looked to me as if for approval.

I nodded encouragement. 'Do go on.'

'Next morning after they had eaten I came in to them. The old man, bowed and tearful; Bella, afraid and of course...horrified. But she smiled! Can you imagine?! She smiled at me!'

Wiping away the slobber that accompanied this outburst, 'I asked her if she had come of her own accord.' Looking out from his memory back towards me, 'You will recall that was the condition I had demanded.'

'I remember.'

Defensively, 'I would never...have a chance like this again. But if I were to have a true companion, that person must choose to live with me, is that not true?'

I hadn't meant to appear judgmental. 'Of course you were right. And you have learned a great deal. She had to want to be with you. You knew from your past deeds that forcing someone to submit to your will brings neither of you joy.'

Relieved again, 'She told me it was she who had requested the rose, and that she was happy to exchange her life for that of her father, that she had insisted despite his protests. And I could see from the expression on his face that this was true.

'The old man left after many sorrowful embraces, but not until he was out of sight did Bella begin to weep. But not in fear of me. No, not in fear of me. She wept for the love of her father.

'She is a most perfect woman.'

'So Bella is the "she" of whom you spoke?'

'Bella has graced my home for nigh onto six months now. At first, I stayed away, to spare her my...presence. Instead I took my delight watching her from afar. I did my best to ensure she had everything—she needed only think of something she desired and the next day I would see that it was provided. A library, musical instruments, sweetmeats, beautiful gowns. Anything. Everything. For it was so joyful to observe her enjoying herself.

'After some weeks, I decided to take a chance. Late one afternoon I appeared before her, and asked if I might have leave to watch her sup. She replied that I must do as I please, for I was lord of this manor.'

He looked back from the memory at me once more. 'It was not the answer I might hope for, but it was enough. Enough.

'At first I would come in only as she finished her meal, so as not to...ruin her appetite. But after but two weeks, she asked if we might enjoy our evening meal together. Enjoy?!' He beamed. 'She said that. Truly she did. And I have joined her every evening since.

'We have had the most wonderful conversations. Sometimes we even laugh together! Each morning I wake and simply wait all day for the evening to arrive. And Bella...she told me one night that she, too, looks forward to our evenings together. Oh, I felt so fortunate!'

He met my eyes again, his own now brimming with fresh tears. 'But now what I am about to say will no doubt displease you. It displeases me.

'I began to fear my good fortune would not last. I began...each evening, just before the sad moment when I knew I must take leave of her, I would ask her if she would promise always to stay and be happy here with me. I know it made her uncomfortable, that there was something she wanted to say but dared not. Instead, she always replied with the same words, "I came willingly. I am here now. And we have just enjoyed our meal together, have we not?"

Pleading for reassurance, 'But that's not an answer to my question, is it?'

I could only shake my head. It wasn't.

He took a deep breath. One afternoon, last week it was, I came upon her unexpectedly in the garden. She was standing beside the rose plant, the one her father had chosen to plunder, to take a sweet rose home to her. She was weeping.

'Bella, Bella. Whatever is it? I shall make it right, whatever it is! Tell me now! She looked at me with such sadness. Looked at me and said she...she was missing her father. That she wanted to see him one more time. Just once more. That she wanted him to be reassured she was well and had been...spared.

'Oh, what pain her admission caused me! All I had given had not been enough! Despite all I had done, she still wished to leave me!'

'Wait a minute. She didn't say she wanted to leave you, if you're remembering what passed between you accurately. She said she wanted to see her father again. She didn't say anything about staying with him, did she?'

'But I want her to love me!'

'Love is not a limited resource. She can love you both.'

He wiped his tears and his slobber. Took a deep breath.

'I wanted things to be as they were. Not for her to wish for something...else.'

'Is this the decision you can't make? Whether to let her go?'

He nodded, still cleaning his face.

'And you wish her to be happy...but you fear if she goes, she won't come back?'

'Look at me! Would you come back...to this?!'

'This isn't about what I would do. This is about Bella. And about you.' Carefully, 'Do you accept that Bella has truly enjoyed herself in your company lately?' Nod. 'Sometimes, awakening joy reminds us of other sources of joy in our past. Those memories and wishes do not detract from what she feels for...you.'

He wanted so badly to believe me.

'When you...had...your wenches, were they happy to be with you?'

'Of course not. I forced them. I told you that.'

'So forcing someone to be with you didn't...awaken or nurture joy, or make that person happy?'

He was silent, not sure he liked hearing this.

'Let's turn to the birds you care for so well in your garden.' He looked totally surprised. 'OK, I know they're not human. But they have hearts, and...I'm no expert on birds, I bet they have feelings.'

It was nice to see him smile again. 'Oh yes. I am sure they have feelings.'

'Well, do they ever leave you?'

'Of course! Every winter they fly to warmer climes.'

'And do they return in the spring?'

He was beginning to understand.

'But if when you sensed they were ready to leave...what if you stopped them, imprisoned them in a cage? Then if they managed to escape—and no doubt they would try—would they then fly back to you in the Spring?'

'Ah. I see.'

'Love can never be forced or caged. You know that really. You learned that lesson well—just look at how you treat the birds. You only forgot...for a little moment.'

We were nearly there.

'And consider the old man. You—mercifully, and quite rightly—allowed him to return home for a time. Did he come back to you?' Nod. 'Did you have to force him?'

'No, I did not. He came back...freely.'

I smiled. 'She comes from pretty reliable stock, wouldn't you say?'

It was good to see that smile again.

'Of course I must let her go. No-I must encourage her to visit her father.'

'I'm sure that's right. You can hope she returns—and I believe the chances are high—but no, you can't be sure of it. But you can be sure she will be happy, because you...showed her you respect her, showed her you want her to have what she wants, even when it might not suit you.' Did I dare go on?

'And in my opinion, she's lucky to be loved like that.'

Oh dear. Lots and lots and lots of slobber. And tears. And to my astonishment, a big wet hug. And with that he was gone, out through the window, leaving only the sodden towel.

The Frog Prince

Just one more push and I'll be up the hill. Last one I have to endure this morning.

I really am tired. Last night was sheer torture, a series of bad dreams that woke me repeatedly. In every one of them I was about to enjoy something—a good meal, my favourite film—and then Freya would come in to wherever I was, flashing her obnoxious fake smile, and take it away. And every time, there was nothing I could do.

Of course! Why hadn't I realised? Just because I'm a therapist doesn't make me immune to what everyone else must at times endure. Of course. I was having an anniversary reaction. It was exactly one year ago today when Theo announced he was leaving me, and when he told me it was because of Freya. He was sorry, he'd said; he didn't want to hurt me.

They all say that.

Well, I'd certainly just clarified the meaning of those dreams. Being robbed of everything I'd enjoyed, feeling utterly helpless while it happened. I remember, after the initial shock wore off, when I looked up Freya Matthews on Facebook. Young. Pretty. Very pretty. Pretty in a way I could never be, a slender delicate blonde.

Everyone says that when you think it happened out of the blue you're mistaken, that if you look back you'll see the signs. But to this day, I don't remember any warning signs. It really had come out of the blue for me.

I dearly hoped my case list would challenge me sufficiently, keep me alert and focused so I could get through the day. Then I could go home, and go straight to bed.

Except I'd forgotten it was Tuesday.

The familiar gust of wind hit me as I was shoving my notes into my backpack and preparing a hasty exit. The lightest of feet landing on the floor behind me, followed by a delicate clearing of the throat. 'Do you have a looking glass? I must arrange my curls. Oh—and don't look up until I have done so.'

How bossy and demanding! So why was it, then, that I found myself pandering to this individual? There I was, bent over my backpack with head down and eyes firmly on the floor, directing her with a wave over my head to the basin across from my desk.

I waited. And waited. Finally, beginning to feel dizzy from bending over for so long, I glanced up furtively.

She was a young woman, very young—possibly an adolescent. Petite, delicate. She was richly dressed, her cornflower blue silk gown somewhat windblown, but fitting exactly to her exquisite curves. White lace petticoats underneath, how many I could not begin to imagine. Generous sleeves with what I guessed were lace cuffs capturing her wrists. A dainty linen day cap.

The curls that needed arranging were long, blonde and looked already perfect to me--but evidently not to her. She was wrapping each tendril—every single one of them—around her finger one at a time, and holding, waiting until she considered it ready to spring into place exactly as she wished it. Before moving to the next, she would scrutinise It and all previous curls in detail. This could take a while, and I was feeling distinctly light-headed, because I'd maintained my bent position over my rucksack so as not to look at her as she'd requested. I asked myself again why I was taking orders from this...self-obsessed teenager?

'I'm going to sit down in my chair now.'

'Very well. But mind you, no looking until I am quite ready.'

Such a tyrant, and thus far, definitely lacking in empathy. I was already beginning to speculate on a diagnosis. Narcissistic personality disorder?

Five minutes more primping, then she turned around. 'You may look at me now.'

OK, I'll admit it. She was stunning. Rich full lips curved in a self-appreciating smile, set above a perfectly-sized retroussé nose. Above, huge light blue eyes rimmed up and under with thick black lashes.

'No doubt you find me beautiful? Everyone does, you know. Father says the sun itself is astonished whenever it shines upon my perfect face.'

Add adoring father to her case description.

But at the mention of her father, the perfect face changed abruptly. Gone was the (if you ask me, fake) smile. Enter the storm cloud. 'It's father I came to talk about. You need to tell me how to make him change his mind.'

'About what?'

She looked surprised. Why wouldn't I know? Another mental note: she was completely, not just partially, self-centred. What else but narcissistic personality disorder?

'About...him!' No longer the storm cloud. She'd moved on to disgust. The thought of 'him', whoever he was, clearly appalled her. 'He says I must allow *him* to sleep in my bed with me!'

Oh my God. Incest. 'Your own father wants to sleep with you?!'

To my surprise she laughed. She really could change moods quickly. 'Oh no, not father! Father says *he* must be allowed to share my bed.'

At least she hadn't been shocked at my mistaken suggestion. She probably thinks it unsurprising that even her own father would find her irresistible. Her diagnosis really was crystal clear.

'He meant the visitor...the odious creature who demanded entry to our castle yesterday.'

Good heavens what a progressive household! The day after a guest arrives they're given permission to bed one of the children? I was finding it hard to keep up, let alone make sense of her story. 'Your father is encouraging a visitor, someone you've all just met, to sleep in your bed with you? Is that what you're telling me?'

She lowered her head, trying to look bashful, but not succeeding very well. 'Well, actually we haven't all just met. He and I first met in the forest three days past.'

Ah, now we're getting somewhere. Perhaps this guy had already had his way with her, and her father figured there was nothing more to lose. 'Why don't you tell me about that...first encounter.'

'Will it help you if I do? Will it mean you can tell me how to make father change his mind? Because if it won't, then that's just a waste of my time. In that case I see no reason to tell you.'

OK, that nails it. Narcissistic personality disorder, no question about it. She'd already demonstrated eight of the nine possible indicators, when I only needed five to confirm the diagnosis.

Now that I knew where we were coming from I felt better able to focus on what she thinks the problem is, and speculate on whether I can help. I know one thing for certain already: she won't concede there's anything wrong with her. But I'll see what I can do about that later. For now, I know how to frame my approach. Everything needs to be about her, and for her.

'I always find that if I hear the whole story, then what I can suggest is usually more...appropriate for the person who's asked for help.'

That seemed to satisfy her. 'Very well. It's because of my golden ball.' She noted my quizzical look. Good, finally beginning to notice that I might not already know everything she knows.

'You don't have a golden ball? I'm so sorry. It's my favourite plaything. It's beautiful and perfect, just as I am.'

I nodded, trying my best to show warmth and understanding. Failing, I'm sure—not that she'd notice.

'And I'll tell you a secret. On very warm days, I take my golden ball and walk deep into the forest close behind our castle. There's a well under an old tree in the middle of a clearing that I know. It's cool there, and the water is oh so deep—you can't see the bottom, it's that deep. I love to sit on the edge of the well and throw my golden ball high up in the air and catch it, over and over. I have such fun!'

I was beginning to wonder whether she was rather simple. Maybe just still very young. 'That sounds lovely! Do go on!'

'Well, three days past, I went into the forest just as I always do. I sat down by the well and threw my ball high as high. But when I reached out to catch it, instead of falling into my hands my silly ball hit the ground, and then it rolled straight into the water.'

Her narcissism was breath taking. She even managed to blame the ball rather than herself when she failed to catch it.

'I'm sure you can imagine how upset I was. My favourite toy! My best plaything! Deep at the bottom of the well. I wept, at first only a little, but then more and more. I didn't think I could ever stop. But then, I heard a voice.'

She made a nasty face as she attempted to recreate the voice she'd heard. 'An ugly, croaky voice. "Oh lovely Princess! What ails thee? Why do you weep so?"

She paused, proud of her effort. I waited, not commenting.

'Well, I'll have to tell you because you'll never guess who was there. It was a frog. A *frog!* A slimy, cold green frog. He must have come up out of the well when my ball disturbed the water. I told him I was weeping for my golden ball, because it had sunk to the bottom of the well.' Coquettish smile. Fake, I think. 'You can probably imagine just how taken he was when he saw me!'

This was getting tiresome. 'No doubt.'

'...and of course he wanted to help me, seeing such a beautiful princess so distressed. "Do not weep, Princess! I can help you." But then the old croaker got greedy. "But what will you give me if I fetch your plaything?" You would think my smile would be reward enough, wouldn't you? But no. So I told him he could have anything of mine he wished—my pearls, my jewels, anything. Even my golden crown!' A little dramatic pause while I was evidently meant to appreciate her generosity. 'Well, can you believe his answer? No, you won't believe it. I'm going to have to tell you. He said he didn't want my pearls or jewels, not even my golden crown! He said he wanted to be my companion and playfellow, to sit with me at table when I took my meals, and...and he said he wanted to sleep with me in my royal

bed! If I promised him that, he said, he would dive deep down into the well and fetch my golden ball.'

'And you did? You promised him all that?'

'Of course I did! How else was I supposed to get my ball back?' She clearly thought me stupid. But then, seeing my undisguised incredulity, she became defensive. 'He is only a simple frog after all. And frogs have to live in the water. Doesn't everybody know that?—although clearly *he* forgot, the simpleton. Frogs don't live in castles. I didn't have to mean what I said, because what he asked for was clearly impossible!' She laughed, enjoying herself, thinking back on how clever she was.

By now I was feeling irritated. Visions of Freya kept flitting through my mind. I was imagining her just as self-satisfied as this child sitting before me. Helen! This will never do. How can I possibly help this kid—and she really is only a kid—if I allow personal associations and my own emotions to cloud my thinking? Step back. Listen mindfully. No judging. Imagine the world from her point of view. I was slipping probably because I was tired. I took a deep steady breath, then composed a sympathetic, understanding face. 'Do go on. What happened next? I'd love to know.' And now I really would.

'He dived down. He was gone such a long time! But then there he was, in the middle of the well, holding my beautiful golden ball in his...slimy mouth.' Look of disgust. 'At least he threw it on the grass so I didn't have to touch him.'

'How courteous of him. And then?'

'You can understand I'm sure that I didn't feel like playing there any longer that day! So I picked up my lovely ball and hurried back to the castle.'

'And the frog?'

She looked surprised. He'd done her bidding. Why did it matter what became of him after that? 'I suppose he...dived back into the well?' She pulled at one of those perfect curls, agitated now. 'Well, not for long I guess, because the next day...that's when things went all wrong.'

'All wrong?'

'Yes. All wrong. I was taking lunch with father and all the courtiers,' I wondered if her mother was still alive. But I couldn't see how it was relevant to know about her mother—I was just curious. I decided not to interrupt her. 'There was this...sort of wet sound...splashy sound, on the staircase. Then a knock at the door, and someone calling for me. Father said I should answer the door, so I did. And when I opened the great door, there sat that horrible frog! Can you believe it? How

did he ever manage to find me?' An anguished look—this might even be genuine. 'Of course I slammed the door and hurried back to my chair. I tried to look like it was nothing. But father could tell I was upset. He asked me what had so frightened me. Was there a giant at the door who wanted to carry me away, he asked?

'I told him it was a frog. He said I must explain.' She refocused her gaze on me. 'Father can be very strict, you see. I explained what had passed between myself and the frog the previous day. I was certain father would understand, that he would send the silly creature away.' Tears welled. She was genuinely distressed now, and I almost felt sorry for her. 'Instead, father said if I'd made a promise, I had to keep it. He told me to leave the table again, and this time to let the frog come in.'

I saw a chance. 'Does your father always make you keep your promises?'

'Oh yes always. He says we must always honour others by keeping our word.'

'And does he? Does your father always honour others and keep his word?'

'Oh, always. Whenever we go out for a ride in our carriage, the people always throw flowers and shout to us, "A salute to honest King Georg, who always keeps his promises to us!'

This couldn't be better. 'So in your kingdom, if you're someone who always keeps a promise, everyone loves you?'

What a revelation! Those lovely blues eyes widened. 'Well, yes, I suppose that's true.'

I still had her attention. Seize the moment, Helen. 'That is truly wonderful! Because whatever age you are, whoever you are, you can still keep promises, and that means you can always be loved.'

'Why do you say always be loved?'

Careful, Helen. Go slowly. 'Well, some of the reasons why other people love us can last forever, whatever our age or however we look. We can even get better at things like keeping our word as the years go by. But other things...things like how beautiful we are,' I saw those eyes narrow now, in what was either distrust or dislike. Perhaps both.

'Other things...things like beauty...can't last.'

'My beauty will last forever!' A little too forceful, that. The seeds of doubt had been planted. Good.

'Is your father handsome?'

'Of course not! Not now! Once he was handsome, so I am told, with golden curls...' she patted hers lovingly, 'just like mine. But he's not beautiful now. Of course not! Because he's old.'

I waited for that to sink in.

Enough for now. I could see that if I pushed my point further I'd lose her. 'How wonderful that you and your father are so very much loved, you for beauty, and he for his *constant* truth-telling and promise keeping. What a wonderful father to have!' She wasn't so sure whether she dared agree with me now, whether I might trick her. Nonetheless, she was willing to accept my praise.

'But that's enough about your father's good qualities. I want to know about you! What happened next?'

She relaxed, glad to escape these challenges to her world view and get back to her story. 'I did as father bade. I left the table, crossed the dining hall and opened the door to that...thing. Then I hurried back to my place at the table.

'But...' A shiver. 'But he followed me. He hopped right up beside my chair, all slimy and green and croaky. And then he said, so loudly everyone heard, "Lift me up beside you, princess, just as you promised."

She looked at me beseechingly, a genuine tear sliding down her cheek. 'When he asked to be lifted up beside me, to eat with me...from my golden plate...' She closed her eyes and shook her head vehemently. 'It was just too dreadful!'

'But like a true daughter of your father, you did pick him up and place him where he could share your meal, didn't you?'

Was this act praiseworthy? Did I mean to compliment her? She wasn't quite sure how to respond. 'Yes of course I did. Father said I must, because...because I promised.

'But of course I could not touch another morsel. Not when *he* was taking his fill from my plate!

'When at last the meal was over, I told father I was very tired, and please could I go to my bedchamber.

'But then...' Now she was crying freely. 'Then, that *thing* said he, too, was tired, and that now I must carry him with me to my bed chamber, and allow him to lie with me on my silken bed.'

'And did you?'

'I promised, didn't I?' Head bowed as she wept harder.

'What an honest, trustworthy young woman you are! Your father must be very proud of you.'

She looked up, those periwinkle eyes filled with free-flowing tears. 'No. I do not deserve his good will. I...I have to tell you the rest. I was so ungracious. I picked up the slim...the little frog with two fingers only, not gently, and I carried him with me,

up to my bedchamber. He stayed very still. But then I dropped him roughly in the farthest, coldest, darkest corner in my room, and ignored his pleas while I settled myself into my bed.' She looked far away, remembering, reworking the memory. 'How cruel I was, when he wanted only what I had promised him.'

There are moments like these in therapy—too few, but so delicious when they happen—when it's all I can do not to jump up and hug my client. This was such a huge admission from her!

She looked back from that time to regard me now, full of shame. 'It gets worse, I'm afraid. He hopped over to my bedside, and he asked me to lift him up so he could lie beside me. He said he was tired, too.'

Tears stopped her narrative. I waited, then felt a need to prompt. 'And did you lift him up?'

She shook her head, still sobbing. 'Oh I picked him up. But I didn't place him beside me as he asked. Oh no! I...I...I threw him as far as I could across the room! I THREW him! As if he were a stone, not a living creature!' She was crying so hard now that her shoulders were shaking. 'And I...was so...surprised at what I had done! I didn't dare look at what I'd done. I just ran, ran directly out of my chamber and down the staircase, then outside, still running, until I arrived...here.'

No wonder her curls were all askew when she'd come through the window. But she didn't care now about those curls, or about her tear-stained face either for that matter.

'Do you think I killed him?' Then answering her own question, 'No. I know I didn't. I heard him still pleading...although his voice seemed changed...but I did hear him! I am sure of it! He is still alive! I can still make amends! I can still keep my word!' Turning to me one more time, with not a question but a vow, 'And that is what I must do!'

And with that she leapt from her chair, ran to the window, and vanished curls, gown, cap, all in disarray. But no matter. A kinder person she was now, and far more beautiful than on her arrival.

The Story of the Three Bears

OMG. He—or maybe it's a she—is huge! I can't begin to imagine how whatever it is got through the window. I glance behind me. The frame and both panes of glass are still intact, the window is tightly shut. No sign at all of a disturbance.

The vast creature wasn't moving. Balanced evenly on four enormous paws, it appeared to be taking in its surroundings, moving its head slowly from side to side. I noticed with some trepidation the long claws on its front feet and the massive hump of muscles rippled across its shoulders. Small ears, a long snout ending in a sizeable black nose. Little eyes, inky and seemingly unfocused. The only oddity was some sort of pink plastic container—a child's purse?—on a matching pink strap hanging from the left shoulder.

The creature was completely covered in fur, deep brown and uniform in length--except across the top of the head. There, it looked like someone had hacked the hair short, rubbed in some sort of grease, and forced the stubble to stand upright. Perched in the centre, rather askew, was a pink satin bow. Despite this extraordinary 'crown', the face—in contrast to the hugely powerful body—didn't appear menacing. Benignly inquisitive was a better description. I exhaled and took in a welcome gulp of air—for the first time, I realised, since the creature's appearance.

Mistake. I might as well have fired a cannon. The creature stood up at once— 'taller than I am, I could see now, much, much heavier, and oh so much stronger and moved its head side to side. 'Where are you? I beg your pardon, but I can't see very well.'

Good heavens! The last thing I expected to hear was a sweetly musical feminine voice. 'I'm here, just across the room from where you're...standing.' Take the tremor out of your voice, Helen. 'I'm sitting in a...black chair, and I'll turn it around now if that's ok, so you can see me.' I definitely wasn't going to do anything, even breathe again, if the creature objected.

'Oh, I think I see you! Wait...' She fumbled for the little pink purse, opened the latch and pulled out a pair of black rimmed spectacles and pushed them in place atop her long snout. 'Ah yes! There you are! May I sit down somewhere, if there's a chair that's just right for me?'

Odd phrasing. 'The chair opposite me carries...accommodates most...visitors.' I pointed to the intended chair with a dramatic flourish, just in case the spectacles weren't up to the job.

'Thanks.' She dropped back down and padded flat-footed but sure, over to the chair. Negotiated her bulk into the seat carefully, then looked up with what I swear was a smile. 'I'm so grateful you didn't run away. Most humans do, and that makes me frightened, and then I think I need to chase them.'

I was extremely glad I hadn't run away as well. She might be bulky, but she looked really fast. I waited.

'I suppose you must be wondering what brings me here.'

A statement, not an invitation to reply. I waited some more.

'Well, I need you to help me. I'm feeling less and less happy every day. I don't have any idea what to do with my life, and we'll be saying goodbye to one another soon, so I need a purpose. And everyone always overlooks me. It's...it's like I'm invisible, like I don't count.' A tear slid down her snout, which she wiped away absently with one huge front paw.

All I could think was that she must live with titans. Who could overlook her? And besides a lack of purpose, what sort of parting is she facing at this time? Have she and her partner decided to end their relationship, and would doing so entail a move as well? A great deal to cope with simultaneously. Poor thing. 'Sounds like you have a lot on your plate.'

She looked surprised. 'My plate? You mean my bowl? No, food is not a problem. I'm the best cook in our family, at least that's what mama always says.'

Wait a minute. Despite the size, I'm beginning to realise this creature must be a mere child! Maybe she's at some critical age when the young of her species leave their mother? She certainly seemed wistful when she referred to her mother.

'Sorry, I wasn't very clear there. What I meant is that it sounds like we have a number of issues here. Whenever that's the case...' I noticed her look of alarm, as if she'd said the wrong thing. Mental note: very sensitive to what others say, and anxious not to cause offence. '...whenever that happens—and it happens really, really often...' She relaxed. Good. '...then it's always best to start by deciding together what the problems are, and then put them in order so we can deal with them one by one.'

'In order?'

'Yes that's right. Once we've agreed on the problems, I will want to know which one is most important to you. And that's where we'll start.'

Her eyes brimmed with more tears, this time tears of gratitude. 'You mean what I want matters most in here?'

'Absolutely.'

'Golly. Gosh. Thank you!' Poor thing! She was so pathetically grateful. She has definitely been overlooked.

'Oh, and I forgot to say that the problems are usually inter-connected, so solving one or two may mean we don't then even have to solve any of the others. They might just go away on their own.'

She was utterly beaming now. 'I'm so glad I came now! I wasn't sure whether I should, because it was such a long journey.'

I couldn't imagine. 'It sounds to me like you want to get straight to work.' She nodded eagerly. 'OK, let me see if I have the problems you want to work on clear. It might take me a few minutes to gather what you've said together and make a list.' Looking up, 'And while I do that, can I get you anything to drink after your...journey? A glass of water, perhaps?'

She considered carefully. 'A jar of honey would be nice.'

This was a first-time request for sure. But then I remembered that Emma has a sweet tooth. 'I'm not sure we have any honey, but give me a moment and I'll look in our cupboard in the kitchen.' She nodded happily, thoroughly enjoying the attention.

Thank you, Emma! In the kitchen cupboard I found a jar of honey, about half full. I made a mental note to bring in some in a matching jar, also half full, tomorrow, to replace it—hopefully before Emma noticed. Coming up with an explanation for eating half a jar of honey after work was too challenging. I loosened the lid—I wasn't sure how she could manage such a manoeuvre with those massive paws--and carried it carefully back into my office.

'Oh goodie goodie! Thank you!' She removed the lid deftly—I'd misjudged there—but before tasting, brought the jar close to her face. Turned it round several times, tipping the contents this way and that, scrutinising carefully. Then sniffed it. Quite the gourmet, this girl. She met my expectant gaze. 'Not a flower I recognise. But lovely and sweet. Thank you.' Dipped a claw delicately into the jar and sucked the sticky result. 'Oh lovely! I love new tastes!'

'Good! You enjoy that while I make some notes.'

Now what did she say exactly? A parting—that's right, having to say goodbye soon...'to one another'. More than one parting? Anyway, number one is about having to part. Number two, feeling overlooked—invisible she'd said. I believe that, given her overwhelmingly grateful response for my small attentions to her requests already.

And three, lacking a purpose or sense of direction. A glanced over the list thoughtfully. The problems she'd told me about, especially feeling overlooked and lacking a clear purpose or goal, in addition to her unusual appearance suggested she was a middle-born. I remembered from my training that dressing outrageously, wearing odd makeup and/or sporting unusual hairstyles are all classic middle child behaviours, attempts to gain notice because of feeling overlooked compared to one's siblings. I made a mental note, in case the observation became relevant. 'I think I'm ready now, if you are.'

'Oh yes, of course! Ready.' She put down the nearly empty jar with great reluctance. 'How do we do this?'

'Let's start by seeing if I've covered everything. You feel left out and overlooked?'

A nod and a sticky 'um hum', although she didn't seem to be feeling that way quite so much right now. 'You have a painful parting coming up?'

'Painful partings! Not just one goodbye. Mama *and* my sisters.' I made a note.

'And you're not sure about your purpose?'

'When we say goodbye, I'll be alone. We all will. I want to do my best. I want to know how to fill my days...properly.' There it was again, that need to please, to appear acceptable.

'OK, that's clear. Did I miss anything?' Shake of the head. 'So, where would you like to start?'

She was loving this. 'I'll choose...saying goodbye please. Because that happens tomorrow.'

'OK. Why don't you start by explaining to me why you all have to say goodbye to each other tomorrow?'

She seemed surprised. Why didn't I know? 'Mama says it's time for her to make new babies. Whenever that happens, she says goodbye to the ones she has already.' Pause, reflecting. 'Mama has done her work so well! She's taught us everything. How to gather grubs, how to find honey, how to mark trees. Everything.' The sweet snack must have taken the edge off her distress, because she seemed less upset now. Almost philosophically, 'It is time, really. Mama has been telling us it would come soon. But...I will miss everyone so much!'

'Why does everyone have to say goodbye all at once?'

'Oh, we don't exactly. Mama says we sisters can stay together until the nights come in early. But then...when I say goodbye to my sisters, then what will I do?' She was working up to a good cry. Maybe it would be better to divert her—we'd spent

enough time already eating snacks and making lists, and I wasn't sure how long I might hold her attention, and as ever with the fairy tale characters I knew I had only one session with each one.

'Why don't you tell me a bit about your sisters.'

Easily diverted. Good. 'Ursula One is my big sister. *Really* big! She is so big and strong! Mama is really proud, because being big is the best thing we bears can ever be.

'Ursula Three is just a darling. Everyone loves her right away. She's so cuddly. Everyone wants to take care of her. Mama says she's just right.'

There was that odd phrase again. 'And you...are you Ursula Two?' Thought I'd take a chance with my middle child theory.

'How did you know?'

'It was just a lucky guess. May I ask why you're all called Ursula?'

She didn't wish to offend, but clearly thought me really quite stupid. 'We're not! I'm Ursula Two, and my sisters are Ursula..'

'Sorry, yes. I get that. But why do your names all start with Ursula?'

'Because girls always do! Aren't you Ursula?' I shook my head. 'That's very strange. Mama says she's so much happier when her babies are girls, because she doesn't like the boys' name.'

'Which is?'

'Ursus One, Ursus Two, Ursus...'

'OK, ok. I understand about names now. Thanks.' I shouldn't have let my curiosity take us off course, although at least she was no longer about to burst into tears every time I asked another question. 'Thanks for explaining. If your Mama has taught you everything, then won't you be OK when you and your sisters...set off on your own?'

She hadn't thought of that. 'Well, that might be true. I suppose so. I will be all right. You're right I guess. But I will miss them. I like it now because everyone else decides what we do, and that's how I know what to do. And I get to cook for them.'

'So now we've moved straight onto one of your other problems, haven't we? The one about not having a purpose, not knowing what to do with your days when you're...independent. Why don't we wait on the goodbye's and think about how you might find a sense of purpose.' She nodded her agreement. 'What do you love doing most?'

No hesitation there. 'Eating! And making meals! That's the one thing Mama says I do well. Except sometimes I mama says I'm too fussy.'

What?! 'I don't quite follow. Sometimes you're too fussy when you make meals? Could you explain please?'

'If I'd just served the porridge plain, then that horrid girl would never have come into our cottage yesterday. That's when everything went wrong. That's when it became clear to me that I'm not really good at anything, or special for anything.' A big tear appeared and slid down her snout.

Her narrative didn't seem very well joined up—or at least I had trouble making sense of it. 'Did the horrid girl tell you you're too fussy as well?'

Still deep in self-pity, 'She didn't have to. Mama had already pointed that out. But if I hadn't insisted we find some berries to garnish the porridge, that girl would never have come in to our cottage, because we would have all been there.'

I was lost. 'I think it's really important that you tell me what happened yesterday, from the beginning.'

'Yes, all right.

'We got up as usual yesterday, and I got our breakfast ready. I wanted to make it special, because it was our last whole day with Mama. So after I put the porridge in our bowls I said we should all go out and find some berries, to make the porridge really tasty.' She was far away now, deep in the events of yesterday. 'So we all set out with our baskets. And we found lots of berries. Lots!' She smiled proudly. 'I know when is the best time of year for all our foods, and yesterday was a berries day.'

She really was a natural gourmet. I nodded encouragingly. 'Go on, please.'

'But then, when we arrived back home...that's when the trouble started. The door was open. Just standing wide open. We were so surprised! There was no wind, and no one ever visits our cave. It is well hidden.' Another little swell of pride. 'Mama went in first—she said she would protect us if there was anyone in there. But there was no one inside! Maybe, Mama said, it was just a gust of wind, or that we'd left the door open when we went out. She said, "never mind, girls. Nothing to worry about."' She paused for dramatic effect, well into her story

'But then, when we sat down to put our berries on the porridge...well everything was all wrong! My big sister's spoon was standing in her porridge bowl and the porridge was all stirred up. And poor Ursula Three—her porridge was all gone! She started crying. Mama tried to comfort her.' She looked up at me sadly. No one noticed me, no one cared, that my porridge had been spilled all over my lovely lovely chair. No one noticed that my spoon was on the floor! No one.

'While Mama was comforting our little sister, I cleaned all our bowls....and my chair...' Self-pitying again. 'And I made fresh porridge. At first Ursula One said hers was too hot, but I stirred it for her and put in some extra berries from my basket, and she told us that then, it was just right.'

'You really are clever with food.'

I was rewarded with a bearish smile. 'Thank you.

'When we finished, Mama said we should all go upstairs and take a rest. So up we went. But then...you'll never guess what we found in our bedroom!' I had a pretty good idea—I'd guessed this story, another childhood favourite—but didn't want to spoil her dramatic moment. I shook my head.

'Go on!'

'When we went into the bedroom, my big sister found her bedclothes all crumpled up. Oh she was so angry!' A moment of sad reflection. 'And my bedclothes were worse. They'd all been thrown on the floor!

'But then when we looked in my little sister's bed...there she was! A horrid, horrid little girl. Fast asleep in little Ursula Three's bed! And her mouth was sticky all over with porridge! She was a thief, that girl!

'Ursula One—big Ursula—roared because she was really *really* angry, and that woke up the horrid girl. When she saw us she screamed and screamed, and then she jumped out of my sister's bed. But Mama was standing in the doorway so she couldn't run down the stairs. So guess what she did? She was so scared she ran to the window and jumped straight out—and ran away fast as fast.'

'And I suppose no one helped you sort out your bedclothes?'

She shook her head sadly. 'No one. Ursula One made her bed up easily, because it wasn't really very messy. Then she and Mama helped my little sister.' Reflecting, rethinking. 'And maybe that was right. I was straightening my own bedclothes, and really, poor little Ursula Three's bed was a terrible mess, all sticky with porridge. She couldn't fix that by herself, could she?'

Gently, 'So sometimes, when you thought you were being ignored or overlooked, that wasn't what was really happening. Maybe what your Mama and your big sister thought was they had to help little Ursula Three instead of you, because they knew you *could* cope, but that she really can't because she's the baby?'

This was a new way to look at things. She was staring hard into her lap with the effort required, rethinking past events carefully. A thoughtful creature, and openminded. Then slowly, steadily, I could see the rethink working, her mood lifting. She raised her head, a huge grin on her face. 'I get it. Well, I *think* I get it! Mama doesn't overlook me because she doesn't think I matter. No! She knows I can solve problems myself, that I am ready to be on my own. *That's* why she doesn't help me. She knows she doesn't have to!

'Oh, this is wonderful! Mama might even be proud of me!'

'I'm sure she is. And your big sister probably thinks the same about you, that you're really capable.'

'I didn't know you could see the same thing differently, that...that the same thing might not be...the same thing?'

'That's right. You *are* quite clever, you know. We can all look at what happens to us in many different ways. What happens stays the same of course, but the way we feel about it can change.'

'Of course!' She was so proud of her insight.

'Our feelings can change depending on how we look at what happens. And that looking, the way we decide to think about whatever happens, is our own choice. It's entirely in our own power *how* we think about things.'

'Oh this is so clever!' She clapped her huge paws in delight. 'Now everything can be all right...I mean, whatever happens, I can decide how to look at it, which means I can feel good even if what happens seems...bad at first?'

'That's right. And even if something happens *is* bad—I mean, having porridge spilled all over your chair, and finding your bedclothes in a mess, those weren't good things. But even those bad things gave you the chance to show that you know how take care of yourself. You're much more capable than your little sister. That's something your Mama already knows, and it's why she...'

'She doesn't really overlook me! She just helps when...someone needs help.' Sitting up taller in her chair, 'So not me very often. I can take good care of myself.' More reflection, bigger smile. 'I can be on my own, you know. I am ready to live on my own.' Looking at me proudly, 'It will be easier now to say goodbye to the family. I can do it with a smile, because I know it's time.'

I waited quietly, allowing her to bask in well-deserved pride.

'Do you remember that I said solving one problem can sometimes solve the others? Well, that's happened for you. You started by feeling overlooked, but now you know that's not the only way—probably not even the right way—to think about your Mama's attitude to you. Perhaps she doesn't overlook you so much as she assumes you know what to do, and how to take care of yourself.

'And as a bonus, perhaps your new way of thinking also means you can choose not to about saying goodbye to everyone tomorrow?'

She nodded enthusiastically. How easy it had been to help her.

'Thank you, thank you! I can go back home now.'

'Hey, hang on there! Slow down a minute! Of course we can stop now if you want to. But...' Making a show of glancing at my list, 'We still haven't talked about finding you a sense of purpose, have we?'

She regarded me pityingly, and I realised immediately I'd been unfair, taken charge instead of encouraging her to lead the discussion.

'Why do you have to ask me about my purpose? My purpose is clear now. Do you not see it?'

Now I felt like the one who needed a bit of help. I really didn't understand what she meant. 'I...I'm not sure. Do you mean your purpose is that you know how to take care of yourself really well?'

This made her laugh. How simple-minded she must have thought me! Even so, she replied kindly. 'But that is *everyone*'s goal, everyone's purpose, isn't it? That's not special.

'What I see now is that I am...' She stopped herself, realised she was getting carried away by her new-found insight, and might be in danger of hurting my feelings. She really was a compassionate creature.

'What I mean is, this time with you has made me realise what I'm especially good at. When it comes to making delicious food, I am the very best. Mama has often told me that. Why did I not hear her—well, why didn't I hear her, or at least believe her?' She smiled at me. 'But it doesn't matter now.

'This is my purpose. When I have babies, they will have the best food any bear can have! And I will teach them how to have their own best food when it's time for them to be on their own. I'll show them how to tell when the berries are ripe, when the nuts are ready, and when the grubs are tastiest...'

She noticed my look of disgust at the mention of grubs. However, instead of trying to make amends, instead of worrying whether she'd upset me, she simply grinned mischievously in her new-found confidence. 'And if ever I decide to take my children out to look for garnishes before breakfast, I will fill our porridge bowls full of grubs before we go. That should take care of any thieving humans, wouldn't you say?'

And before I could reply, with one more parting 'thank you,' she stood up abruptly...leaned towards the window, held out her arms, and disappeared.

The Nightingale

The window burst open with such force I was sure the hinges wouldn't survive. Whoever I will be seeing tonight must be quite powerful. I hoped it wasn't another bear.

Looking behind me cautiously, I was surprised to see a bent figure leaning against the wall, one thin, wrinkled hand gripping the open window frame to steady himself. It was an old man. Very, very old. I couldn't see his face yet, for his head was slightly bowed. But his clothing...oh how splendid!

He wore a richly textured robe, made of what must be heavy silk. The material had been dyed a vibrant yellow-gold and richly embroidered with birds, trees and dragons. The garment was full-length, extending to the floor in a wide skirt; loose sleeves captured above the wrists by deep blue cuffs. Over it he wore a cape, fastened at the neck by a gold clasp, the collar of the cape extending wide of his shoulders almost like wings. It, too, was fashioned of deep yellow-gold silk with fine stitching, lined with rich black fur. His slippers were cerulean blue and silken, turning up at the toes. A long string of dull red stones—pearls perhaps?—hung round his neck.

A two-layered cap of cerulean blue and black fur—or maybe velvet—encircled his head. Some intricately carved ornament, a sort of thin golden tower, rose up from the top of the cap. Slowly, wearily, he raised his head and regarded me keenly.

His skin was olive, the face long, thin and lined. Dark glittering eyes, thin lips. An elegant moustache dropped from either side of his nose. The moustache and his well-defined upturning eyebrows were black, but the long wispy beard was flecked with grey. He met my gaze squarely, taking me in, measuring me up. 'May I sit down? It's been a long and wearying journey, and I am not well.'

'Oh yes, please do.' I gestured towards the client chair across the desk from me, wondering if he could make it.

He did. Slowly and steadily, he edged to the chair, centred himself carefully, then sat down with a heavy sigh. 'I hope this will have been worthwhile.'

'So do I.' The challenge slipped out before I could stop myself. I knew better than to rise to that sort of remark, and wished I'd caught myself and kept quiet. I must be tired.

But to my surprise, he liked my volley. 'You are strong, then, and you know your worth. Good.'

I nodded, but said nothing, waiting for him to begin where he chose. Already I sensed that he wanted to work with me as an equal, so gentle questioning--which might be construed as condescending--was out.

He took his time, head bowed again so I couldn't match his gaze. He, studied his hands, choosing his words with care. 'I have lived long, and I fear the end may come soon. But there is one medication, one elixir, that could revive my...weary soul. I had her once, but she flew away. I want her back.' He looked up beseechingly. 'Can you help me? Please.' Dignified and respectful, but there was great power behind the voice. A man accustomed to having what he wants, and—perhaps for the first time?—finding himself unable to do so.

And who was this 'she'? His wife? A daughter? A mistress? Did she run away? Is she in hiding, and if so, why? Oh, so many questions! 'Perhaps you would let me know who 'she' is?'

'Perfection.' He was staring hard at me, 'She is perfection. But to the eye, a plain little thing. It is when she sings...that is heaven.' A tear trickled down his cheek. He wiped it away, chiding himself, 'Emperors do not cry.' Then as if reminding himself, 'I never cry!'

I didn't want to appear as lost as I felt, but I had no choice. At least I could try out a few guesses. 'Was she a singer at your court then? And is her voice so beautiful it makes you weep? But she has...now gone away?'

He laughed, despite the tears. 'You must think I am speaking in riddles. 'She is a little bird. A little brown and grey bird. Very ordinary, no special markings. Not beautiful to look at. But when she chooses to sing...her song can melt even the stoniest of hearts. Or as with me, it can cause the emperor to weep.'

'But now...she is gone?'

He nodded sadly. 'She is gone. I tried to keep her. I gave her everything, a golden perch, a gilded cage, silk ribbons. None of these offerings seemed to please her.' His face darkened. He couldn't understand why she hadn't felt indebted.

He went on, 'She sang whenever I commanded, but after a time, I was given something I thought was better—at the time. It was a most wondrous gift. It was a sensation in court. Everyone loved it. And it was so...predictable. I suppose that is when I forgot to care for the little bird.' I figured that was as close as he'd get to an apology or an excuse. 'It must have been when we forgot to tie the ribbon on her leg that she escaped. Oh, how careless we were!' 'I am sorry, but to me you are still speaking in riddles. Why don't you start by explaining to me how you first encountered the little bird, and then...perhaps describe the gift that you thought was better and how you came by it?'

'Of course. A story. Every life, a story. You must hear my story, and I must begin at the beginning.' He settled back.

'I was raised with every privilege, all the education and pretty things anyone could have. The son of an emperor, now an emperor myself. My palace is the most magnificent in our world. It is, I must tell you, made entirely of fine porcelain. In my gardens you will find the most wondrous flowers, and tied to the most splendid of them are silver bells that sing with heavenly music when the wind blows. My gardens are the loveliest in all of China. Travellers come from all over the world to admire my city and my palace and everything that is mine. Before she came I thought I was happy, because I believed I had the best of everything.

'But one evening, six years ago now, one late autumn evening when the darkness falls early, I encountered something so much more beautiful, so much more precious, than I had ever known. I had just laid down in my imperial bed when I heard...it.' He paused, more tears. 'The most enchanting, the most perfect song. I wept, though the emperor never weeps. I wept, as I am weeping now.

'Then the song ceased, and the silence was too awful to bear. I rose at once from my trance, and hurried to the window to find what I expected would be a most exquisite creature, waiting to sing to me again. But the window cill was bare. Empty. There was nothing there.' He looked up out his memory. 'You cannot imagine, I suppose, what it was like for me to encounter something so perfect, then for it to stop without my permission.'

So he thinks he can own beauty. I made a mental note.

'Early the next morning—it is my custom to rise early—I called for my Lord Chamberlain. I told him what had happened, told him he must find the creature who sang to me, that I might offer her a place at court to sing at my command.' He shook his head sadly. 'I still don't know why she left, why she had not wished to stay with me. To be allowed the privilege to sing to an emperor, how could any creature wish to leave that?!' He assumed, I noticed, that everyone would consider his wishes far more attractive than any alternative; that in fact any other alternative was not even worth considering. Interesting. I would need to approach our work carefully, working with an ego like this. I doubt he would take well to being challenged.

'We do not all share the same values. Do you think it might be that the little bird was happy with her life as it was already?' Mistake. He reddened, eyebrows furrowed, shook his head irritably.

'No one can be happier than when they are allowed to serve the emperor! You are wrong! I demand you do not speak further until I have finished the whole story!'

I nodded my agreement, secretly pleased with the vehemence with which he rejected my suggestion. Angry, defensive denial suggests doubt. Good.

He lowered his voice. 'I am sorry. But you must hear me out, or you will not know the best way to help.' I nodded again, not risking a comment.

'My Lord Chamberlain was gone two days and two nights. On his return, he told me he had at last found someone who could lead us to the little bird. Of course the first people he consulted were all the learned men, but no one knew of this creature. It was only when, quite by accident, he came upon a serving girl from our kitchen. A serving girl! Can you imagine this? A girl, and someone without education, a simple thing. But she knew about the bird. She said it was called a nightingale, and she said she could take him to where the creature lives.'

OK, note that, too. Unless you have outward credentials he deems respectable, you cannot be considered wise.

'So of course I demanded to see the kitchen maid at once. I told her that if she led my Lord Chamberlain to this bird she would be given a permanent post in the royal kitchen. That she might even be allowed to watch the emperor when he eats his meals.' He gave me a self-satisfied look at the mention of this act of generosity. What an ego!

'The maid set out straight away, my courtiers following her. She took them to a tree where the little bird likes to sit and sing. It was lucky she pointed to the little bird, because my Lord Chamberlain would not have believed such a plain little creature would be capable of producing divine music.' He paused for dramatic effect.

'He commanded the little creature to sing, and so she did.' A reverent pause. 'And as she sang, he and all the courtiers began to weep, just as I had done, so he knew she must be the creature I sought. He informed her that the emperor himself wished her to sing for him at his court, that he had ordered a royal celebration to fete her that very evening. He told me she was reluctant to accompany him back to court—can you imagine? She told the Lord Chamberlain her song sounded best out in nature! But, she said, if that was what the emperor wished, then she would accompany the Lord Chamberlain back to the royal palace.'

'Meanwhile I had ordered everything to be cleaned and polished in preparation for her arrival. I commanded a thousand gold lamps to be lit to welcome

her, and the feasting tables were to be adorned with the finest flowers from my gardens, the plates piled high with the finest delicacies our chef could create.

'I also ordered the creation of a golden perch. I had it placed just beside me, where the lucky creature might sit when she sang.

'When at last she arrived, she sat on the imperial perch and sang, just as I ordered her. So wondrous was her music...' His voice trailed away. Then addressing me gravely, 'Her song goes straight to one's heart, you know.

'I showered her with gifts. I even offered her my golden slipper to wear round her neck. But although she thanked me, she said my tears were gift enough for her, that she needed nothing more because she had seen the emperor weep.' He looked at me as if astonished, even now. 'She did not accept my gifts! Can you imagine this?'

I shook my head to appear as if I couldn't imagine it. There was no need to speak just yet. Let him stir up the self-doubt on his own.

'I began to fear she might fly away, for if she refused to accept my gifts she would not be in my debt. So I ordered a silk ribbon be tied to her leg to allow my courtiers hold her lest she try to leave.' He appeared to think this a clever idea. I found it repugnant, but tried not to show it.

'I had a golden cage built especially for her.' Despite my attempt to produce a neutral expression, he must have caught my look of pity this time, for I felt for the poor imprisoned creature.

'Oh, she had everything. I gave her so much privilege! I commanded that she was to be promenaded twice every day and once at night, preceded by my courtiers who held the ribbon on her leg, so she could enjoy freedom and exercise.'

Privilege? Freedom? Poor bird. But I knew now was not yet the time to challenge him.

'Then one day I received a large package from the emperor of Japan. It was a work of art, a true work of art.' He paused to remember, and smiled greedily. 'It was a mechanical bird. It could sing several tunes when you wound it up, tunes like those of my nightingale. But this creature...this creature was exquisite! It was encrusted with diamonds, rubies and sapphires, and when it sang its tail moved up and down, glittering with silver and gold. I thought the mechanical creature far superior to the plain little bird from the forest.

'Even so, I wished to give the real bird the chance to combine her voice with that of the beautiful one.'

Hmm. Beauty and worth could only be judged by external evidence according to this man. No wonder he's not happy. But he still had more to tell.

'So I commanded our nightingale to sing a duet with my wondrous new creature. But it didn't sound right because the little bird insisted on singing in her own way, not consistently, predictably, like the mechanical bird. I thought I would punish her for this, so I took her off her golden perch and placed the mechanical bird on it instead. But even then, she continued to sing in her own manner. We all turned from her cacophony to listen to the jewelled wonder, whose songs we were beginning to know ourselves. We forgot about the little nightingale, forgot to hold onto her satin ribbon. That was when she just...flew away, out the window and back into the forest.

'At first I did not care; in fact, I thought her ungrateful, and I was glad to be rid of her. Now...Now I am not so sure.'

Thank heavens! A seed of doubt at last. But even now, I sensed it was not yet time to challenge him.

'In those first days after she left I told myself it didn't matter. I had the more beautiful bird, after all. And she would sing whenever I wanted—I had only to wind her up. I didn't even have to ask her. And soon, everyone in my kingdom knew her songs.

'But then one evening when the mechanical bird was singing its best and I was lying in bed listening to the familiar songs, suddenly we heard an odd sound, It came from inside the bird. Something had broken. Its gears spun round and round, and the singing stopped.

'Of course I called at once for the royal watchmaker. After much discussion and a great deal of study, he managed to get the bird singing again, fairly well. But he said we must now be careful, that the bird must be wound up only once a year lest the cylinder pegs, which were irreplaceable, wore out. It was a terrible shame!' He looked up pleading for my sympathy, very much an old man now. I nodded understanding as best I could, but failed to muster sympathy.

'After five unhappy years had passed, I'm afraid I began to ignore the royal watchmaker's advice. I was growing weak, even sick from lack of the heavenly sounds, so I wound up the mechanical bird even though a year had not yet passed since it last sang.' He sighed. 'It sang. It sang one song. One song I knew already. And then...it stopped.

'I'm afraid to say I lost my composure. Sick as I was, I raged at that...mechanical object.'

Interesting change of name. It was no longer a bird now, I noticed. A mere object.

"Music!" I screamed at it. "Music! Sing now, sing!" I reminded it of the gold and precious things I'd given it, and of my golden slipper that I'd placed around its neck with my own royal hands! Yet it remained...silent. Broken.'

'As you must have felt.'

'Yes. As I felt. Broken. My gold, my jewels, all my precious things, how little they seemed to matter. It was heavenly music I was craving.' He looked up, so sad.

'That is when I began to miss the real bird.'

Those two new labels. Mechanical object. Real bird. It was time at last for us to do some work.

'But I thought you said the mechanical bird did sing one song. Did that not revive you?' Of course it hadn't. But he needed to admit it.

He studied his hands for a long time. Mistakes are hard to admit when you're an emperor.

'It was...a song I already know.'

'But...wasn't that nice? I mean, it was familiar.'

Still not wishing to look up and face me, 'When you know something already, when a repertoire is predictable...that can be comforting. But it is soon not beautiful.' Deep breath, and at last he was ready to meet my gaze. 'I was wrong. The really beautiful songs are the ones I...I do not command. They are the ones I do not already know, offered freely rather than at my command.'

'So now you think beauty fades with repetition? That maybe part of the reason we judge something to be beautiful is that it seems new each time we experience it?'

He nodded, happier now. It was time to push things a little. 'And perhaps...just maybe, beauty is not something we can always detect by outward appearance?'

A light of understanding in his eyes. 'So that is why my jewels, my gold...' He glanced down at his magnificent cape and robe, 'all my material goods no longer seem as beautiful, as...' He didn't want to have to finish.

'Not as beautiful as something that may be outwardly plain, but that surprises you? Do you think that's part of what made the nightingale's songs so exquisite, that you couldn't command them, 'pay' for them with a gold slipper or enjoy them by winding up a mechanical object? That you had to wait for the plain little creature to choose her moment? Isn't that part of the reason why it was so joyful when she did sing?'

He was crying now, and he didn't try to stop himself, no longer caring what emperors are supposed to do or not do. 'I want her back! I want her back so much!'

Unbidden, unwanted, tears sprang to my own eyes as I saw an image of Alex as a toddler, laughing and singing in his bedroom as he did when he woke every morning. I wanted him back so much. I knew how this man was feeling. Stop it, Helen. Focus on *this* person. This is not about you. I took a deep breath, spoke the words that had always comforted me, hoping they would help him as well,

'And ever has it been that love knows not its own depth until the hour of separation.'

'How wonderfully you explain my feelings!'

Thankfully that did it. The image of Alex vanished. 'Thank you for your praise, but I can't take credit. Those words were written by someone...far more gifted than I.'

'A scholar I presume?'

'No, he was a poet.'

He nodded sagely. 'Of course. A poet. I should have known. And did he live before my time, that on my return I may access all of his works?'

'I'm afraid neither of us can meet him. He lived before my time, and after yours. We both lose out there.'

He smiled. He was becoming more animated. In fact, he seemed to grow younger and stronger with every moment. It never ceases to amaze me how people are transformed when they start to feel hope again.

'I am seeing life so much more clearly now!' Reflecting, 'I suppose I was happy before I heard her song that first time. But once I heard it, my understanding of what is valuable, what really matters, should have changed. Instead I fought that understanding, clung to my old beliefs...'

I had to interrupt. He'd eaten enough humble pie for the moment. 'But you'd had a lifetime of accepting one particular set of values. How could you expect yourself to change it all in a moment?'

'But now...is it too late to do so now?'

'Are you still breathing?'

That caught him off guard. 'What?!'

'If you're still breathing, there's still time to change, still time to choose a different way of living.'

He was loving this.

'I must go back at once. I shall take away those silly trinkets, the gold and silver ornaments I set out beside my bed, because I thought it would entice her back.

Entice her with gold trinkets? Hah! What a silly fool!' But then, as suddenly as it had infused him, his new-found sparkle vanished.

'But...if my gold, my jewels, all that I have is of no value to that precious bird, then what is? How can I ever hope to see her again? How would she ever believe I would not try to imprison her again, make her sing on command? Oh, this is terrible! I will never hear her songs again, will I? There is nothing I can do to bring her back. Oh, such loss!'

'Of course there is something you can do, and you know what it is already, because she told you. Think back to the time she first sang to you at court.'

He was thinking hard, studying his hands intently, his way of bringing his memories to life. Finally, despairing, defeated, he shook his head sadly. 'I do not remember.'

I was determined not to tell him, determined he should rediscover it himself. It would be so much sweeter for him that way. 'When you offered her your golden slipper, did she accept it?'

'Of course she did not! I told you already! Did you not listen? I told you, nothing I offered seemed to interest her.'

'Nothing at all?'

Suddenly, there it was. That moment of discovery, the reward for doing my job, the real reward.

'She told me that my tears...my tears were gift enough for her. She said she needed nothing more than my tears!' He hurried on eagerly, almost falling over his discovery, 'I need only return to my palace. Get rid of those ridiculous...trinkets. Then I shall lie back in my bed and recall her song...and let it do its magic, allow my tears to flow.' He grinned at me like a naughty child. 'The tears that an emperor must never show. Ha!'

His eyes literally sparkled as he stood up, tall and strong now. Oh how different than when he arrived!

'Farewell...for now.' He strode powerfully towards the window, paused, turned back to address me once more, 'We will, you know, meet again.' And with that he spread his arms in a gesture of royal command, and vanished.
Little Red Cap

I woke this morning thinking about Alex again, plagued by self-recriminations. Surely I could have done something differently. Surely he'd still be alive, if only I hadn't allowed him to go out unsupervised with his friends? Had it really been such a good idea to encourage him to be so independent? I don't know how many times the police told me it was a freak accident, that is was no one's fault. There were no charges against the driver. But still...the guilt.

All day, whenever a client mentioned their child or spoke of a loss, I sensed that self-blame pushing against my therapeutic boundaries. By evening I was thoroughly exhausted, glad when the last client hour came to a close.

I should write up my notes, I kept telling myself, even as I continued to sit at my desk amid scattered scribbles, pen in hand, staring vacantly into space.

The gust of cold wind made me sit up straight. I'd forgotten, but hooray! It's Tuesday! 'Real' or not, magic was on the way. I waited expectantly as someone behind me brushed themselves off—sounded like whoever I was about to meet was wearing a skirt, so probably a female—and picked up something heavy they'd dropped when they landed inside my office. I sat up attentively at the sound of a delicate feminine voice, but didn't turn around lest I intruded on her preparations.

'Is there somewhere for me to sit down? If I'm not troubling you too much. I would so very much like to speak to you, if you would be so kind.'

What a polite child! Because child she must be, by the sound of her gentle high-pitched voice. 'Of course you can speak to me. I'd really like that. You can sit down over here,' I gestured, 'across from me, so we can see each other.'

She came round with a light step, youthful, dainty. Must be quite young.

But as she came into view, I was no longer so sure. She was at least as tall as I am. Nonetheless, she was wearing a child's frock, white linen patterned stitching, lacy cuffs finishing full loose sleeves, and a generous skirt of thick moss coloured cloth. I could see her cotton pantalets easily because the skirt finished at her knees. That length, I seemed to recall from school history lessons, meant the wearer was a young child. Yet I could see the swell of her breasts above the tightly laced bodice, the curve of hips below her waist. Over the frock she wore a velvet cape of rich crimson clasped at the neck, and a matching crimson cap that was perched slightly askew on her golden head of curls. She carried a large wicker basket—that must

have been what she'd dropped. How incongruous the childish apparel and the young woman within!

She walked lightly past me, unclasped her cape and arranged it carefully over the back of the chair before sitting down. 'Thank you so much. I just knew I had to get some help before I go home. I've been...bad.' She wiped clumsily at her lovely blue eyes, missing the tear that continued freely down her cheek, pulled nervously on one of the golden ringlets encircling her doll-like face, then looked up at me remorsefully. 'You see I've done a...bad thing. A very bad thing.'

Interesting. There was ambivalence in that statement. Remorse, yes. But also a frisson of excitement. I waited for more, nodding encouragement.

'I can't tell Mama and Papa about him. And...well, he keeps on asking me to show him where she lives and I don't know why but I don't think I should tell him.'

She began to cry freely now. Maybe I'd been too judgmental. She really was distressed.

'Who can't you tell Mama and Papa about? And who is this she, and why is where she lives a secret?'

'She is Grandmama, and where she lives isn't a secret, not really. It's just that I don't think I should tell Lucas where she lives. But he keeps on about it, he keeps asking me and asking me.' She was crying hard now, big sobs, grabbing for deep breaths.

Where to start? 'Why is it so bad if this person Lucas knows where Grandmama lives?'

Between sobs, 'I don't know! I don't know. But it feels like it is...I...I don't think it's a good idea.'

Still lost, trying to think of a question that might enlighten me, make some sense of her garbled story, 'Maybe you can help me with something else. Perhaps you can explain to me why can't you tell Mama and Papa about Lucas? You did say they'd be angry if they knew about him, didn't you?'

She nodded. 'I could never tell them! I promised them I wouldn't talk to strangers, and now I have.' Deep breaths, trying to recover herself. 'That's why I've come here. I can't go home yet. I could never tell them that I've been so bad, but I just don't know what to do.'

'Wait a minute. Hold on. I'm guessing here, but it sounds like your Mama and Papa are worried because there are some bad people around, and they don't want you to put yourself in danger? Is that right?' 'They always tell me that all strangers are bad. And they don't know about Lucas. They would be so angry if they knew about him! Oh, why was I such a bad girl?'

I handed her the box of tissues, pulling out the top one and using it to dab my cheek to make sure she knew what to do with them. I remained silent, giving her time to calm down rather than haranguing her with yet more questions. She wouldn't be able to talk to me coherently right now anyway. And it might help me to spend some time constructing a few hypotheses, so my questions would appear less random.

My first thought was that this Lucas, whoever he is, had tried to seduce her and either moved too fast and scared her, or achieved his aim and scared her. Or maybe Grandmama is fabulously wealthy and Lucas is a conman who wants to get hold of her money. But why is Grandmama in hiding? Most concerning of all, given the possibility that Lucas has had his way with her, how old is this person sitting across from me? Is she old enough to consent to sex if that was Lucas' intention? And should the family need such assistance, I wondered if they have social services where she comes from. Boy, what a mess!

Then I caught myself. Shame on me! My job is to help my patient with what *she* feels is most important, not delve around in what interests me most.

'Sweetie—I'm sorry, but I don't know your name...'

'Ruby.'

Like the hat and the cape.

'Ruby, what's done is done. We can't go back and change the past—and it doesn't help referring to the things that have already happened as 'good' or 'bad' and upsetting yourself. They're just things that happened, OK?' Tearful nod. 'What matters now is to figure out the best thing to do now that we are...where we are. So why don't you start with when you began...not to feel...right. Tell me about that.'

She took a deep breath, glad to be given a clear instruction. 'I think it's when I started talking to Lucas. Mama said when I go to Grandmama's I mustn't talk to anyone on the way, because other people are dangerous.'

'Yes, you said that. Does your mother think everyone is dangerous?'

Vigorous nod. 'Well, not Grandmama, or herself or Papa.' She permitted herself a little smile.

'But everyone else?'

She wasn't sure. 'Well, I don't know anyone else.'

This was remarkable. 'No one? You don't know anyone else? Don't you have any brothers or sisters? Don't you go to school?'

She shook her head. 'Mama says I am her miracle baby. She said she and Papa didn't believe they would ever have a child. Mama said she waited 15 years, waiting and wishing, but then she stopped dreaming about having any children. She said that's when I was born. Every day Mama says I am her miracle, her little miracle girl.'

And Mama and Papa definitely wanted her to remain their little miracle girl forever, by the look of her childish clothing. Judging by her curves I didn't think she could possibly be younger than 14.

'So it's just you, Mama and Papa at home. OK. Do you ever have visitors?'

She shook her head. 'No visitors, only the gamekeeper when he brings us meat and we give him goat's milk and eggs. But he never says a word. He just comes to the gate with some game and an empty jug, and waits for Papa to fill the jug and give him the eggs. Then he leaves.' She thought some more.

'Our cottage is all by itself in the woods. There's no other cottage around except the gamekeeper's, and Papa says he lives alone.'

'But your Grandmama visits?'

Again she shook her head. 'Grandmama is really old, and she can't do anything now. She can't even walk. Mama and Papa and I used to go together to her cottage. It's a long way away, on the other side of the woods, but that was when Mama could still see.'

'Your Mama is blind?'

'Almost blind, yes. That's why I wear my red cap.' She was still wearing it—I hadn't even noticed. 'I always keep my cap on, because Mama says she can always see me that way.' She smiled engagingly.

'How long has your Mama had trouble with her eyes?'

'Oh, a long time. Two winters at least, since I was 12 I think. At first we could still go to Grandmama's because Papa could lead Mama there. But one morning last season, Papa fell in the garden when he was seeing to the goats, and since then he can't walk far at all. So they ask me to visit, so Grandmama won't feel too lonely.'

'I see. And how often do you go there?'

'Mama likes me to go every day, because Grandmama is so unwell now. She can't even cook for herself or anything. She just lies in bed and waits for me to visit. Mama makes her sandwiches and cake and I take it to her every day.' She smiled fondly. 'We have a lovely time. I sit beside Grandmama on her bed and we share the cake and she tells me stories. Wonderful stories. Then I go home.'

'Wow! Your Grandmama is lucky to have such a devoted granddaughter!'

147

She nodded, but then she began to cry again. 'But now Lucas wants to visit her! She will be so frightened! She's only used to me visiting her!'

Ah yes. Lucas. I'd forgotten about Lucas. Probably a defence mechanism, to keep what I was sure would be bad news at bay. I tried to keep my tone even, as if I were asking about just an ordinary detail. 'And when did you and Lucas first meet?'

A sheepish look, crimson blush. 'I met Lucas just four days ago.'

Allowing the pause, then, 'Why don't you tell me about that first meeting.'

Another crimson blush, although I also spotted some agitation. She clearly had mixed feelings about this Lucas character.

'Last week I decided I would take a different path to Grandmama's house. You see, I kept hearing laughing, people laughing, every day on my walk, and it made me curious. Who were these happy people? I had noticed there was another path going in the same direction as the one I usually take. So I decided to try it, hoping maybe I would see the happy people. And I was right.' She beamed with pride. 'It turns out the path runs alongside a row of cottages where...' she was faraway, dreamy-eyed. '...there are children. Oh so many children, in the gardens of those cottages. Children of all ages. They were laughing and playing together. It looks like such fun!' She trailed off again, remembering. Poor overprotected, isolated kid! 'At the end of the row of cottages the path forks right. I knew where I was then, and that I was about to join my usual path.

'But just there, just after the last cottage, I saw...something...on the path ahead of me. I was very frightened, because it looked like a large hairy animal. It was crouching on all four legs, staring and staring at the children.

'But as soon as it...as soon as he...saw me, he stood up.' She looked up to make sure I understood how clever she was to recognise this creature. 'I was wrong you see! It wasn't a beast at all. It was a man. A very dark man with lots and lots of hair. He has such big shining eyes and very big teeth, and he's very hairy!' That infatuated look again, yet once again I noticed something else as well. Fear? Anxiety?

'At first I was very frightened because he was a stranger, so I started to run away. But he called out, in such a kind and gentle voice, 'Don't run away, sweet child! I will not harm you! Please, please stay. I'm so lonely, and you are so lovely.' She looked at me to see if I disapproved. I kept my encouraging non-judgmental therapist smile firmly in place and nodded encouragingly.

'Do go on.'

148

'Well, his voice was so kind and gentle, I couldn't see the harm if we just walked on the path together.' She studied me carefully, to make sure I hadn't changed my expression. Smile encouragingly, Helen.

'We talked and talked. It was lovely! I told him about Grandmama and that I take her cake every day,' I wish you hadn't, darling. 'And he said what a good granddaughter I am.

'When we reached the top of the hill where I go down to Grandmama's house I said it was time to say goodbye, because I always visit Grandmama alone. The first day he was lovely about that.'

But such politeness wasn't going to last. I could feel it.

'The next day, there he was again. He said he had been waiting for me, because he enjoyed my company so much.' Another blush and a shy smile. She was smitten, that was clear, but at the same time, I felt something more. Sexual excitement? Or fear? I still couldn't read her clearly.

'That day he asked if he could hold my hand,' She glanced down to her left hand, lifted it, scrutinised it carefully. 'It was so lovely to hold his hand.

'Yesterday he was there on the path again of course, and at first I was so glad. We held hands again, and that part was still lovely. But then he started asking if he might go to Grandmama's house with me. He said her bed sounded so comfortable and cosy...'

Oh no. My worst fear. I noticed she was hunching her shoulders now, and that she'd begun clasping and unclasping her hands. She looked up at me, desperate for approval.

'I told him Grandmama wasn't well, and that the only visitor she likes is me. So then he started asking if I might just describe the way to her cottage. He said it might be a good plan if he visited her first himself, so he could show her by his kind voice that he was a friend. Then next time, we could visit her together.'

She was wringing her hands now, and shivering slightly.

'I said no, I couldn't do that, I hadn't asked Grandmama.' She looked up. 'And if I asked her, I was afraid she might tell Mama that I had talked to a stranger. So I asked Lucas if it was OK if we just kept meeting on the walk?' Pause, little shiver, eyes downcast again. 'I don't think Lucas liked that very much. But he agreed and he went away, at the top of the hill where we always say goodbye.' She looked up anxiously. 'But that was yesterday. Then today....' She began crying again.

'Ruby, you are such a brave girl! You're telling me your story so well and so clearly. Let me fetch you a glass of water and some more tissues,' I noticed she'd

pulled out the entire contents of the box I'd given her, and there were crumpled tissues strewn all over the desk. 'Then you can finish your story and we can make a proper plan to help Grandmama and you.'

She nodded dumbly, the tears still flowing.

I hurried across the room and out the door, leaving it wide open so she could hear me and not feel abandoned. I spoke to myself loudly to reassure her. 'Now where are those extra tissues? Ah yes, here they are. And here's a perfect Rubysized glass for some lovely cool water.' Back in the room, I filled the glass at my basin and offered it to her, placed the new box of tissues beside the empty one, avoiding the crumpled messes as best I could.

'Thank you. You are very kind.' I wasn't sure I wanted to receive the same accolade as she'd bestowed upon Lucas, even if she did mean well. She took a long draught of the water, dabbed her eyes with a few more tissues, dumped them on the desk along with the others, and smiled wanly.

'Ready to finish? You're nearly at the end of the story, aren't you?' She nodded and took a deep breath.

'Today he was waiting again. I took the other path today, the path that doesn't go near the happy children. But he was still there, still waiting.

'That's when I had the bad feeling. He said he hadn't stopped thinking about Grandmama all night, how lonely she must be. He said he really wanted to call on her. He...he was rather forceful.'

That alarmed me. 'Did he do anything to you? I mean, did he hurt you in any way, or touch you in ways you didn't like?'

She seemed surprised. 'Hurt me? Oh no. We just held hands.' She glanced down at her hand again, recalling the pleasurable sensation. Poor naïve, confused young woman! It can be so difficult to disentangle sexual excitement from fear.

'It was just that...well...I think...he watched me when I went down the hill. I think he followed me...and now I think he knows where Grandmama lives.' More tears. 'I didn't stay very long with her today, because I kept thinking, what if he comes to her cottage after I leave? What if he frightens her? I knew I had to do something to protect dear Grandmama, but I didn't know what I could do. That's when I decided to come here.'

I wish the worst thing I could imagine was that when Lucas called on the poor old woman he'd merely startle her. More likely she was already history, and that after dispatching her remains, Lucas might even now be trying out her bed, imagining what he'd do to poor Ruby when she arrived the next day. I had to convince her of the danger she faced without frightening her too much, and get her to ask for help so someone could capture this monster. Her instincts were good, but she really was vulnerable.

'Ruby, you must listen carefully. You really, really have to tell someone about Lucas.'

This produced such alarm that she knocked over her glass of water, although luckily it was nearly empty. 'Oh no! I can't tell Mama or Papa! They would be so angry with me for talking to a stranger! For four days now! I've been so bad for four days!' Sobs welled up again.

I realised she was right, although her parents' anger was not the only reason to bypass them. In truth, they'd be unable to do anything constructive. A blind woman and an old man who can hardly walk? I needed someone strong and decisive. Then I remembered the gamekeeper.

'Ruby! Ruby, listen to me, please.' I told myself sternly to lower my voice and slow down, while I waited for her to lift up from her sobbing. Shouting hadn't helped convince the mouse to change its plans; and my pleas, if that's all I offered, were unlikely to help Ruby, either. 'You don't have to tell Mama and Papa about Lucas.' I saw her relief. 'You need someone...who can walk over to Grandmama's cottage and make sure she's not...upset or worried.' Then as if the idea just occurred to me, 'I know! How about going straight from here to the gamekeeper's cottage?'

At first she brightened—probably, I suspected, because I hadn't insisted she confess her recent exploits to Mama and Papa. But then she shook her head.

'But I don't really know him. He's another stranger. That will just make Mama and Papa even more angry with me!'

'Ruby, the gamekeeper feels like a stranger to you I know. But he's not a stranger to Mama and Papa. So he's not a stranger to any of you, not really, and furthermore Mama and Papa believe he's a nice person. I'm sure they would be glad you tried to protect...' Oops. I saw the alarm on her face. 'I'm sure they'd be glad you tried to help Grandmama, that you tried so hard to make sure everything is just the way she likes it to be.'

She relaxed a little and considered this idea carefully, allowing me a glimmer of hope. But then she started shaking her head again, unsure. and twisting her hands while she considered other possibilities. Suddenly she looked up, eyes shining.

'I know! I'll tell Grandmama myself! I know she will understand about Lucas. I'll tell her he has been so kind to me,' glancing at her hand fondly again. 'And I will explain how he only wants to make her happy, and make sure she doesn't feel so lonely. I know I can explain everything to her.' She was alight with her plan, while my own heart sank.

'I'll go home now—it's not even late, so Mama and Papa won't know I've been...here. They'll think everything is just fine. Then tomorrow I will leave early, before Lucas would be waiting for me, so I can go straight to Grandmama's first. I will tell her all about Lucas, and then I'll go and fetch him, because by then he will be waiting on the path.' She grabbed for her cape and picked up her basket, full of energy and purpose. 'I must go now, so I won't arrive home late, so Mama and Papa won't suspect anything is different. Oh, this is such a wonderful plan!'

'Ruby! Ruby!' I hated to hear my voice rising. The mouse's demise was forefront in my mind. 'Hang on, just for a minute! We need...we need time to go over your plan in every detail, to make sure you've not forgotten anything!' It was a desperate plea to get her to sit back down. But no luck.

'No, no, it's fine. This is a perfect plan! Thank you. I can fix everything now. Thank you so much for listening to my story, and for understanding!'

And with that she ran to the window, jumped up lightly, and disappeared.

I sat for some time before I could summon the energy to clear the mass of tissues and the water spill on the desk.

Oh, I understood all right.

Poor Ruby.

The Story of the Three Little Pigs

The creature crouching across from me must have once been proud and beautiful. His was a full coat of short dense fur—variegated white, tawny and charcoal. Two large paws with dangerously long black claws rested on the table, a bushy brown tail trailed off to one side of the chair. His long snout finished in a coal-black nose, ears angled towards me as he stared at me with unforgettable yellow eyes. I met those eyes evenly, though I felt extremely nervous.

He was huge—probably twice my weight and on two paws, probably taller than I am. Even so, he was far too thin, although what remained was still capable of wreaking destruction. His upper jaw suggested disconcertingly sharp canines.

However, despite the forbidding shape, he gave off an aura of despondency and self-neglect. Looking more closely, I noted the claws although long, were dull, jagged and chipped, and his coat was matted in places with flakes of dandruff and patches of scabby skin here and there where he must have rubbed it hard or picked at himself. His expression could only be described as pitiful as he searched my face, imploring me with those penetrating eyes. What was wrong?

It was a Tuesday evening, so I'd been expecting a visitor from fairy land. But this creature had come in through the window so silently I hadn't registered his presence until he was seated across from me, so I needed a moment to take him in. He waited, watching me carefully.

Finally, 'How nice to meet you, Mr...?'

'I am called Adolfo. I have no title.' A rich voice but weary. I could hear echoes of a proud commanding tone. He sighed long, then let out a doleful howl—just one before carrying on. 'I seek your help because my adversary has defeated me.' He lowered his head, then raised it with effort. 'At least he believes he has defeated me.'

'And do you think he has?'

'For now, yes. But...but I have not yet lost all hope.' He looked down at his left paw, rubbed an irritated spot hard against the table surface, leaving a trail of red ooze. 'I no longer knew where to turn.' He looked at me again—perhaps I should say through me. I felt utterly naked in that gaze.

'But then I heard about you. The bears speak well of you, even a princess and an emperor have sung your praises. I thought...perhaps I might ask for your help as well.' How unprofessional to blush with pride! But how do you stop a blush? 'Such kind words. I thank you.' He remained still, waiting for more, continuing to fix me with those eyes.

'I don't know as much as you do about wolves,' I wanted to try to boost his self-esteem while also playing for time so I could gather my thoughts. 'But what I do know makes me surprised that you would feel...ever...ever...defeated.' I'd always regarded wolves as proud, undaunted, and utterly fearless.

Another long sigh. 'Perhaps once I felt that way. But...no longer.' Another single howl, then he hung his head once more. Absurdly, I felt like rushing over and cuddling him, reassuring him he'd be OK.

'It's often best...before we talk about what's caused your distress...for me to hear about how things were before you...lost your...your sense of mastery.' I was choosing my words carefully, trying to inject as many positive phrases as I could into my questions. I wanted him to remember that there are always positive ways to look at life, whatever happens or has happened.

'Ah, you are asking for my story. Of course you would.

'You are right. There was a time when I felt...masterful.' He was bringing a memory to light. I swear he smiled.

'I was one of six pups. Four of us males, two females. I was the largest and she told me often--my mother's favourite. She taught us well, and we hunted together with other wolves. Those were indeed masterful times.

'But last winter was harsh. The deer, the boar, even the chamois—so many died in the cold, so few bred. We had to part as a pack and hunt singly, entering farmyards by moonlight to slaughter livestock for food. I knew it was risky, but what choice did I have?' Another long howl. Another penetrating stare.

'Spring began at last, the earth began to warm. One evening I overheard a sow in the farmyard I'd chosen to stalk and when I could, to plunder. She was speaking to her three piglets. She told them there was not enough food left, and that her milk was gone. She explained that they would have to leave the farmyard, one each day just before daybreak so as not to be detected, to seek their fortune. If not, she told them bluntly, they would surely die there, as she knew was her fate.' Did I detect pity for the old girl?

'At first light the smallest pig—hardly a mouthful he was—set off. I shadowed him silently. Very soon he met a man carrying a bundle of straw. He begged the man to give him some straw so he could build a house, and the man obliged.' Regarding me again, 'Silly little fool. A house made of straw?!

'He took the straw and built a house in no time of course, because the structure was of no real substance.

'It was too easy. I didn't even have to touch the structure. I simply blew on it with one deep breath, and down it fell.' He reflected. 'A tasty morsel he was, even though he was tiny.

'Then I knew, if the other two were as stupid as this one, that I had two more meals ahead to savour. It was a thought to enjoy not just for the nourishment, but because our mother had always told us that pigs were the cleverest of all farmyard creatures. I would be proud to outsmart a creature she'd held in such high esteem. I slept off that pork meat contentedly.' He patted his now hollow stomach, remembering. 'Next morning early I set off again, back down the road leading to the farmhouse, hoping the second little pig was preparing to leave the farmyard. He was. I followed him of course, with high hopes.

'Soon the brainless creature met a man carry a bundle of furze. He waddled straight up to the man, without any introduction at all—and asked him if he would part with his furze so he could use it to build a house. Can you imagine? A house of *furze*? Have you ever heard anything more foolish, more pointless, than trying to build yourself a house out of flowers?!'

I wondered why he felt such a need to impress on me the stupidity of these piglets. Perhaps he sensed my discomfort and thought it was because I didn't believe he was telling me the whole story. In truth, it was because I'd given up eating meat years ago and had always thought piglets adorable, so all his talk of tasty meals of raw piglet meat brought extremely unpleasant images to mind. I inhaled deeply through my nose, held the breath, exhaled slowly. Always banishes nausea.

But if he was trying to big himself up, why did he choose their level of intelligence to justify his desire to eat the piglets? Why did intelligence matter so much to him? I wondered if it was a reflection of his mother's values. The only thing he'd mentioned about her teachings was that she'd impressed on her offspring that pigs are extremely clever, so she must have considered intelligence to be a valuable asset. Had he adopted her value system? Or was he still trying to gain her approval? He'd told me he was her favourite, so there was a lot of pressure to live up to her expectations. If I remembered rightly and the third pig had outwitted him, it would be a low blow indeed, and might account for his depression.

But I was running way ahead of his story. I reprimanded myself sternly. Avoid jumping to conclusions or expecting a particular story line. Otherwise you'll create a bias that might mean you miss a crucial detail. Or you might inadvertently snuff out

the spark that will awaken the client's motivation to change. Let each one tell their story, their way. Only then is it time to draw conclusions—and only then, together. It was a fault of mine, pigeon-holing clients early on and coming up with plans for them rather than with them. Nonetheless, the controlled breathing and my flight into speculation had helped, because the nausea had subsided. I shut down the inner dialogue and refocused my full attention on the wolf.

'Of course it was more than easy to blow that flower house away. One big puff and that stupid creature was left without anywhere to hide. He made a meal that was bigger and tastier than the one his brother provided me. I enjoyed every bit of him.' He closed his eyes and patted his stomach again, remembering things I didn't want to think about. Breathe through your nose, Helen, and hold each in breath. Think of something neutral, a pastel colour or a type of cloud.

He continued, 'You can imagine, then, once I'd slept off that lovely meal, that I was eager to hurry back to the farmyard for more. It must be time, I thought, for the third pig, the biggest and tastiest of the three, to leave his mother. And I was right. He had just set off, and I followed. I couldn't imagine what he would settle for! Perhaps a few stalks of young wheat to build his house, or a few blades of grass?!'

I tried to smile, but it was getting harder to like this heartless killer. Luckily he didn't seem to notice.

'But no! Unfortunately, this pig chanced upon a man carrying a load of bricks. Just like his freeloading brothers, he approached the man and asked him for some of the bricks so he could build himself a house. The man obliged—he even helped him build the house.' Reflecting for a moment. 'Otherwise, I could have slaughtered him then and there, while he was on his own with the bricks. But the man was there, and I saw he wore a hunting knife. So I had to wait.

'Finally, some while after sunset, the man departed. The pig was firmly ensconced inside the house by this time, and they'd built a door with a lock.' He paused, then added bitterly, 'I suppose he was a bit bright...well, a bit cleverer than his brothers.

'I tried blowing on that house, but it was extremely sturdy. I blew and blew, but finally I had to resort to knocking on his door.' Pause for another single howl, a howl of shame this time.

'The pig came to the door but he wouldn't open it. Instead he peered through the small window they'd built into the centre of the door. I asked him to let me in said I was a tired and hungry traveller...' He looked to me to share his little joke. I managed a wan smile. 'He said he was sorry but he didn't open his door to strangers. There was nothing I could think to do, so I had to leave.' I noticed he was rubbing his poor paw on the table again. His anxiety levels were incredibly high.

'A few hundred steps away I found shelter in an old tree. There I tried to sleep...' More rubbing, shredding what was left of the skin on that poor paw. 'But my mind wouldn't allow it. So instead I spent the night devising a clever plan.

'Next morning I returned to the pig's house. He was planting something in his little garden, so I tried to sneak up and grab him. Alas, he spotted me and ran inside his house at once and locked the door. I had to humble myself and knock on his door again.' The memory made him furious—first another howl, then he rubbed both paws so rapidly against the table edge that both were now bleeding.

'When he came to the door and peered through that infernal opening, I told him I'd found a lovely field of turnips.' He paused to regard my expression, wondering what I knew about the habits of pigs. 'Pigs love turnips, you see.

'I told him if he would be ready the next morning at six o'clock I would call for him and take him to the field so we could both pull some turnips for our dinner.' He grinned. 'He is so stupid, isn't he! He thought a wolf would want to eat turnips!' I nodded, trying to show that I appreciated the joke.

'I appeared next morning, ready for a good breakfast. I knocked on the door and asked the pig if he was ready to gather turnips.' He stopped staring into space and fixed his gaze on me, yellow eyes glittering with anger. 'And what did he say? He told me he'd already been to the field and gathered enough turnips for his dinner! And he had the temerity to *laugh at me*!' With that he banged his poor arm so hard on the table that I must have gasped in alarm.

'Oh I do apologise! I didn't mean to startle you. But that pig was so rude!' And pretty clever.

'I managed a fair job of looking pleased. I even congratulated the pig on his ability to rise so early. But inside I was furious, and I became even more determined. I vowed to try again.' Reflecting, needing to explain away the pig's trouncing of his scheme, 'No doubt it was mere chance he woke so early.

'I thought I'd try something different, to entice him with something even more pig-delicious. I told him I knew of a nice apple tree, and that I would take him there tomorrow morning at five to gather apples for our dinners.'

I noticed his agitation had risen once again. He was bouncing on his chair and rubbing those poor bleeding arms against the table. They looked like raw meat. 'I had to pass the apple tree next morning on my way to call on the pig, and *what do you think I saw?*' He was shouting now. 'He was already up in the tree picking apples!' One good slam on the table with his fist and a deep breath, blood flying everywhere. 'I absolutely refused to let him think he had the better of me! Instead I smiled sweetly and asked if the apples were good ones.' He looked to me for approval. 'He offered to throw me one so I could taste it for myself. But as I ran to pick it up, he hurried down from the tree and fled for home. I looked up to see his hateful little pink tail disappearing ahead of me. I gave chase of course, but by the time I reached his cottage he was inside, and he'd locked the door.

'I could not bear to humble myself yet again to this arrogant creature, so I walked right past his cottage as if I didn't even know who lived there. I could feel him peering at me as I passed by.

'I went back to my tree, and began to make a new plan. Mother always told us to take time to make a plan, so it can be really good. I thought and thought, and then I had an idea. If I were to tell him about the Shanklin Fair, if I could encourage him to attend and agree to meet him there rather than at his house, then once he was out in the open I could move in on him. I would grab him fast before he had a chance to get away, and take him with me unnoticed amid the noisy crowds.' Another searching appeal for me to praise his superior intelligence.

'What a clever plan!' He liked that.

'We'd agreed to meet at the fair at three—I'd promised to buy him the largest sack of corn we could find. But just as I began to climb the last hill before the fair, a great...*thing*...came rolling down the hill. It was huge! And it was heading directly for me.' Another appeal to my sensitivities, this time to appreciate the danger he'd faced. I tried to look horrified.

'Do go on, please!'

'I had no choice of course. I had to whip around and run back to my tree to avoid being crushed to bits. I never got to the fair.

'The next morning I thought I would go to the pig's house and apologise for not turning up and meeting him as we'd planned. I explained it was because I'd been taken by surprise by a great round thing that came rolling down the hill heading directly for me.'

Here he stopped, let out a howl, and banged those poor arms on the table yet again, more blood flying. At least I was expecting these outbursts by now, so I managed to stay steady in my chair.

158

'He *laughed* at me! *Again!* That hateful, cruel, arrogant creature...' I noticed he didn't refer to him as stupid. 'He laughed at me. That was himself, he said, inside a butter churn he'd just bought. He'd seen me coming, jumped into the churn and rolled towards me, deliberately.' Now he really was shouting. 'HE MADE A FOOL OF ME!'

The pain he'd been repeatedly inflicting on himself must have finally registered. He looked down at his battered and bloody forearms. 'Excuse me. Do you have some cloth that I may stench the blood?'

'Of course! Let me fetch you some nice ones, soft and clean, for your poor arms.'

'This is all the pig's fault you know.'

'Of course it is.'

It was a relief to get up and leave the room. His fury was as loud as a shout, and I could smell the blood from his wounds. I needed a moment outside the intensity to steady the rising nausea.

Once in the office kitchen, I extracted two clean dish towels from under the basin and turned on the hot tap, hoping there was enough warm water to soak them.

I began to think about the best way to approach this wolf's *idee fixe*. He wasn't depressed as I'd thought at first—at least, that wasn't his primary problem. Sure, he'd lost weight, he wasn't sleeping, and he was showing signs of extreme agitation. But those symptoms weren't the result of a depressed mood or a loss of interest in everything, which are the main indicators that suggest depression. On the contrary, this creature was extremely interested in something--but it was in one thing only—whether he or the pig was the more intelligent. All he could think about was how to outsmart the creature, and the only relief he knew was while he was executing one of his plans to outwit the creature. He hadn't even mentioned the desire to eat him, which had been the original motivation for stalking the piglets. The wolf's mood was low, but only as a result of his continuing fixation on outsmarting the pig. His must be an obsessive compulsive disorder, not depression. How could I have thought it was anything else?

Given that was the diagnosis, I needed to change my approach. When someone has OCD, listening kindly only gives them permission to continue focusing on their obsession. I needed to get him to think about something completely different.

But wait a minute! Who was the rigid thinker now? Why was I so convinced that if I managed to find a diagnosis for this poor wolf, I could help him? Sure, it would make life easier for me. As soon as a therapist decides a patient has, say,

depression or OCD, they can stop listening carefully and simply dole out the depression or OCD treatment plan they've been trained to dole out. No. I needed to go back in there, put down my preconceptions and my standardised treatments, and listen. Listen open-mindedly so we can together formulate a treatment plan. I hoped I wasn't too late—we were far into the session already, and I knew I only had the one.

With renewed purpose I hurried back to my consulting room, ready to be a better therapist.

I found him sitting quietly, no longer bouncing in agitation. Instead he was patting his sore forearms tenderly. He took the towels I offered him gratefully.

'I feel so much clearer now. Thank you.'

'I'm so glad you feel better. What is it that seems clearer now?'

'Oh it's all so obvious. I've been thinking about this problem in completely the wrong way!'

I waited, hopeful.

'You see, I've been spending all my time trying to lure the pig outside, where he'd be easy to catch and kill. But if I go into his home...well, then he has nowhere to escape, does he? And he won't expect this new tactic. Since he won't open the door to me, I'll climb onto the roof and slide down his chimney! Ha! If he won't come to me, I shall go to him!' He looked at me triumphantly.

I wanted to argue, to try to persuade him to think differently, let go of this obsession with the pig and think about other activities—*anything* else. But I remembered my resolve. I needed to challenge, but not to direct. I hoped more than ever now that my change of tack hadn't come too late.

'What do you imagine you would you achieve if you catch the pig?'

'I will prove I'm the clever one! Ha! Cleverer than any pig!' He was truly gleeful now.

'It would prove you could outsmart that particular pig, true. But how would it prove that you're cleverer than all...' I saw those yellow eyes narrow dangerously. 'I mean, that would be impressive. But why are you so sure it would offer you lasting peace?'

'What a ridiculous question! Of course I'll be happy, peaceful—whatever you want to call it—if I outsmart that pig! And now that I've come up with this plan I need to carry it out. Immediately!' He stood up on his hind feet, towering over me and almost bouncing in his excitement.

'I just needed time to think, time to come up with the perfect plan. And now I've got it. I'll get him this time!' With that he ran to the window, let out an ear-splitting howl of triumph and leapt straight up and out, disappearing into the night.

Sadly, I gathered my notes from the day, put on my backpack and locked the office door.

All the way home I couldn't stop thinking about my complete failure to engage with this creature. My own obsession, rather than his, had been the real problem my 'need' to diagnose him. If only I'd listened openly from the beginning, without wasting time first trying to pigeon hole my client. Why are therapists taught that we must work from a diagnosis? It wasn't to help us respond to our patients' unique problems, I realised, but to allow us to feel 'safe', to believe we have a clear way forward. After all, a diagnosis suggests a set of standardised treatments, doesn't it? OK, it overlooks individual uniqueness, but...at least the therapist feels safe and sure of their direction. How misguided this approach was beginning to look.

These strange Tuesday encounters were unsettling not only because they were so fantastical. Now they were beginning to challenge the very foundations of my training.

Snow White and Rose Red

The brisk November wind kept me cool as I toiled up the last hill before arriving at the clinic, although I hardly noticed. My mind was on last night's dream.

I was a child again—well, as much of a child as I ever was. I was in my first year of secondary school. It was evening, and I was preparing supper for my sister and brother and feeling sorry for myself. Why was life such a drudge? Why couldn't I just play around after school like all the other kids seemed to, instead of feeling compelled to take care of everyone else all the time?

On reflection I figured the image was more a memory than a dream, which probably meant I hadn't slept much yet again. It was no doubt triggered by the phone call from my brother announcing his departure for a six month backpacking trip across South America. Lucky kid. But in truth I knew I'd never have the courage to embark on an adventure like that, even though I so wished I could. My childhood years, taking responsibility whether requested or not, created deep habits. Too cautious, overly solicitous, overly responsible Helen. No wonder I'd become a psychotherapist.

And now at home, I had no one to be responsible for. I locked my bike and entered reception feeling as grey and unhappy as the lowering sky.

Emma was as usual already at her desk, having tidied and cheered up the waiting room ready for today's clients. She'd also brewed a pot of her wonderful coffee. The aroma filled the room and, as always, lifted my spirits. She smiled her business smile and without a word handed me my list for today along with a steaming mug of brew. Thank heavens for Emma.

I had a full schedule, so it was easy to keep my mind off myself, bar one exception. My last patient was new, a paralegal in her early 30's who was having an affair with a married colleague and had begun to doubt whether he would ever leave his wife, despite repeated promises to her that he would. There were too many similarities with Freya, making it hard for me to consider her dilemma sympathetically and look at the problem from her point of view. But the hour ended at last. I heard Emma bid the woman good night as I reflected on our time together, hoping I'd done a reasonable job of batting away my desire to pass judgment rather than to listen nonjudgmentally. I heard Emma leave, and wearily began to write up my notes.

A blast of cold air sent the papers flying, and for the first time all day I felt fully awake. Hooray for Tuesday! I turned around to see a young man picking himself up from his whirlwind entry, rearranging his knee-length battered brown leather coat. He appeared to be a woodsman or possibly a hunter—thick woollen vest over a white linen shirt, fitted silk breeches buttoned at the sides and full at the back to allow for horse riding. Plain black leather hunting boots almost to the knee. He wore a tricorne pulled down low almost over his ears, which looked odd; too tight a fit somehow. Despite the masculine gear, he was slender, almost delicate, his face shining clear with a youthful glow.

'May I sit down please? I'd like to talk to you if you can spare the time.'

'Of course! You're most welcome here.' I gestured to the chair opposite me. I was struck by the extraordinarily high-pitched voice--another incongruity--and his light almost dance-like step. He had an aura of playfulness, sauciness and boundless energy. I liked him at once.

After removing the heavy coat and dropping it behind him, he sat down lightly, with perfect grace. Then he looked up at me with a mischievous grin and removed the hat.

Cascades of glorious chestnut hair tumbled onto her shoulders. No wonder the hat had looked odd! And now I looked more closely, the swell of breasts was unmistakable despite the tight-fitting vest.

'I'm Rose. And I have a problem.' A deep dimple in each cheek accompanied the huge impish grin. What a beautiful young...woman. I was still re-adjusting.

'Fooled you, didn't I? Oh I so love dressing up!'

I didn't want to speak—it was utterly delightful just to observe her. But she didn't come here to be stared at. Putting on my caring face, 'Yes, you took me by surprise, that's for sure. Is...is dressing as a man part of your problem?'

Merry laughter. 'No problem there! It's just so amusing to pretend, to be someone else for a little while.' Conspiratorially, 'And of course dressed like this, I knew no one would approach me as I journeyed through the forest.'

What a self-confident, fun-loving person! It was hard to imagine she could have a psychological problem so troubling it had caused her to journey here—or anywhere.

'It's nice to meet you, Rose. But you know, I think I'm going to have to ask you to explain your problem to me, because I can't imagine what it could be. Based on our time together so far, you seem really well adjusted.'

She liked that. 'Good! I've always considered myself happy-go-lucky. Mother always says I'm the fun-loving sister.' Silence, then a frown replacing that lovely

smile. 'And I always *used* to get on so well with Lily. But now...' She looked up at me, 'It's just not fair! It's totally unfair! Queen Lily. I want to be the queen! And I deserve it more than Lily! I don't even think I like her much anymore.' She looked away, glanced down at her attire, 'At least I forgot about how unfair it is for a little while. Pretending helps, you know.'

'You're so right. But we can't escape the real world all the time, can we?' I realised what an absurd remark that was, considering I was talking to a maiden who lived in some other world over 200 years ago—if she ever lived at all. I hurried on. 'Why don't you fill me in on everything? Lily, your mom, and why Lily is now a queen.'

'Oh she isn't. Not yet. But he chose her and not me. That's the unfair part. I mean, I did all the work to free him. She only made things more difficult.'

'Him?'

'The bear. Well, really he's a prince. But he was bewitched, so when we met him he was a bear. But now he's a prince. And that's more because of me than Lily.'

OK. She's fallen out with her sister. This has something to do with the effort she put in to free a prince from a magic spell. But then once he was freed he chose to marry her sister. I marvelled at how this sort of scenario now seemed commonplace to me.

But back to Rose. No wonder she's upset, but what exactly is causing her distress? She hasn't said anything about loving this prince. It sounds more like she just wants recognition for her efforts on his behalf. Or maybe she wants to have a go at dressing up as a queen? Where on earth to start?

'I'm really looking forward to hearing how you managed to free the prince. But first, I think it would help me understand you better if you would describe your relationship with Lily before the bear came along. Did you get on well before then?'

'Oh yes!' Eyes sparkling. 'We grew up together with our dear mother in a cottage deep in the woods. We were always the best of friends. We did everything together, and we always got on so well. It made mother so glad to see us like that, and every day she told us so. And...she would remind us every day that we must always share everything equally.'

'Except maybe not a husband?'

Despite the scowl she laughed. 'Yes. That's the problem.' I nodded.

'Tell me if I'm right here. You lived together, the three of you, and were getting on brilliantly until you met the bear?' 'That's right. He knocked on our cottage door one winter's evening seeking shelter from the snow and the cold. He said he could see the fire in our hearth, and asked if he could come in to warm himself. At first, Lily and I were afraid of him.'

'But your mother wasn't?' She shook her head.

'She never seems afraid of anything. She said she was sure the bear meant no harm, that in fact she could tell he meant well.' I wondered if she knew he was enchanted, whether their mother was a witch. 'I let him in. Lily was still hiding, still afraid. She's always the timid, careful good girl. But I am the brave one.' I nodded.

'That first night the bear just lay down by the fire. He said he was so glad to be warm! He asked if someone would please brush the snow out of his coat with a broom, so I did. Lily was still too afraid. Mother told him he could stay all night, even after we went to bed, and he did.

'But he must have gone away early the next morning, because he was gone when we awoke. But he came back again that evening. And he did that again and again, every evening throughout the winter. After a long time, even Lily was no longer frightened of him, and we all began to look forward to his visits.

'Then one morning, when Spring was well along, the bear told us he had to go away, and that he would be away for the whole summer. You can imagine how sad we were! We had grown so fond of him.' Her gaze was far away now.

'We begged him to stay, but he said he had to rescue the treasures he had hidden in the forest. He said there was a wicked dwarf who would be waking from his winter sleep, and that if he didn't gather his treasures, that greedy dwarf would soon find the riches and take them for himself.'

She tore herself away from her memory to address me. 'We were all so sad to see him go! But he promised us he would come back the next winter, so we had to make do with that.'

'Did you love him?'

She seemed surprised. 'Well, I don't really know...I suppose I did love him. But not as much as Lily did. She pined for him for weeks. She didn't even want to eat. Mother had to make her.'

So Lily loved him. I wondered if the bear sensed it. And Rose? I didn't think so. Not as a lover anyway.

'By the time the summer was ending and the cooler weather beginning we'd practically forgotten about the bear, and our life was much as before.

'Then one late afternoon, mother sent us out to gather some firewood. Off we went, holding hands and merry as ever.

'After walking for some time we spied a big tree that had fallen to the ground. The wood would be perfect for making our fires, for it was quite dry and strong. As we began breaking off branches to take back to mother I spied something jumping back and forth on the other side of the tree. I went over—Lily of course didn't. She was afraid.' She really was determined to appear superior to her sister. 'When I came closer I saw it was a little man. Very ugly he was—bright red face and a long white beard. The reason he was jumping up and down was that the end of his beard was stuck in a crevice of the tree and he was trying to pull it free. It was quite amusing.

'When he saw me he began shouting at me. Oh, he was *so* foul-tempered! He said he'd been trying to split the tree to get some wood for cooking. He'd driven in his axe when suddenly, the trunk sprang asunder, caught the end of his beard and trapped him.' She looked up out of her memory. 'He really was an unpleasant person. He called me all sorts of names—stupid senseless goose, that sort of thing. But even though he looked ridiculous I did feel sorry for him. So I pulled his beard, pulled and pulled...I think it must have been an enchanted tree, hiding something from him perhaps. I thought it had trapped him on purpose.' The bear's treasure, I wondered? For the creature was almost certainly the dwarf.

'He was making so much commotion that even timid Lily became curious. She stopped gathering wood, came over beside me, and seeing I wasn't getting anywhere she took out her scissors and snipped the beard so the little man was free.

'Was he grateful? No he most certainly was not! Instead of thanking us, he just berated us for deforming his fine beard as he called it. He grabbed a sack of something shiny from the roots of the tree, called us uncouth, wished us bad luck, and ran off.'

Turning to me, 'Wasn't Lily foolish to cut his beard? It just made him even more angry.'

This was, I thought, a step too far. 'Well, I don't know. Were your efforts paying off?'

'Well, no...'

'What else could either of you have done?'

She didn't want to hear this. 'Well, maybe nothing else. But she did enrage him.'

I decided not to remind her of his wrath well before Lily came to his rescue. It was enough she'd admitted that Lily did the best thing.

'We went back to gathering the wood, and went home without saying a word.' This appeared to sadden her. 'I know Lily was sad that the little man had shouted at her, and that I hadn't defended her. But she didn't say anything.'

For the first time she looked contrite. 'She didn't even say anything when I told mother I was the one who'd freed the little man.' I let that go as well. She was already beginning to reorganise her opinion of Lily. I didn't need to weigh in.

'A few days later mother sent us out to catch some fish for supper. As we neared the brook we saw what looked like a huge grasshopper jumping near the water, then back away from it, over and over again. A few steps more, and we saw it was that little man again. Lily was less frightened this time, and asked him if he was in trouble.

'His reply wasn't pleasant. He called us all sorts of things, and couldn't we see it was obvious that his beard was tangled in the fishing line and the fish was pulling him to his death?

'I rushed to his aid, tried to disentangle his beard. But it was stuck fast. Then Lily pulled out her scissors and snipped the beard...' She looked up at me, reorganising her memory, 'Carefully I will grant you. But she had to cut some of it to free him.'

This was definite progress. Lily was gaining some well-deserved credit.

'He was so rude! Called us both toadstools, said Lily had disfigured his face. After many more insults he suddenly seemed to remember something. He ran to the rushes, pulled out a large sack of heavy coins, or whatever was hidden down there and ran off, still cursing and swearing. It wasn't nice.' She shook her head. 'We didn't deserve that. Lily was only trying to help.' I waited. Still it wasn't yet the right time to say anything.

'The next week, mother asked us if we would like to journey to the village at the edge of the forest because she needed some needles and thread, and more laces and ribbons. We loved going there! Mother always gave us an extra coin to buy a bag of sweets.

'On the way we had to cross a heath where there were some big rocks scattered across the path. There, above the largest rock, was a huge bird, hovering and watching something on the ground. As we approached it sank down, lower and lower until it disappeared behind the big rock.

'It was then we heard a piteous cry. I rushed over, and there...' She paused for her dramatic moment. 'There was the bird, its nasty long claws closed around that same little man.' She looked up, 'I think it was going to carry him off for a tasty dinner.'

'I didn't even stop to think if it was dangerous. I just rushed over and started trying to pull him away from the bird's grasp, pulling and pulling. Then Lily joined me, and together, with both of us pulling so hard, the bird let go and flew off.

'Well, you will never believe the thanks we did not get! Instead, the little man just screamed at us again, said we dragged at his coat and now it was torn and full of holes, and that it was all our fault. Still shouting, he fumbled under the rock, drew out a sack—this time I saw what was inside. It was full of precious jewels—and started to run off with it.

'But then...' Another dramatic pause. I didn't have to pretend interest. This was fascinating.

'Please, go on!'

'You'll never guess who came roaring out of the woods.' I shook my head. 'It was the black bear, our friend! The little man tried to run away, but he was trapped because the rock was in his way. The bear walked straight up to him, towering over him. The little man was pleading, pleading, saying he'd give back all the treasures if only the bear would spare him.'

She leaned forward. 'And do you know what else he said? He told the bear to take us instead! He said we were fat as young quails and we would make a lovely meal! What a terrible, terrible man!

'The bear didn't say a thing. He just stared at the creature. Then he swung his paw...' She covered her eyes. Even the memory was too much. 'He struck him and he fell. And he never moved again.

'Lily cried out, and she started to run away. But the bear called out to her, told her not to be afraid....'

I could sense the jealousy was about to come back. 'Why didn't he pay any attention to *me*? Just Lily, Lily, Lily. It was all about Lily. When I was the brave one!'

No, she didn't love him. She just wanted the spotlight. 'Well, maybe the bear saw how bold and strong you were, so he knew you were ok, but that Lily wasn't?'

That was better. 'Lily did stop running when she recognised his voice, and came back to where he was standing and sort of...he was sort of shaking. Then...the most amazing thing happened. His fur coat just...well, it just fell off from all the shaking! And there, instead of a bear, there was a man dressed all in gold! He had to be a nobleman. We just stared, which made him smile.

'He explained that he was a King's son, and he'd been bewitched by the dwarf who wanted to steal his treasures to keep them for himself. He'd been running around in the forest for two long years, he told us, trying to catch the dwarf, for only the little man's death could free him from the terrible spell.'

'How did you feel when he explained all that?' It was high time I stopped listening to story time and started acting like the therapist I was supposed to be.

'Really how did I feel?' I nodded. *'Well...I liked him better as a bear. He was more fun then, because he would play with us. When he was a prince he was so serious.'*

This made us both laugh.

'And Lily?'

A little contempt. 'Oh well. Lily. She was smitten. Her eyes were like moons, shining when she saw him and following his every move. It was pathetic really, the way she fawned on him.'

Did I dare say anything? Not quite yet.

'Anyway, he took Lily's hand,' Sniff of indignation. 'But not mine, and he said he'd see us home safely.

'When he opened the cottage door and we stepped inside, mother put down her sewing and looked up. "It's ended at last," she said. "And which one have you chosen?" How did mother know all of this, before we told her?'

I had no idea I said, but became even more certain mother was a witch.

Rose shrugged her shoulders. 'Oh well, I was only hoping you might know, but I didn't expect it really. Anyway, the prince told her he'd chosen Lily, and that he loved me, too, but as a sister.' She screwed up her face in distaste. 'So Lily gets to be queen.'

When someone faces a situation they dislike but cannot change, there's only one positive way to deal with it. The situation must be reframed so it seems attractive. It can take some patients months to come around to that.

'OK, sounds like that's definite.' She nodded, mournful now.

'It's not fair!'

'Rose, what's life like for a queen in your world? Because I don't know.' Although I had a pretty good idea.

'Well, everybody adores the queen. She gets to ride in an elegant carriage and wave at all the people, and they throw her beautiful flowers. And everyone talks about her and thinks about her.' 'And what if sometimes she doesn't want to ride in the carriage, or wave at the people? What if she'd rather...oh I don't know, what if she'd rather dress up in men's clothing?'

She burst out laughing. 'What a ridiculous idea! A queen doesn't dress up in men's clothing!' She glanced down at what she was wearing. I could see the confusion. 'I mean she wouldn't *want* to anyway...would she?'

'But you enjoy dressing up and pretending?' She nodded. 'Does Lily?'

She didn't like this much. 'Lily's such a pleaser. She just does what other people want, all the time.'

'Like queens have to do? Can a queen choose how to spend her day?'

'Well...perhaps not. There are lots of things she has to do, and those things probably take most of the day. And I guess...she'd have to do what her husband tells her.'

She looked up, regarded me cautiously. 'I don't think I would like that much.'

'Do you think Lily would?'

'Oh yes! Definitely!'

We sat in silence while she reflected. At last,

'I guess...I guess...Well, in a funny way maybe what's happened is fair after all. I mean, if I were to become queen, I'd have to do lots of things I don't want to do. No time to be me. But Lily will love pleasing everyone, taking orders, following rules.' She looked at me with a big grin, the light dawning. 'I guess I got off lightly, didn't I? Can you imagine me as a dutiful queen?'

'Come to think of it, no, not really.'

'I can't either.'

We sat together in compatible silence for a few moments. Then she picked up the tricorne, placed it back on top of her head and tucked her beautiful mane in underneath. Picking up her coat, 'Well, I think I'll be going now. I need to get back and congratulate Lily and her...bear.' She stood up, smiling at herself. 'And I need to start enjoying myself, enjoying *not* being the queen!'

'Goodbye Rose.'

But she'd already vanished, through the window and deep into the forest.

The Wolf and the Seven Kids

November 17th. Alex's birthday.

Waking well before any suggestion of sunrise, I'd allowed myself a delicious moment to pretend he was still alive, and imagine how we'd spend this special day.

Bad idea. I hurried out of bed despite the cold, turned the radio on top volume, and forced myself to focus on the early morning news bulletin. Spooned some stinky cat food into Molly's bowl, switched on the kettle. It was still dark.

As I cycled to work, for some reason my mind kept returning to the day I had my 24-week scan, the moment the doctor told me I was having a boy. I remembered the disappointment. I'd so hoped for a girl.

Since then, I can't count the number of times I've looked back and regretted that moment. It made me feel so cold, so ungrateful. How could I have wished for anything besides Alex? Is it just me, or do we all yearn for something different or something more, rather than valuing what we already have, accepting it gratefully? If it is human nature to be plagued by this desire for more, the need for something other, I was beginning to appreciate the power behind the Mindfulness movement, and why it's attracted such a huge following. Freedom from dissatisfaction.

This train of thought drifted away as I turned into the clinic parking lot, just as the first watery sunlight filtered through the trees. I dearly hoped to find Emma had booked a full clinic, with some really tough cases to distract and challenge me, take me through this day.

I was nearly granted my wish. A full clinic, yes. Challenging, on the whole, yes. But there were two cancellations, two hours when I was forced to remember, regret, mourn. I'd half expected Jane to cancel—her chronic fatigue means she's cancelled almost as many sessions as she's attended. But Josh, the 17-year old suffering from anxiety, cutting his arms and refusing to leave the house, was more of a concern. Despite his parents' insistence that I see him on his own, I was beginning to think we should start meeting as a family. I sensed mother was ambivalent about letting go of her boy, sending him mixed messages that only made his symptoms worse. I knew I'd been avoiding making that decision, worrying whether I could maintain the objectivity necessary to help a mother who was reluctant to part with her son, or allow him to grow up...

Once the last client left, I decided to leave straight away rather than hang around hoping for possible arrivals through the window. I was just too spent. So as soon as I heard the front door close, I snapped on my cycle clips, zipped up my anorak, and slung on my backpack—not even taking time to write up the day's notes. I wanted to get out before anyone tried their luck with the window.

Too late. Just before I reached up to switch off the lights I heard the whistle of wind behind me, felt the sharp blast, heard the clunk as someone heavy landed on the floor just inside. But instead of the sounds of a dusting off followed by footsteps, I heard the clatter of hooves. I turned around.

A huge white mountain goat was trotting towards me with a no-nonsense look about it. Long shaggy white coat, perfect balance on those two-toed hooves, all lean muscle without an ounce of fat. Hardly any beard—must be a nanny. My hand dropped from the light switch.

'I'm not late, am I?' I shook my head, slightly nervous. Her long curved horns looked sharp, and the eyes...I've never liked goats' eyes, those slits for pupils. Impossible to read their mood.

'Well, if I'm not late then you must have forgotten. Not a very good start, is it? Maaah!'

She certainly didn't lack self-confidence. But I wasn't about to start the session with a goat in charge. 'No, I hadn't forgotten. I was just going out to the parking lot...' She tilted her head inquisitively. '...I was going outside to where I left my cycle, to bring it closer to the surgery so I can see to get on it properly when we've finished.' Good lie. I congratulated myself.

'Well, go on then. But be quick about it!'

'No, never mind. Actually it's fine.' I removed my gear. I wasn't going to take orders from this creature.

'Well then, where are we supposed to sit? Do hurry! I have a great deal to tell you and I must find my children! Even now it could be too late!'

Another mother concerned about her children. The theme of the day, or so it seemed.

I gestured to the patient's chair. 'You're here. I'll sit opposite so we can see each other, just there,' pointing across the table to my black leather desk chair.

'I see you get to sit in the more comfortable chair.'

I felt my irritation rising. Stop it, Helen. The need to be in control might be the root of her problem, if back home she no longer was in charge for some reason. Or maybe she was tortured by envy, wanting anything others have. I sat down carefully, took my time extracting some sheets of A4 and a biro from my backpack, refusing to look up until I'd done so. Shuffled the papers unnecessarily, tested the biro. I sensed

her fidgeting. Good. Deep breath. then looking up with my therapeutic smile of nonjudgmental kindly interest, 'And now, if you're comfortable, do tell me what brought you here this evening.'

'I already told you. You should have listened! My children! They're gone. Despite my careful instructions. They're gone, gone. And I...I fear the wolf has...' The bravado broke at this point. Tears, and more noisy maahs. How small I felt for disliking her. Her bossiness was merely a front, her way of keeping her distress from overwhelming her. Poor thing!

'Let me get you some tissues. And please, give yourself a bit of time. It's much better if you wait until...until the tears pass. We'll get to the bottom of things more quickly that way.'

She nodded and gratefully accepted the box of tissues which she examined on all sides, and then began to eat. I hadn't the heart to correct her. Once she'd finished it, box and tissues all, she looked up. 'Thank you. I feel much better now.'

'Good. I'm glad.' She didn't reply, just looked at me with what I thought was an expectant gaze. I was in charge now—first round to the therapist.

'Why don't you start by telling me about your children—their ages, and whether they're twins?' By 'children' I assumed she meant two. Goats usually give birth to one or to twins, very occasionally to triplets.

She nodded, sat up tall before beginning. 'I am the proud mother of seven wonderful kids.'

'Seven?! But I thought...' She grinned mischievously. I wasn't as much in charge as I'd thought.

'That's right. Seven. I have twins, Billy and Lam. Since they were born we shared our lives with six other mothers and their kids...' She paused, looked down, took a deep controlled breath. 'Until one night this last month...we were right at the end of winter, before food was plentiful again for the wolves...' I could see this was hard.

'Don't hurry. You're being really brave.'

'The wolves...they must have been desperate. It was in full daylight—not even under cover of night—when three of them attacked our herd. We managed to surround the kids and face the wolves. We thought they would only go for the kids.

'But instead, they turned their snarls on us. Then they went straight for the three smallest nannies—each of those monsters grabbed one in their terrible jaws-and carried them away. They were screaming. It was...unbearable.' I wondered fleetingly if she was suffering from PTSD after such a trauma, imagining the kids had also now been taken by the wolves. Surely she wouldn't come to a psychologist if the only issue was child recovery. That would be a job for a child protection officer or the police, or whatever equivalents they have in their world.

'Once they'd gone, once we'd calmed the poor kids, we had to decide what to do. As I am the largest and the eldest, it was decided that I should take on the poor...orphans.' Pause for another noisy bout of sobbing and braying. I withheld more tissues, fearing that even a goat's digestive system might find two boxes of absorbent tissues a bit of a challenge.

Presently she took a deep breath, exhaled slowly and then looked up pleadingly. I noticed with quiet pride how quickly I was learning to recognise goat emotions.

'I have tried my very, very best to look after them. Honestly I have!'

'I'm sure you have. You must be remarkable, even for agreeing to take them all on in the first place. I've never even heard of a nanny looking after seven kids!' That helped.

'Thank you. But I failed. Failed.'

'Please, try not to judge yourself. Just let me know the facts so we can try to figure out the best thing to do. After all, they're only missing. You have no proof they're...no longer alive.' Even though I'd tried to soften that last statement, she still had to work hard to control another torrent of tears.

'After only a few days with such a large family, we ran short of food. I hadn't reckoned on so many mouths to feed. I explained to the kids that I would have to go out to gather some early spring plants and grasses, and that I'd not be gone long.

'But before I left, I warned them that the wolves might come back. I told them they would recognise a wolf because of its rough voice, and anyway, on no account should they let anyone into the shelter I'd found for us in the hillside.'

Her gaze was far away now, remembering. 'On my return I found them all hiding at the back, whimpering pitifully. You can imagine my worry, and of course I wanted to know at once what happened. Snowy, the eldest, told me someone had come calling. He'd said he was me, and asked if we would show him the opening to our shelter. But my Billy remembered my warning,' Here she paused for a moment of motherly pride. '...so he told the stranger to go away, because his rough voice proved he was the wolf and not our mother.'

'So I guess that means the wolf—it was a wolf, wasn't it?' She nodded vigorously. 'The wolf now knew he had to disguise his voice if he wanted to fool the kids?'

Another vigorous shake of her shaggy head. 'That's right. So next time I had to go out to gather food—and it was only a few days later, because those kids all have such appetites as you'd never believe. I told them again not to let anyone in. No one. Not even if they have a soft voice, because it might be a tricky wolf, not me. I told them to check the visitor's feet before they even think of opening the door'. She was in full bossy mother mode now, gesticulating with her hooves and bouncing up and down in the chair. 'I said check their feet. If they have black feet, do not open the door.' She paused, satisfied with herself.

'Well, when I returned at sunset, they were all hiding again and making such pitiful sounds! I just knew things had gone wrong, and I asked Snowy to tell me what happened. He said someone did call not long after I left, someone with the loveliest soft voice, who said it was our mother returning with lots of tasty food. But little Pan had crawled under the hedge, and he could see the creature's feet. They were black. Black! Snowy told him to go away, because his black feet proved he was the wolf and not our mother.'

These little goats really weren't very bright, was all I could think. Talk about handing secrets to the enemy. No doubt the wolf had found a way to soften his voice, and now he knew he also had to whiten his feet. The information he needed was handed to him on a plate, excuse the bad joke. All he had to do was wait for mother to go out foraging again. 'So what happened next?'

'I tried to make our grasses last, I really did. But in less than a week I knew I would have to go out again for more.

'This time I gathered all seven of them together. Even Almond the hopeless one.'

The hopeless one? What had made her decide this one kid was hopeless? But now was not the time to ask. 'After you'd gathered them all together, what did you tell them?'

'I was as clear as clear water. I told them they were not to open the door to anyone with a rough voice or black feet.

'Then I set out with my basket. I was gone all day and even just a little past sunset—longer than I'd intended—trying to gather enough food to last us, so I wouldn't have to go out again for a long time.

175

'But when I returned...oh what a terrible sight met my eyes! The entrance to our shelter was badly disturbed, the door wide open with a big crack in the middle, as if a large creature had bashed it and trampled the earth. And when I went into the shelter...' She began sobbing again, shoulders shaking and with much maahing.

'This must have been such a dreadful moment! You poor, poor thing.' And I meant it. I felt so sorry for her, sensing what she was about to tell me. She carried on sobbing and snorting for some time, but at last she looked up, the suffering in her eyes so heart-breaking.

'They were all gone! My children, gone! The wolf had disguised his voice and whitened his feet. The kids believed it was me, and Pan opened the door to him. Then the monster charged in, grabbed them and carried them off. He'll eat them all for sure if I don't find him! But where will I find them? Where would a wolf take so many, too many to eat at once? There could still be time to save them! Help me, please help me!'

'Whoa! Hold on there!' I spoke sharply to regain her attention, for she'd risen from her chair and was beating her front hooves against her face and stamping her back hooves in agitation. She looked to be in danger of blinding herself. 'Stop right now! You're making far too many assumptions. You don't know the wolf came in, or that he carried them off. Maybe they just ran out to play and got lost?' I knew that was too far-fetched because she eyed me suspiciously.

'You're wrong. I know it was the wolf. I know it, because Almond told me.'

'Almond told you?! How is that possible? I thought you said the wolf came in and carried all the kids off?'

She didn't look so pitiful now. Sullen, defensive, and angry were better descriptors. 'He did. He carried of all the ones that count, that is. He didn't find Almond because she scrambled under a rock where he couldn't see her.'

More like Almond definitely did count. She was the smartest of the lot by the sound of it. Why wasn't this mother overjoyed that at least one kid had been spared? And if Almond witnessed what happened, she might be able to lead her mother to the rest of them. And if that was so, why did she come to see me? This wasn't a psychological matter; it was just plain common sense; if anything, it was a job for a detective. I was so taken aback I wasn't sure what to say next. More details might help, and it might give me time to figure out the best approach.

'So Almond told you what happened, that's why you know?' She nodded. 'And she told you the wolf didn't...kill them?' Another nod.

'She said the monster stuffed them into a large sack and carried them off. Laughing he was, talking to himself. He said he was going to the lakeside and have a rest, and then....' She bent her head. 'No, I can't say it!'

I waited. I needed to know.

She took a deep breath. 'Yes I *can* say it. I have to, so you can help. The wolf said after his rest he would build a big fire and then he would...roast the kids for his dinner!'

'Almond told you all that?' Another nod. I wanted to shake her, but what good would that do her, or her kids?

'Then why are you here talking to me instead of letting Almond show you the path the wolf took to the lake, so you can rescue your other children?'

The distressed pitiful look melted. She stared at me, now sullen and defensive once more. In a cold voice, 'That's what the other nannies told me. They said I must listen to Almond. But Almond is a nanny. I never wanted to raise a nanny, because nannies are useless. My other children are all billies. And they're white. She's not even white.'

The poor little creature. Just because she wasn't the preferred gender or the 'right' colour, her mother had rejected her. But she was clever. The cleverest of the lot. She'd had the sense to hide. At least the other nannies recognised her worth.

'Did Almond say anything else?'

'Well...she did say the wolf would probably be too tired to...build the fire straight away when he finally got to the lake. She said he'd most likely fall asleep first...'

'And?'

'And that if we went together to the lake—Almond said she'd peeped out from the rock and saw the way the wolf went, so she could show me. If we took some scissors, she said, we could cut the kids free while the wolf was still asleep.'

'That's genius! Surely she's right! That's what you need to do, isn't it?' I couldn't help myself, but I could sense her defensiveness coming to the fore once again. Slow down, Helen.

'I mean, Almond may not be the colour you dreamed of, and she may not be a boy, the gender you prefer...but hey, is that all there is to a...a goat? I mean, you're not a boy either, are you?' The frown softened, and for the first time I detected what must be a goaty smile. 'Almond seems to me to be very clever. And I think her plan is genius.' I could see at last that she was beginning to reconsider. 'Maybe she is...a little bit clever. That's what the other nannies say. That's why I'm here. They told me my...opinions...my opinions were getting in the way of...being sensible. They said I need to learn to listen, not just be bossy all the time. It's not healthy, they said. Go talk to the psychologist, they said.' She looked down, ashamed. This was a big admission for her.

I could almost see her changing her attitude as she reconstructed that evening, bringing to mind details she'd deliberately overlooked. 'Almond said if we went together, she would put some rocks in the sack after she cut the billies out so they could run to you and be safe. She said she would sew the sack back up herself, and the wolf would think the goats were still in there. Because she's so small, she said, the wolf wouldn't even notice what she's doing. And she said she would be very quiet. Then when the wolf wakes up and tries to move the sack, Almond thinks the weight of it will unbalance him, and he'll probably fall into the lake.' She looked up, respect dawning for her little nanny. She told me wolves can't swim.'

'I think this little goat is very precious indeed, and I think you've recognised that now. Good for you! She nodded wearily and let out a sigh of relief.

'I also think you need to hurry back to Almond. You two nannies have a job to do. It needs both of you, and it needs doing quickly.'

She stared at me hard. It felt as if her steely resolve was flowing back. Suddenly, she jumped out of the chair and in one leap—I'm sure it was a single twelve-foot leap, although I still can't believe it—there she was, standing at the window.

But before gathering herself for a second stupendous jump, she paused and turned her head to look back at me. 'You're right. How wrong I've been to judge others only by their appearance. How wrong not to listen to someone because I'd already dismissed them. How small-minded to let my prejudices get in the way of...of figuring out what needs to be done. How foolish I've been!'

She turned back to the window, gathering her hooves underneath her and calling loudly into the darkness, 'I'm on my way, dear Almond! We'll rescue them. You were right all along. We can do it if we do it together!' And with a mighty leap she sailed out the window, deep into the night.

I didn't mean to appear rude.

I must have been completely absorbed in my note-taking, which wasn't surprising. My last client suffers from bipolar disorder, so it's vital for him to continue taking his mood stabilising medication. He'd come to me originally when he was high as high, full of ideas about some sort of plot against him, and his own plans for revenge. With the help of an excellent psychiatrist we'd found the right medication in the right dose to stabilise but not over-sedate him, and he'd been stable and content for over two months now.

But I'd known from the moment he stepped into the consulting room today that he'd stopped taking the medication. He was talking non-stop and gesticulating wildly as he pushed open the door, and had changed the topic three times before he even sat down. Somehow I'd managed to convince him of the need to see the psychiatrist for an immediate review of his medication, and I knew my letter had to reflect the urgency I was feeling, but without sounding arrogant or high-handed. After all, unlike the psychiatrist, I had no medical training.

I signed off the letter with a flourish—hand written for Emma to deliver in person first thing in the morning—and looked up to congratulate myself on the careful wording.

However, instead of an empty room, it was quite a shock to find myself facing someone in the patient chair across the table.

Someone arrogant and high-handed, impatient and annoyed.

'About time you looked up. Have you quite finished?'

'Oh I am so sorry! I...I didn't hear you come in.'

'Well, that's pretty surprising, given that all your papers except the one you're writing on went everywhere when I flew in through the window.'

I looked around, acknowledged the scattered papers on the floor. 'I really am sorry.'

He was clearly not prepared to let me off easily. 'I should think you could do better than that. You are, may I inform you, addressing the sovereign of the realm of Lippstadt.' He stared, waiting for something. What?

'You may kneel.'

No way. I returned the stare, comfortable as therapists are trained to be, just to wait him out in silence.
He was magnificent, I had to admit. He sprawled lazily, pushed back from the table so I had a good view of his crimson silk breeches, generously cut and buttoned at the sides of the knees. Crimson silk stockings rose just above the breeches, finishing with carmine satin knee bands. The shoes were white leather fastened with intricately carved silver buckles. He wore a blue velvet coat—lapis lazuli described the shade more precisely—decorated with rich gold embroidery, a matching silk vest beneath. The coat sleeves, also heavily embroidered, ended above the wrists, which allowed a good view of the full white linen shirt and lace cuffs. The decorated hilt of a ceremonial sword showed on his right side at the waist, which might explain why he had to sit so far back from the table. A crimson sash was draped across his chest from the left shoulder, secured at the waist just above the sword.

Over it all he wore absolutely the most beautiful cloak I have ever seen. Full length red velvet, embroidered in gold and lined with soft white fur, held together at his breast with a silver clasp. In his left hand he held some sort of walking stick or rod—I couldn't really make it out.

He was clean shaven, hard haughty features and glittering dark eyes, a crafty intelligence woven into the arrogance. He sported a white carefully coiffed wig, the wig tail held securely by a black satin bow. I could smell the orange flower starch from where I was sitting. He continued to hold me with his stare, taking in my measure. I returned his gaze evenly, a current of challenge connecting us.

A moment more. Then suddenly he smiled, and seamlessly, without losing face, 'Perhaps in your world you do not bow. I will forgive you.'

Thank heavens for that. I returned the smile, nodded and waited.

'No doubt you would like to know what brings me here to this...' glancing round, 'simple establishment.' I let that pass, smiled and nodded yet again.

He lifted the walking stick--or whatever it was--onto the table, pulled off a sort of cap that covered one end of it, and extracted a piece of thick parchment which he carefully unrolled.

'I wish to create a document that enables me to annul the marriage between my daughter and her...husband.' He spat out the last word. 'I need you to help me create the wording, so there will be no questioning, no argument.'

Why me? I'm not a lawyer. Maybe he misunderstands my profession. 'I'm not trained to create legal documents.'

'I am well aware of what you're trained to do. That is not what I am asking. I have legal experts who will assist me with the wording. Your job is to come up with an incontrovertible reason to end the marriage.'

I felt as if I'd been thrown far into the middle of the ocean. Where to start? 'Has their union been consummated?'

He reddened, but with anger or perhaps disgust rather than embarrassment. 'No doubt it has.'

'Does your daughter wish the marriage to end?'

If he was angry before, he was enraged now. He leaned forward, fury boring into me. 'How dare you ask such a question? We are talking about what I wish. My daughter's wishes in the matter are irrelevant.'

'Why?'

'Because she is but a *woman*!' He bashed the table with his fist to add emphasis.

I waited a little, time for him to regard me a little more carefully. Then, 'So am I. Perhaps therefore you should seek a man to help you, someone whose mind is more...relevant.' I locked into his gaze once more, and we sat together, unmoving, for several long minutes.

At last he dropped his eyes, let go his grip on the scroll case, allowed his shoulders to relax. 'You are as clever as I was told you are.

'I am prepared to forgive you for living in such a strange world, a place where I see women are considered to be the equal of men. Because...' He looked up at me, no longer challenging, '...I really do need your help. My daughter may be...a mere woman...' He permitted me to smile with him. To my surprise I was beginning to like him. 'But I love her. She is my only child. I want the best for her. And I have now discovered...that I offered her in marriage to a...fraudster. A no-good liar.'

At last we were getting somewhere. Furthermore, he needed some recognition for his efforts. It couldn't have been easy for him to accept me as an equal. 'Thank you for your honesty and clarity. I will try to help you.' Another winning smile. 'But first, I need more information—quite a lot more in fact.' He nodded gratefully. 'Let's start with how you discovered that your son-in-law isn't...the man you thought he was.'

'That's easily done. The servants who guard the couple's bedchamber at night have heard him talking in his sleep. On several occasions he has called out, "Make me the doublet, boy, and bring me the needle and thread that I may patch the pantaloons." You know of course what that means?'

'l'm afraid I don't.'

'Ah well, I will tell you then. It means he is a tailor. A simple tailor. A common man, rather than the great warrior he claims to be. A liar and a fraudster, unworthy of my daughter's hand.'

'I see. So when you first encountered him he told you he was a warrior?'

'He had no need to tell me. My servants found him asleep on the grass just outside the castle gates. He was wearing a girdle that read, "Seven at one stroke."

'Seven what?'

He looked astonished. 'Seven warriors of course. It seems he slayed seven of them at one stroke.'

'He specifically told you that?'

I'd unwittingly stoked his ready temper. His face reddened and he gripped the table. I chided myself. Slow down, Helen. Soften your approach. 'I mean, of course you would assume that's what the inscription meant. Anyone would think that.' That helped. He relaxed, normal colour returning to his face.

'Of course. When my servants informed me, I ordered them to bring the man to me, that I might meet such a mighty lord.

'When he was presented to me I saw no reason to doubt the words on his girdle. A fine and able fellow he appeared, although slight of build and not as tall as I'd expected. I offered him military service and an excellent commission on the spot. He accepted, pleased of course to enter the king's service.

'He quickly proved to be a natural leader, and although he incited fear with the words on his girdle, he also commanded great respect. He rose quickly to the highest rank.'

'And that's why you offered him your daughter's hand in marriage?'

Another blunder. He looked at me pityingly. 'What an unsophisticated world you must inhabit! To consider military acumen sufficient to make someone worthy of a princess? Impossible! He had to be tested. So I created three trials and summoned him forth.' He paused for dramatic effect. He knew I was hooked now, that I wanted to hear more. After examining his fingernails carefully, he looked up at me, prepared now to continue his narrative.

'During this time my kingdom was plagued by the presence of two giants in the forest where I most desire to hunt. These two brutes caused great distress, robbing, murdering, ravaging and burning, and no one could approach them without putting himself in grave danger. Eliminating these monsters, I decided, would be his first test. 'I described to him the whereabouts of these two giants and informed him that if he killed them, I would consider giving him the hand of my only daughter in marriage, and half my kingdom as a dowry. As the task was so daunting, I offered him 100 horsemen to assist him. But he refused their help. Looking back, it is fortunate they followed him.'

'Go on.' I really was fascinated.

'When he came to the edge of the forest he commanded the horseman to wait, telling them he preferred to slay the giants himself. Then he set off alone—on foot no less.

'He was gone a mere three hours. When he returned to the waiting troops he appeared totally unscathed. Brandishing a bloody dagger, he told them the job was done, that he had given both brutes their finishing stroke, and that the troops were free to enter the forest safely now to view his handiwork.

'Of course they entered at once, and to their astonishment they found the two giants stone dead, swimming in their own blood, with trees uprooted all around them. They rode back post haste to report to me, full of awe and fear of this valiant warrior.'

'Wow, that's really something! And I guess with the soldiers as witnesses, there was no doubt about his courage and ferocity?'

'Ah, now you are thinking more clearly! I noted, when my soldiers returned, that there were only 99 of them. At the time I assumed I had miscounted, and thought no more of it.

'However, when the warrior returned much later that day and in high spirits, I felt something was...odd...' His voice trailed off.

'You sensed all was not as it had been told to you?'

He nodded vigorously. 'I did indeed feel uncomfortable, although I wasn't able to say why.'

'We call that instinct, or a sixth sense. It's when we've learned or sensed more than is in our awareness. Instinct is always to be trusted.'

He smiled broadly. 'And I did trust that...instinct, as you call it. I summoned him to my throne once again. Praised him for his valour, but said that there was no greater gift than my daughter's pledge to him, so I would require a second test.' He paused, considering. 'I'm not certain, looking back, whether he was glad to face another challenge or not.'

'It doesn't really matter. I don't suppose it would tell us much.'

Another nod of approval before he continued. 'I told him that in an adjacent forest there roamed another foul creature, this one a unicorn which, rather than being a benign and magical creature, had caused us great harm.'

He paused to regard me, thinking carefully. 'I don't suppose you are familiar with unicorns?'

'Not really.'

'I thought not. Unicorns are magical creatures, pure and defenceless—even if, as in our forest, they are ill-tempered. It is perilous, to say the least, to slay a unicorn, even to order it slain, for he who does so is doomed henceforward to live a cursed life, to live half alive.'

He was undoubtedly the most fascinating client ever to sit across from me. I realised that once again, I was leaning so far towards him that my head was almost half way across the table. How ridiculous I must have looked! I sat back as unobtrusively as I could manage. 'So what did you ask of the warrior?'

'I told him he must catch the creature—alive.' He shook his head so hard that even the wig trembled, some of the starch powder enveloping him like a halo. 'His response was too audacious. He said he feared one unicorn even less than two giants, that seven of them rather than just one would have been a challenge more appropriate for him.

'He asked only for a rope and an axe, and again refused the help of my 100 soldiers whom I ordered to accompany him. He bade them wait outside the entrance to the forest, and again he entered alone and on foot.

'Only two hours later he re-emerged, leading the unicorn by a rope tied round its neck. It was most subdued, its horn cut at the tip. He handed the rope to the waiting soldiers, who could scarcely believe their eyes, and commanded them to take the beast to me.'

'When they did, were there 99 or 100 of them?'

His eyes twinkled. 'Clever you! There were 99 again.' And then more seriously, 'Even though I marvelled at the sight of the unicorn, I felt unease. I decided to set him one further task.

'When he answered my summons next morning I will admit that he appeared totally unscathed, fresh as a spring flower. But rather than generating awe and wonder, this made me feel even more unsure of him.' He regarded me, head cocked to one side. 'Instinct again?' I nodded, and he continued with a smile.

'I had been thinking all night about the final task to set him. I knew it must be the greatest of all challenges. By daybreak I knew what to ask.

184

'In yet another of my forests there dwelt a wild boar. He had gored many a huntsman, and many a horse, with his huge tusks. Everyone lived in fear of him. I told the warrior he had to capture this boar. I set not the easier of tasks. I did not ask him to kill the creature. Oh no! I commanded him to capture it alive.

'He laughed upon hearing my request. *Laughed!* He said such a task was mere child's play to him, and that to make it more challenging he would go forth without any weaponry or defense whatsoever!'

'But you sent the soldiers again anyway?'

'I did. Something kept urging me to do so, even though he always refused their help.'

'That wonderful instinct of yours yet again.'

He beamed at my praise. 'The soldiers watched as he trotted gaily into the forest, assuming they'd never see him emerge alive. But less than one hour later out he strode, fresh as the morning dew, not a hair out of place. He told the soldiers to approach the chapel that lies just inside the forest, and to look within it. Once there they spied the brute, kicking and butting the walls and door in his furious but futile efforts to escape.'

'And 99 of them returned to tell you of this?'

'Just so. And thus it was that, despite the...discomfort on my part...I knew I had to honour my word. The wedding was held the next week, with great pomp and circumstance, and I bequeathed the couple half my kingdom.'

'You are a man of your word.'

To my surprise, he frowned. 'I *was* a man of my word. Until...until one of the soldiers who guards their bedchamber came forth to tell me what really happened.' Looking up, 'Now I am compelled to break my word. I have never done so before. Never.'

What complicated creatures we all are! He was haughty, proud, arrogant, demanding. But at the same time, he was a man of high principles, someone who kept his word. And a man who loved his daughter—even though she was a female.

'Thank you for relating this tale so clearly. You face a complex dilemma indeed! May I ask leave to consider what you have told me?'

'Of course. I would have disregarded a glib response.'

'Thanks.'

I stood up, walked to the window where there was a clear run between the two walls, and began pacing. I always think more clearly when I'm moving, and his problem needed a lot of thought. Two giants, a unicorn and a wild boar all submitted to this warrior. Yet despite his relatively slight build, despite carrying no weapons and entering the forests on foot, he emerged from each encounter totally unscathed. That suggested to me he'd conquered the creatures by wit rather than by using his muscles.

And what about the 'Seven at one blow' claim? He'd never said seven what. Could be a bluff. Could be seven flies, for all anyone knew. But how could we find out?

Numbers hold the key.

Where did that thought come from? I smiled to myself. My instinct was now at work. I remembered thinking how curious it was that at the outset of each task 100 soldiers set out with the warrior, but only 99 returned. Did that one soldier hold the key? I returned to my chair.

'Important question.'

'I am ready.'

'If you counted correctly, on each occasion one soldier somehow disappeared around the time the warrior entered the forest.'

'That's correct.' He was loving this.

'I'm guessing now...but I think...he followed the warrior—unseen—and witnessed what happened.'

'That is exactly what he told me.'

I felt a little disappointed. I'd hoped to unscramble this all myself, but he was way ahead of me. 'Then I guess he told you how the warrior achieved his...amazing feats each time?' I looked across, the disappointment no doubt showing in my expression. 'So if you know all this already, and if what you know means he's a fraudster, why do you need my help?'

He reddened slightly. I should have put that more gently, hidden my disappointment. This is about him, not me, I reminded myself sternly. 'What I mean is, don't you have the evidence you need to annul the marriage already?'

'Yes, but also no. That is why I am here.'

'Explain please.'

'One soldier did indeed follow the warrior into the forest on all three occasions, and he did witness what happened each time. And it was the same soldier every time.'

'But he never told you?'

He shook his head, frowning. 'Not until he heard the...heard the warrior speaking in his sleep.'

He paused, then continued, 'You see, that soldier was one of the two that guards my daughter's bedchamber, that which is now her marriage chamber. He does so, just as he has always watched over her since she was a child.' He paused, thoughtful. 'He loves my daughter as...a sister.' Looking up sharply, 'Although of course he would never *dare* consider himself an equal with a royal!'

Here we go again. The belief that worth is accrued according to birth or gender, whether you're born into royalty, born a boy instead of a girl. Much more important than what you accomplish. How unfair...

He interrupted my wanderings. 'This is what he told me.

'On the first occasion, the warrior did not slay the giants. He stabbed them, true, but only after they had already felled each other, just to make sure the job was done.

'When he first came upon the two of them they were asleep. He climbed a tree nearby and threw rocks down on them, one at a time, so as to make each think he was being pelted by the other. Eventually they became so enraged with one another that they began a vicious fight. They tore up trees and belaboured each other for so long that at last they both fell down dead amidst the strewn branches of the trees. Then the warrior simply hopped down from the tree, stabbed each of them, and returned to the waiting troop of soldiers.

'Then there was the challenge of capturing the unicorn. On that occasion, according to my informant, as soon as the warrior entered the forest—and he did so loudly, whistling and singing so as to attract attention—the unicorn appeared and rushed directly towards him, lowering his horn to spit and kill him.

'But he is a nimble man. At the last moment, just in front of a large oak tree he sprang aside, too late for the unicorn to change course. The creature ran against the tree with all its strength, and the horn stuck so fast into the trunk that he could not draw it out again. The warrior waited for the creature to tire himself, then came out from behind the tree and put the rope round its neck. With his axe he then hewed the horn from the tree, cutting it slightly at the tip. Finally, he led the exhausted beast back to the waiting soldiers, who brought the unicorn to me.

'And now for the third challenge. The warrior must have known this forest already according to my witness, because he headed straight away for the only building within it, a small chapel. My informant had climbed the first tree he could find lest the boar run for him, and as a result he could not see what happened as clearly as he had done on the previous two occasions. But from what he surmised, the warrior ran directly into the chapel. The beast, who'd already spotted him, followed close behind, terrible to see with foaming mouth and whetted tusks.

'The next thing my informant knew, the warrior appeared at the chapel window, pushing hard against it and springing out through the opening he'd evidently created. Immediately he ran round the side of the chapel, and slammed and bolted the door. The boar was of course much too heavy and awkward to leap out of the window as the warrior was done, and not strong enough to break down the door, so he was caught.'

It was all so clear now. And so clever.

'But you say your faithful informant never told you what he'd seen?'

'Not until he heard the sleep talk.'

'Why then? And why, oh why, did he not tell you before?'

'He is a strange character I grant you. Loyal and trustworthy, but his way of thinking...does not make sense to me. He told me he had not come forward before because...because he believed the warrior had done nothing wrong, that he had in fact acted in good faith.

'In good faith?!! Had he not been such a faithful servant I might have had him put to death for saying that, for to me that seems blasphemous!'

'Whoa! Hold on here, and bear with me just a moment, will you please?' He'd reddened again, pushing up from his chair so as to bash the table with his fist, as hard as possible so he could emphasise his point. Mercifully I'd spoken soon enough, however, and my table was spared. He stood upright, straightened his magnificent cloak, took three deep breaths, then slowly eased back down. He looked up at me, reawakening his steely stare.

'This better be good.'

A challenge. I loved it. 'OK, what did you ask him to do for the first task?'

'That he rids us of the giants.'

'Did he do so?'

He didn't like that. Reluctantly, sullenly, 'I suppose he did.'

'And the second time, what was your demand?'

'That he captures the unicorn.'

'And?'

He lowered his head. 'He did so.'

'And finally, what did you ask?'

'That he captures the boar--alive.' He didn't wait for my humiliating question, 'And that is what he did.' 'So...I'm guessing here...but is that not what your faithful servant...'

'Thomas. He is called Thomas.'

'Is that not what Thomas concluded?'

He nodded, weary now rather than defensive. 'He told me he'd not come before, because on each occasion the warrior had fulfilled my demand. He said he had thought much about it, and because I had not specified how he was to accomplish the tasks, he concluded that the warrior deserved to be accorded honour and reward, even if his strength was ingenuity rather than physical might.'

'But you don't agree?'

'He is a soldier! A soldier uses his body not his mind!'

I decided not to argue—yet. 'But then, when Thomas heard the warrior speaking like a...tailor...why did that make him come to you?'

'Because then he knew the warrior had lied! He had told us he was a warrior, when in truth he is a tailor.'

I knew I had to be careful. 'I have to ask you some tricky questions. Please, try to remain calm. OK?' Caught off guard, he was surprised and curious rather than angry. He nodded his agreement.

'Did the warrior ever actually call himself a warrior?'

Evidently he wasn't expecting that one. He thought hard, fidgeting, clasping and unclasping his hands. At last, 'No, I cannot recall that he did.'

'And--please stay calm—did he ever say he'd used physical strength to accomplish any of the three tasks?'

'I suppose...no, he did not.'

'So would it be possible to conclude that he never actually told a lie?'

'Well he...no I suppose he never did.'

The final nail. Careful, Helen. Proceed slowly. 'And the inscription, "Seven at one blow"...I know you didn't like me asking you this before...but did you ever ask him what the seven in the inscription was referring to?'

He shook his head and sighed.

'So it might have been...oh I don't know...seven...mice? Or seven, flies, perhaps?'

To my astonishment and delight he burst out laughing. 'Oh what a clever chap he is! He made fools of us all!'

'No. You are not a fool.' He accepted the compliment almost greedily. 'He simply allowed you to infer what you wished. He built on your assumptions, true, but he never actually lied.' I let him consider this. Then,

'One more difficult question. Really difficult for you, I know. But I have to ask it, because you told me you love your daughter.'

'And I do.'

'OK, does she love her...tailor husband?'

Did I detect a tear in his eye?

'She loves him...absolutely.'

'Then does it really matter that he was not born with royal blood?'

I watched him wrestling with himself. It was so much to ask. Could he rework his entire value system? Could he consider someone an equal merely because of their efforts, rather than because of the characteristics with which they were born? At last,

'They are happy. My daughter has never been happier. And he...tailor that he is...' He smiled at himself, 'Tailor that he is, he loves my daughter with all his heart.'

He squared himself, looked at me directly, chin held high. 'You know, I think he will make a fine king after I die. He would be able to outwit any enemy. He...he would probably spare many soldiers a needless death in...hasty battles.'

Wow. Such generosity, such humility. I would not have expected this an hour ago. But regarding him, I saw a new softness, a sort of tranquillity about him.

He sat quietly for another moment. Then he glanced down at the scroll. To my surprise, he picked it up and squashed it, then replaced it in the container, and pushed the cap back in place. 'I won't be needing this now, thanks to you.'

Without another word he strode purposely to the window, turned briefly to nod, smile and tip his rod towards me respectively. Then he turned and vanished.

The Golden Goose

All I could think was that it must be group therapy night.

The procession that flew through the window this Tuesday evening was unlike anything I had ever seen.

When psychologists choose individuals to attend for a course of group therapy sessions, most of us base our decisions on a common theme. The theme might concern the type of therapy offered—for example, that all of these people would benefit if they learned the principles of Cognitive Behaviour Therapy. Or we might put together individuals with similar issues—these people are all suffering from high anxiety, depression or panic attacks; or these couples are all experiencing difficulties in their relationship. But what commonality might run through this motley crew? I couldn't begin to imagine.

They were, nonetheless, connected. Literally. They'd come in as a queue, each clutching the waist of the person ahead of them, and each hurling insults at the person whose waist they grasped. They had been silent as the procession flew in, but as soon as their feet touched the ground the noise began—angry confused chatter. I could only pick out snatches of what they were saying, but everything I heard was about ownership or possession. 'It's mine, not yours.' 'I saw it first.' 'I deserve it more than you do!'

At the head of the queue was a delightful looking youth, presumably a farmer's son. He had an unkempt mop of blond hair, a splattering of freckles, big blue eyes, upturned nose and a ready smile beneath a wide-brimmed straw hat. Below he sported plain woollen trousers, white stockings to the knee, and unadorned black leather shoes. He wore a rough cotton shirt starched to whiteness, full in the chest and sleeves, with a simple collar and thin cuffs held together by a single button at each wrist. He wore what looked like an extremely warm maroon vest over the shirt, probably made from wool, buttoned at the front—at least I think it was buttoned. I couldn't see his chest clearly because he was holding a goose.

The goose was amazing. Utterly serene, untouched by the chaos behind it, it had feathers of the purest gold. I felt a desperate urge to reach out and touch those feathers, to pluck one to keep.

The boy, however, seemed unaware that the creature he was holding was unusual in any way. He was clearly fond of it, but to him it was just a goose. Nor did he seem particularly bothered by the rabble trailing behind him. There were seven in the queue. The first three had to be sisters. The eldest, the one just behind the boy, had long strawberry blond curls and blue eyes framed by long black lashes. Her features were petite and regular, and she might have been pretty had she not worn such a sour expression, her lips pursed tight, nose wrinkled in disdain. She was the only one besides the boy to be touching that exquisite goose—one hand was on the boy's waist, while the other appeared to be stuck fast just behind the goose's left wing.

Her sister—she had to be her sister—was dark haired and paler but with similar facial features. From what I could see her hands appeared to be glued to her sister's waist.

The youngest, a carbon copy of her big sister including the disdainful expression, was attached in a similar manner to the middle sibling. I guessed they must be serving maids of some sort, probably bar maids. All three were dressed alike, identical white chemises with short very full sleeves—almost a puff—ending above the elbows. Each wore a full skirt over her chemise, two of them maroon and one a nut brown, which must have been accompanied by some sort of bustle underneath, no doubt intended to accentuate their hips but instead giving the appearance of a dropped curtain. A tightly laced bodice of cheap indigo satin pushed up their young breasts. Plain black slippers completed the ensemble. I noticed a beer tankard tied by a string around the waist of the eldest maid.

Hanging on tightly to the youngest sister's waist—in an inappropriate manner in my opinion—was a parson. His profession was more than apparent, but it didn't seem to have stopped him fondling the bar maid, a lascivious smile on his reddened face. Spectacles perched on his nose, a tricorne in black with an upturned brim perched atop long grey curls, probably a wig. He wore a generous linen shirt with full sleeves typical of the late 18th century. Under his collar sprouted a white cravat, the two ends extending straight onto his chest rather than forming the base of a ruffle. Below the waist I could see knee breeches, fine silk stockings, and black leather shoes heavily polished with plain silver buckles in the centre. His long heavy black greatcoat, the top of a Bible visible in the left side pocket, extended behind him and almost totally obscured the face of the man clinging to his waist.

That man had to be a sexton. Although his linen shirt was white, everything else he wore was a dull matte blackthe round wide-brimmed hat, long greatcoat, vest, woollen trousers, thick gloves and heavy muddy boots. Only one of his hands was attached to the parson's waist; in the other he clutched a spade. Small clods of earth fell off it when he landed on my office floor. Two labourers completed this extraordinary queue. Both were good examples of the results of a strenuous outdoor life—roughened ruddy skin, dirty matted greying locks and unkempt moustaches. No fine greatcoats, silk stockings or shoes with silver buckles for these two. Instead, they wore short brown leather jackets, heavily used, marked and worn, over brown woollen vests fastened with roughly made mismatching buttons. Wide fawn-coloured woollen trousers—at least, fawn where the mud had failed to obscure the fabric. Heavy black boots, not unlike those the sexton was wearing covered their large wide feet. Heavy woollen scarves wrapped round their necks offered the only sartorial interest, some sort of pattern in brown and cream. Both sported brown cloth caps with smallish brims. The man in front had an open straw basket hanging from the crook of his left elbow with some sort of vegetation—carrot tops?—draping limply over the sides. The other, like the sexton, had only one hand glued to his companion's waist, while in the other hand he clutched a scythe.

Despite their obvious distress for which I felt I should sympathise, the queue struck me as ridiculously funny. It was a parody, a stage set for a 'guess my occupation' competition. But what, besides hands fastened to waists, could connect the assembled miscellany?

The boy, like the goose he held so carefully, remained oblivious to the rabble trailing behind even when they'd begun shouting. He walked purposefully towards me, then round the table to the patient's chair. 'May I sit down?'

He was polite, the beaming smile never absent. I guessed he was maybe sixteen, seventeen—his voice sounded as if it hadn't long broken. I found him delightful.

'Of course. Be my guest.'

With the greatest of care he placed the goose, still serene but now looking around with quiet interest, on the floor beside him. I noticed he had no trouble detaching his hands from the bird.

The transformation in the room was extraordinary. There was immediate and total silence. All seven individuals had become as statues, stopped exactly as they'd been the moment the boy let go of the goose. Not a sound, no movement whatsoever, not even breath.

My astonishment must have been evident, because he laughed heartily. 'Yes, it is odd, is it not? It happens every time like that.' He turned around to regard the statues behind him.

When he turned back, the smile had vanished. 'But they...they are my problem. I dearly wish they would go away, go away and leave us alone,' he glanced down fondly at the goose. It was cleaning one of its resplendent wings, apparently unmoved by its followers or the boy's distress. 'I intend to take this wonderful bird to the palace, to give it to the king and his daughter. But how can I...with...with *them* following behind? If they come along as well, what an unwelcome gift I would bring.'

'You are giving this...this amazing creature *away*?' I couldn't help myself.

He sighed sadly. 'I suppose you wish to possess her as well?'

How unprofessional of me. 'I'm so sorry! That was totally out of line. No, I do not wish to possess your goose. I was just surprised you could think of...giving her away.'

'She is valuable.'

That went without saying. I waited.

'What need have I of the sort of value she can provide?' He spoke simply and sincerely. Wow.

This time I took a deep breath before I spoke, to hide my astonishment at his last remark. 'Could you not use the...gold?' Glancing down at her, 'I've never seen such a...beautiful creature.' He looked at me warily, so I hurried on, turning back to him and ignoring the goose. 'What I meant is, each feather must be worth a...fortune, don't you think?'

The broad smile returned. 'I believe that to be so. And that is exactly why I wish to give her to someone who will use the wealth she affords wisely.' Noting my quizzical look, he went on, 'Our king is a wise and generous man. He will distribute the wealth to those who need it most. And I know he will take of her offerings sensitively, without causing her undue distress.' He glanced down lovingly at the goose, who seemed totally oblivious to what was going on. In fact, she appeared to be about to fall asleep. 'And who knows? Perhaps it will bring some cheer to his heartbroken daughter, for she has recently lost her mother to a dreadful illness.'

We sat quietly as I gathered my thoughts. This goose must be magical, not only because of its exquisite appearance and the endless treasure it could provide here I found myself longing to touch those feathers again—but also because it appeared to cast a spell on anyone who tried to possess it.

Yet the goose had cast no such spell on this boy. I thought I knew why, but first I needed to find out how he came by this treasure.

'I will try to help you free yourself of this...crowd. But first, I think it would help me if you would explain how you came to possess the goose.' 'It will be my pleasure.' He broke into a winning smile again. Such a delightful person, so guileless, so charitable.

'I live on a small farm with my father and my two older brothers...now.' I sensed a deep sadness. 'Our dear mother...last winter our mother died of an affliction similar to that suffered by our poor queen.'

It was clearer now why he wanted to give the goose to the bereaved king and his daughter. He understood their suffering. When we can't stench our own wound, it can ease the pain a bit if we can offer solace to someone else. What a generous and sensitive young man he was! And clearly indifferent to material wealth.

'Besides, I came by the goose through luck. I did not earn her.'

'Would you be willing to tell me a bit about that?'

He nodded obligingly, removed the straw hat, checked to make sure the goose was comfortable—she was sound asleep now—and settled back into the chair to tell his tale.

'A fortnight past, my father sent my eldest brother into the forest near our farm to hew wood. Winter is coming, the nights are growing colder, and soon we will need to keep a fire burning. Before he set out, father gave him one of the beautiful sweet cakes our mother had made...' The reminder hurt. He paused, wiped at a forming tear. 'Father gave him a sweet cake and a bottle of wine in order that he might not suffer hunger or thirst while he laboured.

'He was not gone all day as we had expected, but returned home at midday. He'd cut his arm with his axe, he said, and needed father to bind it up. That evening at supper, he related to us his encounter with a little old man with a long grey beard—a dwarf he supposed—who had, as he remarked, the audacity to ask him to share some of his cake and wine. He dismissed the creature, telling him the meal was his and his alone.

'I thought nothing of the encounter at the time. But the next day, father asked my other brother to go into the forest and try his luck hewing wood, for we needed our winter supply of firewood more than ever. Father gave him a cake and a bottle of wine just as he had done for my eldest brother.

'He, too, returned early and without firewood, limping, with a deep cut on his leg. He said he'd made a false stroke with the axe and needed father to bind up the wound. Later, he told us he, too, had met the little old man in the forest, and had—as his brother—refused to share his meal with him. He said the man told him things would not go well for him because of his selfishness, and then he'd laughed.' He paused again, then broke off from the story and leaned forward.

'They were selfish and unkind, don't you think? Surely there was enough cake and wine for two? Mother always baked generous cakes.'

The memory of his mother stopped him once more, made him turn away briefly. When he looked back, I nodded my agreement.

'Do go on.'

'The next day I asked father if I might go into the woods and try my luck with the axe. My brothers laughed when they heard my request. They reminded me I had no experience hewing wood, so surely I would cut myself, if even they had not managed to return unscathed.

'At first father agreed with them. But I kept asking, begging after a time. I did so want to help! At last, nearing midday, father relented.

'But now there was but one cake left, and it was the spare one, the end of her batch. It was much smaller than the other cakes, just some dough she did not choose to waste. But I insisted that it would do.

'Father said I should have no wine as I am too young, only some beer. But I accepted the drink gladly. I did so wish to help our family.

'Because it was quite late by then, I didn't expect to encounter the old man. But not long after I entered the forest I spied him coming towards me. He hailed me at once, and just as my brothers had said, he asked to share my cake and wine.

'I had to tell him that I had no wine, only beer, and that my cake was very small, but that I would be happy to share everything with him.

'But then, when we sat down to eat, a most remarkable thing happened. I reached into my knapsack, and instead of a small cake and a bottle of old beer, I found a large sweet cake full of delicious fruits and nuts, and a bottle of the finest wine. You can be sure we enjoyed ourselves!' He was far away, back in the forest now, that broad smile dominating his kind youthful face. It was a pleasure just to look at him.

After a while he left his memory and looked up at me gratefully. 'Thank you for allowing me that memory again. It was the finest meal I have ever enjoyed.

'When we'd both eaten and drunk our fill, I rose to bid the old man goodbye, for I had work to do. He tipped his tall pointed cap, bowed, and thanked me. Then he said—I remember his words exactly—"Since you have a good heart, and you were willing to divide what you have, I will give you some good luck. There stands an old tree"—he gestured across the glade where we had been sitting. "Go and cut it down, and you will find something wonderful at the roots."" He paused his narrative to look down lovingly at the sleeping goose. 'She is of course what I discovered among the roots of that old tree.'

'You must have been so delighted!'

'Indeed I was. I chopped enough wood to fill my knapsack while the goose watched me, quiet as she is now.

'But by then it was late, too near dark to find the path home. Besides, as I chopped the wood I had formulated a plan, a way for the goose to share her gifts with those most in need.'

'And that plan was to give her to the king?'

He nodded. I knew my mother would approve of such a plan—and besides, I thought, what need have I of gold? I would only miss her gentle presence.' He glanced down at her again and stroked her lightly. She shook her wing feathers in response, but remained deeply asleep.

'I knew, too, that if I returned home first...' He paused, turned around and gestured to the silent figures behind him. 'Well, you see what effect she has on people.'

Except you.

'I decided therefore to go to the king's castle early the next morning to present him with the goose. But first I needed to sleep. I knew of an inn nearby, so I walked there as the light faded, and asked if I might stay the night. I had a few coins with me to pay for my stay, as well as enough for a bite of supper. But...that's when the trouble began.'

'Trouble?'

'Yes. I ordered pie and an ale. The serving maid who brought my supper,' he pointed directly behind him. 'That maiden spied the goose sitting under the table when I threw her a bit of pastry. She put down her tray at once, and bold as bold addressed me. She said she desired greatly to touch the golden feathers.

'I begged her not to disturb the goose, for she was tired after our journey. But she insisted. It was as if a spell had been cast upon her. She was absolutely determined to stroke my poor tired goose,'

The goose did cast a spell—on the greedy. There was no doubt about it.

'No sooner had she laid a hand on the sleeping creature than the maid was stuck fast. She was angry, crying out that she deserved the goose for her own, in repayment for bringing me my supper. Her two sisters heard her shouting and came running in. The first grabbed at the goose but misjudged her aim, her hand landing instead on her sister's waist and sticking fast. The youngest then tried to pull her sisters away, that she might have the goose to herself, and she was stuck likewise.

'I dreaded the night, lest I was awake throughout with their bitter quarrelling, for they could not free themselves. Up we all trailed to my chamber.

'But the moment I set the goose down...' He gestured again to the silent figures. 'This same thing happened as you see now.' He shrugged his shoulders. 'There was nothing for it. I did not understand what was happening, but at least I enjoyed a good night's sleep.

'The next morning, as soon as I picked up the goose, the girls sprang to life again. I had to endure their arguing all the way to the king's castle.'

'And I guess you met the others on your way there?'

'That's right. Soon after I set out a parson spied us from across the way. He came running towards us—perhaps he thought I had kidnapped the maidens?' He laughed, but then sobered as he recalled the scene. 'But as soon as he saw my goose..."Out of my way!" he shouted, most uncharacteristically for a parson. "Out of my way! I shall have that golden bird for my own!" And as he tried to push the maidens away...well, you know what happened then.'

I nodded. 'And then the sexton?'

'When the sexton saw the parson behaving in...what he thought was an inappropriate manner, he called out. "Your Reverence! Have you quite forgotten that we have a christening today? He ran quickly over and caught up with us. That's when he spied the goose, and...'

'I know. The evidence stands behind us.'

That made him laugh.

'Indeed so. By this time, thankfully, we were in sight of the castle. I had but one more field to cross.

'But no sooner had I stepped into that field than the two men labouring there, hearing the angry shouts behind me, looked up.

'They saw me first...and so of course they also spied my dear goose, and began running with all speed towards us. I turned to escape them, and managed to gain a bit of ground before they reached the sexton. But they were determined to push him and the others out of the way and to take the goose away from me.'

'And that's how you acquired all seven of them,' I pointed at the statues.

'That's right. And now I'm feeling so helpless, so downcast. How can I bring this...this confusion to the King and his daughter, when I only wished them to have this wonderful goose? 'I considered my situation with such attention that presently I realised I was no longer heading towards the castle, but facing our magic forest.' He stood up and pointed to the window. 'That forest.' He sat back down. The goose stirred sleepily, flicked its feathers. 'I needed advice and help, and I had been told of you.'

'I'm so glad you came, although I must admit, I've never had to deal with anything like...like this! Please, allow me to reflect for a few moments.'

'Of course.'

Never had I needed reflection time more. Clearly the boy was impervious to the goose's spell, a spell that affected anyone motivated by greed, anyone who wanted to have the goose to him or herself. The result, it appeared, was to give that person what they desired, but not in the manner they expected. A fitting punishment for the greedy. After all, greed means you can never be free of that which you desire.

The boy, on the other hand, had no desire to keep the goose—at least, not to keep her for the promise of the material wealth she offered. True, he delighted in her. But he wanted only to share his delight, rather than to keep her for himself. I knew he was safe from the spell and would remain free.

But how to get rid of the others? I thought, I imagined, I brain-stormed. Nothing, not a single idea came to mind.

I looked down at the sleeping goose, then behind her at the seven absurd statues. Suddenly I felt an overwhelming urge to burst out laughing. They looked truly ridiculous.

Wait a minute! That's the solution! He didn't have to get rid of that crowd. instead of being a burden, they might just enhance the gift he was proposing to give. Hadn't he told me that the King and his daughter were grieving their mother? Perhaps something as ridiculous as this motley crew would make them laugh, help them forget their troubles for a bit. They'd enjoy not just a valuable goose, but a laugh as well.

I looked up. 'I think I have an idea. It's only a thought, but...'

'Go on!' He was leaning forward eagerly.

'Well, you told me the king and his daughter are unhappy, didn't you?'

'They are! Especially the princess, she misses her mother so much. In fact, the king is so distressed that he has issued a proclamation to say that anyone who can make his daughter laugh will be given her hand in marriage. He is that desperate to see his daughter happy again.'

This was even better than I could have imagined. This goose will bring this lad good luck indeed, just as the little man had foretold.

'I suggest you take the goose to the king, just as she is. He will be kind to her—you told me that yourself—and he'll use her golden gifts sensitively, never taking too many feathers until she replenishes what he takes.'

He nodded. 'I am sure of it. He is a just and kindly man. He loves all creatures, and in turn he is loved by all his subjects.'

'Good. But at the moment we also know he and his daughter are suffering.' I paused for dramatic effect. I was, I have to admit, rather proud of my idea.

'Look at that crowd.' I pointed, giving him ample time to turn around and regard them with care. 'Have you ever seen a more ridiculous sight?'

He turned back around to me slowly, eyes sparkling with amusement. 'You're right! They do look ridiculous!'

'The sight of them is most entertaining. Don't you think they'll bring a smile to the faces of the king and his daughter, help them forget their distress, if even just for a little while?'

He jumped up and clapped his hands in delight, startling the poor goose out of her slumbers. Immediately he bent to soothe her. 'I am so sorry, dear goose! I didn't mean to frighten you! But do you know what? We have a job to do! We are off to cheer up a king and his daughter!'

He bent down to pick her up, but then he stopped, straightened up and solemnly crossed the room to where I was sitting. Bending over, he picked up my hand in his young ones and kissed it. 'I thank you. Thank you for restoring joy to our land.'

Before I could think what to reply he'd straightened up again, hurried back to the goose and scooped her up. Instantly the din in the room was so great I wouldn't be heard if I had tried to say anything, so I simply waved to him with my kissed hand.

He returned my wave, made sure the majestic golden bird was comfortable, then leapt up and out of the window, the angry crowd trailing helplessly behind him.

The Elves and the Shoemaker

When I had wished for a real challenge this evening, I hadn't meant one that would upend the very foundations of my therapeutic training.

It had been such a routine, boring day in clinic. I felt I might just as well have handed each client my training manual with the relevant page earmarked right at the start of their session, leave the room, and let them get on with it. No lovely twists and turns at all today. No one had discovered their mother was really their sister; no one told me their partner had left them to establish a same-gender relationship. None of the sorts of confessions that make you think creatively, rather than just dole out the usual formulaic suggestions.

That's not an excuse by the way; merely my justification, an explanation for my wish.

Only seconds after Emma switched off the lights in reception and closed the front door, I heard a rustling at the window behind me and felt it open ever so slightly—despite the wild night, with hardly a whisper of breeze accompanying. If whoever it is can fit through that sliver of night, then the person who's visiting me tonight must be very small.

They were indeed small. In fact, they were the tiniest people I'd ever seen. And for the first time since the fairy tale visits began, there were two of them. What were they? Little men? Or boys? It was impossible to tell.

'Please Miss, may we sit down?' Crystal voices.

'Of course you can. Most...people...sit here, across from me,' gesturing across the table. 'I'll just fetch a second chair for you.'

Merry laughter, so infectious I found myself laughing as well. 'No need! No need! Plenty of room for both of us on the black chair.' They danced—or flew, I wasn't sure—across the room, did a neat somersault and landed on the chair simultaneously, accompanied by more laughter.

The only problem now was that I could no longer see them. The tip of one little golden cap was visible just along the line of the table, but that was it. However, before I could say a word, one of them addressed the other: 'We need a taller chair, do we not, Finnar?'

'No sooner said than done, dear Freyr!' And at once they were fully visible, sitting on the chair seat which had become larger—big enough to accommodate a half dozen of them—and now sited about an inch above the table. Incredible.

They were still laughing merrily. One was busy adjusting the ruffles of his shirt cuffs while the other flicked something I couldn't see off his waistcoat.

Their clothing was exquisite. Both were wearing long silk coats, one magenta and the other a rich gold. Metal braid accentuated the collar, neckline and generous pockets. The coats were knee-length, and must have a vent at the back because the little men were sitting comfortably, their coats spread generously across the chair seat.

Beneath the coat, matching silk waistcoats buttoned half-way up allowed a good view of full linen shirts with ruffles at cuffs and collars. At the neck creamy linen cravats. Their matching magenta and gold knee breeches were, like the shirt and coat, full and generous of cut, closed at the sides of the knee with buttons, and finished with a buckle. White stockings were held in place with satin knee bands. Shoes of black leather adorned their tiny feet, the shoes fastened by gleaming silver buckles. Tiny ceremonial swords with jewelled hilts rose above the coat's side vents. Caps, magenta or gold to match each suit, completed the ensemble. Who could blame them for fussing with such exquisite garments? They were astonishingly beautiful, and they fit the little men perfectly. I was mesmerised.

'Of course you are admiring our garments. We've never worn clothing until we found these on the tailor's work bench.' I wasn't sure whether I was listening to Finnar or Freyr, but the speaker must have read my mind. 'I am Freyr, and this, is my companion Finnar.' They doffed their caps in unison. Utterly adorable.

But wait. Surely they hadn't come here simply for me to admire their garments! Get professional, Helen.

'It's wonderful to meet you both. I'm Helen. How may I help you boys?'

Uproarious laughter at what I thought was a polite and appropriate opening remark. Maybe they had come here merely to receive praise after all.

'Boys?! We are not boys! We are *elves!*'

I couldn't yet read their facial expressions well enough to know if I'd offended, but thought it best to take umbrage. 'I'm so sorry! Of course you are elves! I see that now. And...you're both boys?'

They shook their heads vigorously in unison, then turned towards one another and said something in a most extraordinary language, one I couldn't begin to identify. Then they turned together to face me once more, a bit more serious now. They looked at me as if I were a bit backward.

'We are elves. Elves are merely that. We are all equal, without qualification.'

'You...you...there are no boys or girls, no males or females, among elves?'

Repeating, this time together, 'We are elves. Elves are all created equal.'

'Thank you.' I took a deep breath, trying to let this sink in. 'Could you give me just a moment here? We humans are accustomed to categorising creatures according to gender.'

I needed time. The information had slammed hard against a wall in my training, and I needed desperately to reframe the assumptions I'd already made. I would reflect later at the woeful rigidity of psychological assumptions and theories, based as they are on notions of gender—and binary at that. At last,

'You are elves. Thank you. And...are you...the same age?' A rather random question, but I was still trying to get a grip on the situation, having lost one anchor in the first moment.

Another blunder. More sad shaking of heads and another conversation. This time Finnar addressed me. 'We are elves. Elves do not define themselves according to age.'

Now what? That was all I could think. 'So you don't know...how long ago you were born?'

More musical conversation. Then Finnar spoke once more, 'Elves are not born. We become.'

'You...become? Just like that,' I snapped my fingers, 'You are here?'

The laughter this time was a bit less light-hearted. I think they were getting a little exasperated with my ignorance. They regarded one another, exchanged nods, and turned back. Evidently it was now Freyr's turn to try to enlighten the untutored human. 'Allow me to answer your question. Yes, one of us simply appears each time a human shows kindness, just like that,' He tried snapping his fingers as I had done but failed, which made them both laugh merrily again, thank heavens. 'We appear whenever a human offers a great kindness to another creature, purely out of love or concern for that creature, without gain to themselves.' He paused, but went on without any apparent distress, 'And one of us disappears whenever a human chooses to be cruel to another living creature.'

I figured I could come back to their concept of time in a minute. This was far too compelling. I couldn't help asking, 'Does that mean your numbers are increasing...or (I shivered slightly, because I figured I knew the answer already) or decreasing?'

'In our world our numbers are increasing. In your world, our numbers are decreasing steadily.'

I was afraid of that.

203

'Can we go back to my question about age, please? If you...become...which of you...became...first?'

I was glad to hear more merry laughter. Finnar this time, 'Just as we do not measure by age, we do not measure ourselves by time.'

I felt myself inching ever closer towards the edge of a cliff. 'You have no measure of time? None at all?' Please reassure me that's not the case!

'We know darkness from light of course. We work in darkness and we hide in the light.'

Somewhere in the back of mind I heard the words of Gibran's Prophet when he was asked to explain the concept of time:

'You would measure time the measureless and the immeasurable.

You would adjust your conduct and even direct the course of your spirit according to hours and seasons.

Of time you would make a stream upon whose bank you would sit and watch its flowing.

Yet the timeless in you is aware of life's timelessness.'

At that moment I didn't feel at all aware of life's timelessness. I only felt as if I was drifting farther and farther out to sea, leaving all the frameworks I use to allow me to understand my clients far behind me.

'So you're just...here while you're here?' Two nodding heads. 'Never young, nor ever growing older?' More nodding.

'I see.' Well, actually I didn't see. I didn't see how it was possible to unthink the basis of all the psychological theories I knew, to throw out the idea of life stages, of progression of knowing according to experience, of maturing and growing 'wise' as a result of that experience. Nor did I know how to proceed if I couldn't infer the likely psychological challenges someone might face once I learned their age. Childhood, self-sufficiency. Adolescence, identity and independence. Adulthood, vocation and procreation. Old age, making sense of one's existence. All gone if I didn't have time as my guide. Nor could I rely on gender stereotypes. I was sinking, and fast.

Try something else, Helen. Quick, before you panic. 'Perhaps you could tell me a bit about your families.'

Blank expressions. 'What do you mean, families?'

'Oh, I know you said you just...become. But surely you need a bit of guidance at first? Surely you need some others of your kind who...consider you...special? Who look after you, care for you, teach you things, as you adjust to the world?' Please say yes! United head shaking and furrowed brows, followed by another elfin conversation.

Finnar spoke once more. 'I think we are not skilled at speaking to humans. You see, we almost never do so.' I felt privileged, despite my growing sense of helplessness. 'Let me explain again. We are elves. Elves are equal. No elf is more special than any other. We are perhaps each different,' he regarded his gold attire proudly, glanced at Freyr's blue garments. 'But even so, we are all equal. We simply do our work in darkness and hide in the light, for the time that we exist. That is what it is to be an elf.'

No gender stereotypes to guide me. No birth order factors. No parental influences or family history. No life stages with accompanying predictable challenges. I prayed for inspiration.

'OK...Finnar, Freyr. Thank you for being so patient with me. This is all...so...new.' Encouraging nods. Clearly my credentials had been over-egged, although I hoped they felt they'd made some headway at last. Then Finnar elbowed Freyr—clearly something had occurred to him. After another brief exchange and vigorous nodding of heads, they turned back. Freyr spoke.

'Finnar recalls a woman of your kind, a servant-girl who was most industrious and obedient. But despite her good work, her master was cruel to her; every day we lost many of our kind, and every day she became more unhappy.' I marvelled at the way he told me this evenly, without any apparent distress.

'Finnar decided to help her. He wrote a note to her, asked her if she would like to visit our world, told her it was a place of laughter and joy. She accepted eagerly, so he and two others of our kind came to her and escorted her to a hollow mountain wherein a number of us dwelt. They entreated her to stay a while, and she—like you—asked us to measure the time. How long was she to stay? We told her three days, because we had heard her master once speak this phrase. "I shall be away three days. Clean everything while I am gone," he had told her. So we said three days, and she seemed content.

'After a very little time in our midst she began to dance and sing and feast on berries and nuts with us. She was so merry! At last she said she thought it was time to go home, that her time with us had come to an end. So we filled her pockets with gold and led her out of the mountain back to her place of work.'

Finnar took up the story, 'From a hiding place we watched her approach her old quarters. She looked high and low, but she could not find her broom and brush. She was startled when a kindly couple, strangers to her, came out of the house and asked her who she was and what business she had there.' He regarded me thoughtfully, then looked away again, back into his tale.

'She asked the whereabouts of her master from whom, she told them, she had departed three days past. They seemed surprised, and explained that her master and mistress had both died over six years ago.' He looked back at me, kindly now. 'It is no wonder you, like she, ask us about the concept you call time. You measure it, while we merely dwell within it.

We measure it according to hours and seasons, I thought. Measures we've invented, measures we rely on to create structure to order and organise our world. But now I thought about it, time could just as well be measured as moving slowly—when you're miserable—or quickly—when you're having fun. Or by light and darkness, or by warmth and chill.

I suddenly realised I'd been looking away, nodding to myself, lost in this completely new way of looking at life. How remiss, how self-centred of me!

'I'm so sorry! I was...thinking...hard.' They both smiled acknowledgment. 'But I've not asked what brings you here. I feel as if you have taught me so much already, so it's more than time I help you—if I can.' Which at this point I doubted.

Smiles. With an almost imperceptible nod from Finnar, Freyr began.

'We told you that we work in the dark and hide in the light. This is how it has always been.' Long pause. I could tell this next bit was difficult for him.

'There is a reason for this pattern.' He looked so ashamed. 'For a time, it was a custom for some of us...' Regarding me, 'I and Finnar among them, to find amusement stealing small humans, replacing them with changelings, ugly creatures with glaring eyes and a fat head. A changeling will only eat and drink and...scream. They cause the humans around them great distress. It was perhaps unkind, we think now.' They exchanged sober glances.

'On one such occasion the two of us were not careful. We took a small human from the house of two larger humans, forgetting first to ensure that no witches lived nearby. Alas, a witch dwelt in the next cottage, and after we exchanged the creatures, the human consulted the witch about this terrible turn of events. Of course, the witch knew it was the work of elves. She also knew how to break the spell cast upon the changeling.

'Acting on the witch's instructions, the human carried the changeling into the kitchen, put it down on the hearth, lit the fire and boiled water in two egg shells. This made the changeling laugh, and as soon as it did so, we were compelled to appear—

both of us—before the human. Then we were forced to confess our deed, and take the changeling away after first returning their small human.' He hung his head.

I felt both for the human—presumably the mother of a child, if I was right about the 'small human'. But I also felt sorry for these two elves. After all, they only regarded it as a bit of fun. They didn't understand families, or mother love. I dearly hoped I wouldn't be asked to pass judgment on them.

'Do go on. I am listening to you, and I sense there is more to your tale.' Freyr looked up, grateful I'd not been critical.

'There is indeed more. We told you we elves are all equal. Nonetheless, there is among us one who is eternal. That is Erlkonig.

'Our...mischief, our misdeeds, our unkindness...came to the ears of Erlkonig, and he summoned us at once to his abode.' Two hanging heads now.

'Always until that moment, we had played in darkness, and only performed acts of kindness when we so desired. As punishment for our...misconduct, Erlkonig decreed we must thenceforward cease playing, and only toil throughout the darkness, helping any human who was in need through no fault of their own.'

Freyr sat up now with pride. 'Since his pronouncement, we have honoured Erlkonig's decree. But...'

I couldn't help interjecting. 'But then you must both feel very proud of yourselves.'

They glanced at one another, slightly nervous. Finnar spoke, 'That is not all. Erlkonig said we would be released from his decree once we discovered the secret of happiness, and that we must seek it out without rest until we find it.'

If you discover that, mates, please tell the rest of the world. What a sting in the tail for these two! Just seek the Holy Grail without resting until you find it, and then you can play again. I waited, hoping they weren't going to ask me for the answer, because I, like every other human, definitely didn't know what it was.

They exchanged looks once again, then Finnar continued. 'You see, we think we may have discovered that secret. But before we return to Erlkonig, we thought it wise to consult you, just to make sure.'

So they were asking me after all. Asking me to confirm their discovery, which they hoped was the answer to one of life's most elusive questions. Find happiness and find meaning. The twin dreams we all seek. Find those and you'll never need a psychologist, that's for sure.

OK, look at it another way, Helen. They think they've found the answer to happiness, and they want to talk it through with you. What a privilege! I should feel

honoured. And if our discussion is fruitful, it could be the most wonderful discovery of my life. After they'd succeeded in destroying every premise on which I'd come to rely when I tried to understand someone, I felt this encounter might at last yield something positive. No, something more than positive. Something unspeakably precious. After all, why does anyone consult a psychologist? To find a way out of suffering, a route back to happiness, a meaningful path through life. What a chance this was! I tried to keep my tone calm, even.

'OK, why don't you tell me about your discovery?'

Two smiles, and Finnar began.

'Many darknesses past we heard of the misfortunes of a shoemaker. This human had become so poor there was only enough leather left for a single pair of shoes. With great sadness, the shoemaker cut out his last piece of leather to make it into one more pair of shoes. Then he retired for the night.

'Once he and his wife had fallen asleep, Freyr and I entered the workshop.' Finnar glanced back at the closed window behind us with a grin, 'Then we crafted a beautiful pair of shoes from the leather.

'On discovering the shoes when he woke, the shoemaker was delighted. He placed them in the shop window at once. A customer came in soon after and paid so well for the shoes that the shoemaker was able to buy leather for two pairs of shoes. Again, the human cut out the leather and retired to sleep—and of course it was our delight to make two more pairs of shoes for him during darkness. At next light, the happy shoemaker placed both pairs in the shop window, and made enough money to buy leather for four more pairs.'

Seamlessly, Freyr took up the tale. 'This went on until the shoemaker had become a very wealthy man. Together with his wife, he purchased a larger shop, and soon customers were always to be found waiting outside their door at first light, eager to buy at least one pair of the wondrous shoes.' Freyr smiled, but then sighed heavily.

'But this was becoming hard work for us! Elves are always naked,' The little creature glanced at the silken sleeves of the beautiful coat and qualified, 'Well, we were always naked then. And it was becoming colder and colder in the shop, and we had more and more work to do each night. We were beginning to suffer badly with cold toes, and we often pricked our fingers in our efforts to sew the leather with hands made clumsy with cold.

'But then one darkness, the shop seemed different. I cannot explain why, but we felt as if someone was watching us.' Freyr turned to his companion who nodded confirmation. 'And the next darkness...' Here Freyr stopped speaking and stretched out both arms to regard the fine silk coat, the ruffled sleeves. He became lost in admiration for so long that Finnar decided to take up the story.

'We entered the shop as usual, at first darkness. But there, instead of a long shelf of leather pieces, there awaited us...' Now Finnar, too, stretched out both arms proudly. 'These magnificent garments. Made exactly to our size. Made just for us.' Now this elf, too, was lost in wonder. We all sat quietly. I shared their joy and gratitude, enjoyed the time we shared, and which I did not attempt to measure. At last they both looked up. Freyr spoke.

'Is this then the secret to happiness, the one Erlkonig demanded we discover? Is happiness found when one receives?'

I tried to contain myself, but I felt like jumping up and hugging the two little creatures. They'd shown me a truth beyond price. But I wanted them to feel they'd made the discovery. It was always so much more delicious that way.

'Well, perhaps that's true. But let's think back to the changeling.' I saw their little faces drop. 'I know. It's not a happy memory. But just tell me something. When you took away the small human, were you happy then?'

'No! No, not at all!' This in unison. Then Finnar spoke. 'We weren't given the small one. We took it unasked. That sort of receiving is not the same.'

I agreed. 'So what made that different from receiving the clothes?'

'We were offered the clothes freely, out of kindness, without asking or taking.'

'OK. So for something to bring you happiness, it must be given freely, given because the individual simply wants to give?'

'Yes! Yes!' They jumped up and performed a merry jig on the chair seat.

'Hold on guys! We're not quite there yet.' Instantly they sat back down, all elfin ears.

'Now imagine you visited the shoemaker's shop every darkness, and each time there was a new beautiful outfit laid out ready for you to wear. Would that make you happy?'

This took some thinking, as well as another serious elfin discussion. I waited. At last they turned away from one another to face me, beaming. 'No, it would not make us happy. Oh, at first it would be...so wonderful! But after a time...so many garments. We could never wear them all. And they would feel...well, we think they would feel undeserved.'

'You two are brilliant! You hit the nail on the head, as we say in this world. I feel sure you're right. A happy life is about balance, about giving as well as receiving, in equal—or at least near equal—measures. You understood that right away.' Two proud little faces. 'But happiness is more than that. It's also about knowing *how* and *when* to give and receive.

'And always, you have to do it freely!' piped up Freyr.

'Voluntarily. Because you want to!' Fennar's contribution.

'You're absolutely right. Unless the exchanges, the giving and receiving, are done because of love and kindness rather than a desire for reward or power, they won't bring true joy.

'And no one will be happy!' With that they jumped up simultaneously. clapped a high five, and turned the chair seat into a dance floor for another happy jig and a couple of somersaults. 'Thank you! Thank you! We will return to Erkonig. If you want to be happy, balance giving and taking. Give when and where you see a need, and take only that which is freely and lovingly given! We're already happy! Thank you!'

And off they danced—or flew—across my office, out the barely open window, deep into darkness.

The Last Chapter

Even as I write this, I'm finding it hard to believe.

It's December 22nd. The Winter Solstice always used to be my favourite day of the year, because after that the days begin to lengthen, offering hope in the form of a little more daylight each day.

But this year it means that for the first time I'll be entirely on my own over the winter holidays. No Theo. No Alex. Just the cat, who merely tolerates me at the best of times.

Today is also my last day in clinic before Christmas, and on the bright side (I suppose) I can say I'm looking forward more than ever before to a break from seeing clients.

Ever since the elves made their appearance last week, my attitude to a onceloved profession has changed profoundly. Without realising it I'm sure, those two little beings knocked down almost every foundation on which I'd based my clinical assumptions and formed my suggestions and treatment plans. Since then I've questioned any suggestion I come up with in clinic, and it's often left me incapable of saying anything at all. At times it's been so bad that one or two more perceptive clients had asked me if I was feeling unwell. No, I can truthfully say I'm feeling fine. But I have started to wonder whether I can go on playing this game—whether, in fact, I'm cut out to be a therapist at all any more. The more I've thought about our profession, the more I've been reminded of snake oil. What we call 'science' is nothing more than a series of assumptions on which we've built what we airily refer to as 'laws' and 'truths'. The elves had caused me to question everything—the importance of gender, of age, of family relationships. What makes us so sure they are the things on which to build theories and cures?

Because it's a Tuesday I write my notes up slowly, waiting and hoping for a fairyland distraction. Sure enough, just as I finish the last sentence I felt the now familiar gust of wind as the window flew open. Icy tonight. I heard a rustling as someone passed through into my office. On this occasion, however, there was no accompanying footfall. Just a sort of shimmer—if you can hear a shimmer. I did.

Something passed beside my right shoulder. I looked up to see a ball of the brightest, most beautiful wheel of colours—iridescent blue, shamrock green, deep crimson, shining gold, matte silver—more I'm sure. It was flickering and bobbing up and down, hovering just above the chair opposite me.

'Hello, Helen,' she'd said. The lightest of feminine voices. Staring harder, I could make out a tiny woman at the centre of the ball of lights, her lacy wings moving so fast I could barely discern them, rather like a hummingbird. She was wearing a gown that must have been woven from butterfly wings, so soft and delicate were the shapes and hues. Her features are perfect—long golden hair, big blue eyes, a generous smile. I know I'm right about these details because she's still here, waiting for me to finish writing.

I was most surprised that she referred to me by my name. None of the others had ever done that. How did she know?

I asked her why she had come, what was troubling her, as is my custom. To my surprise she laughed merrily. Told me she didn't have any problems; that she'd come with an invitation. I remember feeling hot and cold at the same time, sort of frightened but also deliciously excited.

She said she'd come tonight on behalf of the many creatures who'd visited me. They were grateful to me, she said, grateful that I'd helped so many of them see things differently, helped them solve problems they thought they could never solve. They knew, she added more solemnly, that I was going to be alone this Christmas. (How could they have known this?) And they wondered, would I like to come and be with them instead of spending the holidays alone in my rented cottage?

At first I didn't know what to think. Was this...fairy, or whatever she is?...real? But then, for that matter, had anyone who 'visited' me on Tuesday evenings been real? If I accepted her invitation, where would I go? Would I ever come back? Somehow I doubted it.

Then I began to think about how lonely I would be this Christmas. How much I would miss Alex, be unable to avoid thinking about him. How I wouldn't be able to stop myself thinking about Theo and Freya either, happy together. How no one would even know I was on my own.

When I also recalled the grave reservations I was beginning to have about my profession...well, suddenly it felt like an easy decision.

I asked the fairy if before we go, she wouldn't mind if I wrote down what had happened this evening, so I could leave it here in my desk drawer along with the rest of my detailed 'Tuesday case notes' and the straw. I explained that I thought it would make a fitting final chapter in the clinical notes I'd been keeping of my Tuesday evening visitors.

Of course, whether anyone ever learns of the visits depends on whether anyone ever finds these notes, and if so whether they bother to read them, I thought. She laughed at my request—what a merry laugh!—and said of course it was OK, that I was welcome to do so, and to take my time.

I think I'm going to like this place where we're going. I've finished writing now. I'll look up, smile and let her know. It's time to leave.

Afterword

I suspect you're wondering what happened to Helen. Did she take her life that night? Did she go mad and spend the rest of her days in an asylum?

After the fairy turned off the light that she is, what really happened is that Helen cycled home. Home to her cottage. Home to her grumpy cat. And there, at last, she did what she had been needing to do.

Helen grieved.

She grieved for the loss of her marriage. She grieved for the loss of her happy home and her job in London. And most of all, she grieved for the loss of Alex.

You see, no one, not even therapists—maybe *especially* not therapists—can hold back grief forever. The longer you wait, the more distorted your thinking becomes and the harder grief pushes, until finally it bursts through. Only after you let grief overtake you can you finally start to heal, create a new life that can contain and incorporate your loss.

It took Helen a long time. Days, then weeks, went by. She ate, bought food when necessary, slept after a fashion, even fed the cat. But all in a sort of haze of tears. Time meant little to her. It grew dark, then light, then dark again. And still she cried.

Gradually, slowly, she became more aware of the time of day, and what day it was. She began to notice the birds singing in the morning, for by then Spring had arrived. She began to notice the cool dew on her feet when she walked outside in the early morning. She remembered to brush her hair. Sometimes she cuddled the cat. The food she cooked began to smell and taste delicious.

Then one morning in April, she knew it was time. The pain had mostly receded, only occasionally sharp again when the memories pushed into her awareness unbidden. Otherwise, they were now only a dull ache in the background.

Before she could think it through that April morning, Helen rang Emma, and to her astonishment she picked up the phone. In her office! 'It's Helen.' Emma knew that. 'What', she wanted to know, 'happened to my job? My clients?'

Emma sounded slightly surprised. Did Helen not remember contacting her just after Christmas, asking her to notify everyone and let them know she had to take extended sick leave? Did she not remember asking Emma to invite them to seek therapy elsewhere if they'd rather not wait?

But many had waited. Emma also had a list of recent enquiries. When, Emma wanted to know, would she like to return to work?

Next week. Tuesday. Why not Tuesday?
The Fragility of Equilibrium in Therapy and Writing

Introduction and Research Questions

A man who led a less than exemplary life is lying on his deathbed, fearing what might happen if there is an afterlife.

Imagine his relief when he wakes to find himself in a richly furnished room, sunlight streaming in through the window. He rushes into the hallway and is met by a serving man who offers to provide him with anything he wants. "You mean all my wishes will be fulfilled just as soon as I ask?" The serving man nods. "This is wonderful! I see I qualified for heaven after all!"

The serving man looks at him strangely. "Heaven, sir? No sir. You have arrived in hell."

I start with this joke because during my work as a clinical psychologist for over 40 years, this is what patients invariably tell me they're hoping to achieve. "I'd like to be free of worries and have everything I want, so life is easy rather than such a struggle. Then everything will be lovely and I won't need any more therapy."

But can we actually achieve, let alone maintain, such a state? And if we did achieve it, would we thrive in a state of constant equilibrium, where what we want matches exactly what we have? Would such a state even be interesting, either in literature or as an outcome in psychotherapy?

These questions offered me an opportunity to explore the parallels between my two passions, psychotherapy and fiction. In both, story is the heart. What are the ingredients necessary to create a story? Is there a way to use stories to enhance my approach as a therapist and as an author of self-help books?

Three Research Questions

The original objective of this thesis was to create a new form of self-help book using fairy tale characters to address psychological problems. As the thesis progressed, however, two new questions emerged. My thesis therefore seeks to address three research questions:

- A common technique in self-help books as well as in face-to-face therapy is to use case studies to illustrate successful problem-solving strategies. What might be another way, equally effective, to achieve this end?
- 2. In writing fiction and in the process of psychotherapy story is central. How can an exploration of story and its role in psychotherapy bring to light a common aspect that bridges the two disciplines? How does it achieve this?
- 3. Perspective and point of view are important both in fiction (to better understand plot and characters) and when someone is trying to resolve a psychological problem. What's the difference between point of view and perspective? How can the use of these concepts help authors, readers and psychotherapists better understand what's happening?

I defined the first question at the start of the research project and investigated it through an exploration of relevant literature and through the writing of the creative component. The second and third questions arose at a later stage in the research process as I began to gain a clearer understanding of the original contribution to knowledge that I might make through this work. In this contextualising piece, I will address and explore all three questions.

When I began this research project, my intention was to create an instructive selfhelp book that used a different sort of case study to address psychological problems. In particular, I hoped to find a way to use fairy tales to 'teach' readers/clients about the psychological problems I believe these tales illustrate.

At a later stage, however, I began to think more deeply about the fairy tale characters themselves; about how a character in a given tale might approach the challenges in their story. What if characters decided to see a therapist to help them overcome their challenges?

In this contextual review of my research project I will describe the process I went through before deciding how I'd like to write my book, then offer my reflections after having written it. The writing followed a curious path. Once fairy tale characters became clients in a psychotherapy clinic, my approach became less didactic and more creative. I enjoyed the new experience (for me) of allowing the story to present itself to me.

Looking back now, what surprised me most is that the therapist became a central character. Instead of looking for ways to insert fairy tale characters into a self-help book, I found myself writing about how someone who's trying to help others can continue to do so if her own story falls apart.

PART ONE

Background Research

Chapter One: Story, with equilibrium at its heart, and its role in fiction and psychotherapy

In my years as a psychotherapist I've come to associate mental ill-health with a loss of one's story. When I first meet a client, they often start by telling me they're seeking help because their story no longer makes sense. They say, for example, that they've lost the plot, or that they can no longer see a way ahead, or that there's no meaning or direction in their life. Therapy ends when the client tells me that things now make sense, that their story once again has value and that there's an understandable path ahead.

Literature can be factual (non-fiction) or it can be a fabricated account of something (fiction). In my work I've chosen to focus on fiction, because it offers satisfaction because the plot makes sense, which is what clients are seeking in their own life. Therefore, a satisfying story is key to good fiction writing and a good outcome in therapy. My first step, therefore, is to define story, and determine what is it about a story that creates satisfaction.

In its most basic form, a story is made up of plot, characters and setting. Plot, the central component, is the sequence of events. According to literary critic and philosopher Tzvetan Todorov (1969), striving for equilibrium is central to a story, the motivating force of the plot. When writing about narrative, and more specifically about plot, Todorov states: 'The minimal complete plot can be seen as the shift from one equilibrium to another.' (Todorov, 1969, p. 75) He claims this occurs in five stages.

Through my reading of Todorov and reflection on my own practice as a therapist, I realised that Todorov's stages could be construed as the work between a therapist and their client. I have therefore summarized Todorov's five stages below and compared them to similar phases of development in therapy:

- In literature, plot begins in equilibrium. This is not so much a perfect balance as it is a description of the world in its current state when the story opens. In therapy, this would be the 'happy past' clients feel they have lost.
- There is then a disruption, something that unbalances the initial equilibrium.
 When clients recount their history, this is what 'went wrong', or 'when it all began'.

- 3. Third is recognition of the disruption, something that unbalances the initial equilibrium. This is when the client seeks help to relieve the distress this recognition has created.
- 4. The fourth stage is repair, when the main character works to restore the equilibrium. In therapy, this is the work clients hope to undertake with their therapist.
- Finally there is a rebalance, a resolution to the disruption which results in a new equilibrium. This marks the end of the therapeutic process.
 Todorov (1969) recognises the similarity between equilibrium as used in psychology and the way he proposes to use it in plot:

This term "equilibrium", which I am borrowing from genetic psychology, means the existence of a stable but not static relation between the members of a society; it is a social law, a rule of the game, a particular system of exchange. The two moments of equilibrium, similar and different, are separated by a period of imbalance, which is composed of a process of degeneration and a process of improvement. (Todorov, 1969, p. 75)

Before starting my PhD, what I hadn't considered is whether it's possible to use someone else's (similar) problem to help the client, despite the fact that each client's needs are unique. By comparing literature and therapy, I began to see my work with clients as similar to that of a writer and their editor: both are working through Todorov's (1969) stages to create a satisfying story and discover a new equilibrium. Using a story that illustrates work with similar problem helps the client identify with that story.

It became clear to me through reflections on my work as a therapist (Blair, F1) that clients come to therapy for a restoration of balance, but ideally leave with an understanding that things will not be exactly as before and that the new balance won't last forever. They're ready to end therapy when they feel they can face disruptions in future and remain confident they will overcome them and establish another new equilibrium.

A good story involving a challenge similar to what the client is facing makes a good therapeutic tool. The client can observe how someone else has dealt with problems similar to their own; how they came to recognise the problems standing in the way of their goals and how they overcame them. Stories where characters face problems like theirs engage clients, and allow them to consider disruptions and problem-solving strategies less directly (that is, in someone else's life). For many, I

surmised, facing imbalance and challenge indirectly through stories would feel less threatening than starting by tackling their own dilemmas. Stories not only allow clients to see the problem more objectively, outside of themselves, but they also suggest strategies they may wish to try out, either just as they are described or after adapting them to their own circumstances. I noted that when clients express their desire for equilibrium in therapy, most will (reluctantly) come to accept it can only be temporary, because they will inevitably meet with further challenges in the future.

In this way (through reflections on my own clinical practice and the work of those who have addressed similar themes) my doctoral research project came to focus on the relationship between story and equilibrium, in therapy but also in creative writing.

Having identified the desire for equilibrium to be key, I decided next to consider the role equilibrium plays in some of the major psychological theories. Two of the most influential and well-established schools of psychology are the psychoanalytic (Hall 1954; Jung 1990) and the cognitive (Ginsburg & Opper, 1969). Both argue that equilibrium is the ultimate goal for psychological wellbeing, although neither school expects this state to be achievable, at least not more than momentarily. Nor does either consider it desirable: although maintaining equilibrium would mean problems and challenges no longer trouble us, we would also cease to grow and develop.

Sigmund Freud (Hall, 1954), proposer of the psychoanalytical school of psychology, wrote extensively about the human desire for equilibrium. He postulated that there are three parts to our personality—the id, ego and superego—and that they exist in a dynamic tension, in a constant attempt to achieve equilibrium. Similarly, when he wrote about instinct Freud describes two groups of instinctual urges, those that exist in the service of life and those in the service of death, and that both of these tend towards quiescence, or a cessation of disturbance (Hall, 1954, pp.58-60; p.70).

Developmental psychologist Jean Piaget (Ginsburg & Opper, 1969) postulated that the motivation for cognitive development is the desire to achieve equilibrium between what we observe around us and our ability to understand it. We balance the two cognitive states of assimilation, the process of modifying mildly discrepant information so we can use our current cognitive structures to understand it, and accommodation, changing our ways of understanding when the information we encounter is too discrepant to understand with our current ways of knowing. The desire for this perfect balance is the motivation that drives understanding. If, however, we were to remain in a state of equilibrium we would cease to learn, grow or change. In *Piaget's theory of intellectual development: an introduction* (1969), Herbert Ginsburg and Sylvia Opper summarise the concept of equilibrium according to both Piaget and Freud:

The concept of equilibrium, which is not novel in psychology, refers to a state of balance or harmony between at least two elements which have previously been in a state of disequilibrium. Freud, for example, makes use of a similar principle when he states that a person tends toward a release of tension. For Piaget (unlike Freud) equilibrium does not have the connotation of a static state of repose between a closed system and its environment. Rather, equilibrium, when applied to intellectual processes, implies an active balance or harmony. It involves a system of exchanges between an open system and its surroundings. The child is always active. (Ginsburg & Opper, 1969, p. 172)

Thus according to two major branches of psychological theory, the state of equilibrium—a perfect balance between what we need, want and know and what we have—is a motivating force only. We desire equilibrium, but we never actually achieve it (other than fleetingly).

Stories are valuable not only because that move from one equilibrium to another feels so enjoyable. It seems the reading of a story also directly affects our brains in helpful ways. To investigate this notion, Gregory Berns and colleagues at Emory University recruited 21 young adults who agreed to undergo daily MRI scans for 19 days (Berns et al., 2013). The first five and last five days provided baseline data. During the middle nine days, participants were asked to read 1/9th of a novel each day, followed by an MRI scan the next morning.

The novel the researchers chose, *Pompeii* by Robert Harris, is a portrayal of an actual event (the volcano eruption that destroyed Pompeii) but it's written as historical fiction that is, according to the researchers, 'conveyed in a classic narrative arc' (Berns et al., p. 592). In other words, it was a story that contained a clear beginning, middle and ending.

The researchers found that after nine days of reading, there was a significant increase in brain connectivity in regions associated with perspective taking and story comprehension. This increase was only short-term and not sustained after participants finished reading the novel. However, longer-term changes in connectivity were observed in the bilateral somatosensory cortex, suggesting that the ability to process language was strengthened.

This study helped me understand the value of listening to stories in therapy and in self-help in particular, because Berns (2013) demonstrated that reading a story enhances the ability to make sense of events and imagine what's going on from different perspectives, and increases language comprehension.

Listening to stories about others is therefore valuable in terms of helping clients regain (temporary) equilibrium. However, stories do much more for us. They also play a central role in wellbeing, in recovery from major crises, and in helping us create meaning in our lives. This is particularly important when we're seriously ill and/or nearing the end of life.

When I was working with clients suffering from dementia in the NHS, we noticed that all individuals, even if their memory problems were extremely severe, benefitted when carers made references to their 'story', to places they'd lived and things they'd done when they were younger. Photos, music, visits to places they'd lived all increased the power of these references. This technique, together with reminders that the events had occurred long ago but were not occurring now, helped orientate clients and appeared to lift their mood. They smiled more, responded appropriately more often to requests made by carers and staff, and became more sociable with those around them (Powell Proctor & Miller, 1982—my surname at that time was Powell Proctor).

Robert Neimeyer, a constructivist therapist and professor at the University of Memphis, studies and works with individuals suffering from Prolonged Grief Disorder, now an official; diagnosis created in April 2022 by the American Psychiatric Association (Wang, 2022). After a bereavement some individuals are unable to rediscover meaning in their lives and return to a satisfactory level of functioning. Using techniques such as narrative retelling—that is, creating a meaningful life story that now includes their loss--constructivist therapists help such individuals 're-establish a coherent self-narrative that integrates the loss' (Neimeyer et al., 2010).

Colin Murray Parkes (1986) interviewed a group of bereaved women who had lost their husband. Although his intended aim was to understand the grieving process rather than to 'heal' the widows, their narrations offered them a way to find meaning again, despite their loss.

Psychiatrist Elisabeth Kubler-Ross (1969) spent her career working with dying patients across America, her aim being to bring dying to public awareness and to encourage everyone, loved ones and carers alike, to treat the dying with dignity. In her best-known book, *On death and dying* (1969), she describes the stages dying

223

individuals go through to make sense of what's happening to them and to bring their experiences together so both their living and dying become a coherent, well-told story.

Thus do stories entertain us, help us find meaning, and heal us.

I decided next to turn to a specific sort of literature, one that is specifically designed to help individuals recover from mental distress.

Chapter Two: Bibliotherapy, self-help and the role of case studies

Bibliotherapy

Having identified story—equilibrium in particular—as the link I sought between fiction and therapy, I decided to focus on bibliotherapy, to examine the role this genre can play in promoting psychological health.

Nick Canty, lecturer in publishing at UCL, defines bibliotherapy as 'the directed use of books or other media for the resolution of human ills or conditions' (Canty, 2017, p. 32). This practice has a long history. According to Canty (2017, p. 34), the ancient Greeks used tragedies bring about catharsis in the audience, and the Romans believed that orations could be read by patients to improve their mental health.

Egyptian health professionals also used bibliotherapy. For example, Al-Mansur Hospital in Cairo, which was founded in 1272, 'provided readings of the Koran as part of the medical treatment, this approach being a feature of Islamic culture which has a tradition of caring for the body as well as caring for the soul' (Canty, 2017, p. 34).

The practice of including bibliotherapy as part of the healing process for the mentally ill was also widespread in Europe, particularly from the late 17th century when Humanists such as Samuel Tuke in England 'sought to improve the treatment of the mentally ill and argued for the humane treatment of patients, treatment which considered the importance of reading to patients and making books available to patients' (Canty, 2017, p. 35).

Offerings include a wide range of literature including poetry drama, fiction, reference manuals, and even autobiographies. An offering, whatever it is, qualifies if it fulfils the aims of bibliotherapy. Canty describes the aim of bibliotherapy: 'to help someone gain understanding, insight and self-development through reading, reflection and taking action' (Canty, 2017, p. 36).

According to Canty, bibliotherapy can be divided into two categories. Imaginative literature—poetry, fiction, fables and drama—is intended to foster a creative response from readers, and is offered by booksellers, librarians, schools, and reading groups. Non-fiction material—self-help books and instructive manuals—is offered by medical and mental health practitioners as part of a healthcare package that usually includes therapy or other treatments. This category is also referred to as clinical or prescriptive bibliotherapy, appropriate for individuals suffering psychological disorders such as depression and general anxiety disorder. A good example of how this works is Mark Floyd's case studies at the University of Nevada (Floyd, 2003). He evaluated two older

adults, both of whom were suffering from depression and concluded that bibliotherapy can be used effectively as part of a treatment package that also includes individual psychotherapy.

Although the two categories of bibliotherapy appear distinct, in truth they often overlap. For example, John Macdonald at the University of the West of Scotland evaluated a bibliotherapy scheme that spanned both community and health settings (Macdonald et al., 2013). The project was offered by a local library in conjunction with GP's and local social welfare agencies. Referred to as the Read Yourself Well (RYW) Scheme, the scheme was offered to 114 adults. Some were self-referred, some were referred by their GP, and others were put forward by local social welfare agencies. All participants suffered mild to moderate mental health problems, but the problems weren't significant enough to qualify for clinical treatment. Nonetheless, because currently nearly one in five adults in Great Britain are suffering from depressed mood (Leach et al., 2021), this sample represents a significant percentage of the population. Participants were asked to complete a purpose designed questionnaire and two standard mental health assessments at the beginning and end of the programme. A statistical analysis of the scores revealed significant improvements post intervention for participants in all three referral groups.

The evidence I've found suggests literature can have an important role to play in improving mental health whether mild or more severe, and that all sorts of literature can qualify as bibliotherapy.

I chose to focus on prescriptive bibliotherapy or self-help, to see if I might find an alternate to case studies to illustrate therapeutic techniques. The next step was, therefore, to take a closer look at the self-help genre.

Self-help

Self-help books are those written with the intention of teaching readers how to solve a personal problem. They fall under the category of clinical or prescriptive bibliotherapy, and as with bibliotherapy generally, the genre is not new. Beth Blum in her book *The self-help compulsion: searching for advice in modern literature* (2020) claims that self-help arises from the Renaissance tradition of the 'commonplace book', a scrapbook with recopied quotations that individuals created for personal use in times of need. The aim of these collections was to increase wellbeing and offer guidance for self-change.

Merce-Mur Effing (2009), then at Universite Autonoma de Barcelona, reviewed the development and success of self-help literature in America. She concludes the genre has progressed through three stages. The first she refers to as 'industry and effort' which extended from the late 1700's until the 1850's. This was followed by 'leisure and ease', which peaked just after World War 2. She describes the third stage as 'spiritually-orientated'. This most recent trend is heavily influence by Eastern wisdom, and is most concerned with self-mastery and self-knowledge, with the objective of achieving personal happiness and success.

The self-help genre has always been popular, but it's popularity has accelerated recently. Rob Walker interviewed a number of bookshop owners for *The Guardian* at the start of the pandemic (Walker, 2019) and concluded self-help is currently one of the fastest growing genres in publishing. This genre enjoys wide appeal, although the most frequent purchasers are women, and more recently younger adults of all genders. Walker's research suggests the most recent self-help offerings give empirical validation rather than relying entirely on the author's personal experience. He also found the newer self-help books are more didactic and direct when offering solutions. Another change: celebrities now write self-help: Russell Brand, Ruby Wax and Fearne Cotton are among recent authors. Walker also points out an overlap between self-help and other areas of literature such as Matt Haig's and Rose McGowan's memoirs of recovery from their own mental health problems. One bookseller Walker interviewed also noted that older adults often 'buy nostalgia' to help them—that is, they purchase books that were favourites when they were younger to help them feel better.

This desire for books that evoke positive early memories to help lift mood is not unfounded. It's long been observed (Eich et al., 1994; Teasdale and Fogarty, 1979) that humans recall most easily those personal memories that match their current mood. Psychologists refer to this as Mood Congruent Memory, and clinicians apply what's been learned to the treatment of depression. As Teasdale and Fogarty urge, 'cognitive models of depression need to be extended to include a reciprocal relation between thought content and depressed mood' (Teasdale and Fogarty, 1979, p.248).

It should be noted, however, that the act of recalling positive memories is a reliably effective way to lift mood only in non-depressed individuals. To demonstrate this, Jutta Joorman and Matthias Siemer (2004) recruited 60 adults, half of whom were suffering from dysphoria. Everyone was subjected to a low mood induction and then asked to recall some happy personal memories. The dysphoric participants' mood didn't lift, although those who were not dysphoric before the induction felt better after recalling positive personal memories. This finding suggests that for more severely distressed individuals, simply reading self-help books may not be sufficient to relieve their suffering. I would suggest they also need some individual therapy face-to-face.

227

As the author of five self-help books, I decided to put this genre at the forefront of my thesis. I began by studying a selection of well-known self-help books (Brown, 2013; Byrne, 2006; Carnegie, 2006; Covey, 2005; Jeffers, 1991; Kabat-Zinn, 2004, Peale, 1990; Pinkola Estes, 1993; Robbins, 1992; Scott Peck, 1976; Smiles, 2012; Tolle, 2001; Williams & Penman, 2011; Yalom, 1989) to identify their main qualities, and to consider whether I could find a way to modify the (rather rigid) presentation.

I began by reviewing each book with the aim of discovering the main components and 'tropes' of self-help. I analysed and extracted commonalities across my chosen collection, including my own book, *The key to calm: your path to mindfulness—and beyond* (Blair, 2014). The collection spans a number of years, although most were first published from the mid-1900's onward. I also included the first book regarded as selfhelp, Samuel Smiles' *Self-help* (2012), first published in 1859.

Although the psychological problems varied across the books I'd chosen, I found the structure of each book was remarkably similar. The main 'character', the author, presents a psychological problem that either they've overcome personally, and/or that they've helped others overcome. Their argument is supported by vignettes they offer of examples in the form of case studies—slices of the life of other individuals who've face and overcome the same problem. The book often ends with a summary of guidelines or advice. For completeness, I then compared the aims of self-help with those of face-to-face psychotherapy as I practice it (Blair, F1), to decide what I'd most like to alter in the presentation of self-help.

It's interesting to note that self-help, like recent psychological techniques such as Mindfulness-based Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (Williams and Penman 2011), has increasingly attempted to justify its methods by referring to empirical research using standardisation and quantitative measures—as Walker noted in his article (Walker, 2019). Like the science-based cognitive and behavioural approaches, the self-help approach to solving psychological problems uses problem-solving language and quantitative outcome measures. Although some authors, for example Stephen Covey (Covey, 2005), Anthony Robbins (Robbins, 1992), Dale Carnegie (Carnegie, 2006) and Norman Vincent Peale (Peale, 1990), continue to back up their techniques only with anecdotes from their own experience. Despite this, I noted phrases such as 'it's been shown that', and 'there's evidence for', suggesting a research basis. Others, such as Rhonda Byrne (Byrne, 2006) and Eckhart Tolle (Tolle, 2001), prefer to cite philosophical teaching and religious texts to give their assertions further justification. Few, I noted—Williams and Penman (2011) being an exception—actually backed up their assertions with specific empirical findings. I mention this observation because it sowed seeds of doubt in my mind about what sort of 'scientific' underpinning exists for the therapies I use. I'd always assumed that the bases of diagnosis and the justification for current therapeutic approaches were solidly based in science. It became obvious to me as I wrote *The Fairy Tale Therapist* that my assumptions were only that—assumptions.

For now, however, I turn my attention back to this review of bibliotherapy, self-help and case studies, and my reflections on my practice as a therapist (Blair, F1) and as a self-help author (Blair, F2). After considering the components of self-help books carefully, I decided to focus on case studies as the component I would most like to change in self-help literature. I wanted to find another, perhaps more interesting device I could substitute for case studies, one that would not only illustrate the problem under discussion, but would also lift readers' mood (Joorman and Siemer, 2004).

Throughout my own childhood, I loved fairy tales. In fact, the first story I remember clearly is *Undine and other stories* (Gosse, 1896), read to me by my grandfather. Undine is the basis of Hans Christian Andersen's *The Little Mermaid* (Andersen, 2005, pp. 67-91), and has remained a firm personal favourite. Might there be a way, I wondered, to use fairy tales in self-help books in place of case studies? If so, I needed to understand the main characteristics of case studies for a basis of comparison.

Case Studies

Saul McLeod (2019) defines a case study as an in-depth investigation of a single person or group, or of an event or a community. Information is most often gathered using an ethnographic approach (Shadoan, 2010); that is, via interview and observation, either in a clinical, laboratory, or a natural setting. Its origins lie in the 'case history' used in clinical medicine to record information and for use in teaching.

Case studies provide rich information, but they have limitations. They're impossible to replicate exactly, and one cannot generalise from them. Rather, the observations provide a starting point to generate hypotheses that may then be subjected to empirical investigation and if proven, be applied to certain populations.

Psychologists use case studies extensively, particularly when teaching psychological principles to trainees. To protect patient confidentiality, details of the individual discussed are changed, or details from several similar cases are amalgamated. Christian Jarrett, writing in the British Psychological Society's *Research Digest* (2015), describes ten of psychology's greatest case studies. These cover a

wide range of psychological disorders and theories. Most were used in my own clinical training at the Institute of Psychiatry.

For example, there's the case of Phineas Gage, who became the focus of neuropsychological interest. When working on a railway in 1848, Gage was involved in an explosion that caused a railway tamping iron to be driven into his face, through his brain and out the top of his head. Remarkably he survived, but he underwent a radical change of personality as a result of the injury.

Then there was Anna O, pseudonym for Bertha Pappenheim, a German Jewish feminist and social worker who suffered a severe reaction when her father died, and was treated by the psychoanalyst Joseph Breuer who saw her daily for 18 months until she began to speak again. Freud cited this case as an example of the success of his own 'talking therapy' approach. The other eight are similarly fascinating, ranging from the deliberate attempt to instil fear in a baby (Little Albert) to the murder of a young woman while onlookers simply watched, giving rise to the term 'Bystander Phenomenon' (Kitty Genovese).

The use of case studies has become standardised in self-help books as a way of illustrating the effectiveness of whatever technique the author is promoting. Some authors, for example psychiatrists M. Scott Peck (1978) and Irving Yalom (1989) offer detailed in-depth case studies. These books have sold well no doubt for many reasons, not least because they're beautifully written. However, I suspect the principle reason is that the case histories are detailed enough, with enough of an individual's 'story' told, to seem plausible to readers, who feel privileged to share the therapist's 'insider' view. Certainly I find these books more compelling than those that simply tell the reader what to do, even if the author does this with great authority and certainty—for example, Anthony Robbins' approach in *Awaken the giant within* (1992).

I've often wondered why no one has tried replacing case studies with other material. Perhaps it's because the current format is considered successful enough. But in self-help, as in face-to-face therapy, I wondered if fairy tales might take the place of case studies. There are certain similarities that might allow this substitution.

Unlike biography or autobiography, neither fairy tales nor case studies tell the individual's entire life story. Rather, both are closer to a brief memoir, introducing a snapshot of someone's life during a time they faced and overcame a particular challenge in a particular way. Unlike the character presentation in a biography or memoir, almost everything offered is relevant to the challenge at hand. Because readers are likely to be interested in that challenge, this focused and briefer description may make it easier for readers to identify with the individuals described in

a case study or a fairy tale, because they can 'fill in the gaps' with their own characteristics. They share the challenge with the individual described, and thus may be able to imagine that they, too, could successfully adopt the same techniques.

I would go further and suggest fairy tale characters might offer certain advantages over individuals that are described in case studies. Clients and readers would know the fairy tale character isn't 'real', which would make it easier for them to look at the problem they're facing because it's in a safer space—in imagination. That distance would also allow a more objective look at what's going on and what might be done to overcome the problem they both share. Furthermore, fairy tale characters are presented simply, which would permit the patient to 'fill in' the character's personality to resemble their own more closely and therefore increase their identification with that character. This might be easier than trying to identify with the 'real' individuals described in case studies.

However, before I tried substituting fairy tales for case studies, I needed to define fairy tales, and discover how and in what contexts they have already been used, both in psychology and in fiction more generally.

Chapter Three: Fairy tales: their role as stories, in bibliotherapy, and in literature elsewhere

Fairy tales in literature and psychology

Fairy tales are stories about magical and imaginary beings and lands. Besides a magical setting, there are a few characters simply presented who encounter and attempt to resolve a challenge. The stories usually carry a moral lesson. As Sheldon Cashdan argues when writing of fairy tales for children, 'Whereas the initial attraction of a fairy tale may lie in its ability to enchant and entertain, its lasting value lies in its power to help children deal with the internal conflicts they face in the course of growing up.' (Cashdan ,1999, p. 10). Fairy tales derive from folk tales, but unlike folk tales they are written down rather than passed on by word of mouth. Oral retelling means the story can easily change: for my purposes I wanted material that did not change with each retelling.

I am certainly not the first person to turn to fairy tales for inspiration. Fiction writers such as Angela Carter (2006), Marina Warner (2015) and Eliza Granville (2015) have written stories that suggest the influence of fairy tales. In *The bloody chamber* (2006), for example, Carter extracts content from fairy tales featuring well-known characters such as Snow White (Carter 2006, 'The Snow Child', pp. 105-107) and Red Riding Hood (Carter 2006, 'The Company of Wolves', pp. 129-140). In *Gretel and the Dark,* the psychoanalyst Josef Breuer encounters a young woman for whom her 'real' life and the fairy tale world have lost their boundaries.

Some writers have used fairy tales as a humorous way to illustrate serious issues such as inaccessibility to mental health care in America (Broussard & Heasley, 2021). Others have played with point of view for children's entertainment—and no doubt for the enjoyment of the adults who read to children—for example, Trisha Speed Shaskan's *Seriously, Cinderella is so annoying!: the story of Cinderella as told by the wicked stepmother* (Shaskan, 2011) and Jon Scieszka's *The true story of the 3 little pigs!,* purportedly written by A. Wolf (Scieszka, 1991).

For decades, fairy tales have featured as material in psychological experiments. For example, over 50 years ago Mary Collier and colleagues at Louisiana State University (Collier et al., 1958) asked 264 young adults to summarise their favourite childhood story, explain how they first encountered it, and compare past and present impressions of it, with the aim of discovering why certain stories remain important to individuals in adulthood. Fairy tales were frequently chosen, particularly by the women in the study.

Chiara Ruini at the University of Bologna recruited 21 adult women who were diagnosed with adjustment disorder (Ruini et al., 2014). Participants agreed to attend seven sessions led jointly by a clinical psychologist and a folklorist. During the sessions the group discussed recurring themes in fairy tales, such as resilience and self-realisation. During the last two sessions participants were also asked to write their own fairy tale, a technique that's also used by some therapists such as Jungian analyst Hans Dieckmann in his work with adults (Dieckmann, 1986). In Ruini's study, participants completed a number of questionnaires that measured wellbeing, at the beginning and again at the end of the seven sessions. Their scores revealed an increase in self-acceptance and personal growth, an enhanced sense of appreciation for their own personal strengths, and a decrease in anxiety.

Although encouraging, Ruini's findings should, however, be interpreted with caution: there was no control group, nor was there a comparison with a group who simply discussed psychological issues. We can't know for certain, therefore, that fairy tales caused the observed improvements in wellbeing. The improvements might, for example, have been caused simply by meeting with others to discuss psychological issues.

Laura Hill used fairy tales—she cites Cinderella in particular—to help patients suffering from eating disorders (Hill, 1992). She proposed a four phase model: first, to encourage the patient to identify with a character in the fairy tale; then to develop a personal connection with the character; third, to note the introduction of a conflict; and finally to acknowledge the resolution. She used Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) techniques including cognitive reframing, guided imagery and behavioural assignments. This approach, although more focused on a particular fairy tale across patients than is my own, is nonetheless similar to the way I sometimes work with clients who are suffering from a wide range of psychological disorders, including eating disorders but also depression and anxiety. I find it only benefits clients, however, if they choose the fairy tale and find it easy to identify with a character in the story.

Fairy tales are used to help children, as Leilani VisikoKnox-Johnson (2016) observed in her review of the ways fairy tales can be used to teach children how to deal with basic human conflicts, desires and relationships, as she puts it, 'in a healthy way' (VisikoKnox-Johnson, 2016, p. 77). VisikoKnox-Johnson only considered studies that use a psychoanalytic (Jungian, specifically) interpretation, an approach that is less

open to empirical investigation than, say, is CBT. Even so, her conclusion, that identifying with a chosen fairy tale character can help a child address painful issues and distressing memories in a less threatening or even playful manner, is what I have found in my own therapeutic practice.

Fairy tales have also been used in a paediatric oncology and haematology ward in Naples (Adamo et al., 2008). A group of five to ten year-old children suffering from cerebral neoplasia, a disease that gradually controls voluntary movement, were introduced to fairy tales to help them get in touch with their fears about losing bodily control and about the pain they have to endure as a result of various treatments. They were asked to draw a fairy tale character, for example the wolf in Red Riding Hood, the duck in The Ugly Duckling, or the stepmother in Snow White, to represent their illness. They then talked about what they'd drawn with one of the therapists. I was very moved by this experiment: my eldest son had cystic fibrosis, and the degree of pain he must have had to endure was, I felt sure, overwhelming at times. I wish he had been able to participate in a programme like this.

On a more academic note, fairy tales have also provided rich material for psychologists—psychoanalysts in particular—to illustrate universal human dilemmas (Bettelheim 1988; Cashdan 1999; Pinkola Estes 1993; and Zipes 2012. Please note: Jack Zipes is an academic not a clinician).

The appropriate audience

Sheldon Cashdan considers his interpretations of fairy tales to be relevant specifically to children: 'Using "the seven deadly sins of childhood" as a unifying theme, *The Witch Must Die* demonstrates how fairy tales help children deal with envy, greed, vanity, and other troublesome tendencies.' (Cashdan 1999, p. ix). Hans Dieckmann (2013), on the other hand, claims we can better understand ourselves and the dilemmas we face throughout our lives by revisiting the fairy tales we loved as children.

Bettelheim, like Cashdan, considers fairy tales suitable only for children. Here's how he describes the aim of his book *The uses of enchantment: the meaning and importance of fairy tales,* 1988):

The book attempts to show how fairy stories represent in imaginative form what The process of healthy human development consists of and how the tales make such development attractive for the child to engage in...In short, this book explicates why fairy tales make such great and positive psychological contributions to the child's inner growth. (Bettelheim, 1988, p. 12)

At first I was discouraged by Cashdan's and Bettelheim's claims. How could I, in the face of their arguments, justify the use of fairy tales for adults? But on closer inspection, I could see that Bettelheim at least leaves that option open:

As with all great art, the fairy tale's deepest meaning will be different for each person, and different for the same person at various moments in his life. The child will extract different meaning from the same fairy tale, depending on his interests and needs of the moment. When given the chance, he will return to the same tale when he is ready to enlarge on old meanings, or replace them with new ones. (Bettelheim, 1988, p. 12)

Later in his career, Bettelheim appears to accept that fairy tales can help adults as well. He first published *The uses of enchantment* in 1975, and I've only described his view at that time. However, when he wrote the Forward to Hans Dieckmann's *Twice-told tales: the psychological use of fairy tales* ten years later, he appears to have broadened his view:

Dieckmann, being a Jungian psychoanalyst, relies mainly on Jungian interpretations of fairy tales; they can equally well be understood from a Freudian perspective. But what is truly important is the demonstration that a child's favorite fairy tale can continue to play a significant role in his or her life whether or not the adult is aware of it. This book demonstrates how such an influence can be made to cure pathological processes. (Dieckmann 1986, p. vi)

Clarissa Pinkola Estes, another Jungian therapist, makes it easier to justify using fairy tales for therapeutic purposes when working with adults. In fact, she explicitly directs her book to adults (women) rather than to children:

Fairy tales, myths, and stories provide understandings which sharpen our sight so that we can pick out and pick up the path left by the wildish nature. The instructions found in story reassures us that the path has not run out, but still leads women deeper, and more deeply still, into their own knowing. (Pinkola Estes, 1993, p. 6) Nonetheless, this mixed picture continued to cause me doubt—until, that is, I discovered that the fairy tales I know best, those gathered by Jacob and Wilhelm Grimm (Grimm & Grimm, 2013), did not begin as a collection of stories for children. Jack Zipes explains:

Most readers of the Grimm's tales throughout the world are familiar mainly with the seventh edition of *Kinder- und Hausmarchen* published in 1857, considered the standard if not definitive edition. Most people are not even aware of the fact that there were seven editions that Wilhelm, for the most part, kept amending and changing after 1815. (Zipes ed.tr., 2014, p. xxxi)

In this original edition the tales most closely resemble the oral tales recounted by the people—most of whom were their women friends—that Wilhelm and Jacob Grimm recruited to collect stories from the countryside, in market places and in small villages. These original stories are raw, full of sex and violence, and intended for adults more than for children. Examples of violent tales include, 'How Children Played at Slaughtering' and 'The Children of Famine'. These stories were omitted in later editions, when the Grimms were hoping to widen their readership to include the whole family, and therefore considered these tales unsuitable for children.

The original stories also contained material that was directly sexual, and challenging of 'good' (traditional German, and/or Christian) family values. Most of these tales were also gradually omitted across the seven editions, or they were altered so as to reflect the more puritanical standards Wilhelm Grimm stipulated. His aim was to make the stories suitable to be read to children as well as to adults, and furthermore to teach moral (Christian) lessons.

To take another example, in the 1812/15 edition of 'Little Snow White' and 'Hansel and Gretel', the wicked stepmother is described as the biological mother. In both cases they were changed to stepmothers (in the 1819 edition) because the Grimms considered motherhood to be sacred (Zipes ed.tr., 2014, p. xxxvii).

Another change reflects the brothers' determination to eliminate sexual references. In the 1812 edition the prince's visits to the tower where Rapunel lived, as well as the result of those visits, are described thus:

At first, Rapunzel was terribly afraid, but soon the young prince pleased her so much that she agreed to see him every day and pull him up into the tower. Thus, for a while they had a merry time and enjoyed each other's company. The fairy didn't become aware of this until, one day, Rapunzel began talking and said to her, "Tell me, Mother Gothel, why are my clothes becoming too tight? They don't fit me anymore." (Zipers ed.tr., 2014, p. xxxix-x)

In contrast, here is the version in 1857:

When he entered the tower, Rapunzel was at first terribly afraid, for she had never laid eyes on a man before. However, the prince began to talk to her in a friendly way and told her that her song had touched his heart so deeply that he had not been able to rest until he had seen her. Rapunzel then lost her fear, and when he asked her whether she would have him for her husband, and she saw that he was young and handsome, she thought, "He'll love me better than old Mother Gothel." So she said yes and placed her hand in his...Meanwhile, the sorceress did not notice anything until one day Rapunzel blurted out, "Mother Gothel, how is it that you're much heavier than the prince? When I pull him up, he's here in a second." (Zipes ed.tr., 2014, pp. xi-xii)

If I were to use Grimm's fairy tales therapeutically, I would choose to rely more heavily on the first edition of Grimm's fairy tales, because issues of sexuality, disturbed family relationships and aggression/violence are central in psychotherapy. I would want stories that address these themes as directly as possible.

Which fairy tale collections to draw from

The next question I considered was whether Grimm's fairy tales were the only ones I'd like to use. I therefore read a selection of Russian, Arabian, and English fairy tales. Two tales, both English, caught my attention primarily because they are so familiar: 'The Story of the Three Little Pigs' and 'The Story of the Three Bears' (Jacobs, 2005, pp. 68-72, 93-98).

I'd also noticed that the same stories appear in different cultures. On reflection this isn't surprising. If the themes in fairy and folk tales are intended to depict universal human struggles, it's only natural they would appear again and again, across cultures and over generations. For example, one of my favourites, 'Rumpelstiltskin' appears in various German, English Dutch and Czech fairy tale collections. Pinkola Estes chooses three tales that appear in Hans Andersen's collection: 'The Ugly Duckling', 'The Red Shoes', and 'The Little Match Girl' (Andersen, 2005, pp. 151-163, 207-215,

247-253); and one, Bluebeard', that appears in the first edition of the Grimms' collection (Zipes ed. tr., 2014, pp. 202-205).

This then raised another question. Can Hans Christian Andersen's stories be classified as fairy tales? After all, Andersen wrote them himself rather than gathering folk tales and writing them down as had the Grimm brothers. Jack Zipes certainly believes that Andersen's tales qualify:

If the Brothers Grimm were the first writers in the nineteenth century to distinguish themselves by remolding oral folktales explicitly for a bourgeois socialization process, then Hans Christian Andersen completed their mission so to speak and created a canon of literary fairy tales for children and adults between 1835 and 1874 in praise of essentialist ideology. By infusing his tales with general notions of the Protestant Ethic and essentialist ideas of natural biological order, Andersen was able to receive the bourgeois seal of good housekeeping. From the dominant class point of view his tales were deemed useful and worthy enough for rearing children of all classes, and they became a literary staple in Western culture (Zipes, 2012, p. 79).

In summary, I decided to include fairy tales from the Grimms' collection, from those written by Hans Andersen, and the two English fairy tales mentioned earlier in this section.

Chapter Four: Summary of Findings From My Literature Review

- 1. Stories have long been used to promote wellbeing and overcome psychological problems.
- 2. In chapter one, I established that the link between stories and the process of psychotherapy is equilibrium. Both story and psychotherapy begin with a disruption to the current equilibrium. Recognition of that disruption sparks a desire to regain a balanced state, which is when a reader engages with the story and when client and therapist begin the process of therapy. When the challenge that sparked the disequilibrium is met and a new equilibrium is established, both story and the process of psychotherapy come to a close. Thus I have addressed the second of my three research questions.
- 3. Bibliotherapy, and the self-help genre in particular, have been proven to promote wellbeing, both in clinical settings and in the community.
- 4. Case studies are a standard component of most self-help books and are used to show readers how to overcome a particular problem. Case studies are also used for teaching purposes, to introduce novice professionals to various problems and to ways of solving those problems. Case studies usually feature 'real' people, but heavily disguised to protect client confidentiality.
- 5. Fairy tales have been used humorously and for sparking ideas for new stories. Themes recur across cultures. They have been used extensively in clinical and experimental settings to better understand an individual's motivations and emotional state and promote psychological healing, and they appear to be as applicable to adults as to children.

I was pleased to have addressed the second of my research questions, and to have found nothing that I felt would challenge my desire to use fairy tales as part of self-help. But could fairy tales simply be substituted for case studies? That was the next question I wanted to address.

PART TWO

WRITING THE FAIRY TALE THERAPIST

Chapter Five: Initial attempts to write the book

My first attempts to create a new sort of self-help book showed me how reluctant I was of departing from a traditional academic style. I greatly admire scholarly work, so I decided I could do no better than to copy the didactic approach used by Bettelheim, Cashdan and Pinkola Estes.

I chose 'Little Snow White' because I'd become intrigued by the story when I learned that the stepmother was actually Snow White's biological mother, both in the Grimm's first edition and in the folk tale from which the story derives. I wanted to consider the complex feelings mothers have about their daughters as their daughters mature and become sexually aware.

First attempt: the determined academic

For completeness I have included the entire piece as Appendix One. In summary, I wrote it rather like a college essay, backing up my arguments and assertions with academic references. I even included a Shakespearean sonnet (Sonnet Two, Marns ed., 1974, p. 2), and discussed filicide. The piece finishes with three conclusions. First I warn readers that striving for eternal youth is a hopeless exercise. I then caution parents not to overlook their own emotional distress when parenting. Third, I admonish mothers who try to compete with their daughters rather than celebrating their growing maturity.

When I reread what I'd written, three problems stood out:

- Who would be an appropriate audience? This piece wouldn't help anyone hoping to find guidance to help them overcome their own problems. For that to be offered, it would be necessary to be in direct dialogue with the client/reader, and start by allowing them to tell me what meaning they find in the tale instead of simply offering my own interpretations.
- 2. The presentation was inconsistent and awkward. The breadth I'd covered, and the number of possible explanations for the queen's behaviour, read more like an undergraduate psychology essay than a chapter in a self-help book.
- 3. Worst of all, I found the piece boring. I belaboured points and repeated myself far too often.

Nonetheless, I remained determined to teach rather than to entertain, to use fairy tales to explain my own interpretations.

This first attempt made me think about the self-help books I'd written compared to those that sell extremely well (mine have only achieved modest sales). I wondered if perhaps I should try to learn from them.

Second attempt: bringing myself into the writing

I began by re-reading some best-selling self-help books, in particular Brene Brown's *Daring greatly* (2013), Steven Covey's *The 7 habits of highly effective people* (2005), Susan Jeffers' *Feel the fear and do it anyway* (1991), and Anthony Robbins' *Awaken the giant within* (1992). None of these authors is a clinical psychologist: their education backgrounds are varied, ranging from a high school diploma (Robbins) to PhD's in social work (Brown), religious education (Covey), and psychology (Jeffers). Their style is far chattier and much more informal than my own, and their personal stories feature prominently.

The key difference between their books and my own was the degree of personal disclosure. Perhaps, I thought, the key to high book sales in self-help is to bring myself into the writing more often. I knew this would be difficult for me, because therapists are trained *not* to make any references to their backgrounds or personal life.

My second attempt is attached as Appendix Two. I focused again on the queen in 'Little Snow White', so I could compare this version with my first attempt. I offered personal references, for example, 'Did you—like me—dream of having a beautiful child? Snow White's mother did.' (Blair, Appendix Two, p. 1), and 'Do you recognise yourself anywhere in this fairy tale? I certainly do, at one point in particular.' (Blair, Appendix Two, p. 5). I also tried to sound friendly and engaging, for example, 'Meanwhile, luck was with the little girl. But then of course it was. This is a fairy tale after all!' (Blair, Appendix Two, p. 3)

This time I offered more than just three pieces of advice: to set realistic goals and reassess them regularly; to create new goals when current ones become untenable; to prioritise empathy in relationships and try to foresee the consequences of one's own actions; and to encourage your child's independence.

I feel this piece is easier to read than my first attempt, but it, like the first attempt, suffers from heavy-handedness and repetition. I make a point, then I make it again and again. I'd moved away a little from my need to appear scholarly, to back up everything I assert with academic references, which lightened the prose to some extent. But in other ways that made the content and the advice less believable—after all, I make suggestions as if they've been proven to be valid and correct. My 'advice' in the summary is all over the place, covering personal recommendations as well as business and parenting guidelines.

Perhaps most important, I realised that by interpreting the fairy tale for the reader, I'd lost one of fairy tales' chief sources of enjoyment and usefulness, the privilege of the reader to interpret a fairy tale their own way, depending on what they need at the time. I was trying to combine a psychological interpretation with coaching advice. The two do not sit together comfortably.

Yet another problem was style. My attempt to appear friendly and more personal just didn't work—at least I don't think it did. My 'friendly' asides feel almost condescending on rereading. I doubt they would endear me to readers, as had been my intention. I can only conclude that I don't know how to bring myself directly into writing that's supposed to offer advice. The style just doesn't feel comfortable to me, and I concluded that I can't write self-help in a personable, chatty style, even if it does sell well.

But I was pleased in one respect when I finished this piece. I hugely enjoyed trying to understand the queen, to try to see the world from her point of view. Perhaps this offered a direction for me?

I thought about editing the piece, but decided on balance that I would rather abandon it. Perhaps it was time to accept that there isn't an easy way to use fairy tales as case studies in a self-help book, because an author would have to offer interpretations. That, I believe, contradicts a core strength of fairy tales. They describe universal dilemmas but they are simply presented, thus allowing each reader to make that dilemma their own, to find relevance and personal meaning in the fairy tale. This was beautifully illustrated in Adamo's use of fairy tales in a paediatric oncology ward (Adamo et al., 2008): it was the personal meaning each child gave to the fairy tale character that helped them better face their own fears.

Third attempt: exploring point of view

Because I had so enjoyed trying to understand what happens in 'Little Snow White' from the queen's point of view, I thought this might suggest a different way of considering fairy tales. Although intended for children, I thoroughly enjoyed Scieska's *The true story of the 3 little pigs* (Scieszka, 1991), retold from the wolf's point of view, when I read it to my children. Could I do this with a different fairy tale? After all, that's what therapists are supposed to do, to see the world not through their own eyes but from the point of view of their clients.

But if I did retell the tales in this way, would it help clients with their own dilemmas? I couldn't see how. But still, it seemed a worthwhile exercise, and afterwards I could consider the possible value of what I'd written.

I decided to stick with the queen in 'Little Snow White' once again, but this time to 'allow' her to tell us what happened, by keeping a diary. The full text is attached as Appendix Three.

The process was exhilarating. For the first time, I hadn't stopped to check whether everything I said could be backed up by an expert. I didn't even try to back up assertions with clinical anecdotes. I just wrote, feeling I accepted the queen's viewpoint and seeing clearly in my mind what I was writing about. I'm sure fiction writers experience these feelings often, but for me it was something new and delicious.

But when I reread the piece, I still wasn't happy. How can this 'interpretation' (my own) of a fairy tale help anyone overcome their own unique problems? Wasn't that my original intention when I considered fairy tales as a therapeutic tool?

Yes, that was what I'd originally set out to do. But by trying to do it, I realised that I can't tell readers—I probably couldn't even tell a client in one-toone therapy let alone readers I'm unlikely ever to meet—what a particular fairy tale should mean for them or what lessons they should take from it. That's the very essence of fairy tales: they mean for you what you need them to mean.

Fourth attempt: abandoning traditional self-help format

For well over a year, I'd tried exploring the queen's psyche in 'Little Snow White' because of my own interest in mothering, what factors determine whether someone becomes a good as opposed to an inadequate mother. But that's not necessarily what someone else might focus on in this fairy tale. Looking back on Bruno Bettelheim's (1988) and Clarissa Pinkola Estes' (1993) books, I realised I'd enjoyed them because they offered a novel way of understanding fairy tales. But neither book had helped me address my own psychological dilemmas, nor could I see how they would do so for others.

Then I thought about how authors of self-help books must go about creating their works. I suspect they start with a psychological problem and the solution they believe will overcome it—at least that's what I did when writing my own self-help books. Their justification was more likely to be that the solution worked for them, so it must work for others. Apart from *Mindfulness: a practical guide to finding peace in a frantic world* Willams and Penman, 2011), I couldn't find any self-help books that systematically used references to empirical testing to back up suggested strategies.

Again, I can't be sure, but I suspect that only after writing the core of their book do these authors gather case studies to illustrate their argument—and they only describe those whose stories uphold their methods. This seemed to me quite different from what fairy tales offer. Each one allows the reader a personal interpretation, not only of what's going on—what the challenge is—but also which aspects of the solutions illustrated are suited to their own situation. Fairy tales, I concluded, are too 'simple', too non-specific, to fit the traditional (and in my opinion, rigid) self-help format.

Did that mean I must abandon my idea of using fairy tales to offer readers psychological wisdom? I felt unsure of the way ahead, so I stopped writing and returned to reading widely, to see if I might discover some other useful way to use fairy tales in a psychological context.

The reading did indeed suggest other approaches. First, I thought of trying to emulate Marina Warner's *Fly away home* (2015), or Angela Carter's *The Bloody Chamber* (2006), using fairy tales as a springboard for works of fiction. However, except that their works are fiction, there's not that much difference between their offerings and those of Bettelheim, Cashdan and Pinkola Estes: neither aims to solve an individual's psychological problems—in fact, Warner's and Carter's books might have the opposite effect! Helen Simpson, in her introduction to *The Bloody Chamber*, confirmed my suspicions:

The Bloody Chamber is often—wrongly—described as a group of Traditional fairy tales given a subversive feminist twist. In fact these stories are new stories, not retellings. As Carter made clear, 'My intention was not do "versions" or, as the American edition of the book said, horribly, "adult" fairy tales, but to extract the latent content from the traditional stories and to use it as the beginnings of new stories.' (Carter, 2006, pp. vii-viii)

Warner's intention was similar, as described on the jacket of *Fly away home:*

Marina Warner adopts—and transforms—familiar elements and structures—from myth, fairy tale and nursery rhymes to create stories that might play the light of reasoned imagination on the texture of reality.' (Warner, 2015)

During this time-out from writing I read a review about a new book, which I ordered at once and read. Psychotherapist Lori Gottleib, in *Maybe you should talk to someone* (2020), writes about a therapist who tries to continue offering therapy even as her own life crashes in on her, and who ends up seeking therapy herself.

I liked this idea. It was a fresh take on the therapeutic process, entertaining yet also informative. It also called to mind the many times clients have asked me personal questions, which I parried in accordance with my clinical training (which was in England). Clients want to know what their therapist is thinking, but we're taught never to bring our personal lives into the therapy room. It's interesting that Gottleib, working in America, backs up this 'rule':

Wait a minute, you might be thinking. Why are you telling me all this? Aren't therapists supposed to keep their personal lives private? Aren't they supposed to be blank slates who never reveal anything about themselves, objective observes who refrain from calling their patients names—even in their heads? Besides, aren't therapists, of all people, supposed to have their lives together?

On the one hand, yes. What happens in the therapy room should be done on behalf of the patient, and if therapists aren't able to separate their own struggles from those of the people who come to them, then they should, without question, choose a different line of work. (Gottleib, 2020, p. 7) What therapists might be thinking is extremely intriguing—and not just for clients. Even before I trained as a therapist, I was curious to know therapists' inner thoughts while they were offering therapy. I also wondered how they dealt with their own problems, because as Gottleib suggested, not many people think of therapists as having problems of their own.

There's not a lot written about therapists' own inner struggles, but I'd read whatever I could find, from Stuart Sutherland's account of his mental breakdown (Sutherland, 2010) to Vicky Rippere's and Ruth Williams' collection of essays written by mental health professionals who themselves had suffered from mental disorders (Rippere & Williams ed., 1994). I was particularly interested in Rippere's and Williams' book because some of the contributors, I discovered, had been my teachers during my clinical training. I'd never thought they might have struggles of their own.

More recently, medical professionals have also opened up about their own troubles, and the books have enjoyed considerable success. Some authors have adopted a more serious tone (Elton, 2018); others, while still writing about serious issues, describe what happens with humour (Kay, 2017). In fact, Adam Kay's *This is going to hurt* has been so popular that it's now been adapted for theatre and is playing at the Garrick.

I was beginning to feel hopeful. Maybe this is an important topic, a way to understand better the process of taking on someone else's problems and concerns. At any rate, the success of these books suggested that I'm not the only one who wonders how medical and mental health professionals handle their own psychological challenges.

The more I thought about this idea, the more important it seemed to me to allow readers a view into the therapist's mind during therapy. After all, accounts of the personal struggles of medical and mental health practitioners had already proven to attract many readers, and Gottleib's book is a big success.

Influence of my own training

Although I trained clinically to offer Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy (Williams and Penman, 2011), I have also been an advocate Carl Rogers' humanistic approach to therapy (Kirschenbaum & Jourdan, 2005; Rogers, 1951; Rogers, 1961) as a result of my studies at Harvard. Rogers, who coined the term 'client' to replace 'patient', created what he called a person-centred approach to therapy.

When working with a client, Rogers stipulated three core conditions are necessary to maximise the chance of a successful outcome. The first is empathic understanding: a sensitive and accurate awareness of clients' experiences. Second is unconditional positive regard, or deep and caring concern for clients, *as they are*. Third is congruence: the therapist is regarded by clients as open, genuine, and authentic when interacting with them (Kirschenbaum & Jourdan, 2005, p. 37).

These three conditions suggest that therapists should regard clients as different from them, but nonetheless as equals. Larry LeShan, an American psychologist who worked with terminally ill cancer patients and achieved remarkable success (LeShan, 1977), once commented in a group discussion where I was present in Cambridge in 1983, that whenever a client enters a consulting room there are then two experts in that room. One of them knows more than most about the disease of concern, while the other knows more than anyone in the world about the body under discussion. This seems a more dignified and respectful way to work with clients than the traditional way, where one person (the therapist) has the right to ask the other anything about them, while the other (the client) knows nothing about their interrogator.

I include this section because I know I will want the therapist in my story to reflect my own approach to psychotherapy, and I would hope that even on first meeting, that therapist would note any judgment she might pass on the client initially, and soften her view to reflect unconditional positive regard.

Chapter Six: Plot

At last I knew what I wanted to write. I would follow Gottlieb's lead—allow clients, would-be clients, and anyone interested in psychology—access to an area that's normally closed to them. They would be introduced to a therapist's innermost thoughts. My book will not be a standard self-help book because I wasn't planning to address a particular psychological problem. But I hope it would help readers learn more about the therapeutic process—more about both sides in the clinical exchange.

At the same time, I wanted to create a twist in my story, one that would inject humour and at the same time lift readers' moods. What if fairy tale characters, instead of humans, decided to seek therapy? Using fairy tales would for most adults evoke pleasant childhood memories, as studies have shown that recalling happy past events is associated with a more positive mood (Eich et al., 1994; Joorman & Siemer, 2004; Teasdale and Fogarty, 1979). Furthermore, I'd not come across any books where a therapist treats fairy tale characters, so I'm hoping the idea is new and fresh.

Like Gottleib had done, I also wanted to create a real challenge for the therapist in my story. Will she be able to adhere to the core principles I value of empathy, unconditional positive regard and congruence with her clients, if those clients are imaginary characters from fairy stories?

Finally, I needed a plausible reason why the therapist might accept that fairy tale characters were really appearing and asking for her help. The best way, I thought, was if she had recently faced a personal problem so overwhelming that she might not question what was happening to her. She also might be more accepting of this extraordinary situation if she'd recently moved somewhere that was totally unfamiliar to her.

It now felt as if I had enough of the plot clear to make a start. What I didn't yet know was which fairy tale characters would enter the therapist's consulting room. I also had no idea yet that the therapist's own story would become central to the plot; nor did I know how my story would end.

What I did know, however, was that the time had come to abandon my familiar approach to writing, of using empirical research findings to back up what I wrote. I would need to adopt a new methodology.

Chapter Seven: A shift in methodology

Initially, I conducted a comparative literature review and analysis of selfhelp books and fairy tales. I have discussed this in Part One in my Contextualising Piece.

To conduct the next phase of my research, I drew on my 40 years of experience as a practicing clinical psychologist (Blair, F1). Second I produced a creative piece of work using a 'practice as research methodology' (Skains, 2018; Blair, F3). Third, I used auto-ethnographic process of reflection to consider the results (Ellis et al., 2011), drawing from my experience as a writer of self-help books and as a therapist (Blair, F1 & F2).

Throughout the process of developing and producing my research, I kept 'field notes', drawing from the auto-ethnographic tradition of research. I use the term 'field notes' to describe my eclectic process of note taking, evidence gathering and analysis—i.e. through the use of 'head notes', 'jottings', 'scratch notes', supervision notes, notes on revisions of my creative component and personal reflection.

For the purpose of this contextual review I have grouped my 'field notes' into three collections, samples of which are included as Appendices 4, 5 and 6 respectively:

Field notes Set One (F1): My reflections during training, clinical research, and work as a therapist

Field notes Set Two (F2): My reflective 'field notes' on my process, practice and knowledge base as a self-help writer

Field notes Set Three (F3): My reflective 'field notes' on the ongoing experience, analysis and knowledge generated in the course of creating this thesis

The term 'field notes' may convey the impression of an ordered set of notes in a book-like form. But the reality, as Rachel Shadoan (2010) argues, is far messier:

In traditional anthropology, field notes are not things that you share. They are, in many ways, considered the secret formulae of anthropological research. Most researchers are loathe to share them. As a result, there is little standardization in how field notes are taken or taught, which creates a great deal of difficulty for an up-and-coming ethnographer. (Rachel Shadoan Muses, 18/06/2010)

As with Shadoan (2010), my field notes are a private and idiosyncratic set of jottings that perhaps only I can decipher. Nonetheless, alongside the literature review, these personal reflections and jotting were a principal source of evidence for my research. As the thesis progressed, I used them to inform the development of insights into the narrative I created, both as a therapist and as a self-help writer.

For this 'practice as research' (Skains, 2028) component of my methodology, I played with the production of an alternative form of self-help book, one that used fairy tale characters to address psychological problems and illustrate the process of therapy. Rather than offering specific 'tips' or 'the solution' to particular psychological problems, my aim was to engage and entertain readers, to invite them to recall and interpret familiar stories and at the same time to learn more about how psychotherapy works. The final novel that arose from this creative process does use fairy tale characters, but to examine psychotherapy rather than solve particular psychological problems.

What I have created is not a typical self-help book. Instead of explaining a psychological problem and the technique I feel will solve it, fairy tale characters present their own psychological dilemmas to Helen, a present-day therapist. The book is written in first person, as Helen's account, so readers are also allowed to know the thoughts of the therapist as she attempts to help the fairy tale characters.

Finally, using an approach akin to auto-ethnography (Ellis et al., 2011), I drew from and reflected on my own process and experience as a therapist and an established self-help author. Here, my field notes enabled me to find relevance in the psychotherapeutic notes I've kept as a practitioner in both the NHS and in private practice (Blair, F1)—a process which Helen explains she also used to try to make sense of what happened to her. For the purposes of writing in a clear and engaging way, Helen's therapy notes—the bulk of the book I wrote—are more detailed, fluent and clear than a therapist would normally write them. Helen writes about this in the Introduction of my book. Because we're trained in techniques, but confidentiality prevents us from observing other therapists at work, I had to draw from my own personal field notes (Blair, F1). I relied heavily on reflective auto-ethnography and critical analysis of my own writing for this novel (Blair, F2 and F3), as well as my literature review (Part One of this Contextual Piece) when I addressed my research questions, because I was unable to find all the evidence I needed elsewhere.

When writing about the process of psychotherapy, I used my own reflections as a therapist as evidence because of the paucity of published accounts of what actually goes on in therapy (this is necessary because of our stringent rules about confidentiality). I did, however find three sources with direct examples of therapeutic dialogue (Gottleib, 202; Scott Peck, 1978; and Yalom, 1989). I included these sources when reflecting on what happens during psychotherapy and the role of story in that process. I am aware from psychological research that memory is a reconstructive process (Loftus, 1974); that our memories change with time and further experience. I therefore decided to reflect regularly to help me remember as accurately as possible how my discoveries change the way I regard fairy tales and in particular the fairy tale characters who came to ask Helen for help, and how I approach them with therapeutic intention. I will refer to my reflections to explain and justify my conclusions.

I often use stories when carrying out face-to-face therapy, both to illustrate techniques clients might wish to adopt to help them overcome their own problems. During our sessions I suggest all sorts of literature depending on the interests and challenges facing individuals. My reflections showed me that I often choose fairy tales. I also studied the psychological literature to discover whether my approach is unusual, or whether others have used fairy tales as a psychological tool, and if so, how. I found some examples, primarily in therapeutic work with children (Adamo et al., 2008; Hill, 1992; Ruini, 2014, VisikoKnox-Johnson, 2016) I wondered if I could find a more systematic way to use fairy tales in my work and/or in self-help books: these attempts can be seen in this Contextual Piece, Chapter Four. My conclusion was that fairy tales are not an appropriate straight substitution for case studies. However, my reflections (Blair, F3) showed me another, more entertaining but still instructive way to do so, and sparked the idea behind my book.
Chapter Eight: Genre and Readership

Genre

I have explained that my book is not a traditional self-help book. However, it is meant to help readers—not, perhaps, to understand how to deal with a particular problem but rather to learn about, and hopefully therefore feel more positive about, undertaking psychotherapy should they wish to do so. As it turned out, I think my book might be useful for other psychotherapists as well—trainees in particular— to help them, in a humorous way, better understand how to accept with unconditional positive regard clients of unusual appearance and background, and how to think through unexpected and novel psychological problems. The book also offers a fresh way to think about familiar fairy tales.

But my book isn't a fairy tale, nor does it fit the self-help genre. Nor, when I studied 17 popular genres in fiction. the widest categorisation I felt comfortable considering, could I easily find a home for it anywhere else (Patterson, 2016). The closest fits among those 17 categories were either Literary Fiction or Magical Realism.

I considered Literary Fiction because of the focus on Helen's situation as well as the inner lives of the characters—the problem being that the characters are not human. I considered Magical Realism because in Helen's mind, magical events—visits from fairy tale characters seeking her help—often seemed to her to be part of her 'real' life. At other times, however, she doubted the reality of the visits, so this genre wasn't quite an ideal fit either.

Then I remembered that Juliet Mushens, literary agent at Mushens entertainment and agent to among others Richard Osman, had suggested Reading Group Fiction as a genre when I participated in her Guardian Masterclass (Mushens, 2021). I wondered how this category is defined, and whether my book might fit within it.

Katie Lumsden, in her regular YouTube offering 'Books and Things' (Lumsden, 2019b), definitely believes Reading Group Fiction is a viable literary genre. She defines this category as being made up of beautifully written prose and with a good plot; a work that's very thematically driven. She offers five defining elements: social, political or human commentary; an exploration of complex themes; a detailed character exploration—but not necessarily introspective as with the Literary Fiction category; plot driven (in contrast to Literary Fiction); and written in accessible but crafted language. These books offer a great deal of material to discuss and think about, accessible to a wide range of people—in other words, a good choice for reading groups.

In my opinion, and backed up by Lumsden's and Mushens' endorsement of Reading Group Fiction as a category, this is the most appropriate genre for *The fairy tale therapist.*

Readership

The fairy tale therapist will appeal to readers who enjoyed Lori Gottleib's *Maybe you should talk to someone* (Gottleib, 2020) and Adam Kay's *This is going to hurt: secret diaries of a junior doctor* (Kay, 2017), as well as to fans of a more serious read, Caroline Elton's *Also human: the inner lives of doctors* (Elton, 2018). Film enthusiasts who loved Robin Williams performance in *Awakenings* (1990), or when he teamed up with Maggie Smith in *Hook* (1991), will also want to read this book. It will appeal to anyone who's had psychotherapy or is considering having it, anyone wants to be or is a psychotherapist, and everyone who loves fairy tales.

Chapter Nine: Setting

The story takes place near a small village in North Wales where Helen has fled to escape the memories of her recent personal disasters. She chooses this village because a job was advertised there in a single practice psychotherapy clinic, which suited her need for isolation so she could come to terms with what happened to her without interference. She also chose that particular village because she felt fairly certain she wouldn't know anyone again, to give her the time and space to habituate to her losses in her own way.

Therefore, I needed three settings, two of them central (Helen's clinic, and the magic forest from which the fairy tale characters emerged), and one less central (the place Helen lived when her tragedies occurred). I decided to choose three 'fairy tale locations' from my own life, places where I was when something wonderful occurred.

These powerful emotional moments form what Roger Brown called 'flashbulb memories' (Brown & Kulik, 1977). Brown defines them thus: 'Flashbulb Memories are memories for the circumstances in which one first learned of a very surprising and consequential (or emotionally arousing) event.' (Brown &* Kulik, 1977, 73) They're less likely than other memories to fade, and they are as poserful for older as for younger adults (Davidson & Glinsky, 2002).

Most often we think of flashbulb moments as associated with negative events, for example 9/11, or the assassinations of Martin Luther King and John F. Kennedy, However, they can as easily occur when the event makes us joyful. Flashbulb memories are vivid and highly detailed: I felt this would help me describe the settings more accurately.

The primary setting is Helen's clinic. I based that clinic on a child and family unit in East Anglia where I worked for several years in the 1980's. This was only my second job in the NHS, but I had been appointed principal psychologist, a position well beyond my hopes at that time. Only two months previously, I'd voluntarily resigned from a basic level psychologist at a children's clinic in Cambridge, my first job after qualifying, because I'd been asked to change my assessment of a particular patient in order to make it agree with two other reports filed by two other assessors. I felt this was unjustifiable and had voluntarily resigned. But only two months later I was offered a fantastic promotion. I remember in every detail about what the humble but welcoming clinic looked like when I entered on the first day, knowing I was in charge.

I based the magical forest on the weekend of my 65th birthday, when my husband drove me to Henllan, a village beside the Teifi River that forms the boundary between Ceredigion and Carmarthenshire. There, a dedicated group of craftsmen make harps, to order and by hand. I was allowed to choose the type of wood, type of strings and design for my harp. It was a dream come true for me: I remember vividly the ancient trees surrounding the old school house which the craftsmen had adapted as their workshop. To me, they felt magical.

The third setting, the area where Helen lived and worked before the book really begins, exists only vaguely in the book, in her recollections. Even though it plays but a minor part in the book, I wanted to be clear about how this setting can be described. I based it on Denmark Hill, a road that runs from the Institute of Psychiatry in London to my rented room just the other side of Brixton. I remember vividly walking that road after my first day of lectures, still unable to believe that I'd been given the chance to study at such a prestigious institution. It was also the first time I'd lived on my own. I still remember my exhilaration, and the images, sounds and smells as I walked along that busy London road. It was incredibly positive, but the at the same time the road afforded all too easily the possibility of a car hitting a cyclist, which is what happens to Helen's son.

Chapter Ten: Characters

Helen

When I began writing this book, I didn't expect Helen to become the main character. I expected instead a host of main characters; the individuals from 19 fairy tales who sought her help.

However, as the fairy tale characters presented themselves in her clinic, Helen's reactions to them, as well as her thoughts about her own life—began to dominate. Hitherto, I'd thought of her only as a device, her questions designed to bring each character's dilemma to life.

I therefore decided to 'meet' Helen, and this is how I went about it: I imagined sitting down with Helen and asking her to tell me about herself. What I 'heard' surprised me, because Helen isn't like anyone I've ever met. There are certain aspects—Helen's profession, the fact that her eldest son died—that are from my own life. But Helen's personality, her birth order position, and her marriage are hers alone.

I am aware that her speech and that of her characters sound similar. This is because I, and I believe most therapists, try so hard to see the world from our clients' point of view that, without realising it, we adapt our linguistic style to be more comfortable, more like their own. Therapists also try to see each client without preconceptions: in my book, Helen must block any suspicions she has about which fairy tale her client comes from, because those suspicions are hers, and could distort what the client wants to portray. Therapists become quite skilled at this.

Emma

Emma, Helen's receptionist, is my image of the ideal PA. She's competent without fuss, caring without expressing it verbally, and utterly efficient. I haven't based her on anyone in particular, although she does epitomise to me the calm, capable, unflappable Welsh mam. I would guess that to Helen, Emma represents the sort of mother she would have wished she had.

Theo and Freya

I didn't develop Theo or Freya, because they figure only in Helen's memories and her view of them is all I felt I needed. Theo is a typical spoiled rich kid who hasn't taken personal responsibility for his life because he's never needed to; Freya is young and impressionable, and drawn in by Theo's charm.

Alex

Alex is, in Helen's memory, the perfect child. No doubt he wasn't perfect, but what was important to me when writing about him was how Helen idealised him, making her loss feel even greater. On reflection, when I created Alex I think I was influenced by Dane, Meggie Cleary's illegitimate son in Colleen McCullough's *The thorn birds*. Meggie idealised Dane in the same way Helen idealises Alex, and both characters die young.

Notes on the Fairy Tale 'Clients'

After writing 'Rumpelstiltskin' and 'Little Snow White', the fairy tales began announcing themselves to me, and the ordering is just how they did so. I wasn't conscious of choosing which story came when, or where the therapist's own story was heading.

Nor did I consciously choose which character would walk out of each tale and into the therapist's consulting room. My 'method' was take a long early walk on my own in the countryside each morning. By the time I came back home I knew which chapter I would write next. It was the most liberating writing experience of my life. For the first time, I followed the story instead of doggedly trying to create it. I wish I understood why a particular character sometimes the main character, but often a minor player—was the chosen client. Not even attempts to analyse myself have helped me!

Once I knew which character was going to visit the therapist next, I did, however, have to spend several days learning about that character. If it was human, I needed to know what they might look like and wear at the time the fairy tale took place (late 1700's/early 1800's), and what a typical day might be like for them. For this research I thank many sources (because of lockdown I was limited to my own library and the internet). Most helpful were two wonderful YouTube clips created by the National Museums of Liverpool: 'Getting Dressed in 18th-Century England' (for noblewomen), and 'Getting Dressed in the 18th Century—Men'.

I had even more to learn when the character who entered the therapist's office wasn't human. They included a duckling, a wolf, a she-goat, and a bear. I read all sorts of nature clips and watched videos, gradually acquainting myself with the life of a European mountain goat, the domestic duck, or whatever creature I needed to learn about at the time.

The characters are of course not my creation: they already existed. Rather, therefore, than writing about character development, I've included here some reflections on the fairy tale characters that 'visited' Helen. The last chapter completes the therapist's story and is not based on a particular fairy tale, although the creature that comes to speak to the therapist rather made me think of Tinkerbell.

The most important chapter for me is 'The Elves and the Shoemaker'. As I wrote this chapter, I realised the therapist's story was about to reach its climax—although exactly what happened to her in the final chapter isn't clear, because it wasn't clear to me at the time. But it did mark the end of the book it was her new equilibrium—of that I was sure.

Here, then, my reflections once each fairy tale character emerged to enter Helen's clinic:

Rumpelstiltskin

I was interested in this story initially for two reasons. First, the exploitation of the miller's daughter, her helplessness throughout the story (until the very end), because the question of women's rights is so much at the forefront of current events just now. Secondly, I realised there was a lack of clarity about paternity in this tale, and despite having heard or read the story many times, this had never occurred to me. Who really was the father of the queen's son? I suppose in this first fairy tale, there was more of 'me' in the therapist than there is later on—that is, the therapist's thoughts more closely resemble the ones I would have had, more than in later chapters.

I used this chapter also to explain a bit more about the therapist, why she was working in this remote place.

Little Snow White

I was sure that after thinking and writing so much about the queen already, she would be the character who would visit the therapist. It was therefore quite a surprise when the huntsman entered the consulting room! But thankfully, his problem turned out to be quite amenable to treatment—an easier challenge, I think, than the queen would have presented. I don't feel anyone could persuade the queen to think differently about her values, nor would she be particularly motivated to change her ways or attitudes. So often those who suffer from Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (OCD)—as I believe the queen must have done (as well as from Narcissistic Personality Disorder)—say they wish to relieve their suffering. But although they may express a desire to change, they're too afraid actually to let go of their compulsive behaviours because they're guaranteed to relieve anxiety in the short term. I was glad, therefore, not to have to treat the queen, especially since I had decided Helen would only have one opportunity to work with each character rather than the standard six (or more) sessions.

The huntsman shares, with the miller's daughter, feelings of helplessness because of his position in the society of that time. Because such individuals can almost never change their circumstances, their only recourse is to think differently about what happens—hence the reason, I suspect, that Helen chooses to use Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) when she tries to help him.

The Fisherman and his Wife

I really could picture this character! For some reason he reminded me of my grandfather, although my grandfather was a car mechanic rather than a fisherman, and I don't remember him being smelly. But he did always have filthy hands and trousers, which made my grandmother despair. This is another chapter that illustrates the power of CBT. The fisherman couldn't change his wife's attitudes and outlook on life, but he could change his own sense of responsibility for her attitudes.

Readers learn a bit more about Helen in this chapter, who at this point has diverged from 'me' completely and has become a person in her own right.

The Companionship of the Cat and Mouse

As soon as the mouse sat down, I knew the therapist was going to fail in her attempts to save this creature--and I was actually glad (although not for the poor mouse). It's important that the general public understand that therapy doesn't always end with the client feeling 'happy ever after', or that therapists have all the answers! It's a horrible feeling when we therapists try everything we know, and still we see the client heading for disaster. But sometimes that is what happens.

I also had to learn a lot about the habits of both mice and cats.

I found it great fun when Helen suspects the mouse is in a gay relationship. This is a good example of what so often happens during therapy: the client assumes the therapist knows exactly what they intend, so they don't offer the details the therapist may need to get the full or correct picture; sometimes even to get the right idea at all. In this case, the vital information—that the mouse was in mortal danger because its partner is a hungry cat—comes too late for the poor therapist to make use of it.

Overall, this was a gloomy chapter, because it begins with Helen's flashbacks about the central tragedy in her life, the death of her son, and because she fails to help the mouse.

Cinderella

I've always had sympathy for the step-sisters in this fairy tale. They came across to me as pretty helpless characters because their mother was so powerful and domineering. And if you read the first edition version of this tale, you will see that the younger step-sister, the patient in this chapter, did show some genuine kindness to Cinderella:

'Now Cinderella had to comb and clean again, and the youngest sister, who had a little sympathy in her heart, said, "Cinderella, when it turns dark, you can go to the ball and look in through the windows." (p. 71, *The Complete First Edition*)

But her kind gesture is thwarted, for her heartless elder sister intervenes and chides the younger one, saying, "No…That will only make her lazy." (p. 72, *The Complete First Edition*) I was therefore pleased the younger step-sister, who was the kinder soul, was able to benefit from Helen's suggestions. It's quite common, by the way, for a first born to be conformist/like their parents, while later borns take on a more rebellious character.

I had a lot of fun finding appropriate names for the characters in this story.

Rapunzel

The most intriguing thing about this fairy tale is that in the first edition, true to the earthier nature of the folk tales the Grimm brothers chronicled before they edited them extensively, Rapunzel's meetings with the prince are revealed to the witch because of the witch discovers Rapunzel is pregnant. That reason was omitted in the seventh edition—by then, the editing hand of Wilhelm, who wanted to sell wholesome Christian values in the tales, shows through. The perils of overprotecting your child, a timely topic, are well illustrated in this tale.

I was glad it was the witch who came to see Helen, because she could empathise with the witch's powerful desire to have a child, and once she had that child, her desire to keep her safe and protected. To my surprise, I ended up liking the witch—perhaps identifying personally with the thwarted desire to carry a successful pregnancy.

The Ugly Duckling

This was the first Hans Christian Andersen character who entered the consulting room. I'd been worried that Andersen's characters, so much more detailed than are the Grimm brothers' characters, would leave little to the imagination. I was, therefore, relieved it was a bird rather than a person who came in through the therapist's window.

After reading a synopsis of Anderson's life, I began to suspect that the duckling/swan represents Andersen himself in some respects: 'For even when he was famous, Andersen felt isolated, confused in his sexuality, constantly rejected by those he attempted to love, and aware that he was endlessly mocked for idiosyncrasies that made him appear an outsider everywhere.' (p. xxv, *Fairy Tales,* HCA)

This chapter also introduces readers to the way many therapists try to deal with suicide threats—anyway, the way I was taught to do so! At first it's really challenging to talk directly with a client who mentions suicidal thoughts—we all wonder if we'll drive them to the deed rather than away from it. In truth, if a client broaches the subject they wish to talk about it, and usually also hope they'll be talked out of committing suicide.

Before writing this chapter, I spent a lot of time learning about the habits of ducks and swans!

The Emperor's New Clothes

This chapter illustrates how wise young children can be. Because they aren't hampered by social dictates nor aware of what others may think of them, they will often say exactly what they're really thinking and convey their reactions directly, without filtering them for social appropriateness and approval. This is called egocentrism, and Piaget regarded the transition from egocentrism to decentring (between the ages of about four to seven for most children) as central to cognitive development.

In this chapter, readers are given a window into how a therapist reacts internally when their client says something incredibly peculiar, or looks really odd (in this case, naked!). Readers watch as Helen tries desperately hard to behave as if nothing is unusual, so the client can continue to feel accepted and understood. To say this can be quite a challenge sometimes is an understatement! (I did have a similar experience myself once, although the client was human!)

There's another chance here to see how often therapists consider far more options than they convey to their clients. In this chapter, when initially Helen considers a diagnosis of psychosis, she simultaneously considers the various treatments that might be possible. Her conclusions allow her to formulate the next questions to ask the emperor.

Beauty and the Beast

This fairy tale is of French origin, attributed to Gabrielle-Suzanne Barbot de Villeneuve around 1740 ('La Belle et la Bete'), although a near version does appear in the first edition of Grimm's fairy tale collection as 'The Singing, Springing Lark', pp. 277-283, *The Complete First Edition*)

This is another example of how challenging it is for a therapist to appear nonplussed in the face of something extremely odd, or even unpleasant—in this case, the beast's repugnant appearance.

By the end of the session, I, like Helen, had warmed to the beast. After a time, it became easier to overlook his outward appearance and focus on his thoughts and beliefs. Of course we therapists should always do that, but the beast's extreme appearance helps readers understand how hard this can sometimes be.

The Frog Prince

I found it really difficult to like the princess. This was the first time I'd felt that way when writing this book. It's interesting to observe how hard Helen has to try to find the good things about the princess and bring them out, something that can be really difficult if a therapist doesn't particularly like a client—and especially if a client reminds the therapist of someone in their own life they heartily dislike.

That's why this chapter seemed the appropriate time to include a bit more about Freya, an unlikeable character (to me as well as to Helen, as it happens) in the therapist's own life. I suspect the therapist was reminded of Freya—at least, I imagine both to be outwardly pretty, vain and probably rather shallow. However, the princess did redeem herself to some extent, although it was a bit too late for me to decide I could like her.

The Story of the Three Bears

This is the first of two English fairy tales I included.

In this chapter, Helen has a chance to show readers her knowledge of birth order—and in that sense, I was identifying with her, because I wrote a book about the effects of birth order on character.

I spent several days learning about European bears before I dared try to describe this creature! I found her naivety and her eagerness to learn charming. And I just loved her absurd pink bow, as she tried to appear feminine despite her bear-like size and fur!

The Nightingale

This is another Hans Christian Andersen tale, one that afforded me the opportunity to learn about Chinese emperors—what they wore, what they ate, how they conducted their day, how they were regarded.

I, like Helen, felt huge empathy for the Emperor—in Helen's case, perhaps too much empathy. This is an excellent example of how easily therapists can become too involved, how easy it can be to share their patient's feelings to such an extent that they can lose perspective and objectivity. At least Helen catches herself: she realises she has to step back so she can continue to offer what's needed—objective, balanced comments and helpful questions.

Little Red Cap

I must have been feeling rebellious when Little Red Cap came into the therapist's office, because I was absolutely determined to think about this character *not* as everyone else seems to do, as a victim of sexual abuse.

But as she told her story, it became obvious that, at least in my opinion—and Helen's as well—that she couldn't be regarded in any other way. As she thinks about what happens to Red Ca[and concludes it's largely because she'd been overprotected, Helen can't help herself reflecting on her own parenting skills. Had she been too over-protective with Alex? Too lenient? Was the independence she encouraged been the cause of his death? All mothers, therapists or not, find it all too easy to spiral into a wave of guilt because of a feeling of over-responsibility.

It's normal for therapists to have these sorts of thoughts, but at the same time it's vital that they deflect them so as to remain focused on their patient. Little Red Cap is a stark reminder of the perils of over-protecting one's children. I hope Helen's reflections on her own approach to parenting, although inappropriate during the therapy session, offered her some relief.

The Story of the Three Little Pigs

This chapter is another example of therapist failure. Helen can't help the wolf in this fairy tale—at any rate, she doesn't seem able to prevent him from returning to the pig's house to try again to outwit the clever creature (and as those who know the story are aware, he fails dramatically in his attempt). It's not self-justification, to explain her inability to help, that Helen suspects the wolf is suffering from OCD. I think she's right. He's utterly resistant to doing anything other than trying again, and again, to outwit the pig. He perseverates with this strategy because it's the only way he knows to relieve his anxiety when he's consumed by the obsessional thought that he's less intelligent than the pig—worse for him, because the desire to seem clever was agonisingly powerful because it was the only way he knew to please his mother. The fear generated by obsessional thoughts, particularly ones arising from early childhood beliefs, often prevents change.

There is also the opportunity to observe what can go wrong when a therapist makes assumptions that can lock in her thinking in a particular way. Presumptive thinking limits the options a diagnostician has available, and can lead to erroneous conclusions. Jerome Groopman, in his book *How Doctors Think (*Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, 2007, pp. 34-35), explains how easy it is for doctors to make this sort of error when attempting to diagnose a patient. This is a good example of confirmatory bias—paying attention to information that supports a belief you already hold, while ignoring information that challenges your belief.

Snow White and Rose Red

I think Rose is my favourite character in the entire book, something I would never have expected when this lesser-known fairy tale character danced into Helen's consulting room. She is the epitome of a fun-loving, impulsive, carefree younger sister. Rose also pleases me because she makes light of the vulnerability of women in those days rather than feeling overwhelmed by it. Her solution? Get around by appearing to be male when it suits you to do so. This story offers Helen the opportunity to consider the effects of sibling rivalry, although her reflections tell the reader more about birth order than sibling rivalry.

I had to learn how 'ordinary' women and men dressed at that time so Rose could don her male disguise, yet also look appropriate when she revealed her feminine identity.

The Wolf and the Seven Kids

It's so common, but so upsetting, to look back and regret things we've said or as in this chapter, things we didn't even say but only thought. At the same time, this tale illustrates how important it is to lay regret down so you can leave it behind.

The goat was for me a loveable character, a mother with good intentions who makes a misjudgement, and while overwhelmed with emotion is unable to cast that misjudgement aside. This is another common human failing: when we become emotional, our ability to think logically disappears.

However, when the goat talks things through with Helen and gradually calms down, she realises her mistake and makes the appropriate changes in her behaviour. That takes self-confidence.

I had to learn a great deal about European mountain goats, although this goat took on her own personality quite quickly!

The Valiant Little Tailor

This chapter starts with a description of bipolar disorder, for what reason I don't know. But I hope it will inform readers, because like other over-used

psychiatric terms such as autism and ADHD, it's often misunderstood. I hope I helped set the record straight.

I wasn't at all sure I would like the king at first, because he was so proud, so haughty and arrogant, and so demanding. But he showed great humility as he slowly reformulated his opinion of his son-in-law.

This chapter is an excellent illustration of how therapist and patient, if they respect one another, can carefully inch towards conclusions together. It wasn't easy to discover what tailors in the late 18th century looked like!

The Golden Goose

I love the way this chapter began—very cynically, but in an amusing way. By now Helen is really beginning to question the validity of therapy, which is perhaps why her initial thought is a facetious one. She makes her scepticism about group therapy obvious straight away!

But she does get down to business, and uses her skills well when working with this young man, encouraging him to see that if you're stuck with something, then rather than bemoaning your circumstances or trying to get rid of whatever it is, you do have the option of turning it to your advantage. This then is what he resolves to do. Here is another good example of the benefits of mutual respect between patient and therapist.

Lots of sartorial information was needed so I could write this chapter. What did innkeepers' daughters wear during the late 18th century? Parsons? Sextons? Labourers? And of course, tailors.

The Elves and the Shoemaker

In Grimm's collection, this fairy tale doesn't actually stand on its own. It's one of three short tales with the overall title, 'The Elves'. But this is the tale with which most of us are familiar.

This was for me the most revelatory chapter in the book—and I was extremely surprised it was. After all, this fairy tale is barely over a page in length! But so much came out of it for me as well as for Helen.

When Helen tries to help the elves—characters who Helen discovers do not identify by gender or family history, and who do not age or die in the sense we think of dying—she's forced to question the very foundations on which most therapies stand. Is there any proof that knowing a patient's family history, age or gender are the keys necessary to figure out how to help them? This chapter hit me powerfully, and made me (not just Helen) doubt whether psychology—well, psychotherapy certainly—is using the right questions when therapists assess their patients. Can therapists still offer help when deprived of information in all these 'necessary' categories?

This encounter prepares Helen to make a big decision in the next, the final chapter.

The Last Chapter

How does Helen resolve her loneliness, her losses, and her lack of clarity about what's 'real' and what is not? How does she cope with the idea of a Christmas on her own?

The answer lies in this chapter...but at the same time it's left open for readers to decide what actually happens to her. When I wrote it, I wasn't sure myself what happened. At first I was sure she killed herself, but as time has passed I began to wonder whether she had a psychotic breakdown and whether she could recover.

I love the ambiguity of the ending, the fact that the story achieves an equilibrium, but it's open to interpretation how it does so.

Later, however, I added an Afterword, mainly to decrease anxiety in readers who might be in therapy or contemplating it. Suggesting that therapists can become overwhelmed might frighten them, even though sometimes—very rarely—that does happen. I explain this in more detail in Chapter Eleven.

A note on perspective and point of view

In their Guardian Masterclass about characterisation in novel writing which I attended online earlier this year, novelists Kate Mosse and Maggie O'Farrell clarified the distinction between point of view and perspective (Mosse & O'Farrell, 2022).

Point of view refers to the person speaking, the narrator or a particular character(s). Most novels are written in first person (which I chose to do) or third person; a few are written in second person.

Perspective, on the other hand, is the world view of the character telling the story; in other words, how the narrator perceives what's happening, rather than who is telling the story.

In my book, I use both perspective and point of view. The story is told from Helen's point of view. Her perspective is that any problem is solvable, but she first needs to understand and empathise with each client—to see the problem, in other words, from their point of view. Each fairy tale character's point of view is that they're facing an insoluble problem, but they're hoping Helen can help them.

Chapter Eleven: Revisiting the plot

Originally I ended this book ambiguously. Did Helen go mad? Did she commit suicide? I realised on rereading that those suggestions might be very disturbing to readers who picked up this book because they were facing mental health problems and were wondering if they should seek therapy.

Therefore, I decided to add a Preface, an Introduction, and an Afterword. The Preface sets out my reasons for writing the book, and to whom I think it will appeal. The Introduction tells the reader more about Helen, so she's a more rounded character when the book—her account of the fairy tale characters' visits—begins.

The Afterword was difficult for me to write. In my voice (as in the Preface), I explain to readers what really happened to Helen; reassuring them that she didn't go mad, but explaining that instead, she went back to her cottage and at last allowed herself to grieve, a process she'd been trying to avoid but, like everyone who suffers a bereavement, she had to go through (Barry, 2022). This necessary grieving process brought Helen slowly back to herself, to an acceptance of her losses and the life that now she has.

I explained in Chapter Nine that Helen is not me. However, this last explanatory chapter was difficult to write. The reason is that Helen's grieving is taken directly from my own experience when I lost my eldest son to lymphoma almost three years ago. Fortunately, I didn't make Helen's mistake and try to continue working, and I gave in to grief as soon as he died. But Helen's grieving, when finally she allowed it, is entirely my own experience.

PART THREE CONCLUSIONS

Chapter Twelve: Addressing the Research Questions

In the Introduction I posed three questions, and I devoted the body of this Contextual Piece to answering them and explaining how I wrote my book. I will now recap the questions and summarise an answer to each:

1. A common technique in self-help books as well as in face-to-face therapy is to use case studies to illustrate successful problem-solving strategies. What might be another way, equally effective, to achieve this end?

I answer this question in Part Two, which describes my attempts to write a new sort of self-help book. Originally I thought I could simply substitute fairy tales for case studies, and I tried various ways to do so. I was unable to achieve the aim of case studies in a self-help book, which is to illustrate a specific technique to solve a particular psychological problem, using fairy tales. Fairy tales are told too simply, and the characters presented too sketchily, for such a substitution to work. Nor could I think of any better or more appropriate device than case studies in standard self-help books.

Still determined, however, to use fairy tales to help with some aspect of psychotherapy, I discovered I could use them instead to allow readers to find out what actually goes on in therapy, and to observe the therapist's thoughts during the therapeutic process in an engaging and humorous way. The book will also, I hope, encourage readers to consider how various characters in fairy tales might think about the plot that is their story.

2. In writing fiction and in the process of psychotherapy story is central. How can an exploration of story and its role in psychotherapy bring to light a common aspect that bridges the two disciplines? How does it achieve this?

The desire to re-establish equilibrium is the common aspect that bridges story and psychotherapy. Both story and psychotherapy begin with a disruption to the current equilibrium. Recognition of that disruption sparks a desire to regain a balanced state. This is when a reader engages with the story, and when client and therapist begin the process of therapy. When the challenge that sparked the disequilibrium is resolved, both story and psychotherapy come to a close. The desire to re-establish equilibrium is therefore what links story and the process of psychotherapy Equilibrium is, however, fragile, and never lasts. Nor would we want it to endure, for no change means no growth and no new learning. In stories, it

3. Perspective and point of view are important both in fiction (to better understand plot and characters) and when someone is trying to resolve a psychological problem. What's the difference between point of view and perspective? How can point of view help authors, readers and psychotherapists better understand what's happening?

would mean the story was uninteresting.

Point of view refers to the person speaking; who is telling the story, whereas perspective is how that individual perceives and interprets what's going on. For therapists, point of view is a vital component in helping the client solve their problem. A therapist's perspective is that the client has come to them with a problem to solve; but the therapist can only help them solve it effectively (gain a new and satisfying equilibrium) if they can share, or at least imagine, the client's point of view.

For readers and authors, attempting to assume the point of view of different characters in a story can help them understand the plot more deeply (because they've seen what's going on through different eyes), and get to know characters better. For authors, taking the point of view of different characters can work as a 'check' on characters, to see if each one seems realistic when they consider and take part in the plot. Taking different points of view on the plot can also help authors decide if the plot 'works' for everyone in the story, or whether they need to make some changes to it.

Chapter Thirteen: How this thesis has changed me as a therapist and as a writer

The process of writing this thesis, although exhausting, has been exhilarating. My book is the first work I've written creatively rather than deductively. I did plenty of standard research, and read and critiqued a great number of empirical studies—but I did so only *after* I wrote what I wanted to write. The research didn't 'tell' me what to write about or how I should write it. I loved this new way (for me) of creating written work.

As a writer, I now feel more confident to express what I'm thinking first, and only afterwards to check its validity, rather than the other way around—not only in fiction, but also in my academic writing.

Playing with perspective and point of view has given me a tool to evaluate fiction critically, and to write it better. If I try taking the point of view and perspective of different characters, does the plot still work? Does each character still seem plausible within the plot as it stands, or do I need to do further work on the character who can't really sit easily within the plot?

As a therapist, I've been reminded of the importance of humanism, of Carl Rogers' three core conditions: empathic understanding of clients, unconditional positive regard for them, and the humility to show congruence—to be genuine and open and honest with clients. I think at times I've been swept up in technique, given clients techniques rather than listening fully and empathetically to them and then working with them in equal partnership to allow them to find a new equilibrium. After all, Helen had to try to see life through the eyes of kings, emperors and queens, not to mention wolves, bears and goats, and to treat them with the same dignity and respect she would want to receive. I hope I'm now a better therapist. Now that a therapist 'exists' who has experience working with fairy tale characters, who else might Helen help?

For a start, there are huge numbers of fairy tale characters still to be seen. I'd especially love to know what happens if Jack in 'Jack and the Beanstalk', or the mermaid in 'The Little Mermaid' decides to pay a visit to Helen's clinic.

Then of course there are so many other fictional characters Helen—or perhaps another therapist—could try to help. What if Edward Casaubon or Dorothea paid a visit; or more contemporary with the fairy tale characters, how about Mr. Darcy? Harry Potter might benefit—or better still, Snape. The possibilities are endless.

On a more serious note, considering equilibrium at the end of a story is an excellent way to sharpen and criticise both what one reads and writes. Is the equilibrium that ends a story I've written or read both tantalising *and* satisfying? Because to seem realistic, any equilibrium achieved must feel both satisfying *and* fragile.

Point of view makes a fine teaching device for students who are learning to write—and it can help established writers as well. By considering the story from the point of view of different characters in the story, a writer can decide whether the characters need rounding out or changing, and whether the plot serves everyone in the story realistically or that it might benefit from some changes.

Finally, I think Helen's story would serve as an excellent case study for students training to become therapists. She illustrates, in a light-hearted way, how difficult it can be to show empathy and unconditional positive regard for a client if their appearance is astonishing, or if their problems are completely unexpected and novel. Helen can also remind would-be therapists of the need to attend to their own psychological health, rather than to deny that we, too, have problems and challenges, and that our problems and challenges also need our time and loving attention.

APPENDIX ONE: Snow White, first attempt

Once upon a time, on a cold winter's day when snowflakes were falling like feathers from the sky, a queen sat beside a window sewing. The window had a black ebony frame, and it seemed to the queen that it made the snow seem even whiter. She continued to glance out at the beautiful scene before her, leaning near the ebony frame, so often that she became careless and pricked her finger with the needle. Three drops of blood fell onto the blanket snow outside. The rich red looked so beautiful on the white snow that the queen thought to herself, 'If only I had a child as white as snow, as red as blood, and as black as the wood of this window frame!'

Soon afterwards she gave birth to a little daughter, and indeed the child was as white as the snow and as red as blood, and her hair was as black as the ebony window frame. The gueen decided to call her daughter Snow White.

Now the queen was considered to be the most beautiful woman in all the land, and she was very proud of her beauty and liked to be reassured of it. She had a wonderful magical mirror, and every morning she stood in front of the mirror and asked:

'Mirror, mirror, on the wall, who in this land is fairest of all?'

Every day, the mirror would answer:

'You, my queen, are the fairest of all.'

Then the queen would feel content, because she knew a magic mirror will always speak the truth.

However, as Snow White grew up she became more and more beautiful. When she was seven years old she had become so beautiful that her beauty surpassed even that of her mother.

The day after Snow White's seventh birthday, the queen stood in front of her mirror and asked it, as she did every morning:

'Mirror, mirror, on the wall, who in this land is fairest of all?'

This time, the mirror replied:

'You, my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, but Little Snow White is a thousand times more fair.'

When the queen heard these hateful words, she became pale with envy. From that day onward she hated her daughter, and whenever she looked upon her she thought that Snow White was entirely to blame for her unhappiness, because the mirror had told her that now Snow White was the fairest in the land. The queen's envy grew greater each day, until she had no more peace either day or night.

At length she could stand her disquiet no longer, so summoned the huntsman and commanded him: 'Take my daughter out into the forest to a spot far away, and stab her to death. Bring me back her lungs and liver as proof of your deed, so I may cook them with salt and eat them'.

The dutiful huntsman took the little girl far away into the forest. But when he drew his hunting knife to stab her, she began to weep pitifully and pleaded with him to spare her life. She promised, if only he would let her go, that she would run deeper into the forest and never return to the castle. The huntsman, struck by her beauty and touched by her pleading, was moved to pity. He began to justify his desire to let Snow White go, telling himself that the beasts in the forest would soon devour her anyway. He sheathed his knife and bade her run far away.

Just after she turned away, a wild boar ran across the huntsman's path. He drew his sword at once and killed the beast, and then removed its lungs and liver. This was his salvation: he could take the organs back to the queen, he thought, to convince her that the child was dead. When the queen received the entrails she was delighted. She ordered they be boiled with salt. Then she ate them, believing she had eaten Snow White's lungs and liver.

Meanwhile, the little girl was now all alone in the forest. Her fear gave her the strength to run and run, over sharp stones and through thorn bushes. She ran the entire day, and as the sun was setting she came upon a little cottage. It appeared to be empty, so she opened the front door and went inside. It was neat and tidy, and fully furnished although everything was tiny. There was a little table with a white tablecloth, surrounded by seven tiny chairs. On the table were seven little plates with seven tiny spoons, knives and forks, and seven tiny cups. In a row against the wall she spotted seven little beds, each covered neatly with a clean sheet.

By now the little girl was very hungry and thirsty, so she ate some bread and vegetables, just a mouthful from each of the plates, and drank a drop of wine, just a drop, from each of the tiny cups. Since she was so tired, she then began to try out the beds. None of them seemed to suit her, until at last she lay down on the seventh bed, and found it was just right. She closed her eyes and fell straight away into a deep sleep.

When it was quite dark, the seven dwarfs who lived in the cottage returned home as usual from their work in the mountains where they spent every day digging for gold. They opened the door and lit their seven little candles as usual...but realised at once that someone had been in their house. They crowded round the table blinking their eyes and holding their candles aloft, as if they could not believe what they were seeing.

'Who's been sitting in my chair?' asked the first dwarf.
'Who's eaten off my plate?' inquired the second.
'Who's eaten some of my bread?' said the third.
'Who's eaten some of my vegetables?'—asked the fourth.
'Who's been using my little fork?' said the fifth.
'Who's been cutting with my little knife?' said the sixth.
'Who's had something to drink from my little cup?' asked the seventh.

Then they glanced across the room to their beds. Noticing the crumpled sheets, each one asked in turn, 'Who's been sleeping in my bed?' But when the seventh dwarf shone his candle light upon his bed, he saw Snow White lying there asleep. He cried out in astonishment, and all the others came running with their candles, and let the lights fall all around the sleeping child.

'Oh, my Lord! Oh, my Lord!' they exclaimed. 'How beautiful she is!' It gave them great delight to see such a beautiful child, and they decided to let her sleep on. The seventh dwarf, who now had nowhere to sleep, passed the night by sleeping for one hour in each of his companions' beds.

When at last she awoke in late morning, the dwarfs, who had been waiting patiently by her bed, began asking the little girl who she was and how she'd managed to come to their cottage. She told them everything—how her mother had wanted her killed, how the huntsman had spared her life, and how she had run all day until eventually, she'd arrived at their cottage.

At once the dwarfs took pity on the child, and thought about how she might stay. They told her that if she would keep house for them, cook, sew, make their beds, wash and knit; that if she would keep everything tidy for them, then she could stay. They warned her, however, that while they were away and she was alone, she must watch out for the queen who might try to find her. They made her promise not to let anyone enter the cottage.

Back in the castle, the queen was revelling in the belief that she was once again the most beautiful woman in all the land. For the first time in many nights, she slept well. The next morning she stepped confidently before her mirror and asked:

'Mirror, mirror, on the wall, who in this land is fairest of all?'

Truthful as ever, the mirror replied:

'You, my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, but beyond the seven mountains, this I must tell, Little Snow White is living quite well. Indeed, she's still a thousand times more fair.'

The queen was horrified, and she knew then she'd been deceived. The huntsman had not killed Snow White after all! Because she knew that no one but the seven dwarfs lived in the seven mountains region, she realised at once where Snow White must be staying. She set about plotting another way to kill her, because she knew that until the mirror told her she was the most beautiful in all the land, she would have no rest. At last she decided--because she no longer believed she could trust anyone--that she would disguise herself as an old peddler woman. She painted her face cleverly so that nobody could recognize her, and set off at once for the cottage of the seven dwarfs. As soon as she arrived, she knocked on the door and cried loudly in a hoarse voice: 'Open up! Open up! I'm an old peddler woman. I've got pretty wares for sale!

Snow White was curious. She looked out the window and asked the woman to tell her what she had in her basket to sell.

Stay laces, dear child!' she cried as she held up some pretty laces woven from yellow, red and blue silk. 'Would you like to have them?'

Snow White was indeed attracted to the lovely laces, and she thought to herself, 'Surely I can let this good old woman inside. She seems honest enough, and she doesn't look at all like my mother.'

So she unbolted the door, let the old woman in, and bought the laces. The scheming queen regarded her in mock surprise: 'My goodness, you've laced yourself up so sloppily! Come, let me lace you up properly for once.' So Snow White stood obediently in front of the old woman, who took up the laces and tied them around the little girl so tightly that she lost her breath and fell down in a swoon. Satisfied because she thought she was dead, the queen left the cottage.

Once night had fallen, the dwarfs returned home as usual. But alas! There they found their dear Snow White lying on the cottage floor as if dead. They crowded round her horrified, and lifted her up. But then when they spied the tight stay laces, one of them took a knife from his belt and cut them through at once, whereupon Snow White began to breathe a little. After a time she opened her eyes and was fully recovered.

When she told them about the old woman, they exclaimed: 'That was no one else but your mother! She must know where you are now! You must be so careful, because no doubt she will try again to take your life. You must never let another person into this cottage.' Snow White promised she would be careful, and do as she was told.

When at last she returned to the castle, the queen removed her disguise and—even though it was not yet morning—hurried to her mirror and stood eagerly in front of it, imploring it to tell her what she so badly wanted to hear:

'Mirror, mirror on the wall, who in this land is fairest of all?'

The mirror replied, truthful as ever:

'You, my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, But Little Snow White's alive, this I must tell, She's with the dwarfs and doing quite well. Indeed, she's still a thousand times more fair.'

On hearing this, the queen was so distressed that all the blood drained from her face. She was now utterly consumed with envy, with not a moment's peace. She ruminated endlessly about how she could put an end to Snow White forever, and at last she came up with a new plan. This time, she would make a poisoned comb, one that would kill anyone who used it instantly. Next, she created a completely different disguise, and set out without delay to the dwarfs' cottage once again.

However, this time when she knocked on the door, Snow White didn't even look out. Instead, she called loudly: 'I'm not allowed to let anyone enter!'

The queen called in her new voice, and told her she was holding a most beautiful comb. Snow White could not resist looking out the window, and she saw the precious shining comb, and when she saw that the woman looked entirely different from the one who'd previously called on her, she decided it was safe to the door and let her in. The woman offered a cheap price, so she bought the beautiful comb.

'Come,' said the old lady, 'Let me now comb your hair.'

But instead of combing the little girl's beautiful black locks, she stuck the comb viciously into her scalp. Snow White fell down at once. She seemed quite dead.

'This time you'll remain lying there,' thought the old woman gleefully. Pleased with her work, she hurried back to the castle.

As luck would have it, however, the dwarfs decided to return home early that evening. When they entered the cottage and found their precious Snow White with the comb stuck fast in her scalp, they pulled it out at once. To their enormous relief and total joy, she opened her eyes and was alive again. Henceforth, she promised them that she would never, never let anyone inside the little cottage again.

When the queen arrived back at her castle, she hurried as before to stand before her mirror at once. Eagerly, she addressed it: 'Mirror, mirror, on the wall, who in this land is fairest of all?'

But her faithful mirror, who could see far into the forest and could only speak the truth, replied:

'You, my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, But Little Snow White's alive, this I must tell, She's with the dwarfs and doing quite well. Indeed, she's a thousand times more fair.'

When the queen heard the mirror's dreadful reply, she began to tremble and shake with rage, crying out in in her fury: 'Little Snow White shall die! This time she shall die, even if it costs me my own life!'

Then she hurried away to a secret chamber where no one was ever allowed to enter. Once inside, she created a deadly poisonous apple. On the outside it looked truly beautiful, red and rosy, so luscious to gaze upon that anyone would be enticed to take a bite. Then she created yet another disguise, this time as yet another but very different peasant woman, and set out without delay for the dwarfs' cottage, for her envy would allow her no rest.

Once she arrived at the cottage, she knocked lightly on the door, as if she had little strength. Snow White looked out from the window, and before the queen could say a word she called loudly to her: 'I'm not allowed to let anyone inside, not anyone. The dwarfs have strictly forbidden me.'

'Well, if you don't want to let me in, I can't force you, the queen replied cleverly. 'I'll surely get rid of the wonderful apples I have with me to sell. But before I go, please let me give you one of my apples to taste.'

Snow White was learning. 'No,' she replied. 'I'm not allowed to take anything. The dwarfs won't let me.'

'You're probably afraid,' responded the queen slyly, adding: 'There's no need, however. How about this? How about if I cut the apple in two, and you can taste the beautiful red half.'

This was part of the deception, for the queen had made the apple so that only the loveliest part, the ruby red half, was poisoned. When Snow White saw the old woman cut the apple and begin to eat her half of it, her desire to taste it grew so strong that she reached out of the window and took the other half of the tempting fruit from the peasant woman and bit into it. But as soon as she took that first bite, she fell to the ground and was dead. Even so, the queen waited one hour, watching Snow White through the window. Convinced she was truly dead this time, she hurried home to her mirror. As soon as she removed her disguise she stood before it and asked:

'Mirror, mirror, on the wall, who in this land is the fairest of all?' This time the mirror replied:

'You, my queen, are now the fairest of all.'

'Now, at least, I can enjoy some peace,' she sighed. 'At last I am once again the most beautiful in the land. At long last, Snow White is truly dead.'

When the dwarfs came home that night, they entered the cottage and found Snow White lying on the ground, and this time they could not revive her. They tried everything—untying her laces, looking for something poisonous in her hair, but nothing could cause her to open her eyes or take a breath. Heartbroken, they laid her gently on a bier they erected inside the cottage, and all seven of them sat down around it and wept and wept for three whole days.

They had then intended to bury her, but after those three days she still looked more alive than dead, still with such pretty red cheeks that they could not bear to put her in the ground. So instead they created a glass coffin and placed her inside, so they could continue to gaze upon her unfading beauty. They wrote her name in gold on the coffin and added her family name, so everyone would know she was a true princess. Each day, one of the dwarfs remained at home to keep watch over their eternally beautiful Snow White.

And so she lay in the coffin for a long time, but still she did not rot. She remained ever as white as snow and as red as blood, with hair as black as ebony. If her eyes could have opened, the dwarfs believed would have been as beautiful as ever, for she seemed not to be dead, but merely asleep.

Some months later, it happened that a prince came to the dwarfs' cottage and asked to spend the night with them. When he entered their little house, the first thing he saw was Snow White lying in the glass coffin, the seven little candles casting light upon her. From that moment he was transfixed, and felt he could not get enough of her beauty. When he read the golden letters and realised that he was gazing upon a real princess, he begged the dwarfs to sell him the coffin. They refused, for they wouldn't accept all the gold in the world for their beloved Snow White.

The prince then entreated them to give her to him as a gift because, he said, he could not now live if she was out of his sight. He promised them he would honour her and hold her in high regard, as his most beloved in all the world. Hearing his pleas and realising he would not give up until they relented, the dwarfs decided to give him the coffin, under the condition he kept his promise to honour her and care for the coffin. After all, they thought sadly, she was a true princess. She deserved to lie in a castle.

The grateful prince was delighted. He had the coffin carried to his castle at once, where he ordered it be placed in his own room. From that day forward he made sure the coffin remained near him, all day and every day, because he was unable to take his eyes off the beautiful sleeping princess. He was so entranced that he refused even to eat unless her coffin was beside him.

However, after a time his servants became angry because of the extra work they were now required to do, carrying the coffin from place to place in the castle, wherever the prince wished to go. One day, one of them became totally exasperated. Instead of lifting the coffin to take it into the next room as the prince, who was waiting there, had ordered, he threw back the coffin lid, lifted the maiden into the air, and exclaimed to her: 'Why oh why must we be plagued with so much work, all because of you?' Angrily he shoved her roughly back into the coffin. However, this coarse action jolted her and dislodged the piece of apple that had remained stuck in her throat since the day she took the fateful bite of apple. Free of the poison, she opened her eyes and began to breathe. Snow White was alive again.

As soon as she sat up and was told where she was, Snow White hurried herself to the waiting prince in the next room. When he saw that she was alive, he so surprised and delighted that he didn't know what to do, except to stare at her and shed tears of pure joy. Later, the two of them sat down at the dinner table and ate with great delight.

The prince then proclaimed that their wedding would take place the very next day. Snow White's mother, as a neighbouring queen, was among those who were invited to the ceremony. The queen dressed splendidly for the wedding, and before setting off, just to confirm her beauty, she stood before the mirror and asked it once again:

'Mirror, mirror, on the wall, who in this land is the fairest of all?'

But now the mirror replied:

'You, my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, but little Snow White is a thousand times more fair.'

Upon hearing this terrible and unexpected pronouncement, the queen was overcome with helpless rage. How could Snow White be alive again? Yet despite her anger and jealousy, despite feeling completely consumed with envy, she still wanted to be seen at the wedding. She resolved, therefore, to continue with her plans to attend, and afterwards come up with yet another plan.

However, upon her arrival she of course saw at once that the bride was none other than her own daughter. Realising that her evil intent might now be discovered, she turned at once to find a means of escape.

But it was too late. Iron slippers had already been heated over a fire, in anticipation of her arrival. She was forced at once to put them on and dance in them, and even though her feet were miserably burned she was forced to keep on dancing, until she danced herself to death.

Discussion

The story of Snow White is as relevant today as ever it has been.

We live in a society that defines beauty almost entirely by outward appearance, and in particular by a youthful outward appearance. Vast sums of money and huge efforts are made to retain our 'looks', a discouraging and ultimately losing battle. The dream of youthful perfection is constantly reinforced, both in advertising and through social media, perpetuating our desire for this unattainable promise and causing enormous stress. We're really no different than Snow White's mother, except perhaps that we don't believe in magic mirrors.

Of course, the quest for eternal youth is nothing new, nor is it the exclusive reserve of women. Ponce de Leon, a Spanish explorer in the early 16th century, purportedly travelled to what is now Florida in search of a 'Fountain of Youth'—in his case (if the story is to be believed) to rejuvenate his sexual potency rather than merely to appear young. Some historians suggest that Alexander the Great was driven to conquer foreign lands in part by his desire to find and capture a fabled river of gold and the fountain of youth. More recently, Oscar Wilde created Dorian Gray, a vain man who struck a bargain to preserve his youth by ageing only in a self-portrait. In all these examples, youth is representative more of sexual potency than beauty, although in most cases, our definition of human beauty is and has always been about appearing fertile.

For women in Snow White's time, beauty—that is, unblemished, ripe sexuality-was their only real route to power. The most attractive women were chosen by the most powerful and wealthiest men, and this was their way of gaining status and privilege. Nowadays women have a number of ways they can obtain these commodities--through academic achievement, business prowess, or even political power. Yet sadly, many women still remain trapped in the old way of thinking: I must

282

appear physically attractive (sexually potent) and youthful; otherwise I am nothing. This was the queen's thinking, and unfortunately for many, this obsession with outward appearance remains relevant to many women still today.

One of the saddest aspects of the obsession with something as ephemeral as youthful beauty is that as their beauty fades, the individual becomes more and more focused on trying to retain what they're losing. As a result, there's less and less time to think about anything else. Life passes them by, and their days are filled with anxiety, checking behaviours and attempts to seek reassurance. It's no wonder that Mindfulness has become so attractive to so many of us nowadays: focusing on the present, and doing so without passing judgment, is the perfect antidote to the social media messages telling us we must continue always to look young and sexually attractive, particularly when we compare ourselves to others.

In this fairy tale, the queen isn't only embroiled in her obsession with beauty, she's also facing another problem. Not only does she worry constantly about her own physical attributes fading, she is now facing the fact that her daughter Snow White is beginning to mature, and is becoming so attractive that she could usurp her mother's place as the most sexually attractive person--not only in her own family, but in the entire kingdom as well.

The conflict between a mother and her maturing daughter is also as relevant today as it was in the queen's day. A son has never posed this sort of threat to his mother, because a boy will never become a direct rival in terms of sexuality, youth or beauty. Freud believed a young boy does experience rivalrous feelings, but such feelings will be directed towards his father, because he so adores his mother. Sons, claimed Freud, dream of being their mother's only love object (hence their purported desire to kill the father, their rival for their mother's affection). For a mother, being so desired is incredibly rewarding.

A mother's relationship with her baby daughter starts out in the same way as her relationship with her son—she is adored as the source of warmth, food and love, and both will do everything to gain her attention and approval. However, as a girl grows up and starts to become womanly/sexually mature, instead of continuing to love her mother unreservedly as a son does, the daughter—recognising that she and her mother are the same gender—will want to show her independence by trying to differentiate and distance herself from her mother. It's at this point the daughter recognises her advantage—in women, youthful sexuality is considered more valuable in most societies than is older sexuality. This in turn creates ambivalent feelings in the mother. She still loves her child, but she also recognises a rival. Regaining closeness

283

will only be achieved if the mother relinquishes her desire to be 'the fairest in the land', and instead resolves to celebrate her daughter's new found gift of youthful beauty. Shakespeare wrote of this in Sonnet Two (even though some scholars believe he was writing to a male lover rather than a female):

'How much more praise deserv'd thy beauties use, If thou couldst answere this faire child of mine Shall sum my count, and make my old excuse Proving his beautie by succession thine, This were to be new made when though art ould, And see thy blood warme when thou feel'st it could.

In *Little Snow White*, the queen's daughter is only seven years old when she is first deemed more beautiful than her mother. At such a young age, hers would be a childish beauty rather than a sexual flowering. Therefore, if at seven Snow White was considered sexually attractive this could suggest paedophilia. I would think this is something the Grimm brothers, with their strict religious beliefs, would wish to edit out, or at least clarify, as they so often did. (This can be seen time and again when comparing Jack Zipes' original translation of the Grimm's fairy tales first published 1812/15 with their most popular 7th edition published in 1857). For example, in the original edition, the queen is Snow White's mother; but by the 7th printing she has become her step-mother, presumably because the Grimms felt that mothers could not be seen to want to kill their own children. There is a change in the text between the two editions, but it's subtler than I had expected. The original translation reads: 'However, Little Snow White grew up, and when she was seven years old, she was so beautiful that her beauty surpassed even that of the queen...'; whereas the 7th edition reads: "But Snow-White was growing up, and grew more and more beautiful; and when she was seven years old she was as beautiful as the day, and more beautiful than the Queen herself.'

However, whatever her age, it's both frightening, and at the same time intriguing, to try to figure out why any mother would ever wish to murder her child.

Yet we know it happens. Mothers have killed their children—very few, but they have. What no one wants to admit is that almost every parent has at some point expressed a secret wish to be rid of their child—when they're totally exhausted, frustrated, and/or angry. This is only a fleeting thought—often not even conscious— and it's one that's almost never taken further. Its mere formulation is enough, because it offers a possible solution and therefore serves the purpose of venting pent up frustration. If such a thought does, however, make its way into awareness, parents are horrified. Why would any parent ever think like this?

Becoming extremely exhausted—as happens to most parents who are looking after young children—is registered as a threat to the survival. In that sense, formulating a quick solution to the problem--eliminating the reason for their exhaustion can be seen as logical—but of course, it's also utterly taboo and would come later with unfathomable regret. That's what makes the queen's wish to kill her daughter so compelling. Parents dare not imagine following up on their own terrible thought, nor would they wish to do so. Nonetheless, considering all possible courses of action to solve a problem, whether the desire is to remain the fairest in the land or simply get a good night's sleep, intrigues us—if, that is, we're able to do so in a safe way. Stories about someone else allow us to think through the consequences of various courses of action in the safety of our imagination.

Although the vast majority of parents never act on such terrible unbidden thoughts, there are a very few who do actually decide to kill their children, and the queen in *Little Snow White* is one of them. How do they come to such a point?

The answer, as with most human behaviour, is complex. A number of factors, taken together, drive some mothers to this dark place.

The first factor is a complete lack of acceptance and love as a young child. A baby, and later the young child, is unable to survive without being cared for by more mature, caring individuals. Furthermore, unlike most creatures, the care must e more than physical. Humans—and zoologists believe all large primates—also need to know they are loved, through touch, loving gaze and an appropriate response to their helplessness. If they don't receive this, they become unable to form normal loving bonds with anyone else of their kind.

This was (cruelly) illustrated in a series of experiments conducted by Harry Harlow in the 1950's. Harlow isolated baby monkeys from all other monkeys, including their mother. He made sure they had food and water, but not any social contact. He then offered the monkeys a choice. They could receive sustenance from a cold wireshaped 'mother' monkey, or they could spend time with a soft cloth-covered version that didn't offer any food or water. The affection starved babies preferred the soft contact of the cloth 'mother' to the one who offered food and drink. Some of the isolated babies were never given even that choice, remaining in isolation. When they were older, the showed signs of serious disturbance, unable to form any relationships no matter how hard another monkey might try to engage them. They also showed stereotyped repetitive behaviours such as banging their heads on the cage, and they avoided eye contact with other creatures. Of course, the results of experiments with monkeys cannot be extrapolated directly to humans. However, as the zoologist Robert Hinde once commented, they offer us guidelines, starting points to make informed guesses to try to explain the behaviour of severely neglected human beings. It may be that a baby who is rejected by her mother will be unable to tolerate intimacy or to trust anyone else. Perhaps that is what happened to the queen.

It's worth noting that the neglect need not be deliberate. Instead, a mother may be so consumed with her own inner torment or depressed feelings that she can't reach out to anyone else, not even to her own baby. In milder cases, for example when a mother endures a short depressive episode and during that time avoids looking directly at her baby and/or stops talking to the child, psychologists know that the child's social and/or cognitive development may be temporarily delayed. This is why it's so important that mothers at risk of becoming depressed receive help promptly, so they can return to mothering fully.

The second factor that contributes to such extreme behaviour is isolation. Humans learn by copying those around them. If a young child grows up virtually alone, not only would she be deprived of loving contact with a carer, she would have no way of knowing which behaviours are acceptable and appropriate and which are not. It's possible to imagine a royal baby, particularly if the child was unwanted because she was a girl, might grow up relatively isolated. This factor alone is not enough to engender filicide, but isolation from appropriate role models is a contributor to aberrant behaviour.

Is there any hope for someone who has been thoroughly rejected by her parents and who may have experienced periods of extreme isolation, or is that individual destined to reject, harm, or even kill their own offspring? Mercifully, there is hope. The queen need not have reacted as she did when she believed her daughter had begun to threaten her very identity.

In 1985, Michael Rutter, Professor Emeritus at the Institute of Psychiatry in London, published a paper entitled 'Resilience in the Face of Adversity; in which he argues there is hope even for the most neglected children that they may become loving parents. Rutter writes about 'protective factors' and 'interactive processes', and attacks the widely help notion at the time, that extreme emotional deprivation in the first four years of life results in permanent emotional damage for the rest of one's life.

Rutter studied children who'd been admitted to hospital for long periods (in the 1960's and even '70's, it was common practice to discourage parents from visiting children when they were in-patients), children who had endured extreme deprivation

because of parental divorce or death, and children who spent long periods of their childhood in care homes. He noted that some, despite extreme deprivation, managed to rise above their circumstances, and when they became parents to offer their children a safe and loving environment. He then compared these individuals with those in similar circumstances but who when they became parents repeated the cycle of deprivation they'd endured. He found three factors associated with those who managed to parent well, despite their own deprivations.

The first is a carer substitute, someone who need not be related to the child, and who need not come into her life during those first supposedly crucial years:

'...perhaps the most striking feature is the extent to which children's distress is reduced by the presence of a parent or some other person with whom they have a close relationship' (p. 602)

The second factor is temperament, qualities such as openness to new experience and a lack of neuroticism. These factors, although partly learned, also have a considerable genetic loading.

The third factor is what he referred to as 'a chain of good experiences'—for example, good peer relationships and some measure of success at school.

Given these three factors, Rutter believes a child may overcome almost any early neglect to take control over her life direction and become a good parent, despite not having experienced good parenting herself.

In summary, the queen in *Little Snow White* describes how badly one can parent. Since the early 1800's when this fairy tale was first written down, psychological research has shown us why such behaviour may occur and suggests that it isn't inevitable; that given the right circumstances, far more favorable outcomes are possible.

Summary

1. The desire for eternal beauty, when defined as ongoing sexual potency and youthful appearance, can never be fulfilled. The cost of harbouring such a desire is an inability to enjoy the present and instead to be perpetually anxious, consumed with a need for constant reassurance and the need to compare one's own status against that of everyone else. In today's world, an over-reliance on social media and advertising as the source for setting our own standards will make us more vulnerable to becoming obsessed with this unobtainable goal.
- 2. Raising children is so exhausting that it can pose a threat to the wellbeing of parents. It's important to recognise this so that if any unpalatable thoughts become conscious, the queen's fate in this fairy tale can help us examine such thoughts in the safety of our imagination, and allow us to see them as illogical and unrealistic reactions to what we may sometimes feel.
- 3. In order to grow up and become independent, daughters must differentiate themselves from their mothers. A mother who tries to 'look like' or in other ways compete with her daughter will only intensify her daughter's need to distance herself from her mother. Instead, it's better to accept that it's natural for a mother to feel supplanted by her daughter, but that it will harm their relationship in the longer term only if she considers the most important asset a woman can have is eternal sexual attractiveness. If instead, a mother chooses to step aside and celebrate rather than compete with her daughter's beauty, she will feel content rather than envious, and the mother-daughter relationship can become close again.

APPENDIX TWO: Snow White and the fear of ageing

Parental Envy and the Fear of Ageing

Did you—like me—dream of having a beautiful child? Snow White's mother

did:

'Once upon a time, in the middle of winter, when snowflakes were falling like feathers from the sky, a beautiful queen was sitting and sewing at a window with a black ebony frame. And as she was sewing and looking out the window at the snow, she pricked her finger with the needle, and three drops of blood fell on the snow. The red looked so beautiful on the white snow that she thought to herself, "If only I had a child as white as snow, as red as blood, and as black as the wood of the window frame!""

But what happens when that child turns out to surpass you, to be more admired, more beautiful than you are? And of course they will be more beautiful at some point because they have the advantage of youth, something that once we lose we can never have again.

Perhaps that's why youth is so prized. It doesn't last.

Snow White's mother, the queen, was no doubt more obsessed than any of us with remaining the most beautiful person 'in all the land'. Nonetheless, the desire to remain physically attractive—and for women even more than for men, that means youthful looking and with perfect features—costs us a great deal of money and many hours in front of the mirror.

Snow White's mother had a mirror, too—only hers was magic. Every morning she would stand in front of her mirror and ask if:

'Mirror, mirror, on the wall, Who in this land is fairest of all?'

And every day, the mirror would reply:

'You, my queen, are the fairest of all.'

And then the queen would feel temporarily reassured. But no doubt she, just like the rest of us, knew in her heart of hearts that no one can be the fairest forever. This was of course why she needed to go back to the mirror every morning, to receive another dose of reassurance.

Then one day, when the daughter she'd so wished would be beautiful was seven years old, the queen discovered an undesirable consequence of that wish. She stepped in front of her mirror as usual, asked it who was fairest, and waited for her much-needed reassurance. Here's what the mirror told her instead:

'You, my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, but Little Snow White is a thousand times more fair.' When she heard these words, she 'became pale with envy, and from that hour onward, she hated Snow White'. So profound was her hatred that she summoned her huntsman and commanded him to take Snow White into the forest and stab her to death. He was told to bring back her daughter's lungs and liver as proof, which she planned to cook and eat.

Filicide is of course the most extreme response to jealousy possible--but then fairy tales are allowed to contain extremes. Although none of us would completely decide to kill our child because they've become more beautiful than we are, it's not unusual to feel envious of lost youth and of the ease and disregard with which the young possess it.

The queen's reaction may sound extreme, but in fact our reaction nowadays to losing our 'place' as the fairest in the land is also extreme. Instead of plotting to kill the child who now outshines us, we double our efforts to hold on to our own youthful beauty by vigorously—often viciously—trying to recreate it, to make ourselves young and perfect looking again. We take up punishing fitness routines. We starve ourselves, then force our bodies into the latest 'young fashion' trends. Some of us even schedule painful visits to a cosmetic surgeon.

Isn't it interesting that we're actually almost as cruel nowadays as the queen was in her day, except that now we direct our cruelty onto ourselves instead of onto our children?

But let's get back to the story.

After the queen had eaten what she thought were her daughter's remains, she believed she was now the fairest in the land once more. As we know, however, Snow White didn't die. The huntsman took pity on the innocent child, and instead of killing her, he urged her to run away deep into the forest. He then stabbed a passing boar, removed the animal's lungs and liver, and brought them back to the queen as 'proof' that he killed Snow White.

Luck was with the little girl—but then, of course it was. This is a fairy tale after all! She ran all day, deeper and deeper into the forest. At last she happened upon the cottage of the seven dwarfs, who let her stay in exchange for looking after their home and doing the cooking.

However, the next day when, back at the castle, the queen stood before her magic mirror to ask for her daily dose of reassurance, she was told:

'You, my queen may have a beauty quite rare, but beyond the seven mountains, this I must tell, Little Snow White is living quite well. Indeed, she's a thousand times more fair.' From that moment on the queen became totally obsessed with a determination to kill her daughter—and get it right this time. She came up with a clever scheme, to disguise herself as a harmless peasant woman so she could kill her daughter herself, and therefore be certain the deed was done. When her first idea—to sell Snow White some stay laces and put them on her so tightly that she could longer breathe—failed, she created more complex schemes. She made a poisoned comb, and when that failed she concocted a poisoned apple with a 'safe' half so she could demonstrate to Snow White that it really was safe to taste it. This last plan appeared to succeed, because when she returned to the castle her mirror told her that she was again the fairest in the land.

When the dwarfs discovered Snow White insensible after she'd eaten the apple and were unable to revive her, they were grief-stricken. However, because she still looked so beautiful, as if asleep rather than dead, they were unable to bury her. Instead, they made a glass coffin and placed her inside so she could still be seen. And because this is a fairy tale, of course she didn't lose her beauty:

'So Little Snow White lay in the coffin for a long, long time but did not rot. She was still white as snow and red as blood, and if her eyes could have opened, they would have been black as ebony, for she lay there as if she were sleeping.'

One day, a prince came to the dwarfs' cottage and asked to spend the night. When he saw the beautiful princess, he fell in love with her instantly. He convinced the dwarfs to let him take her to his castle so he could gaze on her every day.

However, after a time his love-sick behaviour became too irritating for one of the servants to bear. In a fit of exasperation, the servant opened the coffin and lifted Snow White into the air while he berated her. This rough action dislodged the poisoned apple in the girl's throat, and—this being a fairy tale—she awoke, as good as new. The prince was overjoyed, and a grand wedding was planned. The queen was of course invited, as one of many guests across the kingdom.

Just before she left to attend the celebration, the queen checked in with her mirror:

'Mirror, mirror, on the wall, Who in this land is fairest of all?'

This time the mirror replied:

'You, my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, but Little Snow White is a thousand times more fair.'

When the queen heard this, 'she was horrified and became so afraid, so very afraid that she didn't know what to do.' Nonetheless, she was still determined to

attend the wedding, and wait until she returned to locate Snow White and concoct another lethal scheme.

But it would be too late for any more scheming. When she arrived at the wedding, a terrible fate awaited her:

'Iron slippers were then heated over a fire. The queen had to put them on and dance in them, and her feet were miserably burned, but she had to keep dancing in them until she danced herself to death.'

And that's the end of the story.

But wait. Who heated those slippers? Who commanded that the queen die in such a terrible way? We can only guess...

The issues in this fairy tale

Do you recognise yourself anywhere in this fairy tale? I certainly do, at one point in particular. But more on that in a moment.

First, let's take a look at the dilemmas raised here, as well as the advice—or the terrible warnings—we're given.

Assess your goals realistically

The queen wanted to be the most beautiful woman in all the land. That might be possible for a moment, although even then it's unrealistic because we all have different ideas about what constitutes beauty. But not once did she stop to think logically about her goal; not once did she ask if it was realistically achievable or whether it was making her happy. I don't think it was, because the first thing she did each day was to seek reassurance, evidence to me that she woke up feeling anxious every morning.

Are you like the queen? Are you struggling blindly to have or achieve something that, if only you would stop and think about it, is unachievable and is therefore making you unhappy because you keep failing? Maybe it's time to rethink your goals.

Reassess your goals regularly

Once the queen decided that if she could just eliminate her daughter, she would then become the fairest in land once again, she forgot everything else. Not only did that fixation—I would actually go further and call it an obsession—make her increasingly anxious, she also lost sight of the fact that time was passing. She was getting older, while other young women in the kingdom were coming into their prime.

In effect, by concentrating only on Snow White's demise, she was allowing many others to outshine her.

Do you have a tendency to become too single-minded and therefore miss the signs that you may have gone off-course? Perhaps you need to schedule a regular time each week to think about goals and strategies.

Know when to quit

Throughout this story, the queen stuck blindly to the solution she'd originally decided would solve her problem—that she must kill her daughter. There were many times when she could have stopped, thought again, come up with a different and less drastic plan. But she never did, and eventually she died, unfulfilled and in terrible pain.

I have an admission here. There was a time in my 30's when I wanted something so badly that I overlooked all the signs that my desire was costing me dearly—my health, my relationship, and possibly even my career.

I was determined to carry a pregnancy. Miscarriage after miscarriage, failed IVF after failed IVF: I refused to look at the problem realistically. Finally, laid low in hospital, I made myself pay attention to the advice of a wise friend, and I applied to adopt a child instead. If only I'd have listened to that friend earlier!

When you continually fail to feel happy or fulfilled, do you stop to consider whether the cost of your efforts is beginning to outweigh the benefits of what you may gain? Do you talk this through with someone you trust and admire, and perhaps look for alternative ways to feel fulfilled? No one wants to end up like the queen!

Failure to empathise

When Snow White escaped to the dwarfs' cottage and was therefore no longer in the queen's presence, the queen seemed to find it much easier to come up with ever more chilling ways to get rid of her daughter. It's easy to see how that could happen--her daughter wasn't there to remind her that after all, she was only an innocent child.

Consumed by her obsession, the queen also stopped considering the effect her cruelty might have on other people's opinion of her. In the end, her terrible deeds must have turned someone against her, because someone felt strongly enough to arrange for her to be killed.

When you make a plan, do you take time first to think through how others may react to it? I'm not suggesting that a failure to empathise will necessarily get you

killed! However, if you fail consistently to consider other people's point of view when you make plans or behave in certain ways, you run the risk of being disliked, misinterpreted, even completely ostracised. And don't forget to consider fairly the feelings of those who are not present—it's all too easy to demonise those who are not there to defend themselves.

Oh, and before we leave the issue of empathy, I'm wondering if you picked up something that didn't seem quite right at the beginning of this story? Did it bother you that the would-be murderess was Snow White's own mother? That's perhaps because the version of this fairy tale that you read referred to the queen as her step-mother.

The idea of a mother so lacking in empathy that she could plan to murder her own daughter must have bothered Wilhelm Grimm, who'd become the chief editor of *The Complete Fairy Tales* over the course of its seven editions. In the first edition (1812), the original translation and the version I chose to use here, the queen is referred to as Snow White's mother. However, by the seventh edition, the one most of us are familiar with, Wilhelm had changed the queen from mother to step-mother. In the words of Jack Zipes, the original translator of these fairy tales, Wilhelm decided to 'refine the style and make the contents of the tales more acceptable for a children's audience' (*The Complete Grimm's Fairy Tales, p. xxvii*)—and no doubt to relieve his own fears that there might really be a mother who could plan cold-bloodedly to kill her own offspring.

Learning to let go of our children

When the prince visited the dwarfs' cottage, we're told he fell hopelessly in love with Snow White, and felt he could never be parted from her, and begged the dwarfs to sell him the coffin with the girl inside so her could take her with him to his castle. The dwarfs also loved this maiden, and found great comfort taking turns to watch over her lying in the coffin. But they knew the prince would look after her, and that her surroundings would be much more sumptuous than anything they could offer. So they gave their beloved child to the prince, freely and without exacting any price.

This was a huge sacrifice for the dwarfs. However, because they believed it was in the best interests of the child they loved, they made that sacrifice and let her go. That's real parental love.

True, they weren't actually Snow White's parents, but they were at that point acting as her parents. Because this is a fairy tale, characters are presented simply,

without ambivalence or complexity, so the queen, already portrayed as evil and vengeful, could not have been seen also as loving. The kind-hearted dwarfs, acting as substitute parents, had to be the ones to show selfless love and give her to someone who could offer her more than they could.

How do you show your children that you love them? Do you actively encourage them to become independent? Do you think about what's best for them and act on that, rather than allowing your own need to be seen as their protectors dominate your decisions?

Holding on, trying to 'stay in control' of our children when it's time for them to go isn't in their best interests, and in fact it can bring with it great costs. We'll hear more about that when we come to the story of Rapunzel.

Understand the consequences of your own behaviour

You might well disagree with the interpretation I'm about to offer. You have every right to do so—I realise I may be stretching a point.

Let's look at the final paragraph in this fairy tale. Who is responsible for killing the queen? There's no clarity about this in any edition. 'Iron slippers were then heated over a fire.' The queen 'was forced to put them on', and she had to keep dancing 'until she dropped down dead'.

Who ordered this killing? Who allowed it to take place—and during a wedding of all occasions?

I have the uncomfortable feeling that Snow White may have been responsible—and even if not, that she didn't try to stop what happened. What callousness, that a daughter would allow her own mother to be killed! Wherever could she have learned to behave so cruelly?

This ambiguous ending is to me a terrible warning to parents, that the way we behave will have a far more powerful effect on our children than anything we ever say to them. The queen was able to act with utter indifference to the suffering of others. Could it be that, growing up with such a callous role model, Snow White turned out to be just like her mother? It's not impossible.

Do you tell your children one thing, but behave yourself with disregard to the rules you lay down for them?

Be careful.

APPENDIX THREE: The Queen's diary

25th March 1801, Lady Day

I have decided to write a diary, for I am sure many will want to know the life of the most beautiful woman ever to grace this kingdom. I will begin with my history.

I always knew I was beautiful. All those smiling faces beaming at me in delight, ever since I can remember. And I soon learned my beauty gave me power, especially over men.

My father adored me. Like everyone else of course—but he had better reason than most. It must have been a trial for him, a king, an elegant, proud man, to be married to such a simple plain thing as my mother. A marriage of convenience, to gain more land, that was all. It must have felt such a burden to him—that is, until I came along. A perfect specimen. Not a boy, as he must have hoped, but perfect. Beautiful. The most beautiful.

He gave me everything. Jewels, fine clothing, the tastiest sweetmeats, and maids to paint my perfect face and comb my long black hair and tie it up with ever more jewels.

I was told my mother could not suckle me, that I had a nursemaid. I am so glad she could not. Plain face, sour milk no doubt. I remember her face always drawn tight, never smiling. She was always alone, so helpless. A simple fool. Not even able to suckle the only child she would ever have. And if she thought no one was around except me, she would weep. I knew why she wept. She underestimated my understanding, silly fool. I loved to see her hurting, to watch her hungry looks as my father greeted me each day with warm kisses and caresses, ignoring her silent entreaties. Such power!

On my 16th birthday, the day I was promised to the prince in the largest kingdom but our own, my father gave me a special gift. It is a beautiful mirror, a long glass that allows me to gaze upon my perfection as long as I like. I have been standing before the mirror just now, as I do every morning at this time.

This mirror, this gift from my father, is no ordinary mirror. No, not ordinary at all. This mirror was fashioned deep in the mountains, by the dwarfs who know the deep magic. This mirror speaks.

Every day I ask my wonderful mirror,

'Mirror, mirror on the wall, who in this land is fairest of all?' And every day, my faithful mirror replies, 'You, my queen, are the fairest of all.'

Even now, in my 24th year, even now, having endured the horrors of childbirth seven years ago, the mirror knows. I am still the fairest in all the land.

28th March 1801

A terrible thing happened two days past, so terrible that only now can I write of it. I have not eaten nor even left my bed since, not even to gaze into my mirror.

When I stood before my mirror on that terrible day to enjoy my countenance and ask it once again to tell me I am the fairest, it spoke different and hateful words instead:

'You my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, But Little Snow White is a thousand times more fair.'

Snow White?! Even now I cannot speak her name, though I am at last able to write it. Snow White? A beautiful child I'll grant. How could she not be, for she is my own issue? But fairer than I?! This cannot be, this will not be. No one is fairer than I, nor shall anyone ever become so! Snow White, a maiden as simple as her grandmother, with but a whisper of my beauty. She can never be as fair as am I!

I have been thinking these past two days how to kill my daughter. Why not kill her? I do not love her. Her father loves her and I do not wish to hurt him. But perhaps this past year he has grown to love her a little too much, something I do not like to see. Hers is a shallow beauty, merely the gift of youth. My beauty is eternal. Snow White must die. It's the only recourse. I must never be made to doubt my place as the fairest in the land.

I have made my plan, and soon our chief huntsman will be here to answer my summons. I shall command him to take the hapless child deep into the forest, where he will stab her to death. As proof of the deed, I shall request her lungs and liver, and I will salt them and cook them for a fine meal. A fit ending for anyone who dares to challenge me, her most beautiful mother!

30th March 1801

I am sick with rage, my beautiful pale complexion mottled with ugly red, my voice hoarse from screaming. It is my mirror I blame.

My confidence at long last restored, I arose this morning to stand before it and ask,

'Mirror, mirror on the wall, who in this land is fairest of all?'

It uttered not the sweet words I expected and deserve. Instead, I heard this,

298

'You, my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, but beyond the seven mountains, this I must tell, Little Snow White is living quite well, Indeed, she's still a thousand times more fair.'

Had my mirror not revealed my daughter's hiding place, I would have smashed into a thousand pieces. But I need it now more than ever, to know when Snow White is truly dead so I may reclaim my rightful place as the fairest in this land. And dead she shall be. This time I will not fail, for I will deliver the blow myself. I desire to watch her die with my own eyes.

Tomorrow I shall disguise myself as an old peddler woman, hiding my beauty so no one will recognise me. I shall wait until the dwarfs are off to work, and make my way to the cottage where the child spends her day cleaning and cooking for them. (See how much I have learned, and so quickly! My mirror can tell me many things. I know where she is and why she thinks herself safe, silly fool!)

And what shall I bring with me, to tempt her to invite me inside the cottage? Why, stay laces of course! Lovely ribbons of silk, yellow, red and blue. She finds such trinkets irresistible. And with those very ribbons I will kill her. I will fashion them so tightly around her bodice that she will no longer be able to breathe. And I will wait beside her lifeless body, to be sure she is dead.

3rd April 1801

Perhaps my script cuts too deeply into this paper, for even after two full days my hands still tremble with rage, and I grip my quill as tightly as if it were a dagger! If only my words alone could kill!

On the 1st the sun rose into a cloudless sky. I thought it a good omen, and the right time for me to talk to my mirror again.

But alas, when I stood before it to ask,

'Mirror, mirror on the wall, who in this land is fairest of all?'

for a third time it uttered poisonous words,

'You, my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, But Little Snow White's alive, this I must tell, She's with the dwarfs and doing quite well. Indeed, she's still a thousand times more fair.'

My rage at the time rendered me incapable of clear thought. I could only swear and scream, until I must have fallen into a swoon. But two days hence, I have made a plan. This plan cannot fail. Snow White's shining black hair, like mine, the most beautiful of her gualities, will be the death of her. I have fashioned a comb, laced with poison, to comb into her scalp where the poison will kill her.

Now it only remains for me to create a better disguise, a kinder peddler woman, different from the guise she met me in before. She is so gullible, she will not recognise me, and I of all women know how to persuade her to let me in to comb her hair. I, her mother, know her well. She deserves to die, daughter or not, for she has stolen my rightful place as the fairest in this land.

5th April 1801

I no longer feel rage. I feel nothing. All emotion has left me, so I may use all my powers of reason.

Snow White is still alive. I left her for dead. I was certain she was dead when I left her, my poisoned comb sticking into her scalp, blood trickling onto her hair, no breath upon her lips. Dead. I was sure of it. Yet this morning, my mirror informed me otherwise. Somehow, she still lives. And she is still fair.

7th April 1801

I have not slept these two days, but my mind is cleared, and I know what to do. This time there can be no mistake. If it costs me my life, Snow White will die today.

In my secret chamber last night, I prepared an apple. It is a beautiful apple, with rosy red cheeks much as beautiful as my own. But within the apple—on one side only, and only I know which side—resides a deadly poison. One bite would rob a grown man of his life, it is so powerful.

Of course, even a girl as stupid as Snow White will be wary of letting in a stranger now. That's why only half the apple is poisoned. I will taste the apple, even if she doesn't permit me to enter the cottage, so she can see that it seems safe to enjoy. But I shall taste only the untainted side, leaving her to bite deep into the poison.

8th April 1801

There was no need to worry when I gazed into my mirror and asked my question this morning. I stayed yesterday at the dwarfs' cottage one full hour after Snow White fell to the ground, just to be sure she was dead.

And today, at last all is well once more. Today when I asked, 'Mirror, mirror on the wall

300

who in this land is the fairest of all?'

my mirror at last spoke the words I longed to hear,

'You, my queen, are now the fairest of all.'

I am at long last able to rest again. I no longer need to keep this journal. I no longer have worries to record. Perhaps I will even allow my husband into my bedchamber tonight, as I know he has missed lying with me, so close to my beautiful body.

8th April 1802

What's happening? Have the dead arisen? I don't know what to do. The world has lost its meaning.

This morning, after preparing to attend the wedding of my husband's brother in the kingdom across the seven mountains, I stepped before my mirror to admire my unsurpassed beauty, and to ask as ever,

'Mirror, mirror on the wall, who in this land is the fairest of all?'

But it was not I the mirror named. Instead, it spoke the most hateful of words,

'You, my queen, may have a beauty quite rare, but Little Snow White is a thousand times more fair.'

But she cannot be fair, not fair at all! She is one year dead. She must be rotting and covered in maggots, as well she deserves to be! Snow White died by my own hand. I watched her die with my own eyes. I stayed with her, to be sure she was dead. I was sure. This cannot be. I would rather be forced to wear red hot metal shoes and dance myself to death than to see my daughter alive!

I shall go to this wedding—far be it for me to deprive the waiting world of enjoying my beauty at this happy occasion. But on my return I will talk to my mirror. I will find out where Snow White is hiding, and I will go to her. This time, I will kill her, and this time I will eat every morsel of her body. This time, I will make sure she is dead and gone forever.

There can be no escape from an all-consuming mother.

APPENDIX FOUR: Field Notes: Sample of therapy notes

Appendix Fores Examples (with details changed) From clinical Supervision + therapy notes, 2018-2021 Entry one 3- not seen for 4 weeks Black + white thinking - OCD or audism? Study DSM-5 Entry two 9 12yrs. Official diagnosis autism Parental mtg needed Head pain - ? Questing further needed Entry Price 40yr 0>. Bulled ages 14-15; dropped out ofschool. ? social anxiety? Clarify goals. Work here + now or past ?? - de agiron needed Entry fac 2 age 16. Adopted Parents (adopted) ? Meet teachie is to get team approach or work one to one? Ask client ? Is adoption key, or to be ignored : convipt. Entre 5 Five "should's" - drazg of working on "should's" - drazg of self telk More self-case = setting priorities. - Keep running list then rank order at next session

Discussed signahan Not protected by school, as self-employed No support in NHS, as accubelmed NOT SAFE TO PRACTICE plan: Run down current cases, at may 685510m each write GP's > assessment to esay EXACTLY what Baus will be Finish by and January. If wait listers come back, say will not be taking anyone at this time. IF somes back, explain not sale to practice as sole practitiones, IP asts advice suggest they increase their counsettor hour Next step: ???? Not <18 yrs pahent age Not probably Ion I work at all. Appendix Fores : Peer Supercision Session 1 at 2021 Raw Notes

APPENDIX FIVE: Sample of reflections as a self-help writer

Walker, Rob. Stressed Brits Buy Lecond Number of Seif-Help Books. The Guardian. Walk Sell Sey help - one of fastest growing genes in publishing smee pandemic Esp women, + siger adults ging Anal. OF self help posk sale Fearne Cotton) Crossing anto other areas of Irt. _ P memor is about meater health by Matthing + Rose McGonan. One bookseller suggesti poske when ygr (mom)

self help in mental health - to heal 20-I sing stones tortera Bereavement constructurest therapusts. Reconstruction of Meaning: From Principles to Practice. Tournal of Costemporary Bydnotherapy, 40, 73-83. hecent a restablish a manuel se use payature rete Harray Studios anyour Parkes, 0) 1986. Beceauent: studies of grief madelt life. London: Penquin Bosts. as is number at people who staffer be Viewas from a construction perspect is a purese of reconstructing a world of a has been drallenged by toss " nelp with protonged graf read narratue redelling to repaired in a chis EDEatos ubler-Ross, E., 19129. Ondeath and 200 - American Prainst discusses the maning of during lot Keep is The seases the dying indivis go three to make strain of what eccert. M they array togethe 201.in give Ancourp others tope + to their dyng Wang, Philip etab. eds. , Diagnostic + Statistical Manual of Mented DISOrders CDSM-5-TRM). Anzerican fictor Assoc DISOrders CDSM-5-TRM). Anzerican fictor Assoc Publishing Palaes 1969 Palaes 1986 Prolonged Grug Disorder

Selfhelpbibliother History of Selfhely - Victorian emergence Samuel Smiles Self Help 1859 Dake Caneque thow to wan Fils + Inf People 1936 Beth Blum, asst prof at Har vacd (In past 30415 approx 150 new self-help heles published weekly) is one of most illucratices genters of past 30 yrs Blum, Bett The self-help compulsion: searching for advice in modern lifecature, NG: Blympig Univ Press. How self-help + lit entertione Self help comes art of the Renalssance tradition of "commonplace book" - a scrapbook with recopied quotatus Br personal use in times Many self-hap not "read" . skipped around * Self books borrow from earlier texts, from De Self help comforded to agency use, wellbeing + self+change. Models for how to survive. Christi Jarrett, the 4's 10 Greatest Case Studies-Digested. British Vical Society Research Digest, 27/11/2015 All "speak to some of the perpetual debates in 4 about personality ridentity, nature + nurture, + the links Beton mind + body " 1) Chineas Gage 1848 - Vermort. Railway tamping iron exploded onto his face, thru bain, out topothead, Frongat brain damage affecting pessy 2) H. M. (Henry Gustav Molaison) Age 27 brain suspery Sor severe explepsy-Ige parts of hypocampus remared. Unable to store new unform LTM 3) Victor Leborgne ("Tan") 1861 France - referred to Paul Broce as could only Sayone word, "Tan". Diad, Broca Found loran in left Frontal lobe - Praca's ADER

APPENDIX SIX: Sample of reflections and knowledge in writing thesis

| in the second of porting the second second | |
|---|------|
| wanted to kell Self - tried already - as then treeze, then marshes but spring comes as hedseen swame - lavel | |
| garden + swäns | 9 |
| Hatch blg Lastest to hatch (?turbey) | |
| Roud | |
| mon moat -> in other proud. | |
| Bullying Duck yard > other ducks bite back of neck, nom sticks up, | |
| even mon " bitten, shoved, teased by ducks the mas | duc. |
| Bullying Duck yard > other ducks bite back of neck, mom sticks up, bitten, shored, teased by ducks thems regers 1 too big" Even mom wished him far away. | |
| | |
| with cald "Gove a wind y hideores" | |
| then geese 2 daws, Then 2 cold see as and many into our family | |
| intrald "You're alwrigh whice wild ducks live duces," Hiengerse 2 daup. Then 2 cold geese invited him to seek female rdoor the intralignment of the seek female gebse | - |
| stepling I dog came up but ran away. | V. |
| stebling Comparison and | |
| no egg orpun Buseles womted to sum Puns lays eggs | |
| Farmhause Farmhouse with old woman at hen no egg orpur Buddeney womted to sum Purs lays eggs T Froat on water | |
| Sundesire Stayed he Autumn. | |
| See Strong Saw dazzling white Elong supple necks, To Bond | |
| sees swans Saw dazzling which = long supple necks. To pond, then Flew away & warmer countries missed them so much | |
| -t. szenwanter-swam in small of circles the froze. Fell asleep | P |
| Partic at Parm Spilled mill, sew into buffer frough + | • |
| Panic at Pan spilled mill, sew uno but to ugh t | |
| thad to Plozes barned | |
| Ply anday worked out who show mousters. | |
| Miser with rushes in marsh til som o + worm | |
| magn Wings Stronger, flew away to a ganden. | |
| Swans SSwand upering I but I low in the work | |
| warn up to shem to be pecked to dear | |
| | |
| only seemed Bent head, sour self in wader = to accept me = to chimsy grag-ish black bild; | |
| (planning bad later?) = Swan | |
| Mirror Other 3 swans welcomed him, shoking | |
| describeself 1st Chudrensed him - threw bolead + grain onto All agreed he was loveliest | |
| I dente a lagreed he was loveliest I wake | |
| MMY 2 100KS | |
| (I hope bed and expect) | |

3PIGS Jahreshassiller and Habits + diet of European wolves Eucopean Lage Canis Iupus Iupus - Common Wolf Short denser for Than NAMERICAN relatives 30" at should ec (76cm) + 70-130163 (32-89kg) To as 20% smaller hom ors which, Cream, red, grey, black - combined Richty colored. Grey/turney; grey/white Highly social. Smaller packs than NAMS mate Jan-Mar. Ficks genstath, dens due unto bushes or rocks. Opeups. os brings Food a wild bunz sharp thorns Diet = ungulats - champis, wild boar, deer gouts livestock. Occas frags + hages may scavange singly around sacmtraces. Gellow eyes, black nose, eges point forward Bushy tail, long snart Furge = gorse, a wound Very stap anines 55 Rumpe Halrof + diet of DUS WADLast Sus scrofa nosne 900-180cm; 50-350kg (110-7701bs) 30 Gay BAI 2PA Even-toed ungulate Bred from wild pigs Approachable, logal, in telligent, playful, Highley-devid sense & mell sunbathers clean - but use mud to defend ager UV light, Socialise and helps remove parasiter, Socialise insmel gps Keep cod. Corrent, squeak Create wallows - depris in graind Omnivoray corn, wheek, soy, bacley leftaver veppeels + Fruit rinds ("stop" 14 Say Pstatur (15 iok), 6-8 piglets mares Brlife 1 grand at 3 months the most intelligent animal : chimps > dol phones elephants > pig te, pink black Spoth Sow & Boar or

Spys P160 MDD P235 5 > DC 20 almostallday Obsessors tor compulsors mood 1052 ecest regol mact Obessol Recurrent persistent this/images, unwanted + > extreme anxiety/distress can only neutralise them Via a compution Ch retadem 4 for operam mo mpulsn Darly repenseve behor mental act 1-eel worthess/aut mater feels driven to peoprom > obess n, acc. to 2 conce Joben making T thts OF nght rules deat Armed at preventing or I ing an ic or preventing some currelated) areaded event Takes > 1 hr/ day + impair ADL

ordinar 288 1 ume Blacksuk BlackRibbonband op blact with brim all and Toff lat, brown unbittored matches (act above 0 top fere buttons da Full at back to cellow riding. Buttons at front. Packets Tan · cohote mee, kneeband to buckle wer blach place dto Black 00 NOT 22 soft collac SOF Fetto Felt Hat Beauer-har Dcornered hat tricorne Turned up on 3 sides Brun cock infront pointed Brim Bound in braid (unimportant in 18th c because of wigs, other was and Pulls coat every time : Rose hed gets equal blame, Snortwhite sups beard/fulls coal 20 1 Sho Was TOK (FP D went to gathe Franson JURCA au MIY Serv 20 201 Cut beard me ute of gold in ot ions 2 to Catch His then went Dwar ago Figh pulling him in water vig his Jose -10000 pline & beard entanged. They snipped MAN Wee 2 Mons ento town to buy (3) Rela tribtons ead 12008 Th , saw earl ad severa deartast ady 14Sthelp 2 way 0 . +0 car Girls pulled Sportohik manual philoc eagle Tore TCL Den way home, came upon about 5 prepays somes in to admire Black bear come upon them - dr king's som that Black bear come upon them - dr i'l ame tota him to eat the girls not him 'bear killed d worth aby till at Bear called to them to let him you them, the bear sun for ano 2/2 dimped

[image removed from this version of the thesis]

The River Teifi at Henllan Falls

Diaries. 2000005 my research Failing) to use fainy una OA interpret TD each De Pat o try where like popular R cept (1) 8 my Realisine patients as do SPI p $\ell(S)$ (2)0 O about the rapist moi poner unbala Angela Cafter, Mac α tairy tales mer mot ising Re-Betterneim + Esters inp not th Dere 21 20 allowing mysel nou mg-D ichon + being Si ion prised process Callowing at happen A about The harar earning their tme) Loho Presented 205 00 about équilibrium lac ing ture Compa 20 fical theon Reading underly faire Ja me or similar iding to leave my books new equilibrium to readers' open WORK TO DO while, (Shriver) DReped M Warner, A Carter, ? Sondheim 2) Read Russian tales 3) Edit theses + contextual piece I'm bornging therapeutic knowledge into creature writing."

Personal Sources (Field Note sets)

Field Notes Set One (F1, Appendix One): My reflections on my training, experience and work as a therapist

Field Notes Set Two (F2, Appendix Two): My reflective 'field notes' on my process, practice and knowledge base as a self-help writer

Field Notes Set Three (F3, Appendix Three): My reflective 'field notes' on the ongoing experience, analysis and knowledge generated in the course of creating this thesis

Public Sources (Bibliography)

ADAMO, S.M. et al.,2008. Tom Thumb in Hospital: The Fairy Tale Workshop in a Paediatric Oncology and Haematology Ward. *Psychodynamic Practice*, 14 (3), 263-280.

ANDERSEN, H.C., 2005. Fairy tales. London: Penguin Books Ltd.

BETTELHEIM, B., 1988. *The uses of enchantment: the meaning and importance of fairy tales.* London: Penguin Books Ltd.

BARRY, E., 2022. How Long Should It Take to Grieve? Psychiatry Has Come Up With an Answer. *New York Times,* 12 March.

BERNS, G. et al., 2013. Short- and Long-Term Effect of a Novel on Connectivity in the Brain. *Brain Connectivity*, 3 (6), 590-600.

BLAIR, L., 2014. *The key to calm: your path to mindfulness—and beyond.* London: Hodder and Stoughton.

BLUM, B., 2020. *The self-help compulsion: searching for advice in modern literature.* New York: Columbia University Press.

BROUSSARD, M. & Heasley C., 2021. Fairy Tales, But With Accessible Mental Health Care. *The New Yorker*, 6 June.

BROWN, B., 2013. Daring greatly: how the courage to be vulnerable transforms the way we live, love, parent and lead. London: Penguin Books Ltd.

BROWN, R. & Kulik, J., 1977. Flashbulb Memories. Cognition (5), 73-99.

BYRNE, R., 2006. The secret. London: Simon and Schuster UK.

CANTY, N., 2017. Bibliotherapy: Its Process and Benefits and Application in Clinical and Developmental Settings. *Logos*, 28 (3), 32-40.

CARNEGIE, D., 2006. How to win friends and influence people. London: Vermillion.

CARTER, A., 2006. *The bloody chamber.* London: Vintage Books.

CASHDAN, S., 1999. *The witch must die: the hidden meaning of fairy tales.* New York: Basic Books.

CHALKLEY, J., 2015. *The content of psychological distress: addressing complex personal experience.* London: Palgrave.

COLLIER, M., & Gaier, E.L., 1958. Adult Reactions to Preferred Childhood Stories. *Child Development,* 29 (1), 97-103.

COVEY, S.R., 2005. 7 habits of highly effective people. London: Simon and Schuster UK.

DAVIDSON, P. & Glisky, E., 2002. Is Flashbulb Memory a Special Instance of Source Memory? Evidence From Older Adults. *Memory*, 10 (2), 99-111.

DIECKMANN, H., 1986. *Twice-told tales: the psychological use of fairy tales.* Wilmette, Illinois: Chiron Publications.

EFFING, M.M., 2009. The Origin and Development of Self-Help Literature in the United States: The Concept of Success and Happiness, an Overview. *Journal of the Spanish Association of Anglo-American Studies*, 31 (2), 125-141.

EICH, E. et al., 1994. Mood Dependent Memory for Events of the Personal Past. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 123 (2), 201-215.

ELLIS, C. et al., 2011. Autoethnography: An Overview. *Forum Qualitative Social Research*, 12 (1), Art. 10.

ELTON, C., 2018. Also human: the inner lives of doctors. London: Windmill Books.

ERIKSON, E., 1980. Identity and the life cycle. London: W.W. Norton and Co.

FLOYD, M., 2003. Bibliotherapy as an Adjunct to Psychotherapy for Depression in Older Adults. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59 (2), 187-195.

GINSBURG, H. & Opper, S., 1969. *Piaget's theory of intellectual development: an introduction.* Englewood New Jersey: Prentice-Hall Inc.

GOSSE, E. ed., 1896. Undine and other stories. London: Oxford University Press.

GOTTLEIB, L., 2020. *Maybe you should talk to someone.* London: Scribe Publications.

GRANVILLE, E., 2015. Gretel and the Dark. London: Penguin Books.

GRIMM, J.L.C. & Grimm, W.C., 2013. *The complete Grimm's fairy tales.* New York: Quayside Publishing Group, Inc.

GROOPMAN, J., 2007. How doctors think. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.

HALL, C.S., 1954. *A primer of Freudian psychology.* New York: The New American Library.

HARLOW, H.F., 1959. Love in Infant Monkeys. Scientific American, 200 (6), 68-74.

HAWKINS, P., 2015. The girl on the train. London: Transworld Publishers.

HILL, L., 1992. Fairy Tales: Visions of Problem Resolution in Eating Disorders. *Journal of Counseling & Development,* 70 (5), 584.

JACOBS, J., 2005. English fairy tales. London: Adamant Media Corporation.

JARRETT, C., 2015. Psychology's 10 Greatest Case Studies—Digested. *British Psychological Society Research Digest,* 27 November. Online, available at: <u>https://digest.bps.org.uk</u>/2015/11/27/psychologys-10-greatest-case-studies-digested (Accessed 04 April 2022).

JEFFERS, S., 1991. Feel the fear and do it anyway: how to turn your fear and indecision into confidence and action. London: Arrow Books.

JOORMAN, J. & Siemer, M., 2004. Memory Accessibility, Mood Regulation, and Dysphoria: Difficulties in Repairing Sad Mood With Happy Memories? *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 113 (2), 179-188.

JUNG, C., ed. 1990. Man and his symbols. New York: Penguin Books USA Inc.

KABAT-ZINN, J., 2004. Full catastrophe living: how to cope with stress, pain and illness using mindfulness meditation. London: Piatkus Books.

KAY, A., 2017. This is going to hurt: secret diaries of a junior doctor. London: Picador.

KIRSCHENBAUM, H. & Jourdan, A., 2005. The current status of Carl Rogers and the person-centered approach. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training,* 42 (1), 37-51.

KUBLER-ROSS, E., 1969. On death and dying. London: Routledge.

LARRINGTON, C. et al., 2020. Hag: forgotten folktales retold. London: Virago Press.

LEACH, C. et al., 2021. Coronavirus and Depression in Adults, Great Britain: July to August 2021. Online, available at: <u>policy.evidence.analysis@ons.gov.uk</u>. (Accessed 04 April 2022).

LeSHAN, L., 1977. You can fight for your life: emotional factors in the treatment of cancer. Lanham, Maryland: M. Evans & Company.

LeSHAN, L., 1983. *Emotional factors and cancer* (Group discussion). University of Cambridge.

LOFTUS, E., & Palmer, J., 1974. Reconstruction of Automobile Destruction: An Example of the Interaction Between Language and Memory. *Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior*, 13, 585-589.

LUMSDEN, K., 2019a. On Genres, Labels and Reading Taste. 30 May. Online, available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2kYmBOZQj-Y</u> (Accessed 06 April 2022).

LUMSDEN, K., 2019b. Reading Group Fiction: Definitions and Recommendations. 29 August. Online, available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5XtuQ7ZQy7M</u> (Accessed 06 April 2022).

MACDONALD, J. et al., 2013. An Evaluation of a Collaborative Bibliotherapy Scheme Delivered *via* a Library Service. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 20 (10), 857-865.

MARNS, F., ed. 1974. *The Royal Shakespeare Theatre edition of the sonnets of William Shakespeare.* New York: Paddington Press Ltd.

McCULLOUGH, C., 2007. The thorn birds. London: Virago.

McLEOD, S., 2019. Case Study Method. *Simply Psychology.* 08 March. Online, available at: <u>https://www.simplypsychology.org/case-study.html</u> (Accessed 26 March 2022).

MOSSE, K. & O'Farrell, M., 2022. A Masterclass in Novel-Writing. *Guardian Masterclass.* (Attended online, 21 March).

MUSHENS, J., 2021. A Masterclass in How to Find a Literary Agent. *Guardian Masterclass.* (Attended online, 18 October).

NATIONAL MUSEUMS LIVERPOOL (2017) *Getting dressed in 18th-century England.* 10 May. Online, available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UpnwWp3fOSA</u> (Accessed 10 July 2020).

NATIONAL MUSEUMS LIVERPOOL (2018) *Getting dressed in the 18th-century-men.* 26 July. Online, available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fpS4B5oMhgo</u> (Accessed 10 July 2020).

NEIMEYER, R.A. et al., 2010. Grief Therapy and the Reconstruction of Meaning: From Principles to Practice. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, 40, 73-83.

PARKES, C.M., 1986. *Bereavement: studies of grief in adult life.* London: Penguin Books.

PATTERSON, A., 2016. The 17 Most Popular Genres in Fiction and Why They Matter. *Writers Write*. 15 January. Online, available at: <u>https://www.writerswrite.co.za/the-17/most-popular-genres-in-fiction-and-why-they-matter</u> (Accessed 10 April 2022).

PEALE, N.V. 1990. The power of positive thinking. London: Cedar.

PINKOLA ESTES, C., 1993. Women who run with the wolves: contacting the power of the wild woman. London: Rider Books.

PLATT, J.R., 1964. Strong Inference: Certain Systematic Methods of Scientific Thinking May Produce Much More Rapid Progress Than Others. *Science*, 146 (3642), 347-353.

POWELL PROCTOR, L. & Miller, E., 1982. Reality Orientation: A Critical Appraisal. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 140, 457-463.

PUETT, M. & Gross-Loh, C., 2017. *The path: a new way to think about everything.* London: Penguin Books.

RIPPERE, V. & Williams, R. eds., 1994. *Wounded healers: mental health workers' experiences of depression.* Trowbridge, Wiltshire: Redwood Books.

ROBBINS, A., 1992. Awaken the giant within. London: Simon and Schuster UK.

ROGERS, C., 1951. *Client-centered therapy: its current practice.* Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

ROGERS, C., 1961. On becoming a person. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

RUINI, C. et al., 2014. Positive Narrative Group Psychotherapy: The Use of Traditional Fairy Tales to Enhance Psychological Well-Being and Growth. *Psychology of Well-Being*, 4 (Article 13).

RUTTER, M., 1985. Resilience in the Face of Adversity: Protective Factors and Resistance to Psychiatric Disorder. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 47, (6), 598-611.

SCIESZKA, J., 1991. The true story of the 3 little pigs. New York: Puffin Books.

SCOTT PECK, M., 1978. *The road less travelled: a new psychology of love, traditional values and spiritual growth.* New York: Simon and Schuster.

SHADOAN, R., 2010. What Ethnographers Do: Field Notes. *Rachel Shadoan Muses.* Online, available at <u>https://rachelshadoan.com/2010/06018/what-ethnographers-do-field-notes-2/</u>. (Accessed 29 October 2021).

SHASKAN, T.S., 2011. Seriously, Cinderella is so annoying!: the story of Cinderella as told by the wicked stepmother (other side of the story). Bloomington, Minnesota: Picture Window Books.

SKAINS, R.L., 2018. Creative Practice as Research: Discourse on Methodology. *Media Practice and Education*, 19 (1), 82-97.

SMILES, S., 2008. *Self-help (Oxford world's classics).* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

SUTHERLAND, S., 2010. *Breakdown: a personal crisis and a personal dilemma.* London: Pinter & Martin Ltd.

TEASDALE, J.D. & Fogarty, S.J., 1979. Differential Effects of Induced Mood on Retrieval of Pleasant and Unpleasant Events From Episodic Memory. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 88 (3), 248-257.

TODOROV, T., 1969. Structural analysis of narrative. *Novel: A Forum on Fiction,* 3 (1), 70-76.

TOLLE, E., 2001. *The power of now: a guide to spiritual enlightenment.* London: Hodder and Stoughton.

VISIKOKNOW-JOHNSON, L., 2016. The Positive Impacts of Fairy Tales for Children. HOHONU, 14, 76-81.

WALKER, R., 2019. Stressed Brits Buy Record Number of Self-Help Books. *The Guardian*, 09 March.

WANG, P.H. ed., 2022. *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, fifth edition, text revision—DSM-5-TRTM.* Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association Publishing.

WARNER, M., 2015. Fly away home: stories. Cromer Norfolk: Salt.

WILLIAMS, M. & Penman, D., 2011. *Mindfulness: a practical guide to finding peace in a frantic world.* London: Piatkus Books

WILSON, B., 1939. *Alcoholics anonymous: the big book.* Mineola, New York: Dover Publications Inc.

YALOM, I., 1989. *Love's executioner and other tales of psychotherapy*. London: Penguin Books.

ZIPES, J., 2012. Fairy tales and the art of subversion. Abingdon Oxford: Routledge.

ZIPES, J. ed. tr., 2014. *The complete first edition: the original folk and fairy tales of the brothers Grimm.* Princeton: Princeton University Press.